
Working in partnership for the people of Herefordshire
The Shire Hall, St. Peter’s Square, Hereford HR1 2HX

Herefordshire Council Main Switchboard (01432) 260000, www.herefordshire.gov.uk

Corporate Support Centre
Alistair Neill – Chief Executive Officer

To: All members of the Council
our ref:

contact:

telephone:

email:

Council - 15 February 2019

Matthew Evans, Democratic Services

01432 383690

matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk

7 February 2019

Dear Councillor,

You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of the Herefordshire Council to be held on Friday 
15 February 2019 at the Council Chamber - The Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX at 
10.00 am at which the business set out in the attached agenda is proposed to be transacted.

Yours sincerely

Annie Brookes
Deputy Monitoring Officer





If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Matthew Evans, Democratic 
Services on 01432 383690 or e-mail matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk 
in advance of the meeting.

AGENDA
Council

Date: Friday 15 February 2019

Time: 10.00 am

Place: The Council Chamber - The Shire Hall, St. Peter's 
Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting.

For any further information please contact:

Matthew Evans, Democratic Services
Tel: 01432 383690
Email: matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk



Agenda for the Meeting of the Council
Membership

Chairman Councillor DB Wilcox
Vice-Chairman Councillor PJ Edwards

Councillor SP Anderson Councillor PA Andrews
Councillor BA Baker Councillor JM Bartlett
Councillor WLS Bowen Councillor TL Bowes
Councillor H Bramer Councillor CR Butler
Councillor ACR Chappell Councillor EE Chowns
Councillor MJK Cooper Councillor PE Crockett
Councillor PGH Cutter Councillor BA Durkin
Councillor CA Gandy Councillor DW Greenow
Councillor KS Guthrie Councillor J Hardwick
Councillor DG Harlow Councillor EPJ Harvey
Councillor EL Holton Councillor JA Hyde
Councillor TM James Councillor PC Jinman
Councillor AW Johnson Councillor JF Johnson
Councillor JLV Kenyon Councillor JG Lester
Councillor MD Lloyd-Hayes Councillor PP Marsh
Councillor RI Matthews Councillor RL Mayo
Councillor MT McEvilly Councillor SM Michael
Councillor PD Newman OBE Councillor FM Norman
Councillor CA North Councillor RJ Phillips
Councillor AJW Powers Councillor PD Price
Councillor P Rone Councillor AR Round
Councillor A Seldon Councillor NE Shaw
Councillor WC Skelton Councillor J Stone
Councillor D Summers Councillor EJ Swinglehurst
Councillor LC Tawn Councillor A Warmington
Councillor SD Williams



Herefordshire Council 15 FEBRUARY 2019

Agenda
(The meeting will be preceded by prayers.)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To receive declarations of interest in respect of Schedule 1, Schedule 2 or 
Other Interests from members in respect of items on the agenda.

3. MINUTES  9 - 48

To approve and sign the minutes of the ordinary meeting of Council on 12 
October 2018 and the extraordinary meeting of Council on 18 January 2019.

4. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  49 - 52

To receive the Chairman and Chief Executive’s announcements.

5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

To receive questions from members of the public.
Deadline for receipt of questions is 5:00pm on Monday 11 February 2019.
At the budget meeting of Council questions must relate to items on the 
agenda.
Accepted questions and answers will be published as a supplement prior to 
the meeting. Please submit questions to 
councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk, 

6. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  

To receive questions from members of the council.
Deadline for receipt of questions is 5:00pm on Monday 11 February 2019.
At the budget meeting of Council questions must relate to items on the 
agenda.
Accepted questions and answers will be published as a supplement prior to 
the meeting. Please submit questions to 
councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk,

7. 2019/20 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME  53 - 204

To approve the continuation of the 2018/19 local council tax reduction 
scheme (CTR) for 2019/20. The current scheme was initially approved by 
Council on 18 December 2015.

8. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 ONWARDS AND CAPITAL STRATEGY  205 - 242

To approve the capital investment budget and capital strategy for 2019/20, as 
recommended by Cabinet.

9. SETTING THE 2019/20 BUDGET AND UPDATING THE MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  

243 - 368

To approve the 2019/20 budget and associated medium term financial 
strategy and treasury management strategy.

ALTERNATIVE BUDGET 369 - 426

Alternative budget proposals have been submitted to Council by Councillor 
EPJ Harvey on behalf of the It’s Our County Group. A copy of the proposals, 
the views of the three scrutiny committees, the response of It’s Our County to 

mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk


the scrutiny recommendations and the report of the Chief Finance Officer are 
attached.

10. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019  427 - 436

To approve the 2019 pay policy statement for publication.

11. RECRUITMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS  437 - 444

To approve the appointment of additional independent persons for standards.



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings 

YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: -
 Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information.

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.

 Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting.

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public.

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees.

 Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees.

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.

 Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage).

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents.

Public Transport Links
 The Shire Hall is a few minutes walking distance from both bus stations located in the 

town centre of Hereford.

7



Recording of meetings

 Anyone is welcome to record public meetings of the council using whatever, non-
disruptive, methods you think are suitable. Please note that the meeting chairman 
has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons including 
disruption caused by the recording, or the nature of the business being conducted. 
Recording should end when the meeting ends, if the meeting is adjourned, or if the 
public and press are excluded in accordance with lawful requirements.

 Anyone filming a meeting is asked to focus only on those actively participating. 

 If, as a member of the public, you do not wish to be filmed please make a member 
of the governance team aware. 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously.

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly 
Point in the Shire Hall car park.

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the 
exits.

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to 
collect coats or other personal belongings.

The Chairman or an attendee at the meeting must take the signing in 
sheet so it can be checked when everyone is at the assembly point.

8



Minutes of the meeting of Council held at The Council Chamber - 
The Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX on Friday 
12 October 2018 at 10.00 am

Present: Councillor DB Wilcox (Chairman)
Councillor PJ Edwards (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: SP Anderson, PA Andrews, JM Bartlett, WLS Bowen, H Bramer, 
CR Butler, ACR Chappell, E Chowns, MJK Cooper, PE Crockett, BA Durkin, 
CA Gandy, DW Greenow, KS Guthrie, J Hardwick, DG Harlow, EPJ Harvey, 
EL Holton, JA Hyde, TM James, PC Jinman, JF Johnson, JLV Kenyon, 
JG Lester, MD Lloyd-Hayes, PP Marsh, RI Matthews, RL Mayo, MT McEvilly, 
PD Newman OBE, FM Norman, CA North, RJ Phillips, AJW Powers, PD Price, 
P Rone, AR Round, A Seldon, NE Shaw, J Stone, D Summers, 
EJ Swinglehurst, LC Tawn, A Warmington and SD Williams

Officers: C Baird – director for children and families, R Ball – acting director economy 
and place, A Lovegrove – chief finance officer, A Neill – chief executive, S 
Vickers – interim director of adults and aommunities;  C Ward – solicitor to the 
council, A Brookes – head of corporate governance and J Coleman – statutory 
scrutiny officer/democratic services manager.

21. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

Apologies were received from Councillors BC Baker, TL Bowes, PGH Cutter, AW 
Johnson, SM Michael and WC Skelton.

22. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Agenda item 8 – Youth Justice Plan 2018/19

Councillor RJ Phillips declared an other declarable interest as a magistrate.

Agenda item 12 – Notices of Motion Under Standing Orders

The following declared other declarable interests as recipients of pensions from the 
Worcestershire Local Government Pension Fund: Councillor MD Lloyd Hayes
Councillor PP Marsh and DB Wilcox.

Councillor RI Matthews declared an other declarable interest as a recipient of a police 
pension.

Councillor RJ Phillips declared an other declarable interest as a member of the 
Worcestershire Local Government Pension Fund Committee and as Chairman of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board.

Councillor NE Shaw declared an other declarable interest as a member of the 
Worcestershire Local Government Pension Fund Board.

9

AGENDA ITEM 3



23. MINUTES  

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2018 be confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

24. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

Council noted the Chairman’s and chief executive’s announcements as printed in the 
agenda papers.

The Chairman provided the following updates:

 He paid tribute to Councillor Powers who had chosen to step down as Group Leader 
of the It’s Our County Group (IOC) after 5 years, thanking him for his contribution to 
the work of the council.
Councillor Powers thanked the Chairman, commented on the arduous nature of a 
group leader’s role and his decision to step aside, and complimented the ability of his 
successors.
The Chairman noted that IOC had agreed a co-leadership of Councillors Harvey and 
Seldon.  Because such an arrangement was not provided for in the Constitution, IOC 
had advised that Councillor Seldon would act as leader for council purposes until the 
New Year with Councillor Harvey than fulfilling that role from a date to be confirmed.
Councillor Seldon paid tribute to the work of Councillor Powers.  He also announced 
that IOC had appointed Councillor Summers as mental health champion and liaison 
with the health trusts in the county.

 The Chairman highlighted arrangements associated with remembrance day 2018 
marking 100 years since the end of the first world war hostilities, details of which 
would be notified to members.

 He congratulated Hereford, Leominster, and Ledbury on their success in winning 
gold awards in the Heart of England Bloom awards praising the extensive efforts of 
the communities involved.

The chief executive highlighted the following of his published announcements: the 
refurbishment of High Town; Hereford, the positive report in The Guardian on 
Herefordshire’s welcome to families coming to the county as refugees; the fact that the 
council had joined a regional approach to recruiting children’s social workers; the 
programme of flu vaccinations for council employees; the completion of the Homefirst 
service staff consultation enabling a move to 7 day extended hours greatly increasing 
the capacity of the service; participation in a pilot initiative that had involved producing a 
series of podcasts addressing key themes in teen health that had been nominated for an 
Audio and Radio Industry award; and the postponement of the care heroes flash mob 
event (to be rescheduled before Christmas), part of a piece of work assisting people in 
entering the adult social care profession.

In response to a question critical of performance in Children’s Services over a period of 
time, during which it was observed it had been under his overall control, the chief 
executive commented that he would be content to discuss the concerns raised with the 
questioner.  He advised that he was working closely with the director for children and 
families to improve services and that progress was being made in what were highly 
challenging services across the country.  He highlighted that the recent Ofsted 
inspection of local authority children’s services had not found any instances of any child 
being unsafe.

25. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  (Pages 13 - 16)

10



A copy of the public questions and written answers, together with supplementary 
questions asked at the meeting and their answers,   is attached to the Minutes at 
Appendix 1.

26. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  (Pages 17 - 25)

A copy of the Member questions and written answers, together with supplementary 
questions asked at the meeting and their answers, is attached to the Minutes at 
Appendix 2.

27. APPOINTMENTS TO COUNCIL COMMITTEES AND OUTSIDE BODIES  

Council was invited to approve the allocation of seats to political groups following 
changes to group affiliations in the elected membership.

The solicitor to the council introduced the report.

A member expressed disappointment that the two non-aligned members on the council 
were not being offered the opportunity to take up seats on Committees.

The solicitor to the council confirmed that the law required seats on Committees to be 
allocated in accordance with the political proportionality of the Council as a whole.  The 
only way that this provision could be disapplied was by Council voting to do so, with no 
one voting against.  She also confirmed that a political group, such as a non-aligned 
group, could be established if it comprised more than one councillor.

RESOLVED:  That the allocation of committee and outside body seats to political 
groups as set out at paragraphs 7 and 8 of the report be approved.

28. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19  

Council was invited to approve the Youth Justice Plan 2018/19.

The cabinet member – young people and children’s wellbeing introduced the report.

She highlighted performance in the county against the three national indicators which 
formed the basis for the action plan for 2018/19:

 there had been a reduction in the number of first time entrants into the youth justice 
system. The actual numbers were very small, less than 0.5% of young people aged 
10-17 in the county.  It was nevertheless important to work to continue to reduce this 
number.

 the use of custody was also reducing and the rate was better than for West Mercia 
and England;

 proportionately more young people were reoffending than in the West Mercia area as 
a whole but they were re-offending with less frequency.

She added that the service had been subject to an inspection at the end of 2017/18 and 
judged as requiring improvement overall.  Across the 12 inspection standards seven 
were rated good, four requiring improvement and one inadequate.  The latter was in 
relation to sharing information and partnership working.  This assessment on this 
standard applied to the whole of West Mercia. Herefordshire social care staff were 
working with the local youth justice team to enable access to systems to improve joint 
working.

The following principal comments were made in discussion:

11



 A question was asked about the issues underlying priority 2.1 of the Plan (p66 of the 
agenda papers): “improve multi-agency engagement at high risk and decision 
making meetings”, as this seemed to be an ongoing issue and in particular working 
with the police.  The cabinet member commented that it was a case of seeking 
continuous improvement in collaborative working. In relation to working with the 
police there were some specific areas regarding the application of thresholds where 
improvement needed to be made.

 In response to questions the director for children and families clarified joint working 
arrangements including the Youth Justice Service, the multiagency service hub and 
the allocation of an officer to work directly alongside the police in relation to child 
sexual exploitation issues. He reported that the recent Ofsted inspection had 
recognised the council’s service for missing children was working well.

 In relation to knowledge of low level youth offending in communities the cabinet 
member commented that she clearly had to rely on information from the Children’s 
Safeguarding Board and the Community Safety Partnership and other similar reports.  
The director undertook to share information in relation to the query raised previously 
at children and families scrutiny committee regarding the non-criminalisation of 
children under 18.

 The cabinet member acknowledged the importance of children’s safeguarding 
observed that the council’s work in this area had been recognised by Ofsted and 
provided assurance that there was no complacency.

 It was suggested that youth work and groups made a significant contribution to 
reducing crime and it was asked what support was being provided in this area.  The 
cabinet member commented whilst recognising the importance of youth work it was 
hard to quantify the extent of that contribution to reducing crime.  She was ambitious 
to get a co-ordinated approach to prevention work and a clear understanding of what 
help was on offer to help provide the support to young people from which they would 
benefit.

 A member requested that the graphs at page 79 of the agenda papers be rescaled.  
Information was also requested on the picture of reoffending in the period of 
crossover between youth offending and the early years of adulthood.  The cabinet 
member agreed to seek to provide this information.

 A member highlighted that following the loss of council provided youth services 
Leominster Town Council had mapped all such activities in the Town and was 
working with organisations and the police to engage with young people and the 
police with a view to reducing offending. It was suggested that others might find this 
approach helpful.

RESOLVED:  That the Youth Justice Plan 2018/19 as set out at ‘appendix a’ to the 
report be approved.

29. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW  

Council was invited to consider recommendations arising from Community Governance 
Reviews.

The Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee introduced the report. He 
highlighted amendments to the recommendations as set out in the published supplement 
and thanked officers for their work on the reviews.

RESOLVED: 

a) Orders be made to give effect to the following with changes taking effect from 
1st April 2019 (‘the effective date’):

12



I. That the parish boundary between the Bishopstone group parish and the 
Stretton Sugwas parish be moved between Stoney Street and Credenhill 
ward to enable the following properties (Bradworthy; Pear Tree Cottage; 
Elandwin; the Boundary; Longhope; Old Weir Cottage; Sugwas Pool 
Cottage; Miramar; Anchorage; Heathmere, and St. Margaret’s) to be moved 
from the Bishopstone district group parish to Stretton Sugwas parish, and 
that this proposal does not require other changes to the existing 
governance arrangements for the parishes affected;

II. That consequent upon this change being made that the council recommend 
to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) that 
the boundaries of the Stoney Street and Credenhil ward be changed to 
ensure coterminosity with the new parish boundary;

III. The number of seats on Brockhampton group parish be reduced from 15 to 
10 to better reflect the number of electors; the ratio of parish council seats 
will be 5 for the Linton Parish group member (a reduction of 1 seat); 4 for 
the Norton parish group member (a reduction of 2 seats) and 1 for the 
Brockhampton parish group member (a reduction of 2 seats), and that the 
electoral arrangements will remain unchanged in all other respects. 

IV. The existing parish councils of Kilpeck, Kenderchurch, St. Devereux, 
Treville and Wormbridge that make up the existing Kilpeck group parish 
council shall all be dissolved;  the existing parishes of Kilpeck, 
Kenderchurch, St. Devereux, Treville and Wormbridge that make up the 
existing Kilpeck group parish council shall all be abolished;  and to form a 
new  parish as shown on the map in appendix C and that the new parish 
shall be represented by a Parish Council); the name of that new parish 
council shall be ‘Kilpeck Parish Council, and that the electoral 
arrangements will remain unchanged in all other respects

V. The number of seats on Peterchurch parish council be increased from 8 to 
9 to accommodate current and future population growth, and that the 
electoral arrangements will remain unchanged in all other respects

VI. That the ward and parish boundary in the Moreton on Lugg parish and the 
parish of Wellington be moved between Queenswood and Sutton Walls to 
enable two properties, namely Aylus Cottages, to move from the parish of 
Moreton on Lugg into the parish of Wellington (Marked A on the map 
contained in Appendix E and G) and that this proposal does not require 
other changes to the existing governance arrangements for the parishes 
affected;

VII. That consequent upon this change being made that the Council 
recommend to the LGBCE that the boundaries of the Queenswood and 
Sutton Walls ward be changed to ensure coterminosity with the new parish 
boundary;

VIII. The parish boundary between Wellington and Hope Under Dinmore is 
adjusted to enable three properties, namely the Old Fruit Farm, Bathfield 
and Queens Wood House to move from their current parish, Wellington, 
into the parish of Hope Under Dinmore (Marked B on the map contained in 
Appendix G); and that this proposal does not require other changes to the 
existing governance arrangements for the parishes affected; 

b) No changes be made to the Bredenbury district group parish council; 
c) No changes be made to Longtown group parish council; and
d) The solicitor to the council be authorised to make the orders as drafted at 
appendices H to O and referrals to the LGBCE to implement the above 
recommendations.

30. REQUEST BY CRADLEY PARISH COUNCIL TO CHANGE NAME TO CRADLEY AND 
STORRIDGE PARISH COUNCIL  

13



Council was invited to approve the making and publication of a Notice under Section 75 
of the Local Government Act 1972 to change the name of Cradley Parish Council to 
Cradley and Storridge Parish Council.

The solicitor to the council introduced the report.

RESOLVED:  That the name of Cradley Parish Council be changed to Cradley and 
Storridge Parish Council with effect from 12 October 2018.

31. LEADER'S REPORT TO COUNCIL  

Council received an update on the work of the Cabinet since Council’s previous meeting 
on 13 July 2018.

The Leader introduced the report, highlighting the launch of and desire to promote the 
care heroes website; a council tax reduction for care leavers; success of the community 
brokers team; schools performance results; the recognition of the need to do more to 
improve educational outcomes for looked after children; the visit from members of the 
House of Lords Select Committee on the Rural Economy; and the launch of the quarterly 
council publication ‘Herefordshire Now”.

The following issues were raised in discussion:

 A member welcomed the introduction of a bike share scheme in Hereford city, the 
council’s support for cycling and highlighted the opportunity to bid for national funding 
for a closed cycling track that could be at the heart of encouraging cycling.  He also 
urged that old railway lines across the county be developed for cycling which would 
amongst other things contribute to the income from tourism.

 Referring to the sale of land and buildings within the Enterprise zone at Rotherwas 
an assurance was sought that disposals would not limit the potential for a route of an 
eastern bypass for the City.  The Leader noted that this matter had been previously 
been discussed by council.  The focus of economic development was linked to the 
western bypass.

 In response to a question about representation of small and medium enterprises at 
the visit from the House of Lords Select Committee on the Rural Economy the 
Leader agreed to provide detail to members.

 A member expressed dissatisfaction that elected members had not been invited to 
the Select Committee’s visit and about communication with him both about the event 
and generally as local ward member.  The Leader replied that the event had not 
been arranged by the council.  He had sent the councillor information about the event 
in advance of it.  He recognised the importance of there being engagement with local 
ward members.

 It was noted that, as referred to at paragraph 11 of the report, Council had resolved 
in July to ask the Leader to consider an additional objective for the chief executive to 
“champion high standards of conduct and a strong commitment to public service 
throughout the council.”  As the report said, the Leader had decided not to include 
such an additional objective as it restated what was a general requirement of all 
managerial posts.
Several members questioned the decision not to include the proposed additional 
objective. It was suggested that the decision was contrary to council’s wishes, in 
itself unwelcome, and did not set a good example.  The objective’s inclusion would 
have demonstrated public facing leadership on these issues in accordance with the 
recommendation of the Committee on Standards of Public Life in its report in 2013, 
“A review of best practice in promoting good behaviour in public life”, that chief 

14



executives of all organisations delivering public services should take personal 
responsibility for ethical standards in their organisations.  The Leader’s decision was 
to the detriment of the council’s reputation.  The assertion that the provision was 
implicit within the current objectives did not preclude it being made explicit.
The Leader commented that he had decided, as set out in paragraph 11 of the 
report, that the inclusion of the additional objective proposed would have been 
superfluous. 
In response to the concerns expressed about the treatment of council’s 
recommendation the Chairman read council’s resolution in July 2018 to the meeting, 
confirming that it had been a matter for the Leader to consider the issue and decide 
upon it. The matter could be reviewed at the next annual review of the chief 
executive’s objectives.

 The Leader confirmed the recruitment process for a further Independent Person to 
support the council in delivering its responsibilities in relation to standards in public 
life was underway and a report would be made to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in November.

 Several members referred to the new council publication “Herefordshire Now”.  
Clarification was sought on its circulation and total cost.  It was also observed that 
the Government had some years ago criticised some council publications, with the 
then Secretary of State describing them as propaganda at the taxpayers’ expense. 
It was also asserted that it was essential that information the publication contained 
was accurate.  The statement that the proposed western bypass would reduce 
congestion in the city was contrary to the various studies that had been produced.
The Leader replied that 5,000 copies had been printed at a cost of £499.  These 
would be distributed in various public buildings across the county.  The publication 
was also on line.  He had no costing in terms of officer time but the information was 
being produced by officers all the time.  Collating the material was therefore not a 
significant task.  It was important that the public was aware of what the council was 
doing.  This was not propaganda but the council communicating with its residents 
and engaging the community in debate about the direction of council services.  The 
importance of such communication had been recognised in the recent corporate peer 
challenge.

Removing traffic that did not need to be in the city from the city had to be of benefit 
and ease congestion.  

 The Leader clarified the respective roles of the Marches Enterprise Joint Executive 
Committee (MEJEC) and the Marches LEP Board, the relevant legal requirements 
relating to meetings of the MEJEC and action taken to seek to minimise costs of 
attendance by holding meetings on the same day as Board meetings.  It was noted 
that the minutes of both bodies were available on line.

 The Leader acknowledged that, as referred to at paragraph 10 of the report, the 
Secretary of State for Justice’s response to the request that he reconsider the move 
of remand cases from Hereford to Kidderminster had been disappointing.  He 
accepted a member’s suggestion that the matter should be raised with the county’s 
MPs.

 With reference to additional legal spend on the disposal of the smallholdings estate 
the cabinet member contracts and assets agreed to supply a written answer on the 
legal costs incurred to date on the disposal programme, noting that some disposals 
were ongoing.  The Leader added that the receipts from sales had proved to be 
higher than the sum predicted.

 In relation to the recent Ofsted inspection of local authority children’s services and 
the invitation to all members to support the continued improvement journey, it was 
observed that one of the principal failings continued to relate to the management of 
the council’s own staff, was therefore within the council’s control and should be 

15



readily capable of being addressed.  It was questioned when this matter would finally 
be remedied.  The Leader commented that Cabinet was due to consider the 
improvement plan in response to the inspection on 18 October. He welcomed all 
members’ views upon it.  He looked forward to the plan delivering the required 
results.

 Whilst the first parish council summit was welcome, the timing was questioned 
having regard to the fact that the development of parish council budgets would be 
well advanced reducing the scope to discuss taking on additional roles in service 
delivery if these were proposed by Herefordshire Council.  It was also suggested that 
such summits should be held on quarterly or 4 monthly basis.  The Leader 
emphasised his support for the role and value of parish councils.  The summit was 
about greater engagement and dialogue about the issues.  It was not intended to be 
a meeting focussing on additional budget commitments.  He explained how the 
October date was the earliest convenient date to seek to achieve maximum 
attendance.  He wanted regular summits to take place. He confirmed that a team of 
officers would continue to provide support to liaison with parish councils.

 It was asked if officers could deliver services within budget having regard to the 
financial pressures facing the council and the importance of maintaining adequate 
reserves. The cabinet member – finance and corporate services commented that 
officers had to demonstrate the need for any changes requested in budgets.  Some 
events, for example an increase in the number of looked after children, could not be 
foreseen leading to unexpected costs requiring budgets to be adjusted. Any 
concerns about the level of reserves should be raised with the S151 officer.  As 
cabinet member he had sought confirmation from that Officer at the last council 
meeting that the reserves were appropriate.  The release of reserves was targeted 
on opportunities to change the mode of future service delivery mindful of expected 
levels of government funding in 2020 and beyond.  The picture was uncertain and he 
supported the retention of a prudent level of reserves having regard to the advice of 
the S151 officer.

 It was asked why the budget consultation had not included much on capital 
expenditure, when such consultation would take place, why member suggestions in 
the budget consultation meeting had not been taken up, how many responses had 
been received to the budget consultation and whether the leader would commit to 
improving the process of public consultation and consider the possibility of 
establishing a cross-party working group on that subject. The leader commented that 
some 40 people had attended the budget consultation.  He would like to see 
improved engagement and would welcome any suggestions.

 The cabinet member – finance and corporate services undertook to provide a written 
answer on the budget consultation response.  The budget for 2019/20 was in line 
with the medium term financial strategy.  He noted that the scrutiny committees 
would have the opportunity to comment upon it.  It had to be born in mind that every 
£10m of capital funding required £0.5m of revenue expenditure year on year to 
finance it. This meant that the room for manoeuvre was more limited than it might 
appear.

 In response to a question the leader reiterated his pride in the decision to reduce 
council tax for care leavers noting that this was one of many actions being taken with 
partners and the community to achieve the best outcomes for looked after children 
and care leavers.

 A question was asked about the financial health of Hoople Ltd and whether it was 
generating the income to the council that had been expected on its establishment.  
The cabinet member – finance and corporate services commented that Hoople’s 
accounts could be inspected.

 It was asked whether some of the funds from the disposal of land at the former 
Holme Lacy primary school would be allocated to Mordiford Primary School as it was 
having to accommodate pupils from the Holme Lacy catchment.  The Leader 
undertook to inform the local ward member of the consideration of the allocation of 
that capital receipt.

16



 It was asked whether Balfour Beatty Living Places (BBLP) would be able to deliver 
their responsibilities to maintain the council’s open spaces and verges given that it 
was understood that they had sold the equipment they owned required for these 
tasks and would therefore be reliant on third party contractors.  It was requested that 
members be informed of the sum raised by the sale of the equipment, noting a 
forthcoming decision proposing to relaunch the existing Herefordshire Public Green 
Spaces Community Grant scheme apparently relied on funding raised by the sale of 
that equipment. The cabinet member contracts and assets confirmed that BBLP 
remained contracted to deliver this work. The Chairman suggested that the detailed 
point should be pursued outside the meeting. 

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted.

32. NOTICES OF MOTION UNDER STANDING ORDERS  

Council was invited to consider a motion on the Worcestershire Local Pension Board.

Councillor Marsh, proposer of the motion, confirmed that, in accordance with Standing 
Order 4.1.111, with the consent of the seconder, Councillor Harvey, she wished to alter 
the published motion to a version now to be seconded by Councillor Phillips.  The 
Chairman read the following altered motion to the meeting:

“We welcome the reduction in fossil fuel investments held by Worcestershire pension 
fund in recent years and call on our Herefordshire Council representatives on the 
Worcestershire Local Government Pension Fund board and committee to work with 
Worcestershire Fund to update their responsible investment strategy and seek 
alternatives to investments in fossil fuels.

In particular we urge them to advise the Fund to:

 provide regular information on the results of the Fund’s policy of engagement with its 
fossil fuel and other carbon intense holdings; and 

 review their Statement of Investment principles and Responsible Investment 
principles in the next year, including undertaking a carbon risk audit.”

In moving the motion Councillor Marsh made the following principal points:

 The fund was administered by Worcestershire County Council and there were 22 
contributing members.  Herefordshire Council had some limited influence having 
one representative on the Pension Fund Board and, one on the Pension Fund 
Committee because it was the second largest member.

 Other contributing members were also looking at the issues raised in the motion, the 
two proposed actions of which represented first steps.

 The fund had already made some reduction in investments held in fossil fuels.  This 
was not clear on the website and she hoped that the motion would contribute to a 
move to greater transparency.

 The intergovernmental panel on climate 
change had concluded that urgent action on climate change was needed.  Measures 
took some years to take effect.  The Council had had a carbon reduction plan in 
place for itself and the County for some time.  The wish was to see the pension fund 
investments reflect the council’s approach.  She outlined progress on a range of 
measures the council had initiated to reduce carbon usage.  

 There were investment opportunities in 
new technologies and approaches and the Government had stated that pension 
funds could take climate change into account as a financially material consideration.

17



Councillor Phillips seconded the motion making the following principal points:

 It was to be welcomed that the fund had already reduced investment in fossil fuels 
from 5% to 1.5%.

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) was a defined benefit scheme and 
if there was not a sufficient return on investment employers (effectively council 
taxpayers) would have to increase their contributions.  

 The LGPS was the only funded public sector scheme so required a responsible 
investment strategy.  New ministerial guidance was currently awaited.

 Local authority responsibility for public health presented another dilemma for funds in 
balancing their fiduciary duty.  At the same time as seeking to reduce smoking the 
local authority pension funds held investments in tobacco companies because of the 
high return available.  However, the investment strategy was over the long term and 
accordingly there was merit in reducing investment in products such as fossil fuels.

The following additional points were made:

 The council had a leadership role.  Other councils and other public bodies had 
already changed their investment policies.

 Regard had to be had to the fiduciary duty but investment in green technologies and 
other technologies needed to support life in a world without fossil fuels represented 
investment opportunities with growth potential that would also be to the benefit of 
future generations.

 A member commented that the motion whilst worthy would have little practical impact 
and in itself be little more than a gesture, compared with other actions the council 
could take.

 A member clarified the council representation on Pension Fund Board the Pension 
Fund Committee on the respective roles of its representative on each.

 The continuing importance of oil to economies and the range of important products 
produced by the petro-chemical industry had to be recognised.  The performance of 
oil company shares reflected this importance. In the face of a number of uncertainties 
in the world investment advice was that exposure to oil stocks was sensible having 
regard to risk.

 The many current important uses of oil where it could less readily replaced by 
another product demonstrated the sense in reducing the use of fossil fuels simply for 
fuel.

 Attention was drawn to the work of Carbon Tracker, an independent financial think 
tank that researched the financial case for divestment for fossil fuels.

 Members were urged to continue to explore the potential for the council to take 
actions to reduce emissions and to address areas where investment was in conflict 
with its wider duties.

Councillor Marsh in summing up referenced Carbon Tracker’s analysis that the 2020s 
would see a peak in fossil fuel demand and prudent investors should divest into other 
funds.  She welcomed the opportunity for the council to act.

RESOLVED:

“We welcome the reduction in fossil fuel investments held by Worcestershire 
pension fund in recent years and call on our Herefordshire Council 
representatives on the Worcestershire Local Government Pension Fund board and 
committee to work with Worcestershire Fund to update their responsible 
investment strategy and seek alternatives to investments in fossil fuels.

In particular we urge them to advise the Fund to:

18



 provide regular information on the results of the Fund’s policy of engagement 
with its fossil fuel and other carbon intense holdings; and 

 review their Statement of Investment principles and Responsible Investment 
principles in the next year, including undertaking a carbon risk audit.”

33. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

It was noted that the date of the next meeting was 15 February 2019.

The meeting ended at 12.27 pm Chairman

19





Agenda item no. 5 - Questions from members of the public (Appendix 1)

Question
Number

Questioner Question Question to

PQ 1 Mr P McKay,
Leominster

The Ordnance Survey Getoutside Greenspaces Map encouraging us to be 'A More 
Active, Greener, Healthier Nation' does not presently show some of our Greenspaces 
such as Credenhill Park Wood, Bromyard Downs, Bircher Common, etc., and I ask if 
Herefordshire Council, as part of its role monitoring the implementation of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy, will provide Ordnance Survey with 
authoritative feedback requesting that all our green open spaces be shown? 

Cabinet member 
infrastructure

Response:
Thank you for raising this issue. The dataset used to produce the Ordnance Survey (OS) ‘Greenspace’ digital mapping was created without this 
council’s involvement. I have asked officers to write to OS raising your concerns.

PQ 2 Mr M Finning, 
Ross-on-Wye

There is an adolescent mental health epidemic, reported on almost daily. Sadly, in 
Herefordshire, hospital admissions for youngsters due to mental health issues is more 
than double the national average. This was in a report provided to the Council and 
reported in the Hereford Times. In light of this, do the members of the Council support 
the highly significant numbers of young people in the county who suffer from anxiety, 
panic attacks and poor mental health?

Cabinet member 
children and 
families

Response:
Yes we do, along with our partners including such groups as the No Wrong Door Herefordshire Voluntary Organisations Support Service, other 
community and voluntary organisations, schools, colleges as well as health services such as health visitors, school nurses and more specialised 
services that are funded by Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and provided by 2Gether NHS Trust. It’s a really important area and 
something I am focused on with our partners.   

The mental health and emotional wellbeing of children and young people continues to be a priority for this council, Herefordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Wye Valley NHS Trust and 2Gether NHS Trust. Through Herefordshire’s Children and Young People’s Partnership and our 
children and young people’s plan that is currently being refreshed, we and our partners are committed to supporting the mental health, emotional 
wellbeing and other needs of children and young people through a range of universal, early help and specialist support so that they can stay safe 
and have a great start in life.

I would like to provide some clarification of the local context behind nationally published figures. 

21



Local protocols at the county hospital in Hereford result in a number of children and young people being counted as a hospital admission where in 
other areas they are not. This is because, when children and young people who may need support from a mental health professional arrive at the 
Herefordshire Accident and Emergency department, they are moved to the children’s and young people’s ward so that they can be provided with 
support in a non-stressful and highly professional environment and therefore are counted as ‘admitted’ even if they stay for less than a day.

When individuals admitted for less than a day are excluded from the data, the local admission rate is not significantly different from the national rate. 
Consequently, published figures reflect differences between routes to support rather than represent true differences in the underlying prevalence of 
need. The local strategic analysis reports have been updated to consider the context of local practice on nationally reported figures. 

Supplementary question

Will the council show support for those in the community wishing to meet with their school to help to improve mental health issues?

Response to supplementary question

Schools had an important role to play.  It would be expected that there would be discussions between the school and parents and carers with pupils 
at the school.  The council did not have authority over schools. If there was a specific issue it was important that this was raised with the relevant 
school.

PQ 3 Mr S Betts, Ledbury Is Herefordshire Council aware of the 'Plantlife' initiative to improve the wildlife carrying 
capacity of the Nation's road verges and of one specific neighbouring local authority 
example of up-take of this initiative; namely, Gloucestershire County Council's recent 
unanimous decision to adopt a pro-wildflower/wildlife policy of road verge 
management?

Cabinet member 
transport and 
regulatory services

Response:
Yes, we are aware of the Plantlife initiative. Our Highway Maintenance Plan sets out our approach to verge maintenance. Rural carriageways are 
cut with a single 1m swathe width, increasing in width to incorporate appropriately sized visibility splays at junctions, bends and in front of signs. 
Verges wider than 1m and the vegetation beyond this point remain largely untouched, so allowing nature to run its course. Our current policy is that 
highway verges are cut twice a year. The first cut is expected to be completed before the late May bank holiday; the second cut before the August 
bank holiday. The number and timing of cuts for verges is subject to ongoing monitoring and will be considered in our current review of the Highway 
Maintenance Plan. We are open to a reduction in the number of cuts, and/or adjustments in the timing of our cuts, in locations were this approach is 
supported by the community and we are satisfied that this will not present undue risk to road users.

A number of parish councils in the county operate Lengthsman schemes which may include verge maintenance and we will ensure they are aware 
of the Plantlife initiative.

22

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200196/roads/236/highway_asset_management_and_maintenance/3


Supplementary question
Would he accept ongoing input from the public and other bodies to improve the management of roadside verges for wildlife purposes?

Response to supplementary question

There had been ongoing discussions with Balfour Beatty Living Places about managing the verges and maintaining diversity of plantlife. The council 
was looking at a way of involving parish councils to bring local knowledge to bear on what actions may be appropriate.  It was hoped there would be 
improvement.

PQ 4 Ms M Steel, 
Hereford

Currently only 1 out of 8 members of the council cabinet is female, and overall less than 
a third of councillors (16 out of 53) are female. What steps is the Council taking to 
address the stark gender imbalance?
The Women’s Equality Group in Herefordshire is holding a meeting during Local 
Democracy Week on Wednesday 17th October (7.30pm at the Kindle Centre) to look at 
the issue of under representation of women in local democracy and the group looks 
forward to sharing the council’s response at that meeting.

Cabinet member, 
finance and 
corporate services

Response:
Ultimately council representation is made up by those councillors who are elected by the public. The prerequisite before we see a change in the 
gender balance is to see more women standing in elections to give the electorate a real choice in who they want to represent them. 

Herefordshire Council is taking active steps to encourage a more diverse group of candidates to stand for election.  Building on the Local 
Government Association’s ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign, we will be running a local campaign designed to encourage a wider range of people to 
consider standing for election either as a Herefordshire councillor or as a parish councillor in the county. This will include elements targeted at 
encouraging more women, younger people and ethnic minority groups to consider standing for election.  As well as existing councillors describing 
their motivations and work as locally elected representatives, we will be publishing on the council’s web-site details of the support that councillors 
elected to Herefordshire Council can expect to receive in terms of training, allowances, computer equipment and supporting policies, such as child 
or dependent carer support, maternity leave, and reasonable adjustment for disabled people.  

I am pleased to note that some of my colleague female councillors from Herefordshire Council are attending the Women’s Equality Group meeting to 
mark European Democracy Week on 17 October, and welcome the support of the Women’s Equality Group in raising the profile of this important 
issue. 
Supplementary question
What is the justification for the gender balance on the cabinet?  If suitable candidates could not be found from the Conservative Group why could 
female councillors from other groups not be appointed?

Response to supplementary question
It would be unusual for an administration to involve members of other parties in their decision making body. 

23

https://local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/be-councillor
http://www.congress-eldw.eu/en/page/318-registration-for-the-2017-european-local-democracy-week-is-open-.html




Agenda item no. 6 - Questions from members of the council Appendix 2

Question
Number

Questioner Question Question to

MQ 1 Councillor Matthews, 
Credenhill

Sargeants Bus Company based at Kington, run a 7am daily service into 
Hereford bus station transporting the public and several pupils who attend 
Hereford Colleges.
Over recent times, they have experienced long delays in accessing and 
leaving the city centre, resulting in up to seventy school pupils whom they 
transport from Credenhill to Weobley High School on their return trip, 
arriving up to twenty minutes late for registration. Sargeants cannot adjust 
their timetables because of fixed arrangements in place with other bus 
companies.
Can you look into this matter, to ascertain if there is any action that can be 
taken to help resolve this worrying and unacceptable situation?

Cabinet member, 
transport and 
regulatory services

Response:
Thank you for raising the matter which I am pleased to advise has already been resolved.

Sargeants Brothers bus company and other stakeholders contacted the council from 20 September to raise concerns about the changes in 
traffic conditions in Hereford central area. Our investigation found that there had been a temporary disruption to the system (SCOOT) which 
coordinates traffic signal operations in the central area. That issue affecting SCOOT has now been resolved, and traffic movements have 
returned to normal such that bus operators including Sargeants are able to fulfil their published bus timetables. Sargeants have confirmed 
that their services have been able to return to normal operations.

Whilst the council will strive to ensure that traffic movements remain free flowing, Hereford’s transport network lacks resilience and can be 
severely disrupted by relatively minor incidents such as signal failures, temporary road works and vehicle breakdowns. The council’s longer 
term strategy, which includes new highway infrastructure including a by-pass alongside complementary transport measures will help improve 
resilience and reduce the impacts of such incidents in the future. 

Supplementary question
It was asked if ward members could be kept informed of such issues to enable them to inform the public.

Response to supplementary question

25



The request was noted and would be considered.

MQ 2 Councillor Chappell, 
Hinton and Hunderton

How many contracts have been given by the council to private ‘Home Care’ 
companies in the last 12 months, and what is the total value of these 
contracts? 

Cabinet member, 
health and wellbeing

Response:
Care at home within Herefordshire operates via an open framework of providers. The framework was commissioned in 2018. 

There are now 60 providers approved on the framework with 35 currently actively delivering care in Herefordshire.  The total home care 
budget spent with providers is forecasted at £9.8m this financial year. Services are currently supporting 814 people within Herefordshire. 
While home care services are a vital part of the overall care and support offer, the implementation of our new pathway to care model is 
already having an impact delivering the following improvements, as I reported at Cabinet last month:

 Continued improvements of responsiveness at the first point of contact  resulting in fewer phone calls and a greater proportion of calls 
being responded to upon the first request

 An increase in the proportion of cases being signposted to other universal services at the initial point of contact
 A reduction in the average cost of care packages compared to pre-strength based practice
 An increasing number of cases identified with a military background, meaning we are able to refer them to other avenues of support

Supplementary question
Could I be assured that contracts are regularly audited and action taken when found wanting?

Response to supplementary question
Care providers were required to operate within the council’s safeguarding procedures and required to report any change in circumstances 
that would affect the commissioned care.  Quality assurance for home care rested with families in the first instance. However, there was 
confidence that providers took pride in their service and had a sense of responsibility.  The council’s whole system strength based approach 
to assessing and meeting outcomes for residents had been recognised as a best practice model.  Providers were expected to demonstrate 
an understanding of and adhere to the model.  The care heroes website had been established to aid recruitment of care workers.

MQ 3 Councillor Lloyd-
Hayes, Aylestone Hill 

Could you please clarify that if the population of Herefordshire does not 
reach 225,000 residents by 2020 we will lose our unitary authority status, is 
this true or false?

Cabinet member, 
corporate strategy 
and budget

26



Response:
I have no information to suggest this to be the case. 
In answer to a parliamentary question regarding unitary council minimum sizes in April the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government provided the following response: “It is the statutory guidance, issued by the Secretary of State 
on 27 March 2018 under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, which states that a proposal for unitary local 
government should seek to achieve unitary authorities with populations as a minimum substantially in excess of 300,000.
The Secretary of State has issued this guidance, including on population size, having regard to past reorganisations, the Northamptonshire 
County Council Best Value Inspection Report of March 2018, and research, including that from the County Councils Network in 2016 into 
lessons from previous unitarisations which found that the scale of a unitary council was key, with larger authorities able to deliver economies 
of scale while smaller unitary councils were more likely to be less resilient, putting key services at potential risk.”
This guidance relates to proposals for new unitary authorities and does not have retrospective application.
Although the Northamptonshire best value inspection report and County Council Network research may have indicated that smaller unitary 
councils are more likely to be less resilient, Herefordshire Council has through a prolonged period of robust financial planning, investment in 
service change, and proactive partnership working, combined with taking some difficult decisions, ensured that we are in a sound position to 
face the challenges of the future. This was evidenced recently by the findings of the Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Challenge team who noted in their report that: “financial statements indicated that the council should be financially sustainable over the 
medium term; this view has also been supported by the external auditor” and in comments made following an independent assessment of the 
council’s balance sheets by Link Asset Services that noted: “this is probably the best positioned authority’s accounts I’ve seen in terms of 
year on year performance for some while.”

Supplementary question

Councillor Lloyd-Hayes indicated that she, rather than Councillor Michael as listed in the published supplement, had submitted the question.  
In Councillor Michael’s absence the Chairperson permitted her to ask a supplementary question. She asked if there was a danger of 
Herefordshire experiencing the difficulties it was considered smaller unitary authorities could face?

Response to supplementary question

The financial difficulties experienced by some authorities reinforced the importance of ensuring the council was financially sustainable and 
this could only achieved by good investment and growing the economy.  The council had a good track record in making savings and 

27



addressing many of the challenges faced by rural authorities. Decisions had also been taken to grow the economy to ensure continued 
sustainability.

MQ 4 Councillor Jinman, 
Golden Valley South

Given the recent adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy by councils 
neighbouring Herefordshire and given that one of the main reasons for 
undertaking the considerable amount of work by parish councils to develop 
and adopt Neighbourhood Development Plans was the opportunity to have 
access to 25% of the CIL funds for use within their parish areas, when will 
Herefordshire Council be given the opportunity to reconsider the adoption of 
the CIL currently delayed by decision of cabinet?

Cabinet member, 
infrastructure

Response:
Our decision to pause implementation of the community infrastructure levy (CIL) was taken in 2016 following the government’s 
announcement of an independent review of CIL. That review recommended significant changes to the operation of CIL but government has 
not yet fully responded; some potential draft changes to the operation of CIL were published at the beginning of 2018 but have not yet been 
confirmed and therefore it may still be considered premature to undertake what may be abortive work on a CIL at this time. We will of course 
keep this matter under review.

Herefordshire’s parish councils and communities should feel immensely proud of their achievements in this area – as you say there is a 
significant amount of work involved and the county remains at the forefront of this work. To date, a total of 110 neighbourhood areas have 
been designated, over 80% of all Herefordshire’s 133 parishes are within a designated neighbourhood area and, with 40 plans adopted to 
date (and a further 22 at a stage of development to carry material weight) Herefordshire has both the highest number of designated 
neighbourhood areas and adopted plans of all the counties in England. 

To focus on the potential income parishes may derive from any CIL associated with the development of ten or more houses in their area as 
being one of the main drivers for undertaking the work would, in my view, be mistaken. Producing a neighbourhood development plan gives 
local people the opportunity to decide the future of the places where they live and work. It allows the community to set out the vision for their 
area and the planning policies for the use and development of land, which can include choosing where the community wants new homes, 
shops, leisure facilities or employment opportunities to be built and what these buildings should look like. It is also worth noting that s106 
planning obligation funding remains available where appropriate.

Supplementary question

It was questioned whether CIL was based on the development of ten or more houses in an area as stated in the answer noting that this 
would mean that many parishes would not be able to benefit from it.   It was also asked what S106 money had been raised to date, how that 

28



had been spent, and how much had been spent within the Golden Valley South Ward and whether this information could be provided to all 
councillors?

Response to supplementary question

It was believed the original assumption had been that CIL would be based on each house and it was acknowledged that many 
Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDP) had been prepared based on that assumption.  However, the NDPs carried with them more 
benefits than the CIL money alone.  The cabinet member said he would circulate a report to all members on the position regarding CIL.  He 
would also supply a written answer on S106 monies.

Response sent on 31 January 2019:

For point of clarification CIL is not limited to the development of 10 or more houses and the qualifying information is provided in this answer for clarity. 
The reference to 10 or more homes in the previous written answer sought to reflect the minimum from which affordable housing is triggered and was 
included in error. Apologies if this was confusing. In such circumstances a developer is required to provide affordable housing and financial contributions 
towards community infrastructure under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act. 
 
Development would be liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy if it:

 Involves a new build of at least 100m2 gross internal area (GIA) floorspace; or
 Involves the creation of one or more dwellings.

Importantly, this includes development permitted by a ‘general consent’ (including permitted development) and the charge is levied in £ / m² 
on the net additional increase in floorspace.

With regards to section 106 monies for the Golden Valley South ward, outline planning permission (P141963/O) was granted on 6 May 2015 
for the erection of up to 38 houses and apartments on land at Callowside, Elm Green, Ewyas Harold. The application is subject to a section 
106 agreement that secures affordable housing and financial contributions towards education, libraries, recycling, sports and transport 
infrastructure. 
An application for approval of reserved matters (P181538/RM) has been submitted for the site. The application is undetermined but based on 
the scheme that has been submitted with the application the following affordable housing and financial contributions would be required;
Social Rented Tenure
2 x 1 bedroom walk up flats (plots 33 and 34)

29



2 x 2 bedroom bungalows (plots 11 and 12)
4 x 2 bedroom dwellings (plots 17, 8, 35 and 36)
1 x 3 bedroom dwelling (plot 4)
 
 
Intermediate Tenure 
1 x 2 bedroom bungalow (plot13)
2 x 2 bedroom dwellings (plots 31 and 32)
1 x 3 bedroom dwelling (plot 3)
 
The open market units comprise;

 13 x 2 bedroom dwellings 
 12 x 3 bedroom dwellings

 
Education
 
Unit Type Contribution per 

dwelling
Number of units Total contribution

2 bedroom £1,891.00 13 £24,583.00
3 bedroom £3,106.00 12 £37,272.00
  Total £61,855.00

 
The contribution will provide improved educational infrastructure at Ewyas Harold Primary School, Kingstone Secondary School, St Marys 
Roman Catholic School, Youth Service, Early Years and SEN.
 
Libraries
 
Unit Type Contribution per 

dwelling
Number of units Total contribution

2 bedroom £146.00 13 £1,898.00
3 bedroom £198.00 12 £2,376.00

30



  Total £4,274.00
 
The contribution will provide for improved library services in Hereford.
 
Sports Facilities
 
Unit Type Contribution per 

dwelling
Number of units Total contribution

2 bedroom £496.00 13 £6,448.00
3 bedroom £672.00 12 £8,064.00
  Total £14,512.00

 
The contribution will provide indoor and outdoor sports facilities in the locality of the development in accordance with the council’s draft 
Playing Pitch Assessment.
 
Recycling
 
Open market dwellings £120.00 x 25 = £3,000.00
 
Transport
 
Unit Type Contribution per 

dwelling
Number of units Total contribution

2 bedroom £1,721.00 13 £22,373.00
3 bedroom £2,583.00 12 £30,996.00
  Total £53,369.00

 
The total contribution payable is £137,010.00 (to be index linked).
 
There is a 2% monitoring fee payable prior to commencement which equates to £2,740.20 to monitor the trigger point for payment of the 
contributions.

31



 
The transport contributions are required to be paid prior to the commencement of the development with all others required to be paid prior to 
the occupation of the open market units.
 
With regards to section 106 contributions for the wider county, the council holds the following section 106 monies;
 
BREAKDOWN OF GAIN TYPES   
Biodiversity  5,000.00
Camera  28,144.00
Education  1,918,601.67
Flood  532,457.12
Grave yard  15,762.79
Library  46,422.52
Offsite Play/Open Space  508,240.64
Public Art  39,135.21
Public Realm  113,913.00
Recycling  73,374.25
Sports  208,006.06
Transport/Highways  2,969,442.55
S106 TOTAL  6,458,499.81

 
These monies will be spent in accordance with the terms of the individual section 106 agreements for each development site and may be 
pooled to deliver a package of measures in some circumstances.

32



Minutes of the meeting of Council held at Council Chamber, The 
Shire Hall, St Peter's Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX on Friday 18 
January 2019 at 10.00 am

Present: Councillor DB Wilcox (Chairman)
Councillor PJ Edwards (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: SP Anderson, PA Andrews, BA Baker, JM Bartlett, WLS Bowen, 
TL Bowes, H Bramer, CR Butler, ACR Chappell, E Chowns, MJK Cooper, 
PE Crockett, PGH Cutter, BA Durkin, CA Gandy, DW Greenow, KS Guthrie, 
J Hardwick, DG Harlow, EPJ Harvey, EL Holton, TM James, PC Jinman, 
AW Johnson, JF Johnson, JLV Kenyon, JG Lester, MD Lloyd-Hayes, 
RI Matthews, MT McEvilly, SM Michael, FM Norman, CA North, RJ Phillips, 
AJW Powers, PD Price, P Rone, AR Round, A Seldon, NE Shaw, WC Skelton, 
J Stone, D Summers, EJ Swinglehurst, LC Tawn, A Warmington and 
SD Williams

Officers: Chris Baird, Richard Ball, Annie Brookes, John Coleman, Kate Coughtrie, Liz 
Elgar, Tim Marks, Caroline Marshall, Alistair Neill and Stephen Vickers

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors JA Hyde, PP Marsh, RL Mayo 
and PD Newman.

35. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

There were no declarations of interest. 

36. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  (Pages 7 - 10)

A copy of the public questions and written answers, together with supplementary 
questions asked at the meeting and their answers, is attached to the Minutes at 
Appendix 1.

37. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  (Pages 11 - 16)

A copy of the Member questions and written answers, together with supplementary 
questions asked at the meeting and their answers, is attached to the Minutes at 
Appendix 2.

38. COURT JUDGEMENTS RELATING TO CHILDREN AND FAMILIES  

Council considered a report from the chief executive which set out the details and issues 
relating to the recent court judgements of the His Honour Mr. Justice Keehan.

The Leader introduced the report and restated the council’s apology to the young people 
who were the subjects of the court judgements. The council had accepted the 
judgements, recognised the failings outlined and expressed deep regret for the impact 
on the children. The council was very grateful for the work of adopters. It was 

33



acknowledged that there had been problems and that when such issues come to light it 
was easy to assume that there were issues throughout the service.  As councillors and 
corporate parents it was acknowledged that there would be disappointment in the 
judgements however it was also important to consider, in totality, the work undertaken by 
the children and families directorate. The positive impacts of the work of the directorate 
were evident in the school results which children in Herefordshire had achieved recently. 
Following the judgements the council was now taking action which included engaging 
with external providers such as the Doncaster Children’s Trust and were open and 
honest about the improving services and ensuring that children received a good level of 
care. The scale of the challenge and the work that was needed required arrangements to 
be put into place to support those who work with children. As corporate parents all 
members were required to assist the council to identify the help and support required.

During the debate members made the following principal points:

 It was queried whether local residents were aware of the pressures that 
children’s services were under and that there was a growing number of children 
who had suffered abuse or neglect and required the intervention of the council. 

 There were currently over 300 children in care and those staff at the council who 
were responsible for administering the procedures around care were under 
significant pressure. Within a busy and pressurised working environment 
administrative and supervisory processes could fail. It was important for 
members to bear in mind the difficult work that many social workers carried out 
when considering the issues raised in the judgements.

 The improvements being undertaken to systems and processes and efforts 
around the recruitment and retention of staff were encouraging.

 The role of scrutiny in respect of the judgements was raised. It was queried how 
scrutiny could review such issues effectively if it was not aware until after the 
judgements had been published. A member contended that the role of scrutiny 
had been diminished over the last three administrations at the council. The 
chairperson of the children and young people scrutiny committee explained that 
the work programme was agreed at the start of the municipal year but if issues 
arose which the committee were unaware of it could consider those items when 
they became apparent. There would be a discussion between the cabinet 
member, chairman of the children and young people scrutiny committee and the 
director children and families regarding how such matters could be handled, in 
a timely manner, by scrutiny in future.      

 It was noted that the children involved in one of the judgements had received a 
good level of care.

 During the implementation of required improvements the morale of employees 
should be considered and a positive spirit engendered. An important point in the 
report concerned the need to support members of staff and acknowledge the 
difficult and important work that they carry out. 

 The extraordinary meeting of Council should have been convened without the 
need of a request from members. There was a need for the council to be open 
and transparent with the public about the issues contained in the judgements.  

 The independence of the IROs was queried. In order to ensure independence it 
was suggested that IROs could be engaged externally, potentially through the 
NSPCC. A strong and independent department of IROs was seen as essential. 
The cabinet member children and families (CM C&F) explained that having an 
IRO service within the council was standard practice. New processes and 
practices were being implemented to improve the challenge and support for 
IROs. Doncaster Children’s Trust was assisting the council to assess the new 
arrangements that were being introduced and make further recommendations.  

34



 Support was expressed for the convening of a task and finish group and it was 
hoped that members would be forthcoming to be involved on the group that was 
established. Details of the terms of reference for the task and finish group and 
the timeline for its work were requested. The chairperson of the children and 
young people scrutiny committee explained that the scoping document for the 
task and finish group would be agreed at the meeting of the committee on 4 
February with a final report published before the end of the council term.

 The importance of corporate parenting was emphasised and the need for all 
members to attend training on being a corporate parent and to act to advance 
the responsibilities of this role.

 Reassurance was sought that there were no further cases, similar to those under 
discussion, which would emerge concerning child protection at the council. The 
CM C&F explained that she was not aware of any pending issues which was 
confirmed by the deputy solicitor children and families.

 It was queried what systems were in place to avoid a recurrence of the issues. 
The CM C&F confirmed that the new checks and balances had been put in 
place to ensure that decisions could be subject to review and reassessment if 
necessary. The deputy solicitor children and families explained that the service 
provided to children was now much stronger with more social workers in post 
and more robust management. 

 There was a requirement to undertake preventative work to support families in 
deprived wards where vulnerable children lived. The reduction of services in 
such areas were raised with the example of the withdrawal of 16-19 education 
at the Hereford Academy; the withdrawal of this provision was attributed to the 
social issues of attendees at the school. It was asked if the executive would 
invest greater resource in areas where there was a higher level of vulnerable 
children. The CM C&F explained that early help and prevention priorities 
existed across all directorates at the council. Preventative work included 
supporting families in crisis and providing assistance before children were taken 
into care. This was a priority and assessments for early help services were 
increasing along with uptake of the services. This was causing an impact on the 
length of waiting times and families were prioritised depending on their level of 
need. It was confirmed that it was important for thresholds to be correctly set 
and observed for different levels of interventions to ensure that the capacity of 
the service was managed effectively. 

 The level of agency staff within social work teams was queried; figures provided 
as part of the member briefings appeared at variance with those provided by 
the cabinet member at the current meeting. The decrease reported to the 
meeting was queried in light of the continued difficulty in the recruitment of staff.  
The director children and families explained that the figures previously reported 
referred to staffing in the assessment and child protection court teams rather 
than the overall directorate. The investment from cabinet had enabled the 
employment of more agency social workers in these critical teams. Work had 
also been undertaken on a regional programme in the West Midlands to bring in 
agency workers. 

 One member asked what steps the director children and families was 
undertaking in response to the judgements. The Chairman confirmed that the 
director children and families would meet with the member to discuss actions 
underway in response to the issues in the judgements. 

 A recent freedom of information request relating to costs of non-disclosure 
agreements (NDAs) was raised and whether these related to individuals 
involved in the judgements. The CM C&F advised that these were employment 
matters but that it may be reasonable to infer that costs associated with the 

35



NDAs included in the response to the freedom of information request were likely 
to relate to severance payments; a written response would be provided to clarify 
the point. 

 The responsibilities of councillors to challenge and scrutinise the performance of 
children’s services was raised. The performance challenge briefings were 
highlighted and the potential for increasing access to these session.  The CM 
C&F explained that the performance challenge briefings provided an effective 
and robust exchange of views involving all councillors. Consideration of 
different options, including the distribution of information from these session, to 
improve the manner in which the sessions operated could be considered. 

 The difficulty of convening a quorate case conference to review care cases was 
raised. The director of children and families explained that the range of 
organisations and representatives at case conferences reflected those local 
agencies with safeguarding responsibilities. Attendance levels at the 
conferences were being monitored and poor attendance would be raised 
through the safeguarding board.  

 The use of new forms of IT to assist social workers to keep case records and 
notes up to date were raised. The new IT equipment was seen as a positive 
step in making improvements to the work of social workers. The chief executive 
and the director children and families confirmed that voice recognition software 
and equipment was being introduced for social workers to improve record 
keeping around visits.

 The need to maintain a balance between offering support and assistance to staff 
who were under pressure and ensuring that there was effective performance 
management was expressed. It was queried how poor performance had not 
been identified at the time. The CM C&F explained that reviews to determine 
how the system had failed had been undertaken and measures were being put 
in place, including those through the Ofsted action plan, to address the issues.

 It was queried whether the executive would make provision in the budget for key 
worker housing for social workers. The CM C&F confirmed that key worker 
housing for social workers was supported and initial work on such a proposal 
had been undertaken at Cabinet.

 It was queried whether the cabinet would lobby central government for additional 
funding for children services. Successive increases to the precept to support 
local services were not sustainable and it was noted that the LGA was aware of 
the pressures involved in the funding of children’s services nationally. Children’s 
services across the country represented a significant pressure upon local 
government finances with £2bn shortfalls by 2020. The CM C&F explained that 
the cabinet had allocated additional resources to children and families which it 
was committed to sustaining into the long term.

 A member stated that similar issues to those contained in the judgements had 
been a problem at the council for a number of years. The scope containing the 
task and finish group’s terms of reference should examine delegations from the 
Leader down and include consideration of the ‘culture’ at the council.   

 There was deep concern expressed regarding the member of staff who set out in 
the submission to the court that they were threatened with disciplinary action if 
they sought independent legal advice.

 Scrutiny of improvements that had been achieved were urged. It was suggested 
that the scrutiny committee could review cases selected at random to ensure 
that new processes and procedures were being observed. The CM C&F would 
raise this suggestion with the director children and families but acknowledged 
the confidentiality of the information contained in the cases may undermine its 
feasibility.  

36



 A member raised the importance of moving away from a blame culture to one in 
which people felt empowered to admit to mistakes and raise issues freely. A 
further member explained that a responsibility culture was required at the 
council, responsibility which started at the level of Leader of the Council and 
cabinet member down through the organisation.

 It was explained that investment alone would not rectify the issues identified in 
the judgements. A full review of the problems was required to ensure that 
investment was properly informed and targeted effectively. The CM C&F 
explained that the £1.6 m additional funding from cabinet was carefully planned 
investment in the children and families directorate with the intention of realising 
tangible improvements.

 A member explained that there had been a number of problems for over ten 
years in children’s services and the cause had been regularly identified as the 
culture in the service. The CM C&F explained that she had been appointed as 
cabinet member in April 2018 and the council was on an improvement journey. 
The outcome of the Ofsted inspection in 2018 of requiring improvement was 
noted as the first time the council had retained this status.

In summing up the Leader welcomed the debate and explained that the planned 
improvements were an appropriate response. The response to the judgements 
demonstrated that the council was willing to make improvements and allow external 
examination of those improvements. 

In closing the debate the CM C&F read a statement from a child in care which spoke of 
their thanks for the care and help of social services at Herefordshire.

The Chairman put the recommendation to receive the report to the vote which was 
approved unanimously. 

RESOLVED: that the report is received.

The meeting ended at 12.05 pm Chairman

37





Agenda item no. 3 - Questions from members of the public

Question
Number

Questioner Question Question to

PQ 1 Mr Barrington, 
Hereford 

Can the council indicate what disciplinary action will be taken against individuals 
criticised in Judge Keehan statement? 

Cabinet member 
finance and 
corporate services

Response:
The council is currently undertaking its own learning review of what has taken place on both cases and, alongside this, specific externally-led 
reviews are already underway or being put in place.  Appropriate action will be taken on the conclusion of these reviews, in accordance with the 
council’s HR procedures, any relevant professional body requirements, and the law.

PQ 2 Ms Coda, 
Peterchurch

The Keehan judgements against Herefordshire Council are the latest examples of 
problems, including long standing difficulties in recruitment and retention of social 
workers, within our social services.  In light of this history can councillors demonstrate 
that Herefordshire Council is a ‘fit’ body to run and improve our social services, 
particularly those that serve children?

Cabinet member 
children and 
families

Response:
The council is committed to maintaining high standards of conduct by its staff and councillors and has adopted a set of values that underpin its work, 
and which include commitments both to strive for excellence and the appropriate quality of service, care and life in Herefordshire, and to be open, 
transparent and accountable. These are not bland statements but guide how we work. Where things go wrong, we are open about the fact, and take 
action to understand the causes of any problem or failure, as well as what we need to do to make things better. We welcome challenge and seek to 
learn, not only from our own experiences, but also those of other councils across the country.

There has been and is a lot of good work carried out by Herefordshire Council children’s services. Ofsted’s inspection of local authority children’s 
services in Herefordshire in June 2018 highlighted a number of areas of work where this is the case, as well as areas for improvement. We regularly 
invite challenge from peers through the Local Government Association and the 2018 corporate peer challenge found that as a council we had an 
appetite to learn, a desire to improve, and an awareness of key areas for change. It also noted that a range of externally supported arrangements 
have been put in place to assist our improvement journey.   

Performance for children and young people is regularly reviewed, challenged and reported publically, and demonstrate that improvements have 
been made in a number of areas. In 2017 we strengthened the capacity of our scrutiny function enabling a greater focus to be given to our work with 
children and young people. This rigorous approach to performance will continue.

The problems of recruitment and retention highlighted in the question are by no means unique to Herefordshire. There are national and regional 
issues in recruitment (in 2018 it was reported that there were 110 children’s social worker vacancies in the West Midlands that were not filled either 
by agency or permanent employees). Herefordshire faces further difficulties given its location and infrastructure. 

39



Improving recruitment and retention can’t be solved by a ‘quick-fix’. Herefordshire Council has a good record of recruiting and supporting newly 
qualified social workers who are often enthusiastic, hard-working and committed but need extra support. Caseloads have reduced with the use of 
agency workers. This should make the retention and recruitment of employed staff easier in the shorter term, but use of agency workers does not 
come without its own challenges. We have recently put in place additional retention and recruitment incentives for posts such as social workers 
where it is difficult to recruit and retain the staff that we need; we will continue to keep this under review. Our fundamental approach is to “grow our 
own” and keep them, recognising that this will take a number of years.

Supplementary Question
How does the number of social workers currently employed at the Council compare to the number previously employed and the number projected to 
be employed in the future? What proportion of staff are agency workers?

Response to Supplementary Questions
Judge Keehan acknowledged the challenge of recruiting and retaining staff. It was a pressure regionally and nationally. There are 700 permanent 
post vacancies in the West Midlands and 100 vacancies not filled by interim or agency staff. £1.6 million had been dedicated by the Cabinet to 
children services to attempt to increase recruitment and reduce the reliance on agency staff with a reduction from 54 agency staff in October 2015 to 
15 in December 2018. There were still social worker vacancies of 19.77 full time equivalent (fte) which was 7.27 fte net of agency staff but the 
Council was proactive in seeking to dealing with the issue and was attempting to be creative in its solutions. This included a revised pay and 
incentive offer, an initiative to train and develop in-house members of staff and a campaign to promote the authority and the rural nature of the 
county was in progress. Other initiatives such as recommending a friend, social media campaigns, return to work programme and work with 
recruitment firms had been undertaken. In attempting to meet the challenge the Council was looking to learn from the practices of social worker 
recruitment in Cornwall which was of a similar rural nature to Herefordshire. Case-loads were decreasing in particularly case-loads for the 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) were now within recommended levels. The investment from Cabinet had also allowed for an increase in the 
capacity of the legal team with the appointment of additional childcare lawyers, apprentices and a paralegal. The Council was always open to listen 
to new suggestions to increase recruitment.

PQ 3 Name and address 
supplied

There appears to have been or is a culture within Children's Services of Herefordshire 
Council of "misleading" judges etc; what has the council done about this?

Cabinet member 
children and 
families

Response:
There is no evidence to suggest that there has been a culture of misleading judges. The AB case was taken to court by officers to allow the court to 
discharge the order rather than letting it lapse. This ensured that the court had oversight of the matter. This question has not been raised by judges 
themselves, nor by Ofsted or the Local Government Association following external inspections or reviews they have carried out. Many cases over a 
number of years have been before the courts and agreed without issue. Mr Justice Keehan made comments about specific cases and on practice, 
including noting the “open and forthright manner in which they [the Director for Children and Families, and the Assistant Director Safeguarding and 
Family Support] have responded to the diverse criticism made”. 

Supplementary Question

40



In the A & B case, Herefordshire Council accepted that it failed both young people “over a very prolonged period of time”.  Regarding the separated 
twins case, the judge completely damned Herefordshire Council including for “submitting [reports for potential adopters] which were inaccurate, 
incomplete and misleading”.  The judgements have been sent to Ofsted.  Family courts are strictly private but presumably most cases would be 
contested. Parents may not contest even though they have been misrepresented.  Is the cabinet member’s response to my original question itself 
“misleading” and demonstrates the “misleading” culture which is rarely made accountable by High Court judges?

Response to Supplementary Question
The cases contained in the judgements relate to instances of individual actions and does not represent widespread practice or constitute a culture at 
the Council. That would not be a fair assessment of the environment at the Council.  To my knowledge there is no culture of misleading but if the 
questioner would like to meet with me in a different a forum to outline evidence of a culture of misleading I would look into the claims.

PQ 4 Dr Whalley, 
Hereford

The judgement by Mr. Justice Keehan referred to Herefordshire Councils “litany of 
errors”, “lamentable and astonishing failures”, “dreadful and irrational decision-making” 
and this has left Hereford citizens with some very real concerns about the nature of  the 
"root and branch” reforms that the Director committed to carrying out . Precisely how 
have the issues raised in his report of poor supervision, excessive workloads, weak 
oversight, lack of grip and poor decision making been addressed?

Cabinet member 
children and 
families

Response:
In his judgement, Mr Justice Keehan gave his view that he was  reassured by the senior managers’ expressed commitment to a root and branch 
reform of children’s services in Herefordshire and a commitment to ensure that far more robust systems are in place to ensure compliance with good 
social work practice. 

That commitment is being realised through actions that had already been put in place prior to the judgement and further actions that are in hand, 
some of which will not be ‘quick fixes’. The report on the agenda today sets out those actions. Cabinet has approved additional funding and we have 
increased the number of social workers (primarily through the use of agency staff in the first instance but with plans to create a more sustainable 
permanent staff base), business support, early help workers and management posts to provide more capacity for staff to carry out their roles. We 
have introduced a range of performance reports that managers are now using on a weekly basis to check on some performance areas. These are 
reviewed at an assistant director/heads of service meeting and then by the whole directorate leadership team once a month. Closer scrutiny of 
decision making is taking place, including through panels established by the assistant director and supported by legal services. 

We are not closed to any further suggestions and if you have particular concerns about the reforms being made or proposed I or the senior 
managers would be pleased to meet with you to hear those concerns, and any suggestions for further improvements that you may wish to propose.

Supplementary Question
I note that the Director and Assistant Director will meet with the twins in the court judgement who have been given a basic financial restitution. There 
will be significant costs in respect of therapeutic care for the children and additional costs to the adoptive parents. When the Director meets with the 
twins in the court judgement will he provide assurance to the adoptive parents and the children that their needs will be prioritised and that personnel 
and resources will be made available to them?

Response to Supplementary Question

41



The figure set for restitution to the twins was ordered by the court. The Anna Freud centre had undertaken research in the co-location of twins in 
adoption and the following is a quote from the report produced, ‘In summary, it is our view that the benefits of placing the siblings together is 
outweighed in this case by the likelihood that their high level of need could not both be met in one placement, that their separate placement but 
continued relationship offers them the best opportunity for recovery…’. In the light of these findings the judge concluded that the separate placement 
of the twins had been a correct decision and that their development would be enhanced by this arrangement.

PQ 5 Ms Dean, Hereford The findings state that 'In the autumn of 2008 Children’s services in Herefordshire 
moved from paper files to electronic records. It was not discovered until January 2016 
that the placement orders made in respect of both children had not been recorded on 
their electronic record'.  Has a full audit of all records been undertaken to ensure that 
no other records are inaccurate or missing?  

Cabinet member 
children and 
families

Response:
Over the past ten years the council’s children’s safeguarding services have worked with more than 7,000 children and it would not be practicable to 
audit all these cases. We have carried out specific case record audits, including those relating to children under placement orders, and are 
continuing a risk based programme of reviews, prioritising our work on current cases and, within that, cases that may come before court or where we 
may need to review our approach as corporate parents.

42



Agenda item no. 4 - Questions from members of the council

Question
Number

Questioner Question Question to

MQ 1 Councillor CA Gandy, 
Mortimer 

What effect will or has there been following these two court cases, which 
have come so soon after the S20 cases, on the retention and recruitment of 
social workers in Herefordshire?

Cabinet member, 
children and families

Response:

We have no evidence to date that retention and recruitment of social workers in Herefordshire is being affected by the court cases. 

Many social workers take their work very seriously and feel deeply about it. There is a desire amongst our staff to do a really good job for 
children and young people and this has been evidenced whenever Ofsted or external reviews take place. The council has put in an increased 
retention offer over the last six months and also improved its package to attract permanent staff. This continues to be kept under review.

Experience from other councils who have received adverse publicity shows that a demonstrable willingness to learn from mistakes made and 
make changes helps to achieve more speedy progress in improvement thus making recruitment easier. That said, the national challenges 
around the social care workforce supply, taken together with the particular Herefordshire challenges of location and infrastructure mean that 
recruitment and retention of social workers will require sustained focus and action.

As the chair of the children and young people’s scrutiny committee I know that you and your committee members have given really valuable 
challenge and suggestions to our plans for improvement following the section 20 cases and your input is reflected clearly through our action 
plans. I very much hope that this welcomed input will continue.

Supplementary Question
Does the portfolio holder believe a task and finish group, which should be composed of members of all the political parties at the Council, 
should be set up to consider the issues surrounding the judgements?
Response to Supplementary Question
I would be delighted for a task and finish group to be established following the helpful work that was undertaken by the section 20 task and 
finish group. Scrutiny offers the opportunity for a detailed examination of the issues and for recommendations to emerge from its work to take 
forward.

43



MQ 2 Councillor BA Durkin, 
Old Gore

What assurances can the cabinet member children and families provide, 
going forward, that the new management team will deliver on their 
assurances to prevent any repetition of the lamentable shortcomings 
illustrated in the decision of this hearing?

Cabinet member, 
children and families

Response:

I can provide a number of assurances that the commitments made, and recognised by Mr Justice Keehan, to reform children’s services and 
ensure far more robust systems are in place to ensure compliance with good social work practice are being delivered.

A number of actions have already been implemented as detailed in the report before Council today; these include:
a) The Assistant Director Safeguarding and Family Support chairing a weekly Placement Panel that reviews individual child cases and 

also looks at cohorts of children, for example those placed with parents or in kinship care. This includes children who are the subject 
of placement orders whose cases will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis.

b) The agenda for Adoption Reviews has been strengthened to reflect that the review takes place in the light of the guidance set out in 
section 1 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 to establish if the court approved care plan has been changed.

c) The legal department holds six-monthly legal review meetings of all children under placement orders. This should ensure that 
decisions are not made without Adoption Decision Maker (ADM) consideration.

d) A sibling separation tool is being introduced for managers to ensure the decision to recommend to separate considers all relevant 
matters before it is presented to the ADM  and is clearly recorded on the Mosaic system. The completed sibling separation tool will 
be required at panel.

e) Changes have been made to the way electronic case records are updated so that changes are visible as changes rather than 
deleting/replacing previous information.

f) The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service has been strengthened by increasing management oversight and implementing 
robust processes to ensure any concerns of the IRO are raised and appropriately responded to. An externally led review of the 
service, as part of our work with Doncaster Council, is underway.

g) All IROs have received, by email and in a laminated hard copy, legal guidance for IROs on challenging decisions of the council. The 
guidance makes it clear that the individual IRO is personally responsible for activating the dispute resolution process. A clear 

44



expectation has been communicated to IROs to record their work, including any dispute resolution concerns and activity. A more 
effective escalation process has been put in place.

Additionally a learning exercise on the cases is underway.  The wider learning will be reported to members, and taken to all staff. We will 
adopt this approach for any cases in the future that we need to get a clear understanding on the presenting issues, what may have happened 
in the past, and what may need to change in terms of current practice.

We have an Ofsted Improvement Plan that details a range of actions that children and families scrutiny will review, we will also review 
progress and what more needs to be done at the members performance challenge sessions. Ofsted will also receive reports on progress and 
every year Ofsted will formally inspect services either through focused visits, joint targeted area inspections or inspections of local area 
children’s services. 

Our local senior Judge HHJ Plunkett meets with the Director, Assistant Director and Deputy Solicitor to the Council every three months and 
he has commended the efforts the council are making. 

Assurance on delivery of improvement action and performance standards will continue to be subject to regular challenge from senior 
management and members at an operational level, through the regular directorate performance challenge sessions and the corporate 
performance reporting process.

We will never be able to give a guarantee that poor decisions and practice will not occur again, but we will continue to improve the system 
and drive up standards consistently, and I would ask all members to continue to actively engage in providing constructive challenge and 
support to this process.

Supplementary Question
Being aware of the important role of an IRO can the cabinet member outline the training and measures introduced to improve practice?

Response to Supplementary Question
The IROs are crucial to children’s services and an action plan to improve practice has been in place for the service through the Ofsted action 
plan which predated the court judgements. Training was taking place on the fundamentals of the IRO role and to encourage challenge and 
for IROs to act as effective advocates for children in care. Work is ongoing with Doncaster Children’s Trust as a partner in practice to asses 
any weaknesses or failings in the work of the IROs and bring improvement and support. Details of operational matters and the training 
undertaken are set out in the report. 

45



MQ 3 Councillor RI 
Matthews, Credenhill

“The IRO’s primary focus is to quality-assure the care planning and review 
process for each child, and to ensure that his/her current wishes and 
feelings are given full consideration. To be successful, the role must be 
VALUED by senior managers and operate within a supportive service 
culture and environment. An effective IRO service should enable the local 
authority to achieve improved outcomes for children”

Are we providing a supportive service, culture and environment, and are our 
IRO’s being fully valued by senior management?

Cabinet member, 
children and families

Response:
Senior managers do value the IRO service. We have increased management capacity to provide additional support and oversight. We have 
provided a clearer escalation policy that values the views of IROs. We have an improvement plan in place for this service as part of our 
overall Ofsted improvement work; this work will not only secure operational improvements, but ensure that the work of the service is 
appropriately recognised.  Doncaster Children’s Trust are currently undertaking a review of the service and how it is supported within the 
council; this will inform future improvements.

Supplementary Question
The role of the IRO is that they are empowered to act on behalf of the child and where appropriate challenge the local authority. Can the 
IROs be considered to be truly independent if they are appointed by a local authority? Have alternative methods of providing a better IRO 
service been considered or will they be investigated in the future?

Response to Supplementary Question
The role of the IROs is crucial and it was national practice to make internal appointments to the positions. Given the difficulties involved in 
recruitment, internal appointments offered the opportunity to take advantage of internal resources at the Council to recruit to the posts. There 
is no problem in making an internal appointment but it is necessary to ensure the checks and balances around the work of the IRO are robust 
to enable the individual to be effective in their challenge and advocacy. The work ongoing with Doncaster will examine and strengthen these 
arrangements. During the cases in the judgements checks and balances were in place but there were not being adhered to and this lack of 
confidence and robustness need to be addressed. During 2016/17 staffing changes and fluctuating caseloads, above the recommended 
limits, contributed to the problems. The extent of the work of the IROs over this period should also be borne in mind with the chairing of a 
number of LAC reviews; it was important to look at the issue in context. Testimony from a care leaver was read out which contained 
messages of thanks for the valued and effective support provided by an IRO.

46



MQ 4 Councillor NE Shaw, 
Bromyard Bringsty

The LGA have reported that 86% of children’s services nationwide are over 
budget. Ours is no exception. To what extent do you consider that resource 
constraints forced by budget cuts may have contributed to these cases 
arising?

Cabinet member, 
children and families

Response:

Like other councils, Herefordshire Council has had to make significant cuts over the past ten years and more. Alongside the cuts, costs and 
demand in relation to looked after children and care leavers has risen. At times the council has had to employ agency workers and these do 
cost more and carry additional challenges in ensuring our children receive stable and consistent social worker support. Additionally there are 
increased costs to delivering services across a large rural area.  In retrospect some of the cuts in staffing meant that some areas of service 
were under pressure because of increased demand and the level of work that the service was already undertaking. 

That said, Herefordshire is now in a better financial position than many councils overall and, recognising in 2018 that children’s safeguarding 
and family support services and legal services for children needed to be prioritised, Cabinet made  additional resources available to increase 
capacity for workers and managers. The Ofsted inspection carried out in June 2018 and the Local Government Association peer reviews also 
reflected that to help improve services we needed to invest more in the right capacity for support workers, social workers, management and 
leadership. This is continuing into budget setting for 2019/20. 

It is important to understand though, that resource and capacity are not the only contributing factors in these cases. We need to have high 
quality staff, who have the tools, training and supervision and support to carry out their work effectively and a performance culture to deliver 
and manage the improvements we have identified so that our looked after children have the best start in life.

Supplementary Question
When does the Cabinet Member expect to see the impact of the additional investment take effect and move the service in a different 
direction?
Response to Supplementary Question
The extra investment has allowed the service to increase capacity where it was needed. The results of this investment are already being 
seen. A number of performance indicators from the implementation Ofsted improvement action plan showed progress including a reduction 
in social worker caseloads, timeliness of visits to children with a child protection plan, reduction of the number of children inappropriately 
referred in to the multi-agency safeguarding hub and improvement of the completion of assessments within timescales.

47





Chairman’s Announcements – Council Meeting – 15th February 2019
Events attended by the Chairman since the last 
ordinary Council meeting on 12th October 2018

19th October – NMiTE Inauguration, Hereford Cathedral 
21st October – British Empire Medal presentation of Mrs Eileen Dilley, College Hall
21st October – Harvest Festival Service, Hereford Cathedral
24th October – HCS CCF RN Trafalgar Dinner, Hereford Cathedral School
28th October – Leominster Town Council Civic Service, The Priory Church 
4th November – ABF meeting and Lunch 
5th November – Field of Remembrance, Hereford Cathedral 
5th – 10th November – Daily Reading of WW1 names, Hereford Cathedral
8th November – An Evening of Words & Music for Remembrance, Hereford Cathedral School 
9th November – Gathering of the Wave 2018 Concert ‘Remember’, Point4, Hereford
11th November – Remembrance Day Service, Hereford City 
11th November – County Service of Remembrance, Hereford Cathedral
*12th November – Citizenship Ceremony 
13th November – Covenant Signatories Meeting, Shire Hall
13th November – HGTA Apprentice Awards, The Courtyard
14th November – HVOSS AGM
15th November – Youth Orchestra, Shire Hall
16th November – First World War Commemoration Committee, College Hall
16th November – Herefordshire & Worcestershire Fire & Rescue Service Awards Ceremony, Town Hall
17th November – Bromyard Town Council Christmas Light Switch On
23rd November – High Sheriff Lecture, Town Hall
24th November - Leominster Advent Service & Switch-on of Christmas lights - Leominster 
25th November – Queen’s Award for Voluntary Services presentation to Vennture, Holy Trinity Church
27th November – Youth Orchestra, Town Hall
28th November – Hereford Times Food and Drink Awards, Lyde Arundel 
29th November - Cathedral School Choir Service - Hereford Cathedral 
1st December – Last Train to Tomorrow, Leominster
6th December – Peter Pan, The Courtyard
*10th December – Citizenship Ceremony, Town Hall
*11th December – Behind the Scenes of an Award Winning Social Care Organisation, Leominster
12th December – HRH Princess Royal visit, Townswomen’s Guild Advent Service, Hereford Cathedral 
13th December – Hereford Cathedral School Christmas Carol Service, Hereford Cathedral
16th December – St Michael’s Hospice Light Up A Light Service, Hereford Cathedral 
18th December – Post Office Christmas Visit, Hereford 
20th December – RNC Celebrations of Achievements, Royal National College
20th December – ABF Christmas Carol Service, Hereford Cathedral
23rd December – Festival of Lessons and Carols, Hereford Cathedral 
**12th January – RBL County Conference, Town Hall 
25th January – High Sheriff Symposium, Shire Hall
**25th January – Shropshire County Council Civic Heads Dinner

*Attended by the Vice-Chairman
** Attended by Cllr John Stone 

49

AGENDA ITEM 4





Chief Executive’s Announcements – 15 February 2019

 Planning is well underway for local government elections on 3 May, including 
updated website with links and nomination packs and currently arranging briefing 
sessions with parish clerks, prospective candidates and agents. Many thanks to 
those members who participated in the videos on the website to outline the role of 
being a councillor.

 Our community brokers are shortlisted for the LCG finals in London with the results to 
be announced in March.

 The HR team and the 16+ team jointly hosted a ‘takeover the council’ challenge day 
for care leavers, on 13 February, in the Shire Hall. Around 25 care leavers spent the 
day as the management team of a fictional council encountering many of the tasks 
that real corporate teams deal with. They also ‘re-designed the city centre’. It was a 
great opportunity for aspiring managers to get a taste of playing a leadership role in a 
Council.

 Following the autumn budget announcements, an additional £5.1m investment from 
the Department for Transport is enabling the council, in partnership with Balfour 
Beatty Living Places, to improve the condition of B, C and U class roads with works 
now scheduled and taking place countywide.

 The Herefordshire Wye and Lugg Natural Flood Management (NFM) project is 
underway and is one of 26 Catchment scale projects funded by DEFRA that aims to 
reduce flood risk to local communities, as well as well as improving water quality and 
enhancing biodiversity, using NFM processes. There are seven areas being targeted 
across the county and community events are being held so that residents and 
landowners can find out about the project, as well as how they can get involved.

 We are currently consulting on the Hereford Transport Package walking, cycling, bus 
and public space improvements. These together with a Hereford bypass aim to 
transform the way we move around the city. There will be the opportunity to provide 
comments and feedback during this six-week consultation running from 29 January 
to 11 March.

 We are seeking views on the strategic approach and detailed policies and proposals 
for minerals and waste management in the county during our six-week consultation 
on the draft minerals and waste local plan running from 21 January to 4 March.

 We are currently consulting until 15 February on a revised Local Development Order 
for certain types of development for Hereford Enterprise Zone. This demonstrates the 
council’s ongoing commitment to bringing forward new and high quality jobs in the 
county.

 On 13 December, Cabinet approved the creation of a Joint Venture company 
between the council and the University of Wolverhampton to deliver and operate the 
Centre for Cyber Security at the Enterprise Zone.

 We continue to work with NMiTE to support them in accessing Government funding 
and enabling them to bring forward the development of the new university.

 The renovation of the former school site in Blackfriars Street, Hereford will provide 
teaching and administration space. Proposals for student accommodation are also 
being progressed working with the Hereford College of Arts and the NMiTE team.

 Preparations for the first phase of the Ross-on-Wye Business Park development are 
now being finalised, which will be the first major development to be progressed with 
Engie through our Development Regeneration Partnership agreement. 

 Our Solid Roots project is now starting to take off.  It aims to make a difference for 
young children and has been developed with early years settings and schools. There 
are three strands focusing on parenting, speech and language and improving 
attainment and we are now offering three free online courses for all parents, parents-
to-be, and carers in Herefordshire.

51



 Ofsted carried out a focused visit reviewing our "front door" including our Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub during the week of the 21 January.  Thank you to staff 
who took part and worked on the preparation too.  We have had some verbal 
feedback and will receive a letter (no judgements or grades are given in a focused 
visit) setting out Ofsted’s reflections and points for us to consider further. This will be 
available from the 14 February.

 The 2018 results for primary and secondary schools confirm that the county is 
performing in either the top or second quartile of all local authorities in the vast 
majority of performance indicators, building on the strong track record of 
improvement over the past four years. Areas now being targeted by local authority 
officers are improving outcomes in the Attainment 8 measure at the end of Year 11; 
ensuring more primary pupils achieve the higher standard (greater depth) in Key 
Stages 1 and 2; securing higher attainment for disadvantaged groups, particularly 
pupils eligible for free school meals.

 Nationally, there has been much publicity around pressures in the high needs block 
as a number of local authorities are currently in deficit and have been required to top-
slice funding from the schools block. This is not the case in Herefordshire through 
strong financial management in partnership with Herefordshire Schools Forum. It is 
an area of pressure and we continue to work with schools and settings to review the 
position, lobby national government and constantly consider how we can best meet 
the needs of children and young people within the national funding formula.

 Testimony from a young person in our care being presented to Gloucester University 
students.

52



Further information on the subject of this report is available from Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, 
email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk . 

Meeting: Council

Meeting date: Friday 15 February 2019

Title of report: 2019/20 Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Report by: Leader of the council

Classification

Open

Decision type

Budget and policy framework

Wards affected

(All Wards);

Purpose and summary

To approve the continuation of the 2018/19 local council tax reduction scheme (CTR) for 
2019/20. The current scheme was initially approved by Council on 18 December 2015.

It is a legal requirement to annually review the council’s council tax reduction scheme and the 
decision is reserved to full Council. The current scheme has been reviewed and there is no 
evidence to support a change at this time.

Recommendation(s)

That:

(a) The council tax reduction scheme for 2019/20, attached at appendix 2, be approved.

Alternative options

1. The local council tax reduction scheme can be amended however the current scheme is 
working as intended and there is no evidence of a need to change. Any changes to the 
current scheme require statutory public consultation to be undertaken ahead of proposing 
scheme changes. 

53

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, 
email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk . 

Key considerations

2. Council tax charges can be reduced where the bill payer meets certain set criteria 
contained in the council tax reduction scheme (CTR). CTR is available to working age and 
pensioner claimants. The pensioner CTR scheme is set nationally. The working age CTR 
scheme is set locally. Approximately 12,000 bill payers in Herefordshire are in receipt of 
CTR, with the claims of around 50% being from pensioners. 

3. The existing local CTR scheme approved by Council in December 2015 was applied in 
2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19. It is considered appropriate to continue with this scheme 
for a further year, 2019/20.

4. The existing CTR scheme for working age claimants in Herefordshire provides a discount 
varying between 80% and 84% on the amount of council tax payable. The amount of 
discount awarded considers:

 The status of the claimant. Where the claimant is protected (because they are in 
receipt of either severe disability premium or carers allowance, or reside in a 
household with a child under the age of five) than the higher discount is provided.

 Claimants living in a property above band C have the discount value capped at 
80% of a band C equivalent property in their parish.

 Claimants cannot claim discount where their available capital funds exceed £6k.

5. The council summons council tax accounts that are in arrears. Summons total 
approximately 7,000 in one year and over 40% of these summons are to individuals in 
receipt of CTR, however this number is consistently falling per annum. In 2017/18 a total 
write-off of uncollectable council tax debt from individuals in receipt of CTR was £4,213. 
This supports maintaining the current CTR scheme criteria.

6. Whilst the current scheme was approved in 2015 it is a statutory requirement for the CTR 
scheme to be approved annually by Council in the preceding financial year.

Community impact

7. The scheme supports the council’s corporate plan by demonstrating effective 
management of resources to secure a balanced budget. 

8. Herefordshire Council is passionate about improving the lives and life chances of our 
care leavers so in addition to CTR care leavers can receive discount on their council tax 
charge of up to 100 percent when aged between 18 and 25.

Equality duty

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set 
out as follows:

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to -

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;

54

mailto:jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, 
email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk . 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.

9. The Equality Act 2010 established a positive obligation on local authorities to promote 
equality and to reduce discrimination in relation to any of the nine ‘protected 
characteristics’ (age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; marriage 
and civil partnership; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation). In particular, 
the council must have ‘due regard’ to the public sector equality duty when taking any 
decisions on service changes. The approved scheme will have an impact on some 
residents; appendix 1 provides more details on the potential impact and the mitigating 
action available. The impact of the current scheme is showing an overall diminishing 
impact on working age claimants. The council continues to provide assistance to 
claimants in meeting payments due and maintains a hardship fund for consideration in 
exceptional circumstances.  

Resource implications

10. Council tax charges are reduced by approximately £12.5m per annum by CTR and 
approximately £4m of council tax remains payable per annum by recipients of CTR. Over 
80% of the amount billed to CTR claimants is collected within the year that the bill is 
raised. This collection rate has remained constant and has risen slightly in 2017/18, up to 
84%.

11. The continuation of the current scheme in 2019/20 is in line with the draft budget 
assumptions. No new savings target has been included in the medium term financial 
strategy to be delivered by changes to the current CTR scheme in 2019/20. 

Legal implications

12. The CTR scheme is locally determined by each billing authority under Section 13A and 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012.

13. For each financial year each billing authority must consider whether to revise its scheme 
or to replace it with another scheme and this must take place in the financial year 
preceding that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to have effect. If any 
revision has the effect of reducing or removing a reduction to which any class of persons 
is entitled, the revision or replacement must include such transitional provision relating to 
that reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit.

14. A statutory procedure is provided for under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 1A which a billing 
authority must follow when revising its scheme. This report does not recommend that the 
current scheme is revised and so therefore there are no other significant legal implications 
arising from this report. 

Risk management

15. Approximately 40% of the current summons run relate to CTR claimants, this percentage 
has been declining in recent years. There is a risk that claimants may not pay their council 
tax charge and move further into debt because of summons charges. The actual collection 
of council tax charged to CTR claimants has risen in recent years. The effect on an 
individual household continues to be mitigated by the availability of the hardship scheme, 
take up has not increased to date. 

55

mailto:jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, 
email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk . 

16. The resourcing of the current scheme will remain within current established working 
practices. The impact of the roll-out of universal credit full service from July 2018 hasn’t 
been evidenced to be detrimental to date. The close working arrangements between the 
council and the department of work and pensions ahead of and post roll-out has 
supported this. The situation will continue to be monitored.

Consultees

17. Specific consultation was completed when the current scheme was introduced. 49% of 
respondents to the council’s 2019/20 budget consultation supported “keeping the 
maximum discount of 84%” for low income households in receipt of CTR.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

Appendix 2 – council tax reduction scheme for 2019/20 

Background papers

None identified

56

mailto:jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk


Equality Impact
Assessment 

 Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS)

57



Service Area
Revenues & Benefits Service

Policy/Service being assessed
Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Is this is a new or existing policy/service?  

If existing policy/service please state date 
of last assessment

Existing Policy

21 August 2015

EIA Review team – List of members
Council Tax Reduction Project Group

Date of this assessment
5 December 2018

Signature of completing officer (to be 
signed after the EIA has been completed)

Josie Rushgrove  

Name and signature of Head of Service (to 
be signed after the EIA has been 
completed)

Andrew Lovegrove

58



3
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

Form A1
INITIAL SCREENING FOR STRATEGIES/POLICIES/FUNCTIONS FOR EQUALITIES 

RELEVANCE TO ELIMINATE DISCRIMINATION AND PROMOTE EQUALITY

                   High relevance/priority                                        Medium relevance/priority                       Low or no relevance/ priority

Note: 
1. Tick coloured boxes appropriately, and depending on degree of relevance to each of the equality strands
2. Summaries of the legislation/guidance should be used to assist this screening process

Policy - CTRS Relevance/Risk to Equalities

State the Function/Policy 
/Service/Strategy being assessed:

Gender Race Disability Sexual 
Orientation

Religion/Belief Age Socio-
economic 

Priority status
For EIA

                       
CTRS – Maintain the current 
maximum level of council tax 
reduction for protected working 
age groups (those in receipt of 
severe disability premium, carers 
allowance and families with a 
child under the age of 5) at 84% - 
so that taxpayers have to pay at 
least 16% of the council tax 
charge.

       

CTRS – Maintain the current 
maximum level of council tax 
reduction for the non-protected 
working age group at 80% so that 

       

59



4
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

Policy - CTRS Relevance/Risk to Equalities

State the Function/Policy 
/Service/Strategy being assessed:

Gender Race Disability Sexual 
Orientation

Religion/Belief Age Socio-
economic 

Priority status
For EIA

                       
taxpayers have to pay at least 
20% of the council tax charge.

       

CTRS – Maintain the current 
Band C restriction  so that 
working age taxpayers living in 
properties above a Band C 
continue to have CTR calculated 
on the Band C liability

       

CTRS – Maintain the current 
capital limit for CTR entitlement at 
£6k so that working age taxpayers 
who have capital of £6k and 
above would not be entitled to 
CTR (capital is defined as savings 
or property owned but not the 
property the taxpayer lives in or 
personal possessions)

       

Stage 1 – Scoping and Defining
(1) What are the aims and objectives of policy/service?

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) has been in place since 01 April 
2013 and replaced the National Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme. CTRS is 
a locally determined system of council tax support.  The aim of the CTRS 
scheme is to provide financial assistance to council taxpayers who have low 
incomes. 

60



5
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

Persons who are of state pension age (persons who have reached the 
qualifying age of State Pension Credit) are protected under the scheme in 
that the calculation of the reduction they are to receive has been set by 
Central Government. For working age applicants however the reduction they 
receive is to be determined by the local authority. 

This equality impact assessment looks at the potential for not only protecting 
pensioners (as required under the legislation) but also retaining a large 
amount of the protections already present for working age within the existing 
CTRS scheme carried forward from the CTB scheme.

Where a working age claimant applies or continues to receive Council Tax 
Reduction, it is proposed that the reduction will be calculated on the same 
rules as the current CTRS scheme as follows;

  Maintain the current maximum level of council tax reduction at 84% 
for protected working age groups , those being in receipt of severe 
disability premium, carers allowance and families with a child under 
the age of 5, working age so that taxpayers have to pay at least 16% 
of the council tax charge

 Maintain the current maximum level of council tax reduction for the 
non-protected working age group at 80% so that taxpayers have to 
pay at least 20% of the council tax charge.

 Maintain the current Band C restriction  so that working age taxpayers 
living in properties above a Band C continue to have CTR calculated 
on the Band C liability

 Maintain the current capital limit for CTR entitlement at £6k so that 
working age taxpayers who have capital of £6k and above would not 
be entitled to CTR (capital is defined as savings or property owned 
but not the property the taxpayer lives in or personal possessions)

61



6
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

These parameters will apply from 01 April 2019

Central Government has not been prescriptive in how an authority should 
protect vulnerable groups, but points to the Council’s existing responsibilities 
including the Child Poverty Act 2010, the Disabled Person Act 1986 and the 
Housing Act 1996 as well as the public sector equality duty in section 149 of 
the Equality Act 2010.  

The current level of assistance of 11,681 claimants and average council tax 
reduction per week of £20.37 per claimant is provided. 

 (2) How does the policy/service fit with the council’s wider 
objectives?

All persons within the Council’s area who have a low income may apply for 
support and assistance with their Council Tax. 

By making an application, providing evidence of their income and household 
circumstances, their potential entitlement for support will be calculated in line 
with Central Government prescribed requirements for the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme.

The maintenance of a full reduction scheme within the existing Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme fits with the Corporate objectives in that it meets, as far 
as possible, equality and sustainability.

The reduction scheme assists the local economy and also ensures, as far as 
possible within the constraints on a reduced budget, that persons on a low 
income will be able to meet their Council Tax liability.

(3) What are the expected outcomes of the policy/service?
Who is intended to benefit from the policy/service and in 
what way?

The desired outcomes are as follows;

Pension Age Claimants

62



7
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

 That all pensioners receive the level of support required by 
regulations set by Central Government (Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012); 

 That all pensioner claimants or existing working age claimants who 
rise to pension age are able to receive Council Tax Reduction in line 
with the regulations; and

 That all pensioner claimants continue to receive the correct level of 
council tax reduction at all times.

Working Age Claimants
 That all working age claimants are still able to receive Council Tax 

Reduction ; and 
 That all working age claimants continue to receive the correct level of 

council tax reduction at all times.
RACE

NO
The reduction support 
scheme does not take 
race into account when 
calculating the level of 
support

AGE
YES

The reduction support scheme takes into account age when 
calculating the level of support available. 
Pensioners will not see any reduction in the support paid (as 
they are protected under regulations set by central 
government). 
Working age claimants will not be affected  due to the current 
scheme being maintained for 2019/2020 

GENDER
NO

The reduction 
support scheme 
does not take 
gender into 
account when 
calculating the 
level of support

Does this policy/service have the 
potential to directly or indirectly 
discriminate against any 
particular group?

Please identify all groups that are 
affected and briefly explain why

RELIGION/BELIEF
NO

The reduction support 
scheme does not take 
religion or belief into 
account when 
calculating the level of 
support

DISABILITY
NO

The reduction support scheme continues to have in-built 
protections for disability in the form of;

 the award of additional premiums for disablement;
 disregarding higher levels of income where a claimant 

is in remunerative work and is disabled; and
 there is no requirement to have non dependant 

deductions where a claimant is disabled

SEXUAL 
ORIENTATION

NO
The reduction 
support scheme 
does not take 
sexual orientation 
into account when 
calculating the 
level of support

63



8
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

(5) Are there any obvious barriers to 
accessing the service?

No – customers will continue to access the reduction scheme in an identical means to the 
existing Council Tax Reduction scheme. The approach of the Council has been to provide a 
range of options for claiming and customers are encouraged to make a claim at any time. 
Universal credit claimants are directed to make a council tax reduction claim by their 
department of work and pensions key worker contact.

(6) How does the policy/service contribute 
to promotion of equality?

The Council Tax Reduction scheme provides essential help towards the Council Tax liability for 
all claimants on a low income. By continuing to assess entitlement on a mean tested basis, 
similar to the national approach to means tested benefits, the scheme is equitable.

(7) Does the policy/service have the 
potential to promote good relations 
between groups?

Due to the maintenance of the existing CTR Scheme nature all working age claimants will see a 
continuation to their current entitlement. The  Council is maintaining the means test, which 
allows the most vulnerable to receive a relatively higher level of support

Stage 2  - Information Gathering

(1) What type and range of evidence or 
information have you used to help you 
make a judgement about the policy or 
service?

Extensive modelling from existing data. The modelling has also taken into consideration the 
national statistics reported to the CTRS Policy Unit. 

Modelling information has included number of working age claimants and amount of council tax 
reduction paid (5,577 claimants and average amount per week of £5.90 per claimant), claim 
numbers and reduction paid across council tax bands, range of income types and household 
make-up. 

(2) What consultation/ information has 
been used?
What new consultation, if any, do you need 
to undertake?

No consultation required due to maintaining the council’s existing CTR Scheme.

64



9
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

Stage 3 – Making a Judgement

(1) From your data and consultations is 
there any adverse or negative impact 
identified for any particular group? 

Is there any evidence of needs not being 
met?
e.g. language or physical access barriers; 
lack of appropriate resources or facilities

 No -  the impact on the working age group is consistent

(2) If there is an adverse impact, can this 
be justified?  N/A

(3)  What actions are going to be taken to 
reduce or eliminate negative or adverse 
impact?

 Assistance in meeting payments – 12 monthly instalments / payment arrangements to 
prevent recovery process 

 Advice of the Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Scheme for customers experiencing 
exceptional hardship

(4)Is there any positive impact?
Does it promote equality of opportunity 
between different groups and actively 
address discrimination?

 The existing scheme is being maintained for 2019/2020

65



10
Herefordshire EIA CTRS Version 1.0 6 November 2017

Stage 4 – Action Planning, Review & 
Monitoring

If No Further Action is required then go to – 
Review & Monitoring
 
(1)Action Planning – Specify any changes or 
improvements which can be made to the 
service or policy to mitigate or eradicate 
negative or adverse impact on specific 
groups, including resource implications.

(2) Review and Monitoring
State how and when you will monitor policy 
and EIA Action Plan

Full monitoring of scheme implementation will be undertaken on a monthly basis in line with the 
accepted project plan. 

The Revenues and Benefits Service will undertake monthly and quarterly collection of data.

The Council will review the policy annually. It is expected that where there are changes in 
legislation and funding, that the level of Council Tax Support available will change.

66



 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Herefordshire Council 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
  

67



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 2	

Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme ......................................................................... 1 

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme ..................................................................... 7 

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme ..................................... 13 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant ..................................................................................................... 21 

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number ............................................................. 22 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit .................................... 22 

6.0 Remunerative work .................................................................................................................... 22 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control ..... 23 
Persons subject to immigration control ....................................................................................... 25 
7A.0 Transitional provision ..................................................................................................... 25 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) ................................................................................... 25 

Sections 9 - 11 ....................................................................................................................................... 28 

The family for Council tax reduction purposes ...................................................................................... 28 

9.0 Membership of a family ............................................................................................................. 29 

10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 
or young person. ........................................................................................................................ 29 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household ........................................................................................................................ 30 

Sections 12 – 14 & Schedule 1 ............................................................................................................... 31 

Applicable Amounts for Council tax reduction purposes ...................................................................... 31 

12.0 Applicable amounts .................................................................................................................... 32 

13.0 Polygamous marriages ............................................................................................................... 32 
14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal 
credit 32 

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 ....................................................................................................... 34 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council tax reduction purposes ....................................... 34 

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage ..................................................................................................................................... 35 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 36 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis .................................................................................... 36 

18.0 Treatment of child care charges ................................................................................................. 36 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners ......................................................................... 40 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners .................................................................. 41 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings ............................................................................. 41 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits ............................................................ 41 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income .................................................................................................... 42 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. .......................................................................... 42 

25.0 Earnings of employed earners .................................................................................................... 42 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners ...................................................................... 43 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners ............................................................................................. 44 

68



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 3	

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners .................................................................... 45 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners .................................................. 46 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings ................................................................................ 47 

31.0 Capital treated as income .......................................................................................................... 49 

32.0 Notional income ......................................................................................................................... 49 

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5 ............................................................................................................... 52 

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council tax reduction purposes ........................................ 52 

33.0 Capital limit ................................................................................................................................ 53 

34.0 Calculation of capital .................................................................................................................. 53 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person .......................................................................... 53 

36.0 Income treated as capital ........................................................................................................... 53 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom ............................................................................. 53 

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom .................................................................... 54 

39.0 Notional capital .......................................................................................................................... 54 

40.0 Not Used ..................................................................................................................................... 55 

41.0 Capital jointly held ..................................................................................................................... 55 

42.0 Not Used ..................................................................................................................................... 55 

Sections 43 - 56 ..................................................................................................................................... 56 

Definition and the treatment of students for Council tax reduction purposes ..................................... 56 

43.0 Student related definitions ........................................................................................................ 57 

44.0 Treatment of students ............................................................................................................... 60 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction .................................... 60 

46.0 Calculation of grant income ....................................................................................................... 61 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ............................................ 62 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed ................................ 63 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard .................................................. 63 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded .............................................................................................. 63 

51.0 Treatment of student loans ........................................................................................................ 63 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans ............................................................................................................... 65 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds ................................................................................ 65 

53.0 Disregard of contribution ........................................................................................................... 65 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income ....................................................................................... 65 

55.0 Income treated as capital ........................................................................................................... 66 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation .......................................................... 66 

Sections 57 – 63 ..................................................................................................................................... 67 

The calculation and amount of Council tax reduction ........................................................................... 67 

57.0 Maximum council tax reduction ................................................................................................. 68 

57A Protected Group ......................................................................................................................... 68 

69



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 4	

58.0 Non-dependant deductions ....................................................................................................... 68 

59.0 Council tax reduction taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) ................................... 70 

60.0 Extended reductions .................................................................................................................. 70 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period ..................................................................................... 71 

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction .................................................................................................. 71 

60C Extended reductions – movers ................................................................................................... 72 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax reduction under the 
general conditions of entitlement .............................................................................................. 72 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................................................ 72 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................... 73 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) ............................................ 73 

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers ............................................ 74 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
council tax reduction under the general conditions of entitlement .......................................... 74 

62.0 - 63.0 Not Used .............................................................................................................. 74 

Sections 64 – 67 ..................................................................................................................................... 75 

Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect .................................... 75 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin ....................................................................................... 76 

65.0  - 66.0 Not Used ............................................................................................................................. 76 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect .......................................................... 76 

Sections 68– 74A ................................................................................................................................... 77 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council tax reduction purposes ........................................... 77 
69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme
 79 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically ....................................................................................... 82 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence ......................................................................................... 82 
72.0 Information and evidence ............................................................................................... 82 
73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application ................................................................... 83 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances ................................................................................... 84 

Sections 75- 90 ...................................................................................................................................... 86 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council tax reduction ......................................................... 86 

75.0 Decisions by the authority .......................................................................................................... 87 

76.0 Notification of decision .............................................................................................................. 87 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax reduction .................................................................. 88 

78.0 Persons to whom reduction is to be paid  .................................................................................. 88 

79.0 Shortfall in reduction .................................................................................................................. 89 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled ............................................................................ 89 

81.0 Offsetting ................................................................................................................................... 89 
82 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability ......................................................... 89 

83.0 – 90.0 Not used .................................................................................................................... 90 

Sections 91 – 94 ..................................................................................................................................... 91 

70



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 5	

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council tax reduction purposes ....................... 91 

91.0  Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs (HMRC) ................................................................................................. 92 

92.0 Collection of information ........................................................................................................... 92 

93.0 Recording and holding information ........................................................................................... 92 

94.0 Forwarding of information ......................................................................................................... 92 

Sections 95 – 98 ..................................................................................................................................... 93 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council tax reduction ................................................. 93 

95.0  Persons affected by Decisions .................................................................................................... 94 

96.0  Revisions of Decisions ................................................................................................................ 94 

97.0 Written Statements .................................................................................................................... 94 

98.0 Terminations .............................................................................................................................. 94 

Section 99 .............................................................................................................................................. 95 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions ............................................................................................. 95 
99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority ...................................................................................................................................... 96 

Section 100 ............................................................................................................................................ 97 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction ........................................................................... 97 
100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) 
of the 1992 Act ............................................................................................................................. 98 

Section 101 – 106A ................................................................................................................................ 99 

Electronic Communication .................................................................................................................... 99 

101.0 Interpretation ........................................................................................................................... 100 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication ............................................................... 100 

103.0 Use of intermediaries ............................................................................................................... 100 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication ................................ 100 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information ........................................................... 101 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information ............................................................................................... 101 

106A.0 Proof of content of information ............................................................................................... 101 

Section 107 .......................................................................................................................................... 102 

Counter Fraud and Compliance ........................................................................................................... 102 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance ................................................................................................. 103 

Schedule 1 ........................................................................................................................................... 104 

Applicable Amounts ............................................................................................................................ 104 

Personal Allowance ............................................................................................................................. 105 

Family Premiums ................................................................................................................................. 105 

Premiums ............................................................................................................................................ 106 

Disability Premium .............................................................................................................................. 106 

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums ............................................................................... 106 

Severe Disability Premiums ................................................................................................................. 106 

71



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 6	

Enhanced Disability Premium .............................................................................................................. 106 

Disabled Child Premium ...................................................................................................................... 106 

Carer Premium .................................................................................................................................... 106 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments ................................................................................... 106 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another ............................................................................................ 107 

Amounts of Premium .......................................................................................................................... 107 

The components .................................................................................................................................. 108 

Transitional Addition ........................................................................................................................... 108 

Amount of transitional addition .......................................................................................................... 108 

Schedule 2 ........................................................................................................................................... 109 

Not Used .............................................................................................................................................. 109 

Schedule 3 ........................................................................................................................................... 110 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings ....................................................................... 110 

Schedule 4 ........................................................................................................................................... 116 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings ......................................... 116 

Schedule 5 ........................................................................................................................................... 127 

Capital to be disregarded .................................................................................................................... 127 
  

72



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 7	

 
1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 
1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 

for the period from 1st April 2019. 
 
1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working 

age applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2019 for a period of one financial year.  

 
1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 

following: 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013;  
§ Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013;  
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
§ The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017;  
§ he Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2018; and 
§ Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012). 
 

The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
 
1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 

there are a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited 
leave to remain. The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who; 

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and  
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not; 

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

ii. a person with an award of universal credit 
 
The three prescribed classes are as follows; 
 
Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount.  
 
On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner:  

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;  
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme;  

73



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 8	

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992;  

e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and  
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme.  

 
Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount.  
 
On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;  
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme;  

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992;  

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where; 
 (i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 

applicant’s case; and   
 (ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 

week and his applicable amount;  
 g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and  

h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme.  
 
Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction 
 
On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner: 

a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day;  

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated;  
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme;  
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and  
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met.  

 
The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council 
Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, 
or aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

 
The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

the purposes of discount;  
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax);  
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and—  
(i)  in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or  
(ii)  in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount;  

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 

74



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 9	

6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or  

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount.  

Disregard of certain incomes 
 
1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 

to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following: 
a. a war disablement pension; 
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence 
of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

d. a guaranteed income payment; 
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 
  
 The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme. 
 
THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL SCHEME 
 
1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is a means test, which compares income against 

an assessment of applicable amounts (unless otherwise stated).  Full details of the working age 
scheme of the authority are contained within this document from section 2 onwards. The 
authority is required to specify a scheme for working age and therefore this scheme only applies 
to a person who; 
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit. 

 
1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be two classes of persons who will receive a reduction 

in line with adopted scheme. There will be two main classes prescribed for, for each of which 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction as specified within section 7 of this scheme. 

 
Class D 
 To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must:  

a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit1; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident; 
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 

																																																								
1 Section 5 of this scheme 

75



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 10	

e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 
1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 

f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction2 amount can be 
calculated; 

g. not have capital savings above £6,0003; 
h. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income4  is less than their applicable amount5 or 
the applicant or partner is in receipt of income support, jobseekers allowance (income 
based) or employment and support allowance (income related); and 

i. has made a valid application for reduction6. 
  

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 
 
Class E 
 To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must:  

a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit7; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are solely or mainly 
resident; 

d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction8 amount can be 

calculated; 
g. not have capital savings above £6,0009; 
h. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income10 is more than their applicable amount11; 
i. have made a valid application for reduction12; 
j. be a person in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where 

(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   

(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount. 
 

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

																																																								
2 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
3 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
4 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
5 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
6 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 
7 Section 5 of this scheme 
8 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
9 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
10 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
11 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
12 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 

76



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 11	

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Details of reduction to be given for working age applicants for the financial year 
2019/20 
	
  

77



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 12	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 2- 8 

Definitions and interpretation  

78



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 13	

 

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme 
2.1  In this scheme– 
 ‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
 ‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992; 
 ‘the 1973 Act’ means of Employment and Training Act 1973; 
 ‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
 ‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000; 

‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society; 
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 

 ‘an AFIP’ means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an 
 armed and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the Armed 

Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004 
 ‘applicable amount’ means the amount determined in accordance  with schedule 1 of this 
scheme 
‘applicant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council tax reduction 
– for the purposes of this scheme all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally 
to male and female; 

 ‘application’ means an application for a reduction under this scheme: 
‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims 
for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated; 
 ‘attendance allowance’ means– 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) 

of Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
 (d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 

paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or 
(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension; 
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013; 
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act). 
‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act (SSBA) and the Jobseekers Act 1995 and the Welfare Reform 
Act 2007; 
‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided to a family, for a charge 
which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared 
meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the 
accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that 
accommodation or associated premises;  
‘care home’ has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in 
Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the 
Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home 
within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, 

79



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 14	

Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 or a residential care home 
within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order; 
 ‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
‘child’ means a person under the age of 16; 
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015; 

 ‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995; 
 ‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002;  
  ‘claim’ means a claim for council tax reduction;  

‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one 
member of a couple, the other member of that couple;  
‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund 
or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the 
benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged; 
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax 
reduction (Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006; 
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance 
and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has 
effect apart from those provisions; 
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 
2008; 

 ‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA;  
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax reduction or reduction’ 
‘council tax support (or reduction) ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended);  
‘couple’ means; 

(a) a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

(b) a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as husband 
and wife; 

(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 
same household; or  

(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 
as if they were civil partners, 

Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were civil partners 
if, and only if, they would be treated as living together as husband and wife were they of 
opposite sexes. The above includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The 
Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014; 

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the application or claim is made, or treated as made, 
for the purposes of this scheme 

 ‘designated authority’ means any of the following; 
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority; 
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax reduction; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax 

reduction; or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 

80



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 15	

by electronic means or otherwise on application; or  
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above; 
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 

 ‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act; 
 ‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27; 

‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 

 ‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
 Communications Act 2000 ; 

‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity 
pay; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the Employment 
and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2010; 
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’; 
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and 2014 and an ‘employment zone 
programme’ means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
applicants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions; 
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of 
the Scottish Parliament; 
‘extended reduction)’ means a payment of council tax reduction payable pursuant to section 
60; 
‘extended reduction period’ means the period for which an extended reduction is payable in 
accordance with section 60A or 61A of this scheme; 
‘extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a payment of council tax 
reduction payable pursuant to section 61; 

 ‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act and Section 9 of this 
 scheme; 

‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury benefits) 
or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) 
Order 2011; 
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this scheme 
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act; ‘the Housing Benefit 
Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006; 

 ‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; 
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995; 
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 

81



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 16	

under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a);  
‘independent hospital’–  

(a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the 
National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one 
part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part; 
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means 
the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate;;  
‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act;  
‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 
7th July 2005; 
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among 
those suffering from haemophilia; 
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of 
Schedule 1; 
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week 
over a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting applicants to improve their 
prospect of obtaining employment; 
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996; 

 ‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 
made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products; 

 ‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers; 
‘mover’ means a applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident and in 

82



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 17	

respect of which the applicant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority; 

 ‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26; 
 ‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28; 

‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
and 61C the dwelling to which a applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant 
is or will be resident; 

 ‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3; 
 ‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58; 

‘occasional assistance’ means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the 
Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of: 
(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need; 

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or  
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and 

(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and— 
(i) ‘local authority’ has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 ;and 
 (ii) ‘qualifying individuals’ means individuals who have been, or without the 
assistance might otherwise be: 
(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other 
institution, or 
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life;  and ’local authority’ 
means a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1972; 

‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases; 
‘occupational pension scheme’ has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993 as amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities; 
‘partner’ in relation to a person, means 
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more 
members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or  
(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit with 
the other party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the earliest 
marriage;  
‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A 
or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 

 ‘payment’ includes part of a payment; 
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014; 
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned; 
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed; 
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by 
any decision made by the council; 
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support;  
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 

 2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013; 
‘person treated as not being in Great Britain’ has the meaning given by section 7; 

 ’personal pension scheme’ means– 

83



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 18	

a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 
amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013; 

b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 200413; 

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

d. a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 

e. Back to Work scheme; 
‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on 
human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums 
for a term dependent on human life; 

 ‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers namely; 
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which 
permits polygamy; and 
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other 
party. 
’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature; 
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of 
the State Pension Credit Act 2002)– 

 (a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man; 

 ’qualifying contributory benefit’ means; 
 (a) severe disablement allowance;  
 (b) incapacity benefit; 

(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Job Seeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 
‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means 

 (a) income support; 
 (b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 (c) income-related employment and support allowance; 

‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 

 ‘reduction week’ means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and 
 ending with a Sunday;  
 ‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
 ‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax reduction; 
 ‘relevant week’ In relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 
 question falls; 
 ‘remunerative work’ has the meaning prescribed in section 6; 

‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-
dependant deductions) of those Regulations; 

 ‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act; 
‘Scottish basic rate’ means the  rate  of  income  tax  of  that  name  calculated  in accordance 
with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007; 
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 

																																																								
13 As amended by the Finance Act 2014 

84



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 19	

 ’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the 
 new dwelling; 
 ‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act; 

‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in– 
(a) an employment zone programme;  
(b) a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.);  

(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;  
(d) a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 

Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 
(e) Back to Work scheme. 

‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are 
to  

a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not 
being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph; 

‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 
hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions. 
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations; 
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
‘the SSCBA’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002;  
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43; 
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme; 
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 

 ‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002;  
 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April  in 
 the next; 

‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable– 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of 

State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, 
the Young People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or 
Welsh Ministers; 

(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 

instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf 
of the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers. 

85



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 20	

It does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a 
person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than 
under arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is training as a teacher; 
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014; 
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015; 
‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect 
of disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension; 
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in 
respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘water charges’ means; 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 
of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under 
a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far 
as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 

 ‘week’ means a period of seven days beginning with a Monday;  
 ‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
 Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended14; and 

‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 9(1) and in section 142 of the SSCBA. 
  
2.2 In this scheme, references to an applicant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall 

be construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 
 
2.3 In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 

shall be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

 
2.4 For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any 

day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any 
day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the 

																																																								
14 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

86



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 21	

Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of that Act; 

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for 
the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 
9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 
2.4A For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 

allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support 
allowance is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment 
and support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 
of that Act. 

 
2.5 For the purposes of this scheme, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 

estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 
 
2.6 In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person 

who would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

3.0 Definition of non-dependant 
 
3.1 In this scheme, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 

applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides. 
 
3.2 This paragraph applies to; 

a.  any member of the applicant’s family; 
b. if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
c. a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household); 
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally 

liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of 
the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling; 

f. a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the 
applicant or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

 
3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 

following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant– 
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 

of the dwelling and either; 
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or  

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 
commercial basis; 

b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 

87



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 22	

authority to have been created to take advantage of the council tax reduction scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to 
make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 
 

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the reduction scheme. 

 
4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number15 
 
4.1 No person shall be entitled to reduction unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in relation 

both to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is claiming 
reduction. 

 
4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 

a. the claim for reduction is accompanied by; 
i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 

establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 

allocated to the person to be ascertained; or 
b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 

which is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated 
and the application for reduction is accompanied by evidence of the application and 
information to enable it to be allocated. 

 
4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply– 

a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom council tax reduction is claimed; 
b. to a person who; 

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for council tax reduction is made; 
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act; and 
iii. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit  
 
5.1 This scheme applies to a person if: 
 (i)  he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or  
 (ii)  he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a  
  partner,  his partner, is; 

(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or   

(b) a person with an award of universal credit. 
 
6.0 Remunerative work 
 
6.1 Subject to the following provisions of this section, a person shall be treated for the purposes of 

this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work 
fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment.  

 

																																																								
15 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

88



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 23	

6.2 Subject to paragraph 6.3, in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in 
work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard shall be had to the average of hours worked 
over; 

a. if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 
where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but 
disregarding any other absences); 

b. in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to that date of claim, or 
such other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly 
average hours of work to be determined more accurately, 

 
6.3 Where, for the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a school, 

other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods 
of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any 
other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to 
work shall be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

 
6.4 Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard shall be 

had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which 
he is expected to work in a week. 

 
6.5 A person shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 

absent from work referred to in paragraph 6.1 if the absence is either without good cause or by 
reason of a recognised customary or other holiday. 

 
6.6 A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 

employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week shall be treated 
as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

 
6.7 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person 

is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is 
ill. 

 
6.8 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 

engaged in an activity in respect of which; 
a. a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
b. no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

 
7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control 
 
Persons treated as not being in Great Britain 
7.1  Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 

of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme.  

7.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland.  

7.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in 
one of those places.  

7.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right,which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with—  
(a)  regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations or Article 6 of Council Directive 2004/38/EC;  
(aa)  regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 

89



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 24	

(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 
of such a jobseeker; 

(ab) Article 45 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union (in a case where 
the person is seeking work in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of 
Man or the Republic of Ireland); or 

(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 
under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (4A) of 
that regulation or Article 20 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 
(in a case where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise 
be deprived of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

7.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is—  
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 

or a self-employed person; 
(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a) within the meaning of 

regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations; 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 

Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 197116 where that 
leave is— 
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which 

came into effect on 1st April 2012, or 
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 

Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005. 
 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;  
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance;  

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4) or 

(i) a person who is treated as a worker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified 
person” in regulation 6(1) of the EEA Regulations pursuant to regulation 5 of the 
Accession of Croatia (Immigration and Worker Authorisation) Regulations 2013 (right 
of residence of a Croatian who is an “accession State national subject to worker 
authorisation”) 

7.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas.  

7.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom.  

7.8 In this regulation—  
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999;  
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown;  

																																																								
16 As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014 
 

90



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 25	

“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; and 
and the The Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014; 
and  
“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006.  

Persons subject to immigration control 
7.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 

paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social 
and Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified 
the Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is 
lawfully present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the 
purpose of paragraph 7.9 

7.11  “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

7A.0 Transitional provision 

7A.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015— 

(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 
authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and 

(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in 

paragraph 7A.2 occurs. 

7A.2 The events are— 

(a) the  person  makes  a  new  application  for  a  reduction  under  an  authority’s  scheme 
established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or 

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 

7A.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) 
8.1 Where a person is absent from the dwelling throughout any day then no reduction shall be 

payable 
 
8.2 A person shall not, in relation to any day, which falls within a period of temporary absence from 

that dwelling, be a prescribed person under paragraph 8.1. 
 
8.3  In paragraph 8.2, a ‘period of temporary absence’ means– 

a. a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on which 
a person resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as; 

i.  the person resides in that accommodation; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his 
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 
 
b. a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence 

from the dwelling, where and for so long as; 
i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
iii. that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

c. a period of absence not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence, 
where and for so long as 

i. the person intends to return to the dwelling;  

91



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 26	

ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
iii. the person is a person to whom paragraph 8.4 applies; and 
iv. the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 

circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 
8.4 This paragraph applies to a person who is; 
 

a. detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside; 
i. in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in paragraph 8.1, or  

ii. in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007 as 
amended by the Offender Rehabilitation Act 2014, or, detained in custody 
pending sentence upon conviction;  

b.      resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
c. undergoing, or his partner or his dependent child is undergoing, in the United Kingdom 

or elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in 
accommodation other than residential accommodation; 

d. following, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, a training course; 
e. undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in the United Kingdom or 

elsewhere; 
f. undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the 

dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving 
medically approved care of medical treatment; 

g. in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, receiving medically approved care provided in 
accommodation other than residential accommodation; 

h. a student; 
i. receiving care provided in residential accommodation other than a person to whom 

paragraph 8.3a) applies; or 
j. has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a 

person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 
 
8.5 This paragraph applies to a person who is: 

a. detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by 
a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 (as amended by the Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013), 
or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or, in Northern 
Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986; and  

b. on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989 

 
8.6 Where paragraph 8.5 applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release– 

a. if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 
under paragraph 8.3 b) or c), he shall be treated, for the purposes of paragraph 8.1, as if 
he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

b. for the purposes of paragraph 8.4 a), he shall be treated as if he remains in detention; 
c. If he does not fall within sub-paragraph a), he is not considered to be a person who is 

liable to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is resident 
 
8.7 In this section; 

• ‘medically approved’ means certified by a medical practitioner; 
• ‘patient’ means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in- patient 

in any hospital or similar institution; ‘residential accommodation’ means 
accommodation which is provided; 
a. in a care home;  
b. in an independent hospital;  
c. in an Abbeyfield Home; or 
d. in an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal 

Charter or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services 

92



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 27	

authority; 
• ‘training course’ means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or 

on behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a 
government department or the Secretary of State. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

93



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 28	

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 9 - 11 

The family for Council tax reduction purposes 
 
  

94



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 29	

 
9.0 Membership of a family 
 
9.1 Within the reduction scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means; 

a. a married or unmarried couple; 
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of 

them is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; 
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children);  
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children), 
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded 

as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex; 

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 
unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; 

 
 For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’ 

A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are: 

• they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed; 

• they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in remunerative work and are still within their 
'extension period'; 

• they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19; 

• they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment); 

• they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed 
their 'terminal date'. 

 
9.2 9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is; 

a.  on income support ; 
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or  
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies. 

 
9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 

to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable 
. 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. 
 
10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 

person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies 

 
10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 

there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be 
treated for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with; 
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or  
b. if there is no such person; 

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the 
person who made that claim; or 

95



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 30	

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 
 
10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 

person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible. 

 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a 
member of the household 

 
11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the applicant and any partner and, where the applicant or 

his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
to be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated 
as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent 
from that household. 

 
11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the applicant’s household where 

he is; 
a. placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; or 
c. placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption 

and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 
 
11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 

living with the applicant and he– 
a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 

enactment; or 
b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior 

to adoption; or 
c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 

the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes). 

 
11.4 The authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 

member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where; 
a. that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; 

and 
b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 

frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 
 
11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 

Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 1969, 
the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978, the Family Law 
Act 1986, the Children Act 1989, the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, Sentencing 
and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 

96



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 31	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 12 – 14 & Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts for Council tax reduction purposes 
 
  

97



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 32	

 

12.0 Applicable amounts  
 
12.1  Subject to sections 13 and 14,an applicant’s weekly applicable amount shall be aggregate of 

such of the following amounts as may apply in his case; 
a. an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect 

of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 as the case may be, of 
Schedule 1 of this scheme; 

b. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 
respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family; 

c. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium); 

d. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16  of Schedule 1 of this document (premiums). 

e. the amount of either the 
i. work-related activity component; or 

ii. support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 
17 and 18 of Schedule 1  of this document(the components) 

f. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance 
with paragraph 19 to 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition). 

13.0 Polygamous marriages 
 
13.1 Subject to section 14, where an applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage, his weekly 

applicable amount shall be the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his 
case; 
a. the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1of Schedule 1 of this scheme as if he and that partner were a couple; 
b. an amount equal to the lowest amount within paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 

respect of each of his other partners; 
c. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme 

(applicable amounts) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of 
his is responsible and who is a member of the same household; 

d. if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or young 
person who is a member of the same household, the amount specified in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 1 of this scheme (family premium); 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the; 
i. work-related activity component; or  

ii. support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 17 
and 18 of Schedule 1 (the components). 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with 
paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition) 

14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
14.1 In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant— 

a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

 an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the 
 maximum amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case 
 may be), subject to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (2). 

98



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 33	

14.2 The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by  12 
 and divide the product by 52. 

14.3 In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the 
 Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

  

99



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 34	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council tax reduction purposes   

100



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 35	

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage 

15.1 The income and capital of: 
(a) an applicant; and 
(b) any partner of that applicant, 
 

is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part. 
 
15.2 The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 
 capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
 any partner of that applicant. 
 
15.3 Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is  married polygamously to two or 
 more members of his household: 

(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 
each such member; and 

(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 
the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

 
15A.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who have an award of universal credit 
 
15A.1 In determining the income of an applicant 

a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his  partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
determining the award of universal credit. 

 
15A.2 The authority must adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of 

(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with 
subparagraph (3); 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 3 to this scheme (sums to be 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
 (c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 4 to this 
scheme (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners); 
(d) section 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's 
case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 
 

15A.3 The amount for the award of universal credit is to be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

 
15A.4 sections 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 

(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments, which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2) 

 
15A.5 In determining the capital of an applicant; 

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the 
Secretary of State for the purpose of determining that award 

101



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 36	

 

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 
16.1 Where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and the applicant have entered into 

arrangements in order to take advantage of the council tax reduction scheme and the non-
dependant has more capital and income than the applicant, that authority shall, except were 
the applicant is on income support, an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, treat the applicant as possessing capital and 
income belonging to that non-dependant, and, in such a case, shall disregard any capital and 
income which the applicant does possess.` 

 
16.2 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital and income belonging to a non-dependant 

under paragraph 16.1 the capital and income of that non-dependant shall be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the applicant and any reference 
to the ‘ applicant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed for the 
purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
17.1 For the purposes of this scheme and in line with regulation 34 of the Housing Benefit 

Regulations 2006 (disregard to changes in tax, contributions etc.), the income of an applicant 
shall be calculated on a weekly basis; 

a. by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 
with this Section and in line with Sections 2, 3, 4 and 5 of Part 6 of the Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006; 

b. by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated in line with regulation 52 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (calculation to tariff income from capital); and 

c. by then deducting any relevant child care charges to which section 18 (treatment of child 
care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income 
or, in a case where the conditions in paragraph 18.2 are met, from those earnings plus 
whichever credit specified in sub- paragraph (b) of that paragraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the applicant’s family of whichever of the sums 
specified in paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

 
17.2 The conditions of this paragraph are that; 

a. the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 
lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified 
in paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

b. that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

 
17.3 The maximum deduction to which paragraph 17.1 c) above refers shall be; 

a. where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child 
care charges are paid, £175.00 per week.  

b. where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant 
child care charges are paid, £300.00 per week. 

 The amounts stated in this paragraph shall be amended in accordance with the Housing  
 Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 
 
17.4 For the purposes of paragraph 17.1 ‘income’ includes capital treated as income under section 

31 (capital treated as income) and income, which an applicant is treated as possessing under 
section 32 (notional income). 

 
18.0 Treatment of child care charges  
 
18.1 This section applies where an applicant is incurring relevant child-care charges and; 

a. is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work;  

102



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 37	

b. is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
c. is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the 

other; 
i. is incapacitated;  

ii. is an in-patient in hospital; or 
iii. is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody 

awaiting trial or sentence). 
 
18.2 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 and subject to paragraph 18.4, a person to whom paragraph 

18.3 applies shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 
weeks during which he– 
a. is paid statutory sick pay; 
b. is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the 

Act; 
c. is paid an employment and support allowance; 
d. is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, 

and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support Regulations 1987; or 
e.  is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 

work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
 
18.3 This paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately before 

a. the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-
term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on 
the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

b. the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 
 
18.4 In a case to which paragraph 18.2 d) or e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day on 

which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which 
earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

 
18.5 Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which paragraphs 18.6 and 18.7 apply, 

and shall be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with paragraph 18.10. 
 
18.6 The charges are paid by the applicant for care, which is provided 

a. in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the 
period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

b. in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 
18.7 The charges are paid for care, which is provided by one, or more of the care providers listed in 

paragraph 18.8 and are not paid– 
a. in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
b. by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child for 

whom either or any of them is responsible in accordance with section 10 (circumstances 
in which a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 

c. in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
 
18.8 The care to which paragraph 18.7 refers may be provided; 

a. out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority; 
i. for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 

birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their fifteenth birthday; or 

ii. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their sixteenth birthday; or 

103



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 38	

b. by a child care provider approved in accordance with by the Tax Credit (New Category of 
Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; 

c. by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; 
or  

d. by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families 
(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or 
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care 
Exceptions (Wales) order 2010; or  

e. by; 
i. persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform Scotland Act 

2010;  
   or 

ii. local authorities registered under section 8(1) of that Act, where the care provided 
is child minding or daycare within the meaning of that Act; or 

f. by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002 or 

g. by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; 
or  

h. by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

i. by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

j. by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of ‘childcare’ for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

k. by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering 
or kinship carer is looking after; or 

l. by a domiciliary care worker under the Domiciliary Care Agencies Regulations 2002 or 
the Domiciliary Care Agencies (Wales) Regulations 2004; or  

m. by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
 
18.9 In paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), ‘the first Monday in September’ means the Monday which first 

occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 
18.10 Relevant child care charges shall be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 

appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard 
to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing 
the care. 

 
18.11 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where 
 

a. the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on account of the other 
member’s incapacity or the support component or the work- related activity component 
on account of his having limited capability for work 

b. the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability premium on account of the 
other member’s incapacity but for that other member being treated as capable of work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulation made under section 
171E of the Act;  

c. the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work-
related activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for 
work but for that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate; 

104



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 39	

d. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) is, or is treated as, incapable of work 
and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance 
with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the Act (incapacity for 
work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or 
more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days shall be treated 
as one continuous period; 

e. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work and has had, or been treated as having, limited capability for work in 
accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous 
period; 

f. there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
   allowances– 

i. long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate 
under Schedule 4 to the Act; 

ii. attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act;  
iii. severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the Act;  
iv. disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
v. personal independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 

vi. an AFIP; 
vii. increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the Act; 

viii. a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an 
industrial injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of 
disablement pension under head (ii), (iv) or (v) above;  

ix. main phase employment and support allowance; 
g. a pension or allowance to which head (ii), (iv). (v) or (vi) of sub-paragraph (f) above refers 

was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence 
of his becoming a patient, which in this section shall mean a person (other than a person 
who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) 
who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of social 
security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

h. an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which 
allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital 
or similar institution; 

i. paragraphs (f) or (g) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those 
sub-paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; or 

j. he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State 
under section 5(2)(a) of and Schedule 2 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or under 
section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the 
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 
30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

 
18.12 For the purposes of paragraph 18.11 once paragraph 18.11d) applies to the applicant, if he then 

ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, 
that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at 
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, 
or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
18.12AFor the purposes of paragraph 18.11, once paragraph 18.11e) applies to the applicant, if he then 

ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability for 
work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is 
treated as having, limited capability for work. 

 

105



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 40	

18.13 For the purposes of paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), a person is disabled if he is a person– 
a. in respect of whom disability living allowance or personal independence payment is 

payable, or has ceased to be payable solely because he is a patient; 
b. who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National 

Assistance Act 1948 welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in 
consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council 
constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

c. who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 
weeks before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 
18.14 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 

leave shall be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in 
paragraph 18.15 (‘the relevant period’) provided that– 
a. in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave 

began she was in remunerative work; 
b. the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of paragraph 

18.5; and 
c. she is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the Act, statutory 

paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of the Act statutory adoption pay by 
of section 171ZL of the Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of the Act or qualifying 
support. 

 
18.15 For the purposes of paragraph 18.14 the relevant period shall begin on the day on which the 

person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and shall end on– 
a. the date that leave ends; 
b. if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 

to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity 
pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

c. if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 
to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care element of 
the working tax credits ends. 

 whichever shall occur first. 
 
18.16 In paragraphs 18.14 and 18.15 

a. ‘qualifying support’ means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of 
paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support Regulations 1987; and 

b. ’child care element’ of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit 
prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act (child care element) 2002. 

 
18.17 In this section ‘applicant’ does not include an applicant; 

a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

 an award of universal credit 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners 
19.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as an employed earner his 
average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment– 

a. over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or 
treated as made and being a period of 

i. 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or  
ii. 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or  

b. whether or not sub-paragraph 19.1a i) or ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings fluctuate, 
over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 

106



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 41	

more accurately. 
 
19.2 Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in paragraph 

19.1 a)(i) or (ii) 
a. if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and 

those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to those earnings; 

b. in any other case, the authority shall require the applicant’s employer to furnish an 
estimate of the applicant’s likely weekly earnings over such period as the authority may 
require and the applicant’s average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to 
that estimate. 
 

19.3 Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes during an award the authority shall 
estimate his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

 
19.4 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 

sections 25 and 26 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners 
 
20.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner 

his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that 
employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may 
be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed a year. 

 
20.2 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 

section 27 to 29 of this scheme 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings 
 
21.1 An applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings shall, except where paragraph 18.2 

applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income 
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks; 
and nothing in this paragraph shall authorise the authority to disregard any such income other 
than that specified in Schedule 4 of this scheme 

 
21.2 The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account shall be 

the period in respect of which that support is payable. 
 
21.3 For the purposes of this section income other than earnings shall be calculated in accordance 

with paragraphs 30 to 32 of this scheme 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 
 
22.1 This section applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 
 
22.2  Where this section applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account shall 

be the period set out in paragraph 22.3 
 
22.3 Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is; 

a. a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is 
paid; 

b. a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due 
to be paid; 

107



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 42	

c. a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on which 
the instalment is due to be paid; 

d. a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the instalment 
is due to be paid. 

 
22.4 For the purposes of this section ‘tax credit’ means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income 
 
23.1 For the purposes of sections 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 21 (average 

weekly income other than earnings) and 22 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made; 
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment; 
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined– 

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the product 
by 7. 

 
23.2 For the purpose of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 

amount of earnings of an applicant shall be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying 
the product by 7. 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc.  
 
24.1 In calculating the applicant’s income the appropriate authority may disregard  any 

legislative change 
a. in the basic or other rates of income tax;  
b. in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
c. in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the Act or in the lower 

earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under the Act, the lower 
or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under the Act or the amount specified 
in section11(4) of the Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

d. in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, 
B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable 
under the Act; 

e. in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 
 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective.  

25.0 Earnings of employed earners 
25.1 Subject to paragraph 25.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes– 
a. any bonus or commission; 
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for 

the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
d. any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption 

of the employment; 
e. any payment by way of a retainer; 
f. any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 

108



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 43	

including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of– 
g. (i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and his place of 

 employment; 
 (ii)  expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a 
  member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 
h. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 

Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 
i. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension 
on medical or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

j. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

k. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; 

l. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work 
because he is ill; 

m. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended17. 

 
25.2  Earnings shall not include– 

a. subject to paragraph 25.3, any payment in kind; 
b. any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of employment; 
c. any occupational pension  
d. any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service 

user. 
 
25.3 Paragraph 25.2 a) shall not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in paragraph 

25.1 m) 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners 
 
26.1 For the purposes of section 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), the earnings of 

an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be 
taken into account shall, subject to paragraph 26.2, be his net earnings. 

 
26.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, 

specified in paragraphs 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 
 
26.3 For the purposes of paragraph 26.1 net earnings shall, except where paragraph 26.6 applies, be 

calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less; 
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 

 i) income tax; 
 ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act; 

b. one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

d. where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 

																																																								
17 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 

109



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 44	

maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted 
for those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the Act. 

 
26.4 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 

contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
 
26.5 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 

amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution shall be determined– 
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 
 
26.6 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 2) of 

the section 19 (average weekly earnings of employment earners), his net earnings shall be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less– 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic 
rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings.  

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners 
 
27.1 Subject to paragraph 27.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self- employed earner, 

means the gross income of the employment plus any allowance paid under section 2 of the 
1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the applicant for 
the purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance 
has been terminated. 

 
27.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment to which paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 4 refers 

(payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under arrangements made 
by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health 
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
applicant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award. 

 
27.3 This paragraph applies to– 

a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 

b. any payment in respect of any– 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is the first owner of the 

110



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 45	

copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned. 

 
27.4  Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which paragraph 27.3 applies, those 

earnings shall be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) 
by dividing the earnings by 

(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme which would be payable had the 
payment not been made, plus  

(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from the 
payment under Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings) as 
appropriate in the applicant’s case. 

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners  
 
28.1  For the purposes of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings 

of an applicant to be taken into account shall be 
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or 

is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less– 

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 
payable under the Act calculated in accordance with section 29 (deduction of tax 
and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (11) in respect of 
any qualifying premium. 

 
28.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net profit, any sum, where applicable, specified 

in paragraph 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 
 
28.3 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1 a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 

paragraph 28.9 applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings for the employment 
over the assessment period less 
a. subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 

period for the purposes of that employment; 
b. an amount in respect of; 

(i) income tax, and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance with 
section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (28.11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 

 
28.4 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1b) the net profit of the employment shall be calculated by 

taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to 
paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the 
purposes of the employment. 

 
28.5 Subject to paragraph 28.6 no deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4, in 

respect of– 
a. any capital expenditure; 
b. the depreciation of any capital asset; 
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 
d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 

111



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 46	

f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and 
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 
 
28.6 A deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of the repayment of 

capital on any loan used for– 
a. the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; and 
b. the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable 

under an insurance policy for its repair. 
 
28.7 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses under paragraph 28.3 

a. or 28.4 where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 
been reasonably incurred. 

 
28.8 For the avoidance of doubt– 

a. deduction shall not be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of any sum unless 
it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 

b. a deduction shall be made thereunder in respect of– 
i. the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 

assessment period; 
ii. any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 

extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 
iii. any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment 

 
28.9 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the 

employment shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect 
of 

a. income tax; and 
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance 

with section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 
c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 28.1 in respect of 

any qualifying contribution. 
 
28.10 For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 

earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or 
employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his 
earnings in any other of his employments. 

 
28.11 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 

amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
premium shall be determined 
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 
 
28.12 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 

of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim. 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
 
29.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under section 28.1b) i), 28.3 b) i) or 28.9 

a) i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) shall be calculated on the basis of the 
amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 

112



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 47	

assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 
basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied 
and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a 
pro rata basis. 

 
29.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraphs 

28.1 1 b)(i); 28.3 b) ii) or 28.9 a shall be the total of– 
a. the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 

11(3) of the Act at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of the 
Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if 
the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year shall be 
reduced pro rata; and  

b. the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 
the Act (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage 
rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as 
exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains 
applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment 
period is less than a year, those limits shall be reduced pro rata. 

 
29.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means– 

a.  except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 
any expenses deducted under paragraph 28.3(a) or, as the case may be, 28.4 of section 
28; 

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings 
 
30.1 For the purposes of section 21 (average weekly income other than earnings), the income of an 

applicant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, subject to 
paragraphs 27.2 to 27.4, be his gross income and any capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income). 

 
30.2 There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under paragraph 

30.2, any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4.  
 
30.3  Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way 

of recovery the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 30.1 shall be the gross 
amount payable. 

 
30.4 Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 

employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate, the amount 
of that benefit to be taken into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

 
30.5  Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 2002 is 

subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax 
credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 
27.1 shall be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of 
that deduction. 

 
30.6 In paragraph 30.5 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending 

with 5th April in the next. 

113



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 48	

 
30.7 Paragraph 30.8 and 30.9 apply where a relevant payment has been made to a person in an 

academic year; and that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

 
30.8 Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken 

into account for the assessment period for the purposes of paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person 
to whom paragraph 30.7 applies, shall be calculated by applying the formula– 

 A - (BxC) 
 D 
 Where 

A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until he last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 
C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 51.2 had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled 
to council tax reduction immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, 
had that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

 
30.9 Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 

relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person to whom paragraph (30.8) applies, shall be calculated by 
applying the formula in paragraph 30.8 but as if– 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 

 
30.10 In this section– ‘academic year’ and ‘student loan’ shall have the same meanings as for the 
 purposes of sections 43 to 45, ‘assessment period’ means– 

a.  in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 
reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last 
day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to 
that person; 

b. in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, 
the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction 
week which includes– 

i. the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant 
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

ii. the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment 
was payable to that person. 

whichever of those date is earlier 
‘quarter’ in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on; 
a. 1st January and ending on 31st March;  
b. 1st April and ending on 30th June;  
c. 1st July and ending on 31st August; or  
d. 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
‘relevant payment’ means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 46.7 or both. 

 
30.11 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account under 

114



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 49	

paragraph 30.1 
a. any payment to which paragraph 25.2 (payments not earnings) applies; or 
b. in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations 
made under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of 
essential living needs of the applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in 
regulations made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 
1999. 

31.0 Capital treated as income 
 
31.1  Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is 

made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, shall, if 
the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the applicant’s capital 
otherwise calculated in accordance with sections 33 to 42 of this scheme exceeds £6,000, be 
treated as income. 

 
31.2 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income. 
 
31.3 Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income shall be treated as income. 
 
31.4 Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 

1973 Act shall be treated as income 
 
31.5 Where an agreement or court order provides that payments shall be made to the applicant in 

consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
applicant (but not a payment which is treated as capital), shall be treated as income. 

32.0 Notional income 
 
32.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement of reduction or increasing the amount of that reduction. 
 
32.2 Except in the case of– 

a. a discretionary trust; 
b. a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit; 

d. any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); 

e. any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; 
f. rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the 1973 Act;  
g. child tax credit; or  
h. working tax credit,  
i. any sum to which paragraph 32.13 applies; 

any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by the applicant but only 
from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

 
32.3 – 32.5 Not used 
 
32.6 Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in paragraph 32.7 made– 

a. to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 
member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 

115



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 50	

occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under or by a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection 
Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that 
member; 

b.  to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that 
member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of 
that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 

c.  to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept 
or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
32.7 Paragraph 32.6 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made– 

a. under the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

b.  pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
c.  pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation– 

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation75(1)(a)(iv)of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations or; 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

d.  in respect of a previous participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
e. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

 
32.8  Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit (other than council tax reduction) under the 

benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April 
in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority shall treat the applicant as 
possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in 
that year, whichever date the authority shall select to apply in its area, to the date on which the 
altered rate is to take effect. 

 
32.9 Subject to paragraph 32.10, where– 

a.  applicant performs a service for another person; and 
b. that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, the authority shall treat the applicant as possessing such 
earnings (if any) as is reasonable for that employment unless the applicant satisfies the 
authority that the means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for 
the service. 

 

116



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 51	

32.10 Paragraph 32.9 shall not apply– 
a. to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 

volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

b. in a case where the service is performed in connection with– 
(i) the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance 
with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense 
Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations or 
(ii) the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training 
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in 
that programme ; or 

c. to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of 
State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement 
starts. 

 
32.10A In paragraph 32.10 (c) ‘work placement’ means practical work experience which is not 

undertaken in expectation of payment. 
 
32.11 Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraph 32.1 to (32.8), 

the foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount 
of that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income which he 
does possess. 

 
32.12 Where an applicant is treated a possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.9 the foregoing 

provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he 
does possess except that paragraph (3) of section 26 (calculation of net earnings of employed 
earners) shall not apply and his net earnings shall be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings which he is treated as possessing, less; 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the starting rate or, as the case may be, the starting rate and the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under 
sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as 
is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
earnings to which the starting rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rate basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

 
32.13 Paragraphs (32.1), (32.2), (32.6) and (32.9) shall not apply in respect of any amount of income 

other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation as a service user. 

  

117



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 52	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5  

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council tax reduction purposes 

  

118



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 53	

33.0 Capital limit 
33.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the prescribed amount is £6,000 and no reduction shall be 

granted when the applicant has an amount greater than this level 

34.0 Calculation of capital 
34.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of an applicant to be taken into account shall, 

subject to paragraph (34.2), be the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this 
scheme and any income treated as capital under section 36 (income treated as capital). 

 
34.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under paragraph (34.1), 

any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 5. 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person 
 
 35.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family shall not be 

treated as capital of the applicant. 

36.0 Income treated as capital 
36.1 Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 applies and paid at 

intervals of at least one year shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.2  Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 

to income tax under Schedule D or E shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.3 Any holiday pay which is not earnings under section 25(1)(d) (earnings of employed earners) 

shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.4 Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28, 

47 or 48 of Schedule 5, any income derived from capital shall be treated as capital but only from 
the date it is normally due to be credited to the applicant’s account. 

 
36.5 In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made 

by the applicant’s employer shall be treated as capital. 
 
36.6 Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 

other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, shall be treated as capital. 

 
36.7 There shall be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 

person in respect of which assistance is received under the self- employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that 
person was receiving such assistance. 

 
36.8 Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum shall be 

treated as capital. 
 
36.9 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital.  

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
 
37.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 

market or surrender value less– 
a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and  
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it; 

119



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 54	

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
 
 38.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be 

calculated 
a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value. 

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in 
the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

39.0 Notional capital 
39.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to council tax reduction or increasing the amount of that 
reduction except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with section 40 
(diminishing notional capital rule). 

39.2 Except in the case of 
(a) a discretionary trust; or  
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 5; or  
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board 

of the Pension Protection Fund; or  
(e) any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies which 

is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); or  
(f) any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or  
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the 
date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

 
39.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (39.4), made 

(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member 
of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an occupational 
pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or 
a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in sub-
paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the 
extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any 
council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect 
of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, 
as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him 
or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
39.4 Paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made: 

a. under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 
Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

b. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation: 
i. in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 

120



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 55	

Allowance Regulations; 
ii.    in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 

iii. in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 
iv. in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation17A(7) of those 

Regulations; or 
v. in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

c. in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme;  
d. Enterprise Scheme; 
e. in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 

or Back to Work Scheme; 
f. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment 

made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where– 
i. a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 

payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

ii. the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf 
of the creditors; and  

iii. the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment.. 

 
39.5 Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole 

owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole 
owner or partner and in such a case 

a. the value of his holding in that company shall, notwithstanding section 34 (calculation of 
capital) be disregarded; and 

b. he shall, subject to paragraph 39.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal 
to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company 
and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating 
that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

 
39.6  For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 

the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 39.5 shall be disregarded. 
 
39.7 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 39.1 to 39.2 the 

foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess. 

40.0 Not Used 

41.0 Capital jointly held 
 
41.1 Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 39(5) 

(notional capital) where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in 
possession to any capital asset they shall be treated, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, 
as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal 
share and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating the 
amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which 
the applicant does possess 

42.0 Not Used 
 
  

121



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 56	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 43 - 56  

Definition and the treatment of students for Council tax reduction purposes18 

  

																																																								
18 Amounts shown in sections 43 to 56 will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

122



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 57	

 

43.0 Student related definitions 
 
43.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply; 

 ‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July 
or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the 
course during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the 
academic year of the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer;  
‘access funds’ means; 
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other 
payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial 
difficulties; 

d. discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding 
under sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 
2009; or 

 e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers;  
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;  
’contribution’ means; 
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in 
ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards 
the holder’s expenses; 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary;  
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner;  

‘course of study’ means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether 
or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of 
Covenant by his parent; 

 ‘education authority’ means a government department, a local authority as defined in 
section 579 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as 
defined in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and 
library board established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1986, any body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and 
Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, authority, board or body, 
of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great Britain; 

 ‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which; 
a. is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers 

123



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 58	

at a college of further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher 
education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers;; 

b. is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to 
the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning 
agreement signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either 
of those persons for the delivery of that course; or 
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that 
course; or 

c. is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at 
 a college of further education and involves— 

 (i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
 programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the 
 number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 
 (ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 

learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured 
learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours 
exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document 
signed on behalf of the college; 

‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course; 
‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does 
not include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 
4 or paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies;  
‘grant income’ means 

  (a) any income by way of a grant; 
  (b) any contribution whether or not it is paid;  

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
 ‘last day of the course’ means; 
a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or 

the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever 
is the later; 

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect 
of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

 ‘period of study’ means– 
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start 

of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may 

be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period 
beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s start and ending 
with either– 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, or, if 
he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate 
had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with 
that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

 ‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a 
 sandwich course; 

124



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 59	

‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 
‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the 
successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered 
by the educational establishment to have completed the course. 
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student  
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 

 ‘standard maintenance grant’ means– 
a. except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking 

a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area 
comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified 
for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student; 

b. except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof;  

c. in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide 
issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of 
a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education authority; 

d. in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking– 
a. a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
b. a qualifying course;  
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations 

made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007 

 
43.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 

or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course 
 a. in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on 
the day on which that part of the course starts and ending; 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

 b. in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 
attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such 
earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

 
43.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 43.2, the period referred to in that sub-

paragraph shall include; 
a. where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

b.  any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the 
course. 

125



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 60	

44.0 Treatment of students 
 
44.1 The following sections relate to students who claim Council tax reduction 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction 
 
45.1 Students (except those specified in paragraph 45.3) are not able to claim Council tax reduction 

under Classes D and E of the Council’s reduction scheme. 
 
45.2 To be eligible for reduction, the student must be liable for Council Tax under Section 6 of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992 and they must not be deemed to be a full time student or 
a persons from abroad within the meaning of section 7 of this scheme (persons from aboard). 

 
45.3 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a student 

(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this section, include the disability premium or 
severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated 
as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made 
under section 171E of the Act; 
(e)who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the Act (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for 
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days 
shall be treated as one continuous period; 
(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period. 
(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person;  
(h)who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989, or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(i) who is; 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, or  
(ii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the Act 
(child and qualifying young person); 

(j) in respect of whom 
i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 
2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 
a sum under paragraph (1)(d) or regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, 
in respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under 
or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or  
(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 

126



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 61	

Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986,  
 
on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

 
45.3A For the purposes of paragraph 45.3(h)(i) the student must have begun, or been enrolled or 

accepted onto the course before attaining the age of 19 
 
45.4 For the purposes of paragraph 45.3, once paragraph 45.3(e) applies to a full-time student, if he 

then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
45.5 In paragraph 45.3(h) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 

any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 
 
45.6 A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 45.3 applies, shall be treated as 

satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

 
45.7 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in paragraph 45.8 

if; 
(a)  at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is; 
 (i) engaged in caring for another person; or  
 (ii) ill; 
 
(b)  he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in engaging in caring for that person or, as 

the case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and  
(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 

paragraph 45.8. 
45.8 The period specified for the purposes of paragraph 45.7 is the period, not exceeding one year, 

beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before; 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course,  
which shall first occur. 

46.0 Calculation of grant income  
 
46.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 

46.2 and 46.3, be the whole of his grant income. 
 
46.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment; 
 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he 

resides during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 

Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 

127



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 62	

(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course;  
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant. 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

46.3  Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, 
there shall be excluded from the student’s grant income; 

 (a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and  
 (b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or 

not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

46.4  There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

 
46.5 Subject to paragraphs 46.6 and 46.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned; 
 

(a) subject to paragraph 46.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

 
46.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 

Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

 
46.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 

student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither paragraph 46.6 nor section 50 (other amounts to 
be disregarded) apply, shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned.  

 
46.8  In the case if a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 

study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last 
day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

 

 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 
 
47.1 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 

contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account 
for that period and any summer vacation immediately following shall be the whole amount of 
the covenant income less, subject to paragraph 47.3, the amount of the contribution. 

128



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 63	

 
47.2 The weekly amount of the student’s covenant shall be determined– 
 (a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under paragraph 

47.1 by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
 (b) by disregarding from the resulting amount, £5. 
 
47.3 For the purposes of paragraph 47.1, the contribution shall be treated as increased by the 

amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 46.2(g) (calculation of grant 
income) falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed  
 
48.1 Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income 

shall be calculated as follows; 
 (a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 46.2 (a) to (e) (calculation 

of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded; 
 (b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not 

so disregarded, shall be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
 (c) there shall be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and 46.3 (calculation of grant income) 
had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

 (d) the balance, if any, shall be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 shall be disregarded.  

 
48.2 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 

the amount of his covenanted income shall be calculated in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) 
to (d) of paragraph 48.1, except that; 

 (a) the value of the standard maintenance grant shall be abated by the amount of such grant 
income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 
46.2 (a) to (e); and 

 (b) the amount to be disregarded under paragraph 48.1(c) shall be abated by an amount 
equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and (g) and 46.3. 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard 
 
49.1 No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 

15 of Schedule 4 to this scheme 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 
 
50.1 For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 

treated as income in accordance with section 51, any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 46.2 (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course shall be disregarded but only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 
exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraphs 46.2 or 
46.3, 47.3, 48.1(a) or (c) or 51.5 (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment 
of student loans) on like expenditure. 

51.0 Treatment of student loans  
 
51.1 A student loan shall be treated as income.  
 
51.2  In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income 
 (a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

129



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 64	

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year;  
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the 

course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes with last day of the course,  

 
(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a 

loan which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling 
entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the 
longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ 
shall have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005; 

 
 (c)  in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 

duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term, 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

 
 (d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 

beginning with the earlier of; 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term, 
  and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or  
  immediately precedes, the last day of June, 
  
  and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded 
  £10. 
 
51.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where; 

(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b)  he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

 
51.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 51.3, the amount of 

the student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 51.5 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and  
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if; 

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 

130



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 65	

in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

 
51.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 51.4 
 (a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and  
 (b)  the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether 

or not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans 
51A. 1A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 

made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds  
 
52.1 This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 

paragraph 55.2 or 55.3 (income treated as capital) applies. 
 
52.2 A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which paragraph 52.3 applies, shall be 

disregarded as income. 
 
52.3 Subject to paragraph 52.4 of this section and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4,  
 a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family and  

 b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, shall be disregarded as income to the extent of 
£20 per week. 

 
52.4 Where a payment from access funds is made– 

(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 
receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment shall be disregarded as income. 

53.0 Disregard of contribution 
 

53.1 Where the applicant or his partner is a student and for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income 
 
54.1 Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purpose of 

assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account shall be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

131



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 66	

55.0 Income treated as capital  
 
55.1 Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income shall be 

treated as capital. 
 
55.2      Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital. 

 
55.3 An amount paid from access fund as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 

other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, 
shall be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
56.1 In calculating a student’s income the authority shall disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

  

132



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 67	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 57 – 63  

The calculation and amount of Council tax reduction 

  

133



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 68	

 

57.0 Maximum council tax reduction 
 
57.1 Subject to paragraphs 57.2 to 57.4, the amount of a person’s maximum council tax reduction in 

respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 80 per cent, of the amount A 
divided by B where; 
(a) A is the lower of either; 

i. amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which 
he is liable, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling 
under the 1992 Act; or  

ii. the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of a dwelling within Band C subject to any discount 
which may be appropriate to the person’s circumstances; and 

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year,  
 
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under section 58 (non-
dependant deductions). 
 
In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, financial year 
within which the day in question falls. 

 
57.2 In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction any reduction in the amount that 

person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment 
in, or made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account. 

 
57.3 Subject to paragraph 57.4, where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 

respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons but excepting any 
person so residing with the applicant who is a student to whom paragraph 45.2 (students who 
are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction) applies, in determining the maximum 
council tax reduction in his case in accordance with paragraph 57.1, the amount A shall be 
divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

 
57.4 Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with 

only his partner, paragraph 57.3 shall not apply in his case 
 

57A Protected Group 
57A.1 Where the applicant is: 

• entitled to a severe disability premium; or 
• is in receipt of carer’s allowance; or 
• normally resides with and is responsible for a dependant child under 5 years of age  
the figure shown in 57.1 shall be 84% 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions19 
58.1 Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in respect 

of a day referred to in section 57 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be; 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £12.20 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not 

apply, £4.00 x 1/7. 
 
58.2 In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom paragraph 58.1(a) applies, where it is 

																																																								
19 The amounts shown within this section shall be uprated in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) Regulations 2012 

134



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 69	

shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is– 
(a) less than £207.70, the deduction to be made under this paragraph shall be that specified 

in paragraph 58.1(b); 
(b)  not less than £207.70, but less than £360.10, the deduction to be made under this 

section shall be £8.10 x1/7 
(c)  not less than £360.10, but less than £447.40, the deduction to be made under this section 

shall be £10.20 x 1/7; 
 
58.3 Only one deduction shall be made under this section in respect of a couple or, as the case may 

be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that 
would fall to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is 
higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any 
other, member, the higher amount shall be deducted. 

 
58.4 In applying the provisions of paragraph 58.2 in the case of a couple or, as the case may be a 

polygamous marriage, regard shall be had, for the purpose of that paragraph, to the couple’s 
or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

 
58.5 Where in respect of a day– 

a. a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 
dwelling and that day; 

b. other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for 
council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 or 
77 or 77A of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

c. the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant shall be apportioned equally 
between those liable persons. 

 
58.6 No deduction shall be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 

if the applicant or his partner is– 
a. blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 (additional condition for the 

disability premium); or 
b. receiving in respect of himself: 

• attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for: 
i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 

of The Act; or  
ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or  

• the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 
component but for: 

i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 
of The Act; or  

ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or  
c. the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving that 

allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

d. an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance with 
any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution; 

 
58.7 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant if: 

a. although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is 
elsewhere; or 

b. he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with a youth training established 
under section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990; or 

c. he is a full time student within the meaning of section 44.0 (Students); or 

135



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 70	

d. he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period of excess of 
52 weeks, and for these purposes; 

e. ‘patient’ has the meaning given within this scheme, and 
f. where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or 

more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he shall be treated as having been a patient 
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods; 

g. he is not residing with the claimant because he is a member of the armed forces away on 
operations 

 
58.8 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant; 
 (a)  who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 

or an income-related employment and support allowance;  
(b) to whom Schedule 1 of the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 

discount) but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers; 

(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the 
basis that the person does not have any earned income.”; 

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c), “earned income” has the meaning given in 
regulation 52 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013. 

 
58.9 In the application of paragraph 58.2 there shall be disregarded from his weekly gross income: 

a. any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal independence payment 
or an AFIP received by him; 

b. any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust , MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which had his 
income fallen to be calculated under section 30 (calculation of income other than earnings) 
would have been disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 4 (income in kind); and  

c. any payment which had his income fallen to be calculated under section 30 would have 
been disregarded under paragraph 36 of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain trusts 
and certain other payments). 

 

59.0 Council tax reduction taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) 
 
59.1 The prescribed daily percentage for the purpose of calculating reduction as a percentage of 

excess of income over the applicable amount which is deducted from maximum council tax 
reduction, shall be 2 6/7 per cent. Where an applicant’s income exceeds their applicable 
amount, their council tax reduction shall be calculated by deducting their excess income 
multiplied by the taper from their maximum council tax reduction as defined within section 57 
of this scheme 

 

60.0 Extended reductions  
 
60.1 An applicant who is entitled to council tax reduction (by virtue of the general conditions of 

entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction where; 
 (a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income- related 

benefit; 
 (b)  entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner– 
  (i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;  
  (ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 

(iii)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number 
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

136



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 71	

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

 
60.2 For the purpose of paragraph 60.1(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner is to be treated as 

having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s 
allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation 
in an employment zone programme. 

 
60.3 For the purpose of this section, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner is entitled to and 

in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they shall be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

 
60.4 An applicant must be treated as entitled to council tax reduction by virtue of the general 

conditions of entitlement where– 
 (a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to council tax reduction because the applicant 

vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
 (b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
 (c)  entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 60.1(b). 
 
60.5 This section shall not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s entitlement to income 

support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support Regulations (remunerative work: 
housing costs) applied to that applicant. 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period 

 
60A.1 Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts 

on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the 
applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit. 

 
60A.2 For the purpose of paragraph (60A.1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be 

entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of 
entitlement to that benefit. 

 
60A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 
 
 (a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 (b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no 

liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction  
 
60B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

payable to an applicant shall be the higher of– 
 (a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled under the 

general conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 

137



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 72	

period, if section 60 (extended reductions) did not apply to the applicant; or 
 (c) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled 

under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 60 did not apply to the applicant. 
60B.2 Paragraph 60B1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
60B.3 Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this section and the applicant’s 

partner makes a claim for council tax reduction, no amount of council tax reduction shall be 
payable by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

60C Extended reductions – movers 
60C.1 This section applies; 
 (a) to a mover; and  
 (b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
 
60C.2 The amount of the extended reduction payable from the Monday from which this section 

applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be the amount of council tax 
reduction which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the 
mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 
60C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 

authority, the extended reduction may take the form of a payment from the appropriate 
authority to; 

 (a) the second authority; or  
 (b) the mover directly. 
 
60C.4 Where– 

(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax reduction to the second 
authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction from the 
appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce the weekly amount of council 
tax reduction that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is entitled to by a sum equal to the 
amount of the extended reduction until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax reduction under the 
general conditions of entitlement 

 
60D.1 Where an applicant’s council tax reduction award would have ended when the applicant ceased 

to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
60.1(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
60D.2  Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 

extended reduction payable in accordance with paragraph 60B.1(a) or 60C.2 (amount of 
extended reduction – movers). 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) 
 
61.1 An applicant who is entitled to council tax reduction (by virtue of the general conditions of 

entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
where; 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner; 
  (i)  commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;  
  (ii)  increased their earnings from such employment; or 

(iii)  increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that 

138



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 73	

employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number of 
hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

 (c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying contributory benefit ceased; and 

 (d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or 
the applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
61.2 An applicant must be treated as entitled to council tax reduction by virtue of the general 

conditions of entitlement where; 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to council tax reduction because the applicant 

vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
 (c)  entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 61.1(b). 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) 
 
61A.1  Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 

extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following 
the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to 
a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
61A.2 For the purpose of paragraph 61A.1, an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 

to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

 
61A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) is payable has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
61B.1  For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant shall be the higher of; 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled under the 

general conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 61 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)) did not 
apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 61 did not apply to the applicant. 

 
61B .2 Paragraph 61B.1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
61B.3 Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 

under this section and the applicant’s partner makes a claim for council tax reduction, no 
amount of council tax reduction shall be payable by the appropriate authority during the 
extended reduction period. 

139



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 74	

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers 
61C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and  
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
61C.2 The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the 

Monday from which this section applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be 
the amount of council tax reduction which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week 
before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit. 

 
61C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 

authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from the appropriate authority to– 

 (a) the second authority; or  
 (b) the mover directly. 
 
61C.4 Where 

(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax reduction to the second 
authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit; and 

(b)  the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) from the appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce 
the weekly amount of council tax reduction that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is 
entitled to by a sum equal to the amount of the extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to council tax reduction under the general conditions of entitlement 

 
61D.1  Where an applicant’s council tax reduction award would have ended when the applicant ceased 

to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 61.1 
(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 
61B.1(a) or 61C.2 (amount of extended reduction– movers). 

 
61E.0 Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area20 
 
61E.1 Where; 
 (a) an application is made to the authority  for a reduction under its  scheme, and 
 (b) the applicant or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction 
 from; 
 (i)another billing authority in England; or 
 (ii) a billing authority in Wales,  
 the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under its 
 scheme by the amount of that extended reduction.  

62.0 - 63.0 Not Used 
  

																																																								
20 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

140



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 75	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 64 – 67 

Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect 
  

141



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 76	

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin 
64.1 Subject to paragraph 64.2, any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for council tax 

reduction is made and who is otherwise entitled to that reduction shall be so entitled from the 
reduction week following the date on which that claim is made or is treated as made. 

 
64.2 Where a person is otherwise entitled to council tax reduction and becomes liable for the first 

time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the 
reduction week in which his claim is made or is treated as made, he shall be so entitled from 
that reduction week. 

65.0  - 66.0 Not Used 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 
 
67.1 Except in cases where section 24 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) applies and 

subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a change of circumstances which affects 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (“change of 
circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week following the date on 
which the change actually occurs, and where that change is cessation of entitlement to any 
benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on which the change actually occurs shall be the day 
immediately following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
67.2 Subject to paragraph (3), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 

council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 
 
67.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 

of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 

 
67.4 Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes 

effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 
 
67.5 Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it 

takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 
 
67.6 If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for 

this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with paragraphs (1) to (5) 
they take effect from the day to which the appropriate paragraph from (2) to (5) above refers, 
or, where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 

 
67.7  Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, 

other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the Act, is paid in respect 
of a past period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the 
change of circumstances shall take effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into 
account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 
67.8 Without prejudice to paragraph (7), where the change of circumstances is the payment of 

income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes 
effect from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at 
intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the 
purposes of this scheme. 
  

142



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 77	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 68– 74A  

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council tax reduction purposes 

  

143



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 78	

 
68.0 Making an application21 
 
68.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is to be made 
 by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such 
 one of them as the authority determines. 
 
68.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 
 time being to act, and; 
 (a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as 
  the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or  
 (b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian  
  acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has 
  power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
 (c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be,  
  receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney 
  Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 
  2005 or otherwise, 
 that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an 
 application on behalf of that person. 
 
68.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 
 time being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon 
 written application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, 
 appoint that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to 
 which that person might be entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal 
 on his behalf with any sums payable to him. 
 
68.4 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
 unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
 regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable 
 to act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by 
 them under sub-paragraph (3). 
 
68.5 Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person 
 as an appointee under sub-paragraph (4); 
 (a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
 (b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in  
  writing to the authority of his intention to do so;  
 (c) any such appointment terminates when the authority is notified of the  
  appointment of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 
 
68.6 Anything required by the authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the 
 time being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) 
 above or by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and 
 the receipt of any such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for 
 any sum paid. 
 
68.7 The authority must; 
 (a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 9(1)(a); 
 (b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 
  that duty; and  
 (c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the  
  reduction or its amount. 

																																																								
21 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

144



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 79	

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme22 
 
69.1.  Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application made under the authority’s scheme. 
 
69.2.   An application may be made; 

 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with sections 101 – 106A of this 

scheme, or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications, by telephone. 
 
69.3 (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a 
   properly completed form. 
 (2)  The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
 
69.4 (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
 (a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by 
  the authority as being properly completed; or 
 (b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the  
  authority does not accept the application as being in a written form which is  
  sufficient in the circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the 
  written information and evidence,  
 the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
 complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply 
 the applicant with the approved form or request further information and evidence. 
 
 (2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if it is 
 completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to 
 provide information and evidence in connection with the application. 
 
69.5. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must 
  provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the  
  defect. 
 
 (2)  An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does 
  not provide all the information the authority requires. 
 
69.6.   In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is 
 only valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his 
 circumstances provided by the authority. 
 
69.7 (1)  If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the 
    person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect.
  
 (2)  An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all 
   the information the authority requests during the telephone call. 
 
69.8 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method 

by which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered. 
 

(1) Where an applicant ; 
  (a)  makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which  
  he subsequently requests should include) a period before the   

																																																								
22 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

145



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 80	

 application is made; and 
 
(b)  from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or  
  subsequently requested that the application should include a past 
  period), the applicant had continuous good cause for failing to make an 
  application (or request that the application should include that period), 
 

  the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in  
  accordance with sub-paragraph (2). 
 
(2)  That date is the latest of; 

a. the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
b. the day 3 months before the date the application was made; 
c. the day 3 months before the date when the applicant requested that the 

application should include a past period. 
 
69A.0 Date on which an application is made 
69A.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is; 
 (a) in a case where; 
  (i) an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has been 
  made to the applicant or his partner, and 
  (ii) the application for a reduction is made within one month of the date on which 
  the claim for that state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was  
  received at the appropriate DWP office, 
 the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit 
 arising from that claim; 
 (b) in a case where 
  (i) an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit, 
  (ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the 
  dwelling he occupies as his home, and  
  (iii) the application is received at the designated office within one month of the  
  date of the change, 
 the date on which the change takes place; 
 (c) in a case where; 
  (i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an  
  income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit 
  has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 
  (ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for 
  that income support, jobseeker’s allowance, employment and support allowance or 
  universal credit was received, 
 the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, an 
 income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
 claim; 
 (d) in a case where; 
  (i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based  
  jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or 
  has an award of universal credit, 
  (ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the 
  dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
  (iii) the application is received at the designated office within one month of the  
  date of the change, 
 the date on which the change takes place; 
 (e) in a case where; 
  (i) an applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death 
  or their separation, entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme, and 
  (ii) the applicant makes an application for a reduction under that scheme within 
  one month of the date of the death or the separation, 

146



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 81	

  the date of the death or separation; 
 (f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
 application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
 reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to an applicant following 
 the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
 application, the date of first notification; 
 (g) in any other case, the date on which an application is received at the designated office. 
 
69A.2 For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded an 
 income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
 allowance is to be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately 
 precede the first day in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made 
 under; 
 (a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 
 Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or  
 (b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of 
 Schedule 2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
 have been entitled to that allowance. 
 
69A.3 Where there is a defect in an applications by telephone; 
 (a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
 reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
 application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 
 (b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
 reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
 application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
 sufficient information to decide the application. 
 
69A.4 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 

instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) 
are satisfied. 

69A.5 The conditions are that— 
(a)  where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable; or  
(b)  where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by 
authority applies; 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be; 
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 
of the request;  or,  
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or  
(c)  where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable.  

 
69A.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, 
 where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated 
 that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may 
 apply for a reduction under that authority’s scheme at any time in that period in respect of 
 that tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority must 
 treat the application as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 
 
69A.7 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, 
 where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in the 
 reduction week immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of the 
 opinion that unless there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction 

147



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 82	

 under its scheme for a period beginning not later than; 
 (a) in the case of an application made by; 
  (i) a pensioner, or  
  (ii) a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained, the age which is 17 
  weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit, 
  the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is  
  made, or 
 (b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
 reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
 the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week 
 immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a 
 reduction accordingly. 
 
69A.8 In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and 
 Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public 
 for the receipt of claims of income support, a job seekers allowance or an employment and 
 support allowance. 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically 
 
70.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 

electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence 
71.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels 

that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

72.0 Information and evidence23 
72.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under an 
 authority’s scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any 
 other person in respect of whom he is making the application. 
 
72.2 This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 
 (a) the application is accompanied by; 
  (i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or  
  evidence establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
  (ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national  
  insurance number that has been allocated to the person; or 
 (b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to 
 him and the application for the reduction is accompanied by; 
  (i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; 
  and 
  (ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 
 
72.3  Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply; 
 (a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is 
 made; 
 (b) to a person who; 
  (i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this  
  scheme; 
  (ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 
  Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 
  (iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 
 

																																																								
23 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

148



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 83	

72.4 Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a 
 reduction under the authority’s scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, 
 documents, information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or 
 any question arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by 
 that authority in order to determine that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement 
 to a reduction under its scheme and must do so within one month of the authority requiring 
 him to do so or such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 
 
72.5 Nothing in this paragraph requires a person who is a pensioner to furnish any certificates, 
 documents, information or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) 
 applies. 
 
72.6 Where the authority makes a request under sub-paragraph (4), it must; 
 (a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been 
 awarded of his duty under paragraph 9 (duty to notify change of circumstances) to notify 
 the authority of any change of circumstances; and 
 (b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 9, indicate to him 
 either orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available to him on 
 application and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which must be notified. 
 
72.7 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments; 
 (a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
 Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
 Fund; 
 (b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 5, other than a payment 
 under the Independent Living Fund (2006); 
 (c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 58.9. 
 
72.8 Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under the authority’s scheme has been 
 awarded or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a 
 member of, or a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension 
 scheme, he must where the authority so requires furnish the following information; 
 (a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
 (b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
 the personal pension scheme to be identified. 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application24 
 
73.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has been
 made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 
 
73.2 Where the application was made by telephone the amendment may also be made by 
 telephone. 
 
73.3 Any application amended is to be treated as if it had been amended in the first instance. 
 
73.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office at 
 any time before a decision has been made on it. 
 
73.5 Where the application was made by telephone, the withdrawal may also be made by  
 telephone. 
 
73.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) has effect when 
 it is received. 

																																																								
24 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

149



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 84	

 
73.7   Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if 

required to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in writing 
delivered or sent to the designated office. 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances25 
 
74.1 Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), an applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) 
 must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any 
 time;  
 (a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or  
 (b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a 
 reduction under the authority’s scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in 
 receipt of such a reduction. 
 
74.2 The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances 
 which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his 
 entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (a “relevant 
 change of circumstances”) by giving notice to the authority; 
 (a) in writing; or 
 (b) by telephone— 
  (i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless 
  the authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification  
  may not be given by telephone; or 
  (ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be 
  given by telephone; or 
 (c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case, 
 within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon as 
 reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 
 
74.3 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying 
 (a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
 (b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
 (c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances  
 which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under the 
 authority’s scheme to which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to 
 the benefit. 
 
74.4 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an 
 income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
 allowance or universal credit. 
 
74.5 Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to 
 notify the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that 
 a person who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he has 
 ceased to be a child or young person. 
 
74.6 A person who has been awarded a reduction under the authority’s scheme who is also on 
 state pension credit must report; 
 (a) changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependant normally residing with 
 the applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides; 
 (b) any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 13 weeks. 
 
74.7 In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (7), a person whose 

																																																								
25 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

150



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 85	

 state pension credit comprises only a savings credit must also report— 
 (a) changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in the amount of 
 reduction under the authority’s scheme allowed in his case, but not changes in the age of 
 the child; 
 (b) any change in the amount of the applicant’s capital to be taken into account which does 
 or may take the amount of his capital to more than £6,000; 
 (c) any change in the income or capital of; 
  (i) a non-dependant whose income and capital are treated as belonging to the  
  applicant; or 
  (ii) a person to whom their partner is treated as member of the household, 
 and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependant stops living or begins or 
 resumes living with the applicant. 
 

74.8 All changes in circumstances should be notified to the authority in writing (or by whatever 
format agreed by the authority) within one calendar month of the happening of the event or 
change in circumstance. This timescale may be extended at the discretion of the authority. 
Where such a change is not received within that timescale and where the change would increase 
the level of reduction payable, the authority may use a date later that the actual change of 
circumstances 

 
  

151



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 86	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 75- 90 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council tax reduction 
  

152



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 87	

 

75.0 Decisions by the authority26 
75.1 The authority must make a decision on an application under its scheme within 14 days of 
 paragraphs 4 and 7 and section 69 being satisfied, or as soon as reasonably practicable 
 thereafter.  

76.0 Notification of decision27 
 
76.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under its 
 scheme; 
 (a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
 thereafter; 
 (b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
 thereafter. 
 
76.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
 include a statement; 
 (a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by 74.1; 
 (b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 
 that duty; and 
 (c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
 reduction or its amount. 
 
76.3 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
 include a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged. 
 
76.4 In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of the 
 procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the provisions in 
 the authority’s scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal. 
 
76.5 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 
 within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
 authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any 
 matter set out in the notice. 
 
76.6 The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person 
 requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 
76.7 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a 
 decision of the authority under its scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that 
 person are affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8). 
 
76.8 This sub-paragraph applies to— 
 (a) the applicant; 
 (b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is 
 unable for the time being to act; 
  (i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the 
  case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
  (ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the  
  Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000(3) who has power to apply or, as the 
  case may be, receive benefit on the person’s behalf; or 
  (iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, 

																																																								
26 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
27 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

153



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 88	

  receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney 
  Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 
  2005 or otherwise, 
 (c) a person appointed by the authority to act for a  person unable to act. 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax reduction28 
 
77.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his 

liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial 
year (“the chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement; 

 (a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) 
of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 

 (b)  where; 
  (i) such a reduction is not possible; or  

(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or  
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny. 

 
77.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the 

amount of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of 
paragraph (1). 

 
77.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers; 
 (a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the 

chargeable year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been 
made, is insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax 
becoming due any outstanding reduction; 

  (i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

 (b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has 
discharged the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction 
under the authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if 
that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 

 (c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 
14 days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is 
not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

 
77.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's 

council tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers (council tax payments). 

 

78.0 Persons to whom reduction is to be paid 29 
 
78.1 Subject to section 80 (payment on death) and paragraph (2), any payment of the amount 

																																																								
28 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
29 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

154



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 89	

of a reduction must be made to that person. 
 
78.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s 

scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting 
pursuant to an appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the 
reduction may be paid to that person. 

 

79.0 Shortfall in reduction30 
79.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under the authority’s scheme to a 

person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either; 

 (a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 
possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or 

(b)  where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of 
any shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the 
decision being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible 
afterwards. 

 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled31 
 
80.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not 

possible to award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax 
for which he was liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction 
to his executor or administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

. 

81.0 Offsetting 
 
81.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of council tax reduction under a decision which 

is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period 
covered by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the 
subsequent decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated 
as properly awarded or paid on account of them. 

 

82 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability32 
 
82.1 Where; 
 (a) a person is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in respect of his liability 
 for the authority’s council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year; 
 (b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; and 
 (c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of his 
 liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
 Regulations 1992(7) refers would be inappropriate, 
 it may make a payment to him of the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled, 
 rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 

																																																								
30 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
31 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
32 Inserted by Schedule 8 of the Council Tax Reductions Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

155



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 90	

82.2 Subject to sub-paragraph (3) any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made to 
 the person who is entitled to the reduction. 
 
82.3 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s 
 scheme made the application and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
 appointment under paragraph 4(3) or is treated as having been so appointed by virtue of 
 paragraph 4(4), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that person. 

83.0 – 90.0 Not used 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

156



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 91	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sections 91 – 94 

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council tax reduction purposes 
  

157



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 92	

 

91.0  Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) 

 
91.1 The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 

Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 
Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

 
91.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 

information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements33. 

92.0 Collection of information  
 
92.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for council 

tax reduction, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from– 
(a) persons making claims for council tax reduction;  
(b) other persons in connection with such claims;  
(c) other local authorities; or 
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC 

 
92.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained. 
 

93.0 Recording and holding information 
 
93.1 The authority may 

(a) may make a record of such information; and 
(b) may hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose 
of forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering council tax 
reduction. 

 

94.0 Forwarding of information 
 
94.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 

to or awards of council tax reduction to which the relevant information relates, being 
 (i) a local authority;  
 (ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or 

(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to council tax 
reduction. 

 
  

																																																								
33 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014 

158



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 93	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sections 95 – 98 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council tax reduction  
  

159



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 94	

 
 

95.0  Persons affected by Decisions 
95.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority where that 

person is; 
a. an applicant; 
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act 
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or reduction on his behalf, 
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in 
terms of law administering that person’s estate, or  
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or reduction appointed 
by the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise; 

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme; 
 

96.0  Revisions of Decisions 
96.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (‘the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within; 
 (i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or 
 (ii) such extended time as the authority may allow. 

96.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information 
and evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within; 

 i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or 
  (ii) such extended time as the authority may allow 

97.0 Written Statements 
97.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon a written request issue a 

written statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in 
relation to Council tax reduction. The request must be received within one month of the date 
of the notification being issued by the authority. 

 

98.0 Terminations 
98.1 The authority may terminate reduction in whole or in part the Council tax reduction where it 

appears to the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council tax reduction are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a reduction should be revised or superseded. 

 
98.2 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council tax reduction where it appears to 

the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council tax reduction are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a reduction should be revised or superseded. 
Where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation to any 
matter relating to their liability for Council Tax 

 
 
  

160



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 95	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 99 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions 
 
  

161



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 96	

 

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority34 

99.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects; 
 (a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or  
 (b) the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 
 may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
 on which, he is aggrieved. 
 
99.2 The authority must 
 (a) consider the matter to which the notice relates;  
 (b) notify the aggrieved person in writing; 
  (i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or  
  (ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken. 
 
99.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 

or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act35. 

. 
 
  

																																																								
34 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
35 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014 

162



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 97	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 100 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 
  

163



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 98	

 

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act36 

100.1 An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act 
 may be made; 
 (a)  in writing, 
 (b)  by means of an electronic communication in accordance this scheme or 
 (c)  where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 
  such applications, by telephone. 
 
100.2 Where; 
 (a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a 
  class of case in which liability is to be reduced; and  
 (b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under its scheme, 
  that person’s application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme may also be 
  treated as an application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 
 
  

																																																								
36 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

164



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 99	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 101 – 106A37 

Electronic Communication 
  

																																																								
37 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

165



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 100	

 

101.0 Interpretation 
101.1 In this Part; 
 “information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
 “official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 
 authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 
 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication 
 
102.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
 awards of, reductions under its scheme. 
 
102.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
 the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) 
 to (6) are satisfied. 
 
102.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
 communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
 the authority. 
 
102.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of; 
 (a)  authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
 (b)  electronic communication; 
 (c)  authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic  
  communication; and 
 (d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 
 
102.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is 
 in a form approved for the purposes. 
 
102.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form 
 as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 
 
102.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
 information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 
 
102.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
 Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section. 
 

103.0 Use of intermediaries 
 
103.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with; 
 (a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and  
 (b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
 and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 
 
104.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 
 treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an 
 authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed; 
 (a) by this section; and 
 (b) by or under an enactment, 

166



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 101	

 are satisfied. 
 
104.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
 different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
104.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
 means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
 delivered. 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 
 
105.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 
 (a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 
 official computer system; or 
 (b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic 
 communication from an official computer system, 
 the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 
 is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information 
 
106.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
 electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 
 have been the case where; 
 (a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
 information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
 (b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
 information has been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
106.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
 electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is 
 presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
 been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
106.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
 information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and 
 date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 
 

106A.0 Proof of content of information 
 
106A.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
 information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be 
 that recorded on an official computer system. 
 
 
  

167



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 102	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 107 

Counter Fraud and Compliance 

 

 
  

168



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 103	

 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance 
 
107.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 

the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to; 
a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council tax reduction; 
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and 
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases 

 
107.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and; 

a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for council tax 
reduction; 

b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud; 
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme; 
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and 
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax. 

 
 
107.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as 

 are necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 107.1 and 107.2 can be 
 carried out successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the 
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
 2013. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 104	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts38 

 
  

																																																								
38 38 The amounts shown within this schedule shall be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 
 

170



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 105	

 

Personal Allowance 
 
1 The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 

column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes the main scheme; 
 

Column 1 
Person or Couple 

Column 2 

1. A Single applicant who; 
a) is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance 

£73.10 

b) is aged not less than 25 £73.10 
c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 £57.90 

2. Lone Parent £73.10 
3. Couple; 

a) Where the applicant is entitled to the main 
phase of employment and support allowance 

 

£114.85 

b) Where one member is aged not less that 18 £114.85 
c) Polygamous Addition £41.75 

 
For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance if; 

a. Paragraph 17 or 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or  
b. The applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance 

 
2 (1) The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 

shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes 
of the main scheme 

 
Column 1 

Child or Young Person 
Column 2 

Person in respect of the period– 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth 
birthday; 

£66.90 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding that person’s twentieth 
birthday. 

£66.90 

 
(2) In column (1) of the table in paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

 

Family Premiums 
3. (1) The amount for the purposes of this scheme in respect of a family of which at least one 

member is a child or young person shall be 
a. where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (3) of Schedule 3 of the 

Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 applies, £22.20; 
b. in any other case, £17.45; 

  
   

171



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 106	

Premiums 
4. Except as provided in paragraph 5, the premiums specified this Schedule shall, for the 

purposes of this scheme, be applicable to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in 
paragraphs 4 to 16 in respect of that premium. 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than 
one premium in this this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him and, if they 
are different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 

 
6 (1) The following premiums, namely– 
 

a. severe disability premium to which paragraph 10 applies;  
b. an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies;  
c. a disabled child premium to which paragraph 12 applies; and a  
d. carer premium to which paragraph 13 applies, 

may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule 
 
7. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Schedule, once a premium is applicable 

to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for 
a. in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 

1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he 
would be in receipt of that benefit; and 

b. any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the 1973 Act or by Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise under or 
section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which 
he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

 (2) For the purposes of the carer premium, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of carer’s 
allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in respect of 
whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the 
care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in 
accordance with section 72(3) of the Act or the daily living component of the personal 
independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP. 

Disability Premium 
8.  The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (12) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006  

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums 
9. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (13) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Severe Disability Premiums 
10. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (14) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium 
11. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (15) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Disabled Child Premium 
12. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (16) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
Carer Premium 
13. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (17) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
14.  For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 

8 to 13, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of 
any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 

172



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 107	

Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
15.  For the purposes of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit 

if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in respect 
of which that benefit is paid. 

Amounts of Premium 
16.  For the purposes of this Schedule, the following amounts shall apply; 
 

Premium Amount 
Disability Premium 

a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 
 

£34.35 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£48.95 

Severe Disability Premium 
a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 

paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£65.85 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 14(2)(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

i. in a case where there is someone in receipt of 
carer’s allowance or if he or any partner 
satisfies that condition only by virtue of 
paragraph 14(5); 

£65.85 

ii. in a case where there is no one in receipt of 
such an allowance 

£131.70 

Disabled Child Premium £64.19in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom 
the condition specified in 
paragraph 16 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 

Carer Premium £36.85 in respect of each person 
who satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 17 of Part 3 
of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium (a) £26.04 in respect of each child 
or young person in respect of 
whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of 
Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 are satisfied; 
(b) £16.80 in respect of each 
person who is neither– 
(i)a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in respect 
of whom the conditions specified 
in paragraph 15 are satisfied; 
(c) £24.10 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a 

173



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 108	

polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 
15 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 are 
satisfied in respect of a member of 
that couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

 

The components 
17. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (21 -24) Housing Benefit Regulations 

2006 as amended by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 
 
18.  The amount of the work-related activity component is £29.05. The amount of the support 

component is £38.55. 
 

Transitional Addition 
19. The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 30 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 where the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner meets the conditions contained within paragraphs 27 – 29 of Schedule 3 of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

 

Amount of transitional addition 
20. The amount of any transitional addition is calculated in accordance with paragraphs 30 and 31 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
  

174



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 109	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 2 

Not Used 
  

175



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 110	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 3 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings39 
 
  

																																																								
39 All amounts within this schedule will be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

176



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 111	

1.  In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 
or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged– 

(a)  where–  
(i)  the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii)  on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is 

not so entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution 
conditions, 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a 
period commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the 
employment was terminated; 

 
(b) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax reduction the 

employment has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any 
earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except– 

 
(i) any payment of the nature described in 
 (aa) paragraph 25.1(e), or 
 

(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); 
and 

 
(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in 
 
  (aa) paragraph 25.1(g)or(h),or  

(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments and suspension from work: complaints to employment 
tribunals),  

 including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint 
to an employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 

 
(c) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax reduction– 
 

(i) the employment has not been terminated, but  
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 

    
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any 
payment or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii) 
(bb) or paragraph 25.1(i), or (j). 

 
2.  In the case of an applicant who, before first day of entitlement to council tax reduction; 
 
 (a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 

employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

  (b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment 
has been terminated, 

   any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except; 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), (i) or (j). 

 
2A.  In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part- time 

employment as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain would 
have been so engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation 

177



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 112	

of his employment any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which 
paragraph 27.3 and paragraph 27.4 (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

 
3. (1)  In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 4 does not apply, £20; but 

notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of an 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant 
it shall not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the 
applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

 
 (2)  This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by 

way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component. 

 
 (3)  This paragraph applies where 
  (a) he is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by way 

of the disability premium; and 
  (b)  he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and 

at least one is engaged in employment.  
 
 (4)–(5) Not used 
 
4. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 
 
5. (1)  In a case to which neither paragraph 3 nor paragraph 4 applies to the applicant and, 

subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium, £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any 
time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in 
accordance with this scheme as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 

 
 (2)  Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of 

his, their earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount 
to be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

 
6. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple 

and whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of 
the couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment; 

 (a) specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 
aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20; 

 
 (b) other than one specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from 

such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount 
disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

 
7. In a case where paragraphs 3, 5, 6 and 8 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple 

and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding section 15 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply to his partner except where, 
and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under this 
paragraph are less than £10. 

 
8. (1) In a case where paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings 

derived from one or more employments as– 
  (a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 

scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies; 

  (b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 

178



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 113	

1 of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(a)) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by 
an amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

  (c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
  (d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
  (e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 

the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 
but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an 
applicant it shall not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph 
(2). 

 (2)  If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment; 
(a)  specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate 

with the amount of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph 
exceed £20; 

(b)  other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 
employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant’s earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

 
9. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 8(1), but 

his earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also 
engaged in any other employment so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to 
£5 if he is a single applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the 
amount of his earnings disregarded under paragraph 8 exceed £20. 

 
10.  In a case to which none of the paragraphs 3 to 9 applies, £5.  
 
10A. (1)  Where; 

(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 

(b)  the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined 
in sub-paragraph (6); and 

(c) paragraph 12 does not apply, 
 the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (‘the specified amount’). 
 
 (2)  Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 3 to 10 do not apply; but in any case where 

the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 4, then paragraph 4 applies instead of this paragraph. 

 
 (3)  Notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s 

family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (‘A’) it shall not apply to the other member of that couple (‘B’) except to the extent 
provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

 
 (4)  Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so 

much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

 
 (5)  This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is; 
  (a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance;  
  (b) in receipt of incapacity benefit;  
  (c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 

(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 
capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975 

 (6)  ‘Exempt work’ means work of the kind described in; 

179



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 114	

  (a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance   
  Regulations; or (as the case may be) 

 (b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
 and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member 
of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person 
or their partner is also undertaking other work. 

 
 (7)  The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 

provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

 
11.  Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 

19 or 20 of Schedule 4 had the applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

 
12.  Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 
 
13.  Any earnings derived from employment, which are payable in a country outside the United 

Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of those earnings. 

 
14.  Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 
 
15.  Any earnings of a child or young person. 
 
16. (1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 

in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in 
sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 3 
to 10A of this Schedule shall be increased by £17.10. 

 
 (2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that– 

 (a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is 
a person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations applies; or 

  (b) the applicant– 
 (i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 
least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours 
per week; or  
(ii) is a member of a couple and 

(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium; or 

 (iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; or 
 (iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and; 

   (aa) the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium, the work-
related activity component or the support component ; 

  (bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple 
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in sub-head (aa) above and is engaged in remunerative 
work for on average not less than 16 hours per week. 

 
 (3)  The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1); 

180



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 115	

  (a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under 
paragraphs 3 to 10A of this Schedule;  

  (b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 
17(1)(c); and  
(c) £17.10 

 
 (4)  The provisions of section 6 shall apply in determining whether or not a person works for 

on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in 
paragraph (1) of that section were a reference to 30 hours. 

 
17.  In this Schedule ‘part-time employment’ means employment in which the person is engaged on 

average for less than 16 hours a week. 
  

181



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 116	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 4 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings40 
 
  

																																																								
40 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

182



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 117	

 
1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under section 30 

(calculation of income other than earnings). 
 
A2.  Any payment made to the claim and in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 

be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 
 
A3.  Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 

be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme or Back to Work Scheme, but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of 
the payment. 

 
2. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is– 
  (a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or  
  (b)  volunteer, 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under section 32.0 (notional income). 

 
2A.  Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation as a service user. 
 
3. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 
 
4. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance the whole of his income. 
 

5. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s 
income. 

 
6. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, 

was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but 
ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the 
Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the 
whole of his income. 

 
7. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment or AFIP 
 
8. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of; 
 (a) any payment specified in paragraph 7 or 10;  
 (b)  income support;  
 (c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
 (d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 
 
9. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 

and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

 
10.  Any attendance allowance.  
 
11.  Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 

analogous payment.  
12. (1) Any payment– 
   (a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to; 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of 

183



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 118	

school expenses; grant of scholarships etc); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980 (power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 
paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 

  (b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section14 or section181 of the Education Act 2002(power of Secretary of State 
and National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or  
 
(iii) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 

 
 (2)  Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 

to; 
  (a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
  (b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
  (c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992,  
  in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 

in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
13.  Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 

Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 
 

14 (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment; 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the 1973 Act or section 2(5) of the 
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is 
a Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been 
completed. 

 (2)  The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where 
the applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax 
or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

 
15 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments; 
  (a)  a charitable payment;  
  (b) a voluntary payment; 
  (c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 

funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to 
the applicant;  

  (d) a payment under an annuity purchased; 
   (i)  pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the 

applicant; or 
   (ii)  from funds derived from a payment made,  
   in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 
  (e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) received by virtue of any 

184



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 119	

agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of 
any personal injury to the applicant. 

 
 (2)  Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment, which is made or due to be made by– 
  (a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the 

applicant’s family; or 
  (b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 

member of the applicant’s family. 
 
16.  100% of any of the following, namely 

(a)  a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 
under paragraph 9 or 10); 

 (b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
 (c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

 (d) a guaranteed income payment;  
 (e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 

is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
 (f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
 (g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special   
 provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or  
 of the Republic of Austria. 
 
17.  Subject to paragraph 35, £15 of any; 
 (a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the Act;  
 (b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the Act. 
 
18. (1)  Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under section 41 

(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- paragraph (2), not income 
derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 2, 4 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5 but 
only to the extent of– 

  (a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
   period during which that income accrued; or 
  (b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of 

the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that 
income accrued. 

(3) The definition of ‘water charges’ in paragraph 2(1) shall apply to sub-paragraph (2) of this 
paragraph with the omission of the words ‘in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling 
which a person occupies as his home’. 

 
19.  Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course 

at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating– 

 (a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of 
the Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that 
student’s award; 

 (b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under 
that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 

 (c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

185



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 120	

 
20. (1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 

either; 
  (a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; 

or 
 (b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 
awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 19, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

 (2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to– 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less 

the weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

whichever is less. 
 
21.  Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non- dependant. 
 
22.  Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 

person other than one to whom paragraph 21 or 23 refers and there is a contractual liability to 
make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or 
a member of his family– 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

 
23. (1)  Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 

board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to– 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20.00, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20.00, £20.00 and 50 per 
cent. of the excess over £20.00. 

 (2)  In this paragraph, ‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided 
to a person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, 
for a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some 
cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than 
the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises. 

 
24. (1) Any income in kind, except where regulation 30(11)(b) (provision of support under 

 section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act in the calculation of income other 
 than earnings) applies. 

 
 (2)  The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ‘income in kind’ does not include a payment to a 

third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant. 
 

25.  Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

 

186



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 121	

26. (1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family– 
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 

Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with 
an Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes) 

(b) not used 
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made 
to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

 
27.  Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 

arrangements made 
 (a) by a local authority under– 

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

 (b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

 
28.  Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who 

is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by– 
 (a) a health authority; 
 (b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 

person concerned; 
 (c) a voluntary organisation;  
 (d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
 (e)  a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 

1977 or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006; or 

 (f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 

 
29.  Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968
 or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

 
29A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 

in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 

187



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 122	

to the applicant. 
 (2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
  (a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and  
  (b)is aged 18 or over, and  
  (c)continues to live with the applicant. 
 
30. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 

insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments; 
 (a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his 

home; or 
(b)  under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit 
Act 1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to– 

 (a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (b); 
and 

 (b)  meet any amount due by way of premiums on– 
  (i) that policy; or 

(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph(1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the 
applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(a). 

 
31.  Any payment of income which, by virtue of section 36 (income treated as capital) is to be treated 

as capital. 
 
32.  Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act (the Social Fund) or any local 

welfare provision as defined by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 
2013 

 
33.  Any payment under Part 10 of the Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
 
34.  Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
35.  The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 

income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 15.2 (calculation of 
income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 47.2(b) and paragraph 48.1(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 51(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 52(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraphs 16 and 17 shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

 
36. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 

Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 

188



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 123	

member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed 
a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under 
or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of; 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where; 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 
  (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or  
  (ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 
student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

 but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
 person’s death. 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where; 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a 
civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and  
(b) the payment is made either 
 (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or  

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

  but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 
37.  Any housing benefit. 
 
38.  Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

entitlement to housing benefit.  
 
39.  - 40.  not used 
 

189



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 124	

41.  Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 
for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 

 
42.  Not used 
 
43.  Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 

1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax).  
 
44.  Not used 
 
45. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
  (a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 

(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 

  (b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
 (c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment or repayment, mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1). 

 
46.  Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 

under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

 
47.  Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 

a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 
 
48. (1)Where an applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, 

£15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court 
order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former partner, or the 
applicant’s partner’s former partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to 
be taken into account in any week, all such payments such be aggregated and treated as if they 
were a single payment. 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of 
sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-
paragraph (1). 

 
48A. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 

young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner. 

 (2) In paragraph (1) 
‘child maintenance’ means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under; 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or the sheriff court books; 
‘liable relative’ means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 

190



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 125	

definition. 
 
49.  Not used 
 
50.  Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 
51.  Any guardian’s allowance. 
 
52. (1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Parts 2, 3 or 5 of the Act, any increase 

in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of the Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

 
(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, 
Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase 
in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of 
whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

 
53.  Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

 
54.  In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 

Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983(a) (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), 
the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

 
55 (1) Any payment which is 

 (a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or  
 (b)surviving civil partner of a person; 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and equal 
to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘the Dispensing Instruments’ means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 
1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

 
55A.   Any council tax reduction or council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 
 
56.   Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 16 of Schedule 3, where the 

applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that 
paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10 

 
56A.–56B.  Not used 
 
57.  Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 

12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

 
58. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 

assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person– 
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 

191



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 126	

(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 
by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity,  

in respect of which such assistance is or was received.  
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in respect of payments, which are paid to that person 
from the special account 

 
59. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect 

of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing 
or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member 
of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that applicant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 
the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

 
60.  Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 

amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

 
61.  In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

 
62.  Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 as amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
(Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2013. 

 
63. (1)Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers to or on behalf of the 

applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes, in England, a county council. 

 
64.  Not used 
 
65.  Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

(personal budgets and direct payments 
 
66.  Any payment of child benefit. 

 
  

192



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 127	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 5 

Capital to be disregarded41 
 
  

																																																								
41 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended 

193



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 128	

 
1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 

applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular 5, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling 
is situated; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 

 
A2.  Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 

be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
A3.  Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of payment. 

 
2. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant, which he intends to occupy as his home 

within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

 
3. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 

applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

 
4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part– 

(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

 
5.  Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 
 
6. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 

1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s 
capital. 

 
7. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 

applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub- leases or sub-tenancies. 
 
8. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes 

of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 

 (2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where– 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self- 
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business; 
 
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for council tax reduction is 
made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged 

194



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 129	

or re-engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable 
in the circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 
 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 
assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial 
activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

 
(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 

which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 
 

9. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of; 
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 7, 9 or 10 of Schedule 4; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit  
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance 
 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

 
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or 
allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph 
(3) as ‘the relevant sum’) and is 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 

 
sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the award of council tax reduction, for the remainder of that award if that is a longer 
period. 

 
 (3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph(2),’the award of council tax reduction’ means– 

(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the applicant; 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 

 
10.  Any sum 
 (a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 

possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
 (b)  acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that 

it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to 
be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it 
was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 

 

195



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 130	

11.  Any sum– 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 or section 338(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as a 
condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home,  

for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

 
12.  Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 

intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to council tax reduction or to 
increase the amount of that reduction. 

 
13.  The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 

such an annuity. 
 
14.  Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 

injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the 
right to receive any payment under that trust. 

 
14A. (1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any 

personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 
 
 (2) But sub-paragraph (1) 

(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
applicant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the applicant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of 
it to purchase an asset. 

 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

 
15.  The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
 
16.  The value of the right to receive any income, which is disregarded under paragraph 13 of 

Schedule 3 or paragraph 25 of Schedule 4. 
 
17.  The surrender value of any policy of life insurance.  
 
18.  Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 

any outstanding instalments. 
 
19.  Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

 
19A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 

in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 

196



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 131	

applicant. 
 
 (2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
  (a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and  
  (b) is aged 18 or over, and  
  (c) continues to live with the applicant. 
 
20.  Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act. 
 
21.  Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 

Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

 
22.  Any capital which, by virtue of sections 31 or 51 (capital treated as income, treatment of student 

loans) is to be treated as income. 
 
23.  Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
 
24. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 

Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Charitable 
Fund. 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a 
civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had 
not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by 
any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where– 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

197



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 132	

  (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was 
or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 
 (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or  

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under 
or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 
25. (1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 

home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, 
his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who 
is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

 
(2) In this paragraph ‘dwelling’ includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is 
impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on 
which the dwelling is situated. 

 
26.  Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 

period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

 
27.  Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 

taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, 
or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession 
and commence occupation of those premises. 

 
28.  Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 

alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or 
such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

 
29.  Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

198



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 133	

entitlement to housing benefit. 
 
30.  Not used 
 
31.  The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
 
32.  The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme  
 
33.  The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest 

in the property in respect of which rent is due. 
 
34.  Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 

Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
35.  Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 

Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt 
of the payment. 

 
36.  Not used. 
 
37.  Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 

be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 
38.  Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988

 or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local 
housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be 
used– 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be 
completed and the applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

 
39.  Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 

(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 54 or 55 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

 
40. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 

(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment, or repayment mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 

 
41.  Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 

199



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 134	

under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
41A.  Any payment made under Part 8A of the Act (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 
 
42.  Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 

scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for 
a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 
43.  Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 
44.  Not used 
 
45.  Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
 (Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 
 
46. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant satisfies the conditions in section 131(3) 

and (6) of the Act (entitlement to alternative maximum council tax reduction), the whole of his 
capital. 
(2) Where in addition to satisfying the conditions in section 131(3) and (6) of the Act the 
applicant also satisfies the conditions in section 131(4) and (5) of the Act (entitlement to the 
maximum council tax reduction), sub-paragraph (1) shall not have effect. 

 
47. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and 
  (a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 

under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
  (b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 

(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

 (2)  This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from; 
  (a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
  (b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 

is under the age of 18. 
 
48.  Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 

section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from 

 (a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
 (b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under 

the age of 18. 
 
49.  Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross.  
 
50.  Not used 
 
51.  In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-

employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

 
52. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 

payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

200



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 135	

 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in 
respect of which the award was made. 

 
53. (1) Any payment; 
 (a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to– 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980;  
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;  

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 
National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education 
or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act ;  
 
or in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to; 
 (a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;  
 (b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 

(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
53A.-53B. Not used 
 
54.  In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
55.  Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 

from the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
56.  Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 

February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of– 
(a)  the applicant; 
(b) the applicant’s partner;  
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or  
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

 
57. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or 

a member of an applicant’s family who is 
(a) a diagnosed person;  
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
  (c)  a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

201



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 136	

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s 
death; or 

  (d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person 
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at 
the date of the diagnosed person’s death. 

 (2)  Where a trust payment is made to; 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 
apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending– 
(i) two years after that date; or  
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person– 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or  
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

 (3)  Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s 
family who is– 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death, 
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of 
any trust payments made to that person. 

 (4)  Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to– 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and 
ending– 
 (i) two years after that date; or  
 (ii) on the day before the day on which that person 
  (aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or  
  (bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest.  

 (5)  In this paragraph, a reference to a person– 
(a) being the diagnosed person’s partner;  
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person’s family;  
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

 

202



Herefordshire Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 137	

 (6)  In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 
suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease;  

  ‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 

  ‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
58.  The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 

applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or 
the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner 
 (a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer;  
 (b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or  
 (c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

 during the Second World War. 
 
59 (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 

applicant or his partner relating to a service, which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes in England a county council. 

 
60.  Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 

2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

 
61.  Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
 
62.  Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 

14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 
 
63. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

(personal budgets and direct payments) 
 

203





Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Meeting: Council

Meeting date: Friday 15 February 2019

Title of report: Capital programme 2019/20 onwards and Capital 
Strategy

Report by: Leader of the Council

Classification

Open

Decision type

Budget and policy framework. 

Wards affected

All Wards

Purpose and summary

To approve the capital investment budget and capital strategy for 2019/20 onwards.

Appendix 3 provides details of the proposed additions to the existing capital programme that 
have been identified and the impact of approving these additions.

In line with CIPFA requirements a capital strategy has been written to reflect future direction 
for capital investment, the strategy is included at appendix 4 and in line with the guidelines 
requires Council approval. 

Recommendation(s)

That: 

(a) the proposed capital programme from 2019/20 attached at appendix 3 be approved;

(b) cabinet be delegated authority to add the two deferred projects (Countywide 
Investment in B, C & U roads and Countywide Investment in Strategic Road Network) in 
appendix 1 as funding becomes available; and

(c) the capital strategy document at appendix 4 be approved.

205

AGENDA ITEM 8

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Alternative options

1. It is open to Council to propose alternative capital investment options. Any amendment to 
proposals put forward by Cabinet, must have been discussed with the relevant service 
director to determine the context and possible consequences of the proposal and have 
secured confirmation from the chief finance officer that the action proposed is achievable; 
it would then either require the consent of the Leader of the Council or further 
consideration by Cabinet before a decision could be taken in accordance with the 
council’s constitution.

2. If delegated authority is not given to include the deferred projects then any future 
requirements would need to be requested in the same way as new projects. They have 
been included to allow flexibility to utilise capital funding if it becomes available. 

3. A capital strategy is required in accordance with statutory new guidance issued by 
CIPFA, discretion on content of the strategy but we have applied the guidelines within the 
draft.

Key considerations

4. The capital programme reflects capital investment generating benefit to the county for a 
period in excess of one year.

5. The current approved capital programme and forecast outturn is provided at appendix 2. 
The profiling of capital spend and forecasting against budget is reported to Cabinet in the 
quarterly performance report which includes an up to date forecast of the timing of capital 
spend.

6. The approved capital programme has been updated to show additional external funding 
secured for 2018/19 onwards. Since approval of the programme at July Council, an 
additional £28.16m has been added to the capital programme (some are included with 
indicative figures that will be updated once the final announcement has been made), as 
follows:

a) £734k Sustainable Energy in Public Buildings (SEPuBu) grant – this is funding to 
be issued as grants to match expenditure incurred for providing sustainable 
energy in public buildings

b) £3.6m Schools Maintenance grant, with £1.2m included for each year from 
2019/20.

c) Removal of original challenge fund estimated budget of £12.045m that was not 
achieved.

d) £8.581m Basic Needs Funding Grant Allocation, which is a grant, provided to 
create additional places in schools in line with estimated pupil numbers.

e) £5.559m Disabled Facility Grant that has been estimated at £1.853m each year 
from 2019/20, this grant contributes towards the costs of adaptations to allow 
disabled people to remain living in their own homes. 

f) £5.108m additional Department for Transport (DfT) grant recently announced to 
be spent on road improvements.

g) £1.461m additional European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) 
funding increase towards the ‘Fastershire’ project to improve broadband across 
the county.

h) £960k Warm Homes Fund to support fuel poor households with first time central 
heating systems across both Herefordshire and Shropshire; Herefordshire 
Council is the lead accountable body.

i) £14.203m Local Transport Grant that has been indicated on the DfT website, to 

206

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

determine the annual allocation for 19/20 and 20/21 at £12.272m.

7. As part of the 2019/20 budget setting process, priority capital investment needs for 
2019/20 have been identified.

8. All proposals were submitted on the basis of need, and are included in appendix 1 along 
with a description of what each proposal includes. Proposals have been scored based on 
the following criteria:-

a) Consequence of not being included in 2019/20, high score indicates urgency;

b) Legal need for inclusion, high score represents a legal need to include;

c) Member support secured, high score demonstrates support;

d) Linkage to the corporate plan (CP), high score where scheme provides high 
level of support;

e) Funded, high score where the proposal has secured external funding;

f) Deliverability, high score where the scheme is ready to go;

g) Risk, high score if the scheme decreases exposure to risk.

9. Each of the criteria above has been given an indicative mark out of 5, scoring may be 
used to prioritise spend if Cabinet/Council wish to limit capital investment or if the overall 
projects funding request proposed was above the current borrowing limits. Each 
proposal’s score out of a maximum score of 35 is detailed below:-

Scheme Consequence Legal 
need

Member 
support

Link to 
CP

Funded Deliverability Risk Total

Upgrade of 
Herefordshire 
CCTV System

3 2 2 4 3 3 4 21

Countywide 
Investment in B, C 
& U roads

4 3 3 3 3 4 4 24

Countywide 
Investment in 
Footways & Cycle 
Ways 

3 3 3 3 3 4 3 22

Countywide 
Investment in 
Strategic Road 
Network

4 4 4 3 3 4 4 26

Countywide 
Investment in Bridges

3 3 4 4 3 4 4 25

Estate Capital 
Programme 2019/22

3 2 2 3 3 3 3 19

School Transport 
Route Planning 
Software

2 1 2 3 2 3 2 15

Laptop/PC 
Replacement 
Programme

3 1 1 2 1 3 3 14

2nd Phase Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch 
development

3 3 3 3 2 3 3 20

207

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Scheme Consequence Legal 
need

Member 
support

Link to 
CP

Funded Deliverability Risk Total

Hereford 
Transport 
Package (HTP)

3 1 4 3 2 3 3 19

Hereford City 
Centre 
Improvements 
(HCCI)

2 1 3 3 2 3 2 16

Hillside 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 24

Corporate Fleet 
Procurement

2 1 1 4 3 3 3 17

Courtyard 
Development

2 1 3 3 4 3 2 18

Waverley House, 
Leominster

4 4 3 4 3 3 3 24

Dual use of 
Ledbury Children 
Centre

2 1 2 2 2 3 2 14

Temporary 
Replacement 
School 
Accommodation  
- Orleton

4 3 3 4 3 3 4 24

10. Approval of provision in the capital programme is not an approval to proceed. Each 
project will be subject to its own governance and business case before any spend may 
be incurred.

11. The proposals are recommended to Council by Cabinet and following consultation with 
all the scrutiny committees as referred to in the consultees section of this report.

12. There are two projects in appendix 1 shown as deferred projects, these were chosen due 
to the following reasons. The resurfacing of B, C & U roads in 19/20 has been deferred 
as a recent announcement of an additional grant of £5.108m from the DfT has allowed 
the council to carry out this maintenance work to the B, C & U road network during the 
last few months of 2018/19. Investment in the strategic road network of £9.2m will be 
added to the programme when funding becomes available. 

13. Therefore as a result of both of these schemes being deferred a recommendation has 
been made to allow Cabinet to reinstate these projects if other projects within the 
programme deliver under budget and create funding that could be reallocated to fund 
these projects, or additional funding becomes available.

14. The capital strategy has been developed in accordance with CIPFA guidelines. The 
purpose of the capital strategy is to tell a story that gives a clear and concise view of 
how the council determines its priorities for capital investment, decides how much it 
can afford to borrow and sets its risk appetite. It should not duplicate other more 
detailed policies, procedures and plans but instead sit above these and reference 
these to allow those seeking more detail to know where to find it. That said, it should 
provide sufficient detail so that it provides an accessible single source for the reader.

Community impact

15. In accordance with the adopted code of corporate governance, Herefordshire Council 
achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory and practical 
interventions. Determining the right mix of these is an important strategic choice to make 

208

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

to ensure intended outcomes are achieved. The council needs robust decision-making 
mechanisms to ensure our outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best 
use of resources while still enable efficient and effective operations.

16. The capital investment proposals support the overall corporate plan and service delivery 
strategies in place. The overall aim of capital expenditure is to benefit the community 
through improved facilities and by promoting economic growth. A specific community 
impact assessment, including any health and safety implications or corporate parenting 
responsibilities, will be included in the decision report required prior to any new capital 
scheme commencing and incurring spend.

Equality duty

17. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 
set out as follows:

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to -

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires the council to consider how it can 
positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 
demonstrate that it is paying ‘due regard’ in its decision making in the design of policies 
and in the delivery of services. An equalities impact assessment will be carried out prior 
to any new scheme commencing and will form part of the approval process required 
ahead of incurring capital spend.

Resource implications

18. The proposed additions at appendix 1 total £30.41m over the next three years. Of this, 
£6.75m is proposed to be funded by capital grants to be applied for as other grants 
received are added to the programme with approval of the Chief Finance Officer, and 
£1.28m by capital receipts. This leaves £22.38m requiring financing from prudential 
borrowing (PB). Of this the cost of financing £1.98m of prudential borrowing repayment 
costs will be funded from additional revenue streams generated by the investment, 
leaving additional costs  of  financing  £20.4m  prudential borrowing  to  be  funded  by 
the  corporate revenue budget, £7.43m being in 2019/20. The grant for the Courtyard will 
not be added to the capital programme as it will be received directly by them but was 
included below to enable review of the full business case. Where projects have been 
added but they depend on grant, if the grant request is not successful the full project 
including any match funding will be removed.

Scheme Total 
Request

£000

Capital 
Grant 

funding
£000

Redirected 
funding

£000

Capital 
receipt 
funding

£000

Funded by 
ROI £000

Corporate 
funded PB

£000

209

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Scheme Total 
Request

£000

Capital 
Grant 

funding
£000

Redirected 
funding

£000

Capital 
receipt 
funding

£000

Funded by 
ROI £000

Corporate 
funded PB

£000

Upgrade of 
Herefordshire CCTV 
System

184.0 134.0 50.0

Countywide Investment 
in B, C & U roads

2,500.0 2,500.0

Countywide Investment 
in Footways & Cycle 
Ways 

2,250.0 2,250.0

Countywide Investment in 
Bridges

5,000.0 4,000.0 1,000.0

Estate Capital 
Programme 2019/22

4,835.0 180.0 4,655.0

School Transport Route 
Planning Software

90.0 90.0

Laptop/PC Replacement 
Programme

1,156.0 1,156.0

2nd Phase Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch 
development

1,517.0 545.0 972.0

Hereford Transport 
Package (HTP)

3,500.0 3,500.0

Hereford City Centre 
Improvements (HCCI)

5,500.0 5,500.0

Hillside 1,050.0 1,050.0

Corporate Fleet 
Procurement

737.6 50.0 687.6

Courtyard 
Development

1,111.0 500.0 611.0

Waverley House, 
Leominster

468.0 468.0

Dual use of Ledbury 
Children Centre

60.0 60.0

Temporary 
Replacement School 
Accommodation  - 
Orleton

450.0 450.0

Total 30,408.6 6,750.0 0.0 1,280.0 1,977.6 20,401.0

19. The revenue implications of securing this new borrowing is supported in the current 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy which included an 
estimation of  £6.7m  new prudential borrowing  per  annum  over  the strategy  period. 
This means that the proposals have not resulted in an increase to the borrowing 
repayment costs in the revenue budget over the medium term financial strategy period 
and there is a surplus of £1.49m retained to use on other projects that may need funding 
before the end of the 3 year programme proposed.

20. The additional borrowing requirement is reflected in an update to the Treasury 
Management Strategy as shown in the report appearing elsewhere on Council’s agenda 
today with actual borrowing being secured as cash funding is required at the optimal 
interest rate available at that time.

21. Individual capital scheme resourcing implications will be detailed in the approval to 
precede decision. 

210

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

22. There has been a change in the funding required for the Cyber Centre where originally 
the £3.5m was to be funded by a £2m loan to be repaid and a £1.5m donation funded by 
capital receipts. During the set up phase due to tax implications when setting up the Joint 
Venture (JV) it is the best option to now fund this fully as a loan to the JV and therefore 
all £3.5m will be repaid to the Council over the terms of the loan. To enable the projects 
above to be funded and retain the surplus the amount identified from capital receipts has 
been allocated to the current £1.5m Hillside budget in the current programme, as detailed 
in appendix 3.

23. Procurement process for care provider for proposed new nursing care home facility at 
Hillside will commence; the decision to award the contract will come to Cabinet for 
approval.

24. Moving Hillside into Stage 1 of the Development and Regeneration Programme with 
Engie and commissioning Engie to undertake a package of pre-construction services at 
Stage 1 will be subject to a decision by the Cabinet Member for Contracts; the decision to 
award the contract will come to Cabinet for approval.

25. The Hereford Transport Package proposed budget of £3.5m in 19/20 will enable support 
of landowners who are impacted by the scheme to be provided subject to appropriate 
governance decisions.

26. The cabinet member decision for Hereford City Centre Transport Package (HCCTP) 
programme update taken on 23 November 2017 provided the full breakdown of the 
current forecast cost of the package. This remains within the £40.651m budget currently 
allocated in the capital programme.

HCCTP Forecast £'000
CLR Construction & Statutory Utilities                    12,592 
CLR Land Acquisition                    14,873 
CLR Professional Fees                       5,715 
Risk Allowance                          500 
Inflation Allowance                          480 

ATM & Transport Hub Construction and Statutory Utilities                       5,927 
ATM & Transport Hub Professional Fees                          563 
Total HCCTP Costs                    40,650 

27. The recent cabinet member decision in relation to land acquisition for SWTP was taken 
on 12 November 2018 detailed the current forecast breakdown of costs for the package, 
which is within the budget of £35m allocated within the current capital programme. 

SWTP
Revised Forecast 

£'000
A465 Public Realm                           3,000 
Belmont Cycle and Walking Schemes                           1,000 
Bullingham Cycle and Walking Schemes                           1,000 
A465/A49 Southern Link                         29,729 
Total SWTP Costs                         34,729 

211

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Legal implications

28. The council is under a legal duty to sensibly manage capital finance. The council is able 
to borrow subject to limits set by the council and any nationally imposed limits and it must 
do so in accordance with the prudential code on borrowing.

29. The Local Government Act 2003 allows the council to borrow for any purpose relevant to 
its functions under any enactment and for the purposes of the prudent management of its 
financial affairs.

30. Full Council is responsible for adopting the capital investment budget (referred to above 
as the capital programme) for the next financial year.

31. Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 precludes a councillor from 
voting on the Council’s budget if he or she has an outstanding council tax debt of over 
two months. If a councillor who is precluded from voting is present at any meeting at 
which relevant matters are discussed, he or she must disclose that section 106 applies 
and may not vote. Failure to comply is a criminal offence.

32. In accordance with the budget and policy framework rules in the constitution the scrutiny 
committees shall inform and support the process for making cabinet proposals to Council. 
General Scrutiny Committee considered the capital investment budget at appendix 1 at 
its meeting on 30 November, as referred to in the consultees section of this report. As 
such, the proposals in appendix 1 and 3 have been developed in accordance with the 
constitution.

33. Cabinet shall have regard to scrutiny recommendations and the responses to the 
consultation as have been made to it in drawing up or amending draft proposals for 
submission to Council, and its report to Council shall reflect those recommendations, 
comments, and the cabinet’s response to them.

34. Before approval of any individual scheme and associated spend it will be necessary to 
ensure that the need for the scheme arises out of a legal obligation on the council for its 
provision. Any scheme must be procured in accordance with the council’s own contract 
procedure rules and appropriate contractual documentation put in place to protect the 
council’s interests.

Risk management

35. Monthly budget control meetings give assurance to the Chief Finance Officer on the 
robustness of budget control and monitoring, to highlight key risks and to identify any 
mitigation to reduce the impact of pressures on the council’s overall position for example 
through phasing of spend, identifying and securing scheme changes or alternative 
funding sources.

36. Capital projects inherently give rise to risks in their delivery, both in time and budget. 
Individual scheme reporting and associated project boards exist to mitigate these risks. A 
review of capital policies and processes was undertaken in the last few months and a 
number of policies have been changed and published giving more clarity on governance 
and mitigating scheme risks.

37. The proposed additions have been reviewed in relation to risks, both in deliverability, 
costs, impact and associated scheme interdependencies. The individual scheme detail of 
the risks will be provided as individual schemes progress to approval to deliver.

212

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk


Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Karen Morris, Tel: 01432 261865, email: karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk

Consultees 

38. The proposed capital programme was presented to Cabinet on 31 January, all 
recommendations were supported, and no changes have been made to the 
recommendations.

39. The proposed capital investment budget additions and supporting business cases were 
presented to adults and wellbeing scrutiny on 27 November, children and young people 
scrutiny on 29 November and general scrutiny committee on 30 November 2018. The 
general scrutiny committee asked for clarity on whether proposed schemes 2-5 were just 
within the city; these are countywide schemes and the wording in appendix 1 now reflects 
this. A change has also been made to the capital strategy to reflect the recommendation 
to include our funding partners (health colleagues were referred to) and future funding 
regimes (that we know about, e.g. LEP).

40. General scrutiny resolved to recommend that; (a) the executive considers a strategy of 
committing the council’s capital budget to being allied to those of their funding partners 
and funding regimes. This has been reflected in the capital strategy, referenced above in 
point 38 and will maintained going forward as other funding opportunities occur. 

41. The proposals in appendix 1 align to the council’s corporate plan priorities consulted with 
as part of the budget consultation completed over the summer which was available for all 
residents to respond to either online or via a hard copy response. Part of the consultation 
asked residents whether they supported borrowing to fund capital investment, a summary 
of their responses is shown below.

42. Responses support borrowing to fund capital investment at the levels within this report, 
with 15% supporting borrowing more than an additional £22.3m and 37% supporting the 
suggested borrowing. Of the respondents who supported borrowing to invest in the 
county, two fifths supported infrastructure, a fifth public transport and a sixth library, 
museum, tourism or children’s services. There were also some suggestions for investing 
in affordable housing, new university and health improvement services. Therefore the 
current programme and the additional projects to be added are in line with the public 
perspective. 

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Proposed capital investment additions from 19/20 

Appendix 2 - Current status of approved capital programme 

Appendix 3 – Total proposed capital programme

Appendix 4 – Proposed Capital Strategy

Background papers

Proposals received.

213

mailto:karen.morris1@herefordshire.gov.uk




Capital Funding Requests for approval

No Scheme

Cu
rr

en
t C

ap
ita

l 
Pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
£0

00

Total 
19/20 
£000

Total 
20/21 
£000

Total 
21/22 
£000

Ca
pi

ta
l G

ra
nt

 fu
nd

in
g 

£0
00

Re
di

re
ct

ed
 fu

nd
in

g 
£0

00

Ca
pi

ta
l r

ec
ei

pt
 fu

nd
in

g 
£0

00

Fu
nd

ed
 b

y 
RO

I £
00

0

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Fu

nd
ed

 P
B 

£0
00

Total 
Request 

£000

Economy & place

1
Upgrade of Herefordshire CCTV 
System  48.0 136.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 134.0 50.0 184.0 

2
Countywide Investment in the 
Condition of B, C and U Roads  2,500.0 1,500.0 1,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 5,000.0 

3

Countywide Investment in the 
Condition of Footways and Cycle ways 
to promote Health and Wellbeing  750.0 750.0 750.0 2,250.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,250.0 

4

Countywide Investment in the 
Condition of the Strategic Network to 
Support the Local Economy, Secure 
Safety an Resilience  6,000.0 3,200.0 0.0 0.0 6,000.0 0.0 0.0 3,200.0 9,200.0 

5

Countywide Investment in the 
condition of Bridges to Ensure Access 
for Communities  1,000.0 1,500.0 2,500.0 4,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,000.0 5,000.0 

6 Estate Capital Programme 2019/2022  1,150.0 2,295.0 1,390.0 0.0 0.0 180.0 0.0 4,655.0 4,835.0 

7
School Transport Route Planning 
Software  30.0 30.0 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 90.0 90.0 

9

2nd Phase Gypsy & Traveller pitch 
development and enhancement of 
fixed assets  579.0 899.0 39.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 545.0 972.0 1,517.0 

215



10 Hereford Transport Package (HTP)  3,500.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,500.0 3,500.0 

11
Hereford City Centre Improvements 
(HCCI)  1,500.0 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,500.0 5,500.0 

13 Corporate Fleet Procurement  737.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 687.6 0.0 737.6 
14 Courtyard Development  392.0 719.0 0.0 500.0 0.0 0.0 611.0 0.0 1,111.0 
 Total Economy & Place 0.0 18,186.6 13,029.0 7709.0 6,750.0 6,000.0 230.0 1,977.6 23,967.0 38,924.6 
Corporate

8 Laptop/PC Replacement Programme  374.0 385.0 397.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,156.0 1,156.0 
16 Dual use of Ledbury Children Centre  60.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 60.0 60.0 
 Total Corporate 0.0 434.0 385.0 397.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,216.0 1,216.0 
Adult & Communities
12 Hillside 1,500.0 1,050.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,050.0 0.0 0.0 1,050.0 

15 Waverley House, Leominster 500.0 468.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 468.0 468.0 
 Total Adult and Communities 2,000.0 1,518.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,050.0 0.0 468.0 1,518.0 
Children and Families

17
Temporary Replacement School 
Accommodation  - Orleton  450.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 450.0 450.0 

 Total Children and Families 0.0 450.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 450.0 450.0 
 Total 2,000.0 20,588.6 13,414.0 8,106.0 6,750.0 6,000.0 1,280.0 1,977.6 26,101.0 42,108.6 

2 Request deferred - C & U Roads  -2,500.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2,500.0 -2,500.0 

4
Request deferred - Strategic Road 
Network  -6,000.0 -3,200.0 0.0 0.0 

-
6,000.0 0.0 0.0 -3,200.0 -9,200.0 

 
Total to be added to Capital 
Programme  12,088.6 10,214.0 8,106.0 6,750.0 0.0 1,280.0 1,977.6 20,401.0 30,408.6 

 Annual Funding Limit £6.7m         20,100.0  
 Previous year reallocation              291.0  
 Hillside change to Receipts Prior Year           1,500.0  
 Total Funding Available         21,891.0  
 Funding Variance Surplus/(deficit)         1,490.0  

216



Capital Funding Request Scheme Description

No Scheme

Sc
he

m
e 

De
sc

rip
tio

n

M
ee

t C
or

po
ra

te
 P

la
n

Economy & place

1 Upgrade of Herefordshire CCTV System
Renewal of digital recording system and matrix in CCTV control room and 
transmission links and cameras in the market towns of Ledbury, Leominster 
and Ross-on-Wye. A,B,C,D

2 Countywide Investment in the Condition of C and 
U Roads

The condition of the County's C and U roads is believed to have the greatest 
impact on both public satisfaction with highway maintenance and the number 
of third party damage claims made to the council. C,D

3
Countywide Investment in the Condition of 
Footways and Cycle ways to promote Health and 
Wellbeing

The condition of the County's footways and cycle ways has both a significant 
impact on public satisfaction with highway maintenance and the poor 
condition of certain footways and cycling routes is a barrier to many taking up 
walking and cycling as part of a healthier lifestyle. A,C,D

4
Countywide Investment in the Condition of the 
Strategic Network to Support the Local Economy, 
Secure Safety an Resilience

Further investment in addressing the condition of a corridor of routes that 
linked with the A44 from our border with Wales in the west across the County 
to our border with Worcestershire in the east.  For deliverability reasons the 
programme of work was extended to other routes, A438 Hereford to Ledbury 
and A417 Ledbury to the border with Gloucestershire (M50 J2).  Works to 
secure skid resistance across the strategic and resilience network. C,D

5 Countywide Investment in the condition of 
Bridges to Ensure Access for Communities

Programme of work to bring the overall condition of its bridges up to an 
acceptable level and as such reduce the whole life cost of maintaining the 
highway asset.  This investment will ensure access for communities. C,D

217



6 Estate Capital Programme 2019/2022

The proposed programme is in respect of identified and prioritised property 
projects to be delivered over a three year time line.  Some of the projects are 
based upon invest to save criteria which will be accomplished through the 
release of assets by way of optimising the corporate estate, hereby helping to 
meet savings targets.  These savings are accounted for in the MTFS savings 
and do not directly offset capital. D

7 School Transport Route Planning Software

Purchase of a route planning software tool for school transport service for a 
period of 3 years which coincides with the timescale during which is planned 
to review and tender all school transport services in the county, which 
currently is done manually.  Specialist route planning software has been 
demonstrated to achieve contracting efficiencies and savings in other local 
authority areas.  D

9 2nd Phase Gypsy & Traveller pitch development 
and enhancement of fixed assets

Fund the development of 9 new traveller pitches on existing LA traveller sites 
and further upgrade the existing sites owned/leased and managed by 
Herefordshire Council. A,B,C,D

10 Hereford Transport Package (HTP)

The HTP includes the proposed Hereford Bypass and a package of walking, 
cycling, public transport and public realm improvements.  Improve local and 
regional connectivity, encourage new business and job creation, enable 
delivery of future housing and educational development.  Reduce the impact 
of accidents and breakdowns on the city's roads and on air quality and noise 
within the city and improve road safety.  Encourage healthy lifestyles by 
improving public spaces and encouraging more people to walk and cycle. C,D

11 Hereford City Centre Improvements (HCCI)

Hereford City centre improvements are designed to support the local 
economy and enhance the retail environment.  The refurbishment scheme is 
part of the plan for Hereford to create an attractive, vibrant city centre to help 
support existing businesses and create new opportunities to encourage more 
visitors and retailers.  This request is for the delivery of the Broad Street/King 
Street improvements. C,D

13 Corporate Fleet Procurement Replace the existing and ageing corporate vehicle fleet with new, efficient and 
fit for purpose vehicles to ensure the resilient delivery of statutory services.

A,B,C,D

14 Courtyard Development To develop the facilities of The Courtyard building to enable new income 
streams to be pursued by the Courtyard Trust, with redesign the Front of C,D

218



house area to include an improved disabled access Box Office, and to add a 
retail facility for local arts and crafts, a new multi-purpose room to increase 
artistic productions and talent development, meeting and conference room 
provision and to extend the Cafe Bar area and first floor dining to create an 
outside terrace.

Corporate

8 Laptop/PC Replacement Programme Annual replacement of out of date and out of warranty computing devices 
covering period 2019-2022. A,B,C,D

16 Dual use of Ledbury Children Centre
To convert Ledbury Children Centre into part use of offices for additional 
MAO/spill over for locality team to address capacity and suitability at the 
Masters House. D

Adult & Communities

12 Hillside Redesign of Hillside into a nursing care facility for people with high level needs 
(dementia). A,D

15 Waverley House, Leominster

Remodel Waverley House to develop 11 additional nursing beds to expand 
capacity to support vulnerable adults in Herefordshire.  This will enable 
nursing beds to be sought and utilised for a rate lower than is currently being 
purchased.  This proposal will generate a potential saving of circa £100k pa 
which has already been built into the MTFS.  Therefore additional funds are 
now being requested to ensure that the budget will cover the revised cost of 
delivering this project. A,D

Children and Families

17 Temporary Replacement School Accommodation  
- Orleton

Removal of temporary modular buildings from Orleton CE Primary school and 
replacement with permanent build accommodation.  Currently using 
temporary accommodation as full time essential teaching basis.

B,D
Key:- Corporate Plan
A Enable residents to live safe, healthy and independent lives
B Keep children and young people safe and give them a great start in life
C Support the growth of our economy
D Secure better services, quality of life and value for money

219





Capital Programme position Dec 2018/19

Scheme Name Spend in 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total

Prior
Years

Total
Budget Forecast

Carry
Forward budget budget budget scheme

Capital
receipts

Grant &
funding

cont
Prudential
borrowing Total

Prior
Years

Total
Funding

budget
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Economy & Place
Hereford City Centre Transport Package 32,321 1,342 1,119 (223) 1,550 5,438 40,651 8,330 8,330 32,321 40,651
Local Transport Plan (LTP) 13,539 13,539 (0) 12,272 12,272 38,083 38,083 38,083 38,083
Hereford Enterprise Zone 8,318 4,758 2,638 (2,120) 2,924 16,000 7,682 7,682 8,318 16,000
Leisure Centres 9,639 413 45 (368) 10,052 413 413 9,639 10,052
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 503 120 89 (31) 1,511 2,134 1,631 1,631 503 2,134
Corporate Accommodation 2,362 509 189 (320) 2,871 509 509 2,362 2,871
E & P's S106 756 756 0 756 756 756 756
South Wye Transport Package 4,978 4,508 1,996 (2,513) 17,067 8,250 197 35,000 30,022 30,022 4,978 35,000
Marches business improvement grants 415 1,297 520 (777) 788 2,500 2,085 2,085 415 2,500
SEPUBU Grant 381 381 0 354 734 734 734 734
Property Estate Enhancement Works 826 1,414 597 (816) 500 2,740 1,914 1,914 826 2,740
LED street lighting 5,478 177 90 (87) 5,655 177 177 5,478 5,655
Herefordshire Enterprise Zone Shell Store 1,500 250 (1,250) 5,816 7,316 4,494 2,822 7,316 7,316
Cyber Security Centre Project 3,500 3,500 0 3,500 1,500 2,000 3,500 3,500
Development Partnership activties 300 5,300 250 (5,050) 35,000 40,600 10,000 30,300 40,300 300 40,600
Highway asset management 9,790 9,790 0 3,108 12,898 9,653 3,245 12,898 12,898
Hereford Transport Package 2,960 2,541 (419) 2,960 2,960 2,960 2,960
Ross Enterprise Park (Model Farm) 800 250 (550) 6,270 7,070 3,535 3,535 7,070 7,070
Three Elms Trading Estate (8) 125 99 (26) 358 475 483 483 (8) 475
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill 93 2 0 (2) 95 2 2 93 95
Customer Services and Library 10 123 123 (0) 133 123 123 10 133
Energy Efficiency 35 0 (35) 65 100 100 100 100
Warm Homes Fund 0 0 397 397 165 960 960 960 960
Strangford closed landfill site 20 11 0 (11) 31 11 11 20 31
Gypsy & Traveller Pitch development 29 331 0 (331) 360 331 331 29 360
Leominster cemetery extension 21 172 172 0 193 172 172 21 193
Tarsmill Court, Rotherwas 400 400 0 400 400 400 400
Car Parking Strategy 58 188 149 (39) 246 188 188 58 246
Car Park Re-Surfacing 116 115 (1) 116 116 116 116
Office and Car Park Lighting Replacement 135 80 (55) 165 300 300 300 300
Affordable Housing Grant 800 800 0 800 800 2,400 800 1,600 2,400 2,400
Community Housing Fund 150 30 (120) 150 150 150 150
Revolving Loans 99 101 101 0 200 101 101 99 200
Hereford Library (6) 351 136 (215) 345 351 351 (6) 345
Total E & P Capital Projects 65,456 56,104 40,745 (15,359) 88,945 27,157 362 238,025 23,768 86,788 62,013 172,569 65,456 238,025
Corporate
Fastershire Broadband 16,855 5,000 1,400 (3,600) 11,420 2,463 35,738 10,724 8,159 18,883 16,855 35,738
IT Network Upgrade 209 291 0 (291) 500 291 291 209 500
PC Replacement 70 290 290 (0) 360 290 290 70 360
Data Centre Consolidation 124 106 5 (101) 230 106 106 124 230
Children centre changes 370 300 (70) 370 370 370 370
Total Corporate Capital Projects 17,258 6,057 1,995 (4,062) 11,420 2,463 0 37,198 370 10,724 8,846 19,940 17,258 37,198
Children and Families

221



Colwall Primary School 6,430 320 293 (27) 6,750 70 250 320 6,430 6,750
Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 797 1,217 1,140 (77) 1,700 1,200 1,200 6,114 5,265 52 5,317 797 6,114
Peterchurch Primary School 7 0 0 0 493 5,000 5,500 305 5,188 5,493 7 5,500
Expansion for Marlbrook school 153 450 450 0 5,538 6,141 1,000 4,988 5,988 153 6,141
SEN & DDA school improvements 0 0 0 710 710 710 710 710
Brookfield School Improvements 6 0 0 0 1,298 1,304 113 1,185 1,298 6 1,304
C & F's S106 314 392 392 (0) 604 1,310 996 996 314 1,310
Special Provision Capital Fund 0 0 0 333 167 500 500 500 500
Healthy Pupils 0 0 0 99 99 99 99 99
Individual Pupil Needs 151 150 (1) 120 271 271 271 271
Short Breaks Capital 0 0 0 118 118 118 118 118
Blackmarston SEN 30 55 23 (32) 84 55 55 30 84
Replacement Leominster Primary 3 39 30 (9) 42 39 39 3 42
Basic Needs Funding 0 0 0 2,058 6,833 8,891 8,629 262 8,891 8,891
2 Year Old Capital Funding 5 101 75 (26) 106 101 101 5 106
Preliminary works to inform key investment
need throughout the county 200 200 (0) 1,815 2,015 2,015 2,015 2,015
Temporary school accommodation replacement 450 450 0 450 450 450 450
Total C & F Capital Projects 7,743 3,375 3,203 (172) 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405 375 16,822 15,464 32,661 7,743 40,405
Adults and Communities
Disabled facilities grant 1,853 1,853 (0) 1,853 1,853 1,853 7,412 7,412 7,412 7,412
Hillside 250 250 0 1,250 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500
Single Capital Pot 19 523 161 (362) 73 615 596 596 19 615
Private sector housing improvements 14 242 91 (151) 256 242 242 14 256
Total A & C Capital Projects 33 2,868 2,355 (513) 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783 242 8,008 1,500 9,750 33 9,783
Total 90,491 68,404 48,298 (20,106) 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411 24,755 122,342 87,823 234,920 90,491 325,411
Key:
RCCO
Project Complete

Total Approved Capital Programme July Council 95,374 145,315 48,078 8,484 0 297,250

Change in Capital Programme (4,883) (76,911) 70,350 36,190 3,415 28,161

Overall Change Financed By 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Prudential Borrowing -
Grant and funding contributions 2,664 (4,687) (22,920) (3,218) (28,161)
Capital receipts -

0 2,664 (4,687) (22,920) (3,218) (28,161)

222



Capital Programme position Apr 2019/20

Scheme Name Spend in 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total

Prior
Years

Total
Budget budget budget budget scheme

Capital
receipts

Grant &
funding

cont
Prudential
borrowing Total

Prior
Years

Total
Funding

budget
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Economy & Place
Hereford City Centre Transport Package 32,321 1,342 1,550 5,438 40,651 8,330 8,330 32,321 40,651
Local Transport Plan (LTP) 13,539 12,272 12,272 38,083 38,083 38,083 38,083
Hereford City Centre Improvements (HCCI) 1,500 2,000 2,000 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500
Hereford Enterprise Zone 8,318 4,758 2,924 16,000 7,682 7,682 8,318 16,000
Leisure Centres 9,639 413 10,052 413 413 9,639 10,052
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 503 120 1,511 2,134 1,631 1,631 503 2,134
Corporate Accommodation 2,362 509 2,871 509 509 2,362 2,871
E & P's S106 756 756 756 756 756
South Wye Transport Package 4,978 4,508 17,067 8,250 197 35,000 30,022 30,022 4,978 35,000
Marches business improvement grants 415 1,297 788 2,500 2,085 2,085 415 2,500
SEPUBU Grant 381 354 734 734 734 734
Property Estate Enhancement Works 826 1,414 500 2,740 1,914 1,914 826 2,740
LED street lighting 5,478 177 5,655 177 177 5,478 5,655
Estates Capital Programme 2019/22 1,150 2,295 1,390 4,835 180 4,655 4,835 4,835
Herefordshire Enterprise Zone Shell Store 1,500 5,816 7,316 4,494 2,822 7,316 7,316
Cyber Security Centre Project 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500
Development Partnership activties 300 5,300 35,000 40,600 10,000 30,300 40,300 300 40,600
Highway asset management 9,790 4,858 3,750 4,250 22,648 15,903 6,745 22,648 22,648
Hereford Transport Package 2,960 3,500 6,460 6,460 6,460 6,460
Ross Enterprise Park (Model Farm) 800 6,270 7,070 3,535 3,535 7,070 7,070
Three Elms Trading Estate (8) 125 358 475 483 483 (8) 475
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill 93 2 95 2 2 93 95
Customer Services and Library 10 123 133 123 123 10 133
Energy Efficiency 35 65 100 100 100 100
Warm Homes Fund 397 397 165 960 960 960 960
Strangford closed landfill site 20 11 31 11 11 20 31
Gypsy & Traveller Pitch development 29 331 579 899 39 1,877 1,848 1,848 29 1,877
Leominster cemetery extension 21 172 193 172 172 21 193
Tarsmill Court, Rotherwas 400 400 400 400 400
Car Parking Strategy 58 188 246 188 188 58 246
Car Park Re-Surfacing 116 116 116 116 116
Office and Car Park Lighting Replacement 135 165 300 300 300 300
Upgrade of Herefordshire CCTV 0 48 136 184 184 184 184
Schools Transport Route Planning 30 30 30 90 90 90 90
Courtyard Development 611 611 611 611 611
Corporate Fleet Procurement 738 738 50 688 738 738
Affordable Housing Grant 800 800 800 2,400 800 1,600 2,400 2,400
Community Housing Fund 150 150 150 150 150
Revolving Loans 99 101 200 101 101 99 200
Hereford Library (6) 351 345 351 351 (6) 345
Total E & P Capital Projects 65,456 56,104 98,239 36,878 8,071 264,750 22,498 93,038 83,757 199,293 65,456 264,750
Corporate

223



Fastershire Broadband 16,855 5,000 11,420 2,463 35,738 10,724 8,159 18,883 16,855 35,738
IT Network Upgrade 209 291 500 291 291 209 500
PC Replacement 70 290 374 385 397 1,516 1,446 1,446 70 1,516
Data Centre Consolidation 124 106 230 106 106 124 230
Children centre changes 370 60 430 370 60 430 430
Total Corporate Capital Projects 17,258 6,057 11,854 2,848 397 38,414 370 10,724 10,062 21,156 17,258 38,414
Children and Families
Colwall Primary School 6,430 320 6,750 70 250 320 6,430 6,750
Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 797 1,217 1,700 1,200 1,200 6,114 5,265 52 5,317 797 6,114
Peterchurch Primary School 7 0 493 5,000 5,500 305 5,188 5,493 7 5,500
Expansion for Marlbrook school 153 450 5,538 6,141 1,000 4,988 5,988 153 6,141
SEN & DDA school improvements 0 710 710 710 710 710
Brookfield School Improvements 6 0 1,298 1,304 113 1,185 1,298 6 1,304
C & F's S106 314 392 604 1,310 996 996 314 1,310
Special Provision Capital Fund 0 333 167 500 500 500 500
Healthy Pupils 0 99 99 99 99 99
Individual Pupil Needs 151 120 271 271 271 271
Short Breaks Capital 0 118 118 118 118 118
Blackmarston SEN 30 55 84 55 55 30 84
Replacement Leominster Primary 3 39 42 39 39 3 42
Basic Needs Funding 0 2,058 6,833 8,891 8,629 262 8,891 8,891
2 Year Old Capital Funding 5 101 106 101 101 5 106
Preliminary works to inform key investment need
throughout the county 200 1,815 2,015 2,015 2,015 2,015
Temporary school accommodation replacement 450 450 900 900 900 900
Total C & F Capital Projects 7,743 3,375 15,337 13,200 1,200 40,855 375 16,822 15,914 33,111 7,743 40,855
Adults and Communities
Disabled facilities grant 1,853 1,853 1,853 1,853 7,412 7,412 7,412 7,412
Hillside 250 2,300 2,550 2,550 2,550 2,550
Single Capital Pot (Inc Waverley House) 19 523 541 1,083 596 468 1,064 19 1,083
Private sector housing improvements 14 242 256 242 242 14 256
Total A & C Capital Projects 33 2,868 4,694 1,853 1,853 11,301 2,792 8,008 468 11,268 33 11,301
Total 90,491 68,404 130,124 54,779 11,521 355,319 26,035 128,592 110,202 264,828 90,491 355,319
Key:
RCCO
Project Complete

Current 18/19 Budget Position 90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 0 325,411
Excluded Courtyard Grant 392 108 500

Change in Capital Programme 0 0 12,089 10,214 11,521 30,409
Note 1

Overall Change Financed By 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Prudential Borrowing (8,667) (7,856) (5,856) (22,379)
Grant and funding contributions (2,142) (2,358) (2,250) (6,750)
Capital receipts (1,280) (1,280)

0 0 (12,089) (10,214) (8,106) (30,409)

224



                                                                   

 Capital Strategy

2018 – 2030

225



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

1

CONTENTS
Page

1. Executive Summary 2

2. Introduction and Background 4

3. Current Capital Programme & Long Term Plan 6

4. Capital Funding Streams 7

5. Capital Scheme Selection  9

7. Capital Monitoring 11

Appendix A – Detailed Current Capital Programme 12

Appendix B – Longer Term Capital Projects 14

Appendix C – Detailed list of Council strategies 15

Appendix D – Capital Funding Approval Process 17

            

226



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

2

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 An effective Capital Strategy is vital to ensure that the capital and revenue expenditure on the 

asset portfolio is directed efficiently and effectively to support service delivery in line with 
Herefordshire’s priorities. This strategy considers the capital investment needs across 
Herefordshire including acquisition, replacement and rental of land, buildings, and vehicles etc. 

1.2 Herefordshire Council has seen a number of schemes like the City Link Road and development of 
the Herefordshire Enterprise Zone enable long term plans for future development. This Capital 
Strategy will link to the Corporate Plan 2016-20 and its four themes, to capital planning and 
utilisation of resources. 

1.3 The Capital Strategy will be reviewed annually, identifying and matching resources to deliver 
service priorities over a three year period. Where possible a longer term view will be incorporated 
to ensure we have the vision on all future development opportunities. Also to enable long term 
planning on capital financing through the Treasury Management Strategy to ensure the best 
utilisation of resources and returns on investment.

1.4 Herefordshire Council has set up a Development Regeneration Programme in 2018 with two key 
partners Keepmoat and Engie that will be looking at a number of key developments over the next 
eight years to ensure they meet the needs of the population and meet the council’s priorities. 
Another key partner moving forward is NMiTE (New Model in Technology and Engineering), the 
new Herefordshire University and the council is keen to support their development in the coming 
years.

1.5 The challenges given to retaining property assets will be based on value for money and delivery of 
the councils strategic priorities and key service delivery. Surplus properties will either be recycled 
or disposed of in accordance with the corporate property strategy, and proceeds will be reinvested 
or retained within the capital receipts reserve until a decision on how to utilise the reserve is 
made. 

1.6 The Corporate Property Strategy sets out a framework for determining the capital property assets 
needed to enable future service delivery priorities to be realised. Whereas a series of key projects 
have already been delivered, the capital investment budget will further inform priorities and 
options for investment/re-investment in assets over the medium term.

1.7 The Capital Strategy encourages all areas of the council to put forward requests for capital 
funding to ensure assets are adequately invested and development opportunities are considered. 
However there are limited resources and these schemes may need to be profiled over a number 
of years where they are to be funded corporately. Invest to save schemes are encouraged to help 
the future pressures we are facing on revenue budgets with reduction in government funding over 
a number of years which is due to end by 2020/21.

1.8 The priority will be to ensure that any new capital scheme will seek external funding sources such 
as grants in the first instance. Although borrowing will be allowed within the current agreed limits 
of £6.7m per annum plus any previously approved Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) provision 
that has not been used. The £6.7m per annum limit is corporately funded borrowing, borrowing 
funded from revenue savings will be made available over and above this limit. The council will 
always seek external capital funding grants or donations where possible to lower the cost of 
borrowing but it is essential that resources are used effectively.

1.9 The process of allocating finite resources runs alongside delivery of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, through which capital funding, borrowing costs and innovative ways of utilising capital 
will be captured. The recommendation, scoring and ranking of projects lies with the Executive 
using a range of criteria to evaluate schemes, with referral to Council for approval. However the 

227



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

3

Council may add new schemes to the capital programme and in future new schemes can be 
added once approved at any full council meeting. 

1.10 The Capital Strategy aims to encourage innovation and remind officers of their ability to draw 
down funding to fund creative projects that demonstrate delivery of “spend to save / mitigate”.  
The governance arrangements in place must ensure robust monitoring to ensure projects deliver 
in terms of quality, cost and benefits. Following central government austerity measures the council 
is keen to promote capital investment to secure future local funding streams, council tax and 
business rates.

228



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

4

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 This Capital Strategy sets out Herefordshire’s approach to capital investment and disposal over 
both the short and long term, to deliver the core service priorities. The availability of resources to 
facilitate these priorities is also considered, reconciling the provision of statutory functions, service 
aspiration and policy context with limited resource availability.

2.2 The strategy incorporates the vision of the council, the overarching policy framework and explains 
the processes inherent in setting budgets and monitoring the programme. In the ever changing 
public sector climate, this document will be reviewed annually, but in essence is written to capture 
the longer term vision of service priorities.

2.3 The Capital Strategy links into the main council strategic documents: Corporate Property 
Strategy, Local Transport Plan, Digital Strategy and Local Development Framework, details are 
provided in appendix C. It demonstrates how the council prioritises, sets targets and measures 
the performance of its limited capital resources to ensure that it maximises the value of 
investment to support the achievement of its key cross-cutting activities and initiatives.  

 What it intends to do
o Assist in ensuring spending decisions meet key priorities
o Influence and encourage working with partners
o Encourage improvement and innovation
o Ensure revenue consequences and whole life costs are fully considered including return 

on investment
o Explains the fluctuating nature of capital funding
o Confirms surplus assets will be recycled or disposed of
o Implementation of three year planning and horizon scanning for longer term priorities.

 What it sets out
o Capital priorities and plans
o Links to key strategic documents
o How schemes are identified that meet priorities
o How schemes competing for limited resources are selected
o A summary of the capital programme
o Monitoring processes in place

2.4 The strategic objectives for our corporate assets are to:

 Optimise the contribution property makes to the council’s strategic and service objectives. To 
this end, assets should only be held that meet the objectives of the council, with clear 
evidence to demonstrate that they contribute to the key objectives.

229



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

5

 Prioritise investment in our operational assets to meet service delivery needs and to 
enhance the customer experience.  Assets that no longer deliver service priorities will be 
reviewed and either recycled to facilitate wider community agendas, or disposed of.

 Seek innovative, value for money solutions, through use of procurement and return on 
investment to deliver capital projects that satisfy service need.

 Ensure maximum return from our investment property and land holdings

 Use our assets to fund new developments, re-development and urban regeneration

 Ensure that existing and new property assets are managed in an efficient, sustainable and 
cost effective way in terms of their use of environmental impact and other resources, their 
property management and other running costs

230



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

6

3. CURRENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME & LONG TERM PLAN

3.1 The following table details the capital investment by directorate over the next four years, full 
programme details can be seen in appendix a. The consequences of investment are reflected in 
both the Medium Term Financial Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy. 

Approved Capital Programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Total Adults & Communities 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Total Children's & Families 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 0 37,198
Total Economy & Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025
Total Capital Programme 90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

Financed by
Capital Receipts 24,755
Grants & Funding 
Contributions 121,382
Prudential Borrowing 88,783
Funded in prior years 90,491
Total Funding 325,411

 
3.2 Long Term Capital Programme

Development Partnership

The council has put in place a development partnership with Keepmoat Homes Ltd and Engie 
Regeneration Ltd. The partnership will put in place a development and regeneration 
programme which will deliver housing and regeneration schemes. There is a current capital 
budget provision to enable the partners to work together to start delivering the programme of 
work. In appendix b there are details of the current business cases for both Keepmoat and 
Engie which lists a number of projects that will be considered in the long term. If the housing 
developments can be delivered and further developments included then the future 
programme may be funded from future capital receipts. However each project will be subject 
to the new project approval process that will ensure that all projects will be well defined 
before being approved onto the programme. There may be the possibility of funding some 
through the use of external investment from a third party. Although there is always the 
availability to fund an individual project through borrowing where the project can repay the full 
costs through a net revenue annual income when the project has been delivered. A decision 
paper will be sent to cabinet in this instance after a thorough due diligence has been carried 
out for the decision to be made. Therefore at this time it is difficult to include these projects 
into future long term budgets but there is a plan of work that will be considered and of course 
at any time new projects can be added by either partner or the council. Delivery of housing 
will be aligned to the Local Plan.

231



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

7

One Herefordshire

One Herefordshire consists of a number of health organisations and the council represented 
at a group meeting, they regularly meet to discuss opportunities of where the organisations 
can work together for the benefit of the County when delivering services. 

Herefordshire Council are committed to working with partner organisations such as Health 
and Higher Education establishments such as Hereford College of Arts and the creation of 
NMiTE. Where possible the council will support economic development opportunities to 
enable the services to grow and deliver the best service.

Infrastructure- future plans.

Herefordshire Council are investing in a number of road schemes and over the next few years 
these schemes will be progressed and included into the capital programme once fully 
developed and approved. The Hereford Transport Package, is identified as a priority within 
the council's Economic Vision, Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) and Local Transport Plan 
(LTP) and also within the Marches Strategic Economic Plan and Midlands Connect regional 
transport strategy. The delivery of the bypass will support the growth of the economy and the 
package of active travel improvements will help residents to live safe, healthy and 
independent lives.

4. CAPITAL FUNDING STREAMS

4.1 This section explains the source of resources available to fund the capital programme. Currently 
the majority of funding is allocated from central government, in part to fund specific schemes that 
deliver their national priorities. 

4.2 The following funding sources are available;

Borrowing

 Prudential borrowing (PB), has been allowed since 2004 when government relaxed the rules 
to allow councils to finance their own capital, providing they could demonstrate affordability 
to repay the debt and interest.   In a time of reduced resources PB may also be used to fund 
initiatives to deliver future revenue savings that can then fund the annual debt and interest 
cost. The Council has a number of invest to save schemes currently and there is no limit to 
the amount of additions to the capital programme in any year where all borrowing costs can 
be funded from revenue savings, as long as they can show they provide value for money, 
score highly enough in the review and are approved by Council.  

Grants

 Government currently provide many direct grants to fund initiatives that the Council should 
deliver as part as their statutory duty. The major capital grants are:

o Transport Grants – used to support the Hereford Integrated Transport Strategy capital 
programme, covering rural transport schemes, and road safety initiatives and highways 
maintenance. The Department for Transport has a process to allow local authorities to 
bid for revenue and capital funds to fund sustainable transport schemes.  

o Basic Needs Funding - the Government each year provide a grant based on future 
needs for the Council to provide enough school places.

o Schools Capital Maintenance Grant – is an amount allocated each year to help 
maintain schools in a good state of repair.

232

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200145/business/754/invest_herefordshire
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory_record/5548/local_plan_-_core_strategy
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory_record/5548/local_plan_-_core_strategy
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200136/travel_and_transport/220/local_transport_plan/1
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200136/travel_and_transport/220/local_transport_plan/1
https://www.marcheslep.org.uk/what-we-do/economic-plan/
https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/


HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

8

o Devolved Formula Capital – is an amount allocated each year to primary and 
secondary schools to be spent on priorities in respect of buildings, ICT and other capital 
needs.  It may be combined with capital funding from other sources or saved to fund a 
larger project. 

o Disabled Facilities Grant - contributes towards the cost of providing adaptations and 
facilities to enable disabled people to continue living in their own homes. The central 
government grant funding towards this has been protected from cuts by the coalition 
government in the Corporate Spending Review (CSR), in fact this grant has increased 
annually.

o Broadband – the Council continues to roll out ‘Fastershire’ to its most rural areas, 
utilising available grant funding. 

 External funding bodies distribute funding for projects that satisfy their key criteria and 
objectives and the Council secure these via a bidding process. 

Regional Growth Fund (RGF)

 Local Enterprise partnerships (LEPs) will coordinate bids for RGF, they were introduced by 
the coalition government to replace regional development agencies. Their aim is to provide 
strategic leadership and long term vision for private sector led economic renewal working in 
partnership to deliver public service delivery, through the LEP area. The LEP are currently 
providing a number of grants for SWTP, Cyber Centre through Wolverhampton University 
and NMiTE. Further projects will be taken to the LEP to seek funding for delivery.   

Developer Contributions S106

 Developer contributions continue to support the capital investment need associated with 
developments throughout the Country.

Capital Receipts

 The Council maintains a register of surplus property assets. These are reviewed by the 
Corporate Property Board, taking account of the prevailing market conditions. 

 The public sector landscape of service delivery is now subject to major change. Annual 
reviews of the Council operational property portfolio will identify potential opportunities for 
remodelling and co-location, through alternative methods of service delivery. Some assets 
will be deemed surplus to requirement, not delivering Council priorities or key objectives, and 
thus progress through the Disposal Policy adopted in the Corporate Property Strategy. 

 The Council must prioritise disposal for capital receipts against competing demands for 
affordable housing land to build social housing and Community Asset Transfers.

 The disposal of surplus assets is critical to deliver the Councils Capital Strategy. Specifically 
the delivery of the property maintenance and office accommodation review requires receipts 
to fund PB costs. Capital receipts are deemed a central receipt and so held corporately to 
use to deliver wider strategic priorities. Until receipts retained in the capital receipt reserve 
are allocated into the capital programme they reduce the overall borrowing costs of the 
Council.

 At the end of 2017/18 financial year there was a balance of £42.5m in the capital receipts 
reserve. There are a number of schemes within the capital programme to be funded by 

233



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

9

capital receipts, the balance will be retained to deliver enhanced investment on the use of 
these reserves, once business cases have been submitted for approval at Council.

Revenue 

 Both revenue budget and reserves can be used to fund the capital programme, either via a 
one off contribution to fund a project in its entirety or an annual sum to repay PB debt costs. 
Ongoing use of revenue should be assessed in relation to the impact on council tax via the 
use of assessing its prudential indicators. Funding is available throughout the year to fund 
both revenue and capital innovative projects that will deliver future year on year savings.

4.3 The table in 3.1 shows the expected resources available to fund the capital programme over 
the next four years.

4.4 The programme is heavily reliant on grants and contributions to fund capital expenditure and 
these are usually issued with tight timeframes and restrictions attached. The grants may also 
demand regular monitoring returns to demonstrate the funding has been used in accordance with 
the plan.

5. CAPITAL SCHEME SELECTION 

5.1 The capital programme is delivering a number of projects to enable the council to deliver the 
objectives within the corporate plan 2016-20. Therefore projects that are added to the capital 
programme are for this purpose and not added as an investment purely to generate income. 
There are currently no expectations in the MTFS for capital investment to generate a revenue 
surplus to balance the budget. Although in the long term there are advantages in easing the 
removal of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) in generating a net revenue position it is not the priority 
when reviewing projects to add to the capital programme.

5.3 All capital schemes go through a stage process that is detailed in the capital guidance policy, 
summary details can be seen in appendix d.

5.4 Schemes are continually reviewed against evolving priorities and may be subject to change, 
redesign or cancellation, to ensure they continue to deliver the requirements of the council and 
provide value for money.

5.5 Capital funding will be initially allocated to council priorities, and approved by council. The capital 
guidance policy details the process for the capital funding requests to ensure provision in the 
capital programme at any time as long as they are approved at a Council meeting or otherwise as 
delegated by full Council. This is necessary so that services are able to request capital funding at 
the appropriate time, when sufficient information is available to make an informed decision and 
opportunities are not lost due to waiting.  

Rationale for Investment

5.6 Capital investment is integral to revenue budget forecasting. Capital investment must be directed 
to obtain maximum benefit from available resources looking at efficiencies, effectiveness, and 
economically. Revenue implications must be considered for all capital schemes, this could 
represent the cost of borrowing, future running costs and projected benefits.  

5.7 Funding above the corporate limit of £6.7m is available to support capital investment that gives a 
clear pay back through revenue budget savings.

234



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

10

5.8 Efficiency and Value for Money is demonstrated within the decision reports for each project and 
reviewed at the conclusion of a project. Value for Money on the build of a project is secured and 
demonstrated through utilisation of the Procurement Policies and Framework for managing capital 
projects.

5.9 The council has discretion to make loans for a number of reasons, including economic 
development. These loans will be treated as capital expenditure. In making loans the council is 
exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults in repayments. The council, in making these 
loans, must therefore ensure they are prudent and has fully considered the risk implications, with 
regard to both the individual loan and that the cumulative exposure of the council is proportionate 
and prudent. The council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken and adequate 
security is in place. The business case will balance the benefits and risks. All loans will be subject 
to close, regular monitoring.

5.10 The Corporate Property Strategy Board will see the regular review of assets to ensure they are 
still required to deliver council priorities, alternatively assets may be recycled or deemed surplus 
to requirement. Sale of assets will deliver revenue savings and generate corporate capital receipts 
for investment in future capital schemes.  Future building requirements will need to assess the 
concept of sale and leaseback and multi-use, shared approach for occupation.

235



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

11

6. CAPITAL MONITORING

6.1 Capital investment requirements are significant, however, capital finances are limited at £6.7m, 
due to the repayment of interest in the revenue budget for corporately funded projects and 
central government current funding levels are expected to reduce. Herefordshire Council must 
have a prudent approach to capital allocation and monitoring to ensure scarce resources are 
used to maximum effect. 

6.2 Due to the significant changes that occur during capital programme implementation and 
forecasting it is considered prudent to maintain:

 a reserve list of deferred capital schemes that can be accelerated or delayed as required

 a contingency sum that should be included in all projects, due to the impact an increase in 
inflationary capital costs can have over the length of the project.

6.3 As part of a project’s business case, an  option appraisal is carried out and a whole-life costing 
review is undertaken before a capital scheme is included in the capital programme, this is then 
developed to detailed costings so an informed decision to spend can be made.  

6.4 Once a capital scheme is included in the capital programme it is monitored following appropriate 
project management methodology, using experienced officers in each service area, through a 
number of project boards. 

6.5 In addition to significant individual projects, the capital programme also includes the council’s 
annual Highways and Transportation capital programme of investment.  This is guided by the 
Local Transport Plan to invest in the improvement and maintenance of the local transport 
infrastructure.  Targets relating to highway maintenance standards, road safety and sustainable 
transport ensure that expenditure is in line with corporate plan objectives and outcomes 
expected by central government.  This programme is managed through the Major Infrastructure 
Delivery Board and through the commissioning arrangements with Balfour Beatty.

6.6 Directorate capital programme monitoring working groups meet monthly to review capital 
budgets and schemes, feeding issues into the Executive and reports to Cabinet. Quarterly the 
capital finance position is reported and any issues with project delays and delivery will be raised.

236



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

12

 Appendix A

Approved capital programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Adults and Communities
Disabled facilities grant - 1,853 1,853 1,853 1,853 7,412
Hillside - 250 1,250 - - 1,500
Single Capital Pot 19 523 73 - - 615
Private sector housing 
improvements 14 242 - - - 256
Total Adults & Communities 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Children's & Families 
Colwall Primary School 6,430 320 - - - 6,750
Schools Capital Maintenance 
Grant 797 1,217 1,700 1,200 1,200 6,114
Peterchurch Primary School 7 - 493 5,000 - 5,500
Expansion for Marlbrook school 153 450 5,538 - - 6,141
SEN & DDA school improvements - - 710 - - 710
Brookfield School Improvements 6 - 1,298 - - 1,304
CYPD's S106 313 392 605 - - 1,310
Special Provision Capital Fund - - 333 167 - 500
Healthy Pupils - - 99 - - 99
Individual Pupil Needs - 151 120 - - 271
Short Breaks Capital - - 118 - - 118
Blackmarston SEN 30 55 - - - 85
Replacement Leominster Primary 3 39 - - - 42
Basic Needs Funding - - 2,058 6,833 - 8,891
2 Year Old Capital Funding 5 101 - - - 106
Preliminary works to inform key 
investment - 200 1,815 - - 2,015
Temporary school accommodation 
replacement - 450 - - - 450
Total Children's and Families 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Corporate
Fastershire Broadband 16,855 5,000 11,420 2,463 - 35,738
IT Network Upgrade 209 291 - - - 500
PC Replacement 70 290 - - - 360
Data Centre Consolidation 124 106 - - - 230
Children Centre Changes - 370 - - - 370
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 - 37,198
Economy and Place
Hereford City Centre Transport 
Package 32,321 1,342 1,550 5,438 - 40,651

237



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

13

Local Transport Plan (LTP) - 13,539 12,272 12,272 - 38,083
Hereford Enterprise Zone 8,318 4,758 2,924 - - 16,000
Leisure Centres 9,639 413 - - - 10,052
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 503 120 1,511 - - 2,134
Corporate Accommodation 2,362 509 - - - 2,871
ECC's S106 - 756 - - - 756
South Wye Transport Package 4,978 4,508 17,067 8,250 197 35,000
Marches business improvement 
grants 415 1,297 788 - 2,500
SEPUBU Grant - 381 354 - 735
Property Estate Enhancement 
Works 826 1,414 500 - - 2,740
LED street lighting 5,478 177 - - - 5,655
Herefordshire Enterprise Zone 
Shell Store - 1,500 5,816 - - 7,316
Cyber Security Centre Project - 3,500  - - 3,500
Development Partnership activties 300 5,300 35,000 - - 40,600
Highway asset management - 9,790 3,108 - - 12,898
Hereford Transport Package - 2,960 - - - 2,960
Ross Enterprise Park (Model 
Farm) - 800 6,270 - - 7,070
Three Elms Trading Estate (8) 125 358 - - 475
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill 93 2 - - - 95
Customer Services and Library 10 123 - - - 133
Energy Efficiency  - 35 65 - - 100
Warm Homes Fund - - 397 397 165 960
Strangford closed landfill site 20 11 - - - 31
Gypsy & Traveller Pitch 
development 29 331 - - - 360
Leominster cemetery extension 21 172 - - - 193
Tarsmill Court, Rotherwas - 400 - - - 400
Car Parking Strategy 58 188 - - - 246
Car Park Re-Surfacing - 116 - - - 116
Office and Car Park Lighting 
Replacement - 135 165 - - 300
Affordable Housing Grant - 800 800 800 - 2,400
Community Housing Fund - 150 - - - 150
Revolving Loans 99 101 - - - 200
Hereford Library (6) 351 - - - 345
Total Economy and Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025

Total  90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

238



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

14

Appendix B

Herefordshire Council, Development & Regeneration Programme
Development and Regeneration Programme Business Plan - Net Cash Flow - Utilising Council Funding

14 December 2018
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

Project Type Total 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030+
£'000

Capital Projects Gap Fund Contribution - DRP Budget
Station Approach Student Accomodation 17,500 1,000 10,000 6,500
Country Bus Station Mixed Use 30,000 1,000 8,000 15,000 6,000
Hereford Football Ground Accom and ground imp 18,000 4,000 5,000 2,000 2,000 5,000
Hereford Enterprise Zone Office and Industrial 13,000 3,000 5,000 5,000
Ross Enterprise Park Industrial 6,050 50 3,000 3,000
Merton Meadows Mixed Use 35,000 200 4,800 5,000 10,000 10,000 5,000
Essex Arms Site NMiTE accomodation 25,000 5,000 5,000 10,000 5,000
Hereford Business Quarter City centre office 100 100
Leominster Retail Retail 15,050 50 7,000 8,000
Business Incubation Incubator space 4,050 50 2,000 2,000
Franklin Barnes Building NMiTE or commercial 2,500 2,500
Berrington Street Regeneration Resi led mixed use 5,150 150 2,000 3,000
Racecourse, Sport & Leisure Hotel, conf and leisure 100 100
Hereford River Quarter Leisure led mixed use 2,000 1,000 1,000
Three Elms and Chatsworth Play Fields Commercial 5,000 1,000 2,000 2,000

178,500 1,000 18,400 30,600 49,500 42,000 27,000 7,000 3,000 0 0 0 0 0

Residential Sites Land Value Contribution -77,125 -2,157 -5,942 -3,377 -3,758 -6,304 -8,820 -7,534 -4,763 -4,763 -4,227 -25,480

101,375 1,000 18,400 28,443 43,558 38,623 23,242 696 -5,820 -7,534 -4,763 -4,763 -4,227 -25,480
1,000 19,400 47,843 91,401 130,024 153,266 153,962 148,142 140,608 135,845 131,082 126,855 101,375

Total
Cumulative

239



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

15

Appendix C

Strategies that Support the Capital Strategy

 The Corporate Property Strategy 

Contains the Corporate Property Programme for the council. 
It mainly focuses on proposals to:

o Rationalise the current corporate administrative estate
o Introduce better ways of working to drive efficiency, for example home working
o Support the organisation to meet its carbon reduction targets. 

The overarching strategy contains a suite of strategies and policies covering:

 Asset Disposal Policy sets out the legal and policy framework about the approach to the 
disposal of assets.  Buildings, where flexible, will be developed into multi use facilities and the 
overall stock level reduced.  The challenges given to retaining assets will be based on value 
for money and delivery of Council’s strategic priorities and key service delivery. Surplus 
properties will either be recycled or disposed of and proceeds will be reinvested. The disposal 
of land will be allowed after consideration of sacrificing a capital receipt for transfer of the land 
for use as social housing.

   Community Asset Transfer Policy complements the Asset Disposal Strategy in that it provides 
a policy framework to evaluate the benefits of the disposal of assets to the Third Sector at 
below market value for unlocking the value contained in underutilised surplus public assets.  .

 Local Transport Plan

This plan covers the policies and delivery plans relating to transport and explains how these 
contribute to the wider local agenda. It considers the transport needs both of people and of 
freight and includes the strategic countywide programme of transport infrastructure 
improvements and maintenance.  The aim is to ensure the maintenance, operation, 
management and best use of the county’s transport assets.

Annual funding available for local transport has over recent years been in the region of £10 
million to support capital maintenance of the highway asset and support road safety and 
transport network improvements. In future the level of funding for transport capital 
investment will be constrained, but remain a significant component of the overall capital 
programme, reflecting the importance of maintaining this important asset and its crucial 
contribution to the economic vitality of the county.

 Schools Capital Investment Strategy

This strategy has been developed in consultation with Schools, Children and Families Service.  
Its principles support the vision, objectives and targets of the Herefordshire Council.  In so 
doing, it supports and contributes to the council’s Capital Strategy.  It specifically seeks to 
ensure that assets that do not support the objectives of the Herefordshire Council are disposed 
of through sale to realise a capital receipt or through community asset transfer, that investment 
is clearly linked to specific objectives and targets; and that assets such as schools, children's 
centres, youth centres and children's multi-agency offices are corporate resources, available to 
accommodate delivery of wider services to the community from across Herefordshire. The 
strategy seeks to join up future capital funding streams wherever possible to ensure that best 
value is achieved from the funding available and to maximise the benefits realised from the 
investment.

240



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

16

 Digital Strategy

The Digital Strategy aims to ensure that Herefordshire Council has a stable, fit-for-purpose and 
sustainable information, communications and technology platform and service organisation 
capable of supporting the drive to deliver efficient and effective services to the citizens, 
directorates, businesses, organisations, members and public sector partners within 
Herefordshire. It will assist Herefordshire Council to make more flexible use of technology to 
achieve efficiencies, access services and share workspace and resources with partner agencies.

 Medium Term Financial Strategy

This document is approved annually, based on the budget setting requirements of the council 
and reflects on the strategic and operational intentions over a three-year time frame. It covers 
the capital programme and funding streams including the affordability of prudential borrowing 
and use of capital to facilitate revenue budget savings in future years.

 Treasury Management Strategy

This strategy sets out the council’s overall approach to treasury management operations 
including the capital programme and links to the borrowing limits, minimum revenue provision 
in relation to debt repayment and prudential indicators.

241



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018-2030

17

Appendix D

The following diagram therefore illustrates the various stages of the approval process:

Feasibility budget approved by Executive

Executive recommend scheme for 
approval by members

Member approval to proceed with capital 
expenditure

Stage 3 – Project Delivery
A decision (cabinet or cabinet member) will be required to proceed with 

spending the capital budget and delivery of the project. A full business case 
will be required alongside the decision report for any capital projects that 

require Cabinet approval, except for those fully funded by grant allocations.
Throughout this phase budget monitoring and reporting will be required, 

along with appropriate project management and governance (see section 5 
of this policy).

Stage 2 – Capital Programme Budget Allocation
The project will be considered by full council 

Stage 1 – Develop Outline Business Case
Responsible officer develops robust whole life costs, outlines the strategic 

business need and the proposed project governance structure.
At this stage support should be sought from corporate services such as 
property, legal and in particular finance, to ensure that assumptions are 

reasonable and proposals are deliverable.

Stage 0 – Project Conception
Service area identifies responsible officer.

Project mandate is completed and submitted to Capital Strategy Board if 
feasibility budget required.

242



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Meeting: Council

Meeting date: Friday, 15 February 2019

Title of report: Setting the 2019/20 budget and updating the 
medium term financial strategy and treasury 
management strategy 

Report by: Leader of the council

Classification

Open

Decision type

Budget and policy framework.

Wards affected

(All Wards);

Purpose and summary

To approve the 2019/20 budget and associated medium term financial strategy and 
treasury management strategy.

The proposed budget reflects current and expected service delivery requirements and the 
local government settlement announced on 29 January. To deliver a balanced budget there 
is a need to deliver savings of £3.7m in 2019/20 and to increase council tax by 4.9% 
(inclusive of 2% adult social care precept). 
The medium term financial strategy (MTFS), attached at appendix 1, has been extended to 
2021/22 based on current assumptions on future funding and service requirements.  
The treasury management strategy, attached at appendix 4, includes the proposed borrowing 
and investment strategy, the council’s expected minimum revenue provision and the associated 
prudential indicators which demonstrate that the council’s proposed capital investment budget is 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

243

AGENDA ITEM 9



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Recommendation(s)

That:
(a) the following be approved;

a. the council tax base of 68,826.03 Band D equivalents
b. an increase in core council tax in 2019/20 of 2.9%
c. an additional precept in respect of adult social care costs of 2% applied to 

council tax in 2019/20 resulting in a total council tax increase of 4.9%; 
increasing the band D charge from £1,443.95 to £1,514.70 for Herefordshire 
Council in 2019/20;

d. the balanced 2019/20 revenue budget proposal totalling £151.1m, subject to 
any amendments approved at the meeting, specifically:

e. the net spending limits for each directorate as at appendix 3
f. the medium term financial strategy (MTFS) 2019/2022 at appendix 1 be 

approved; and
g. the treasury management strategy at appendix 4 be approved, this includes 

ratifying including the top five UK building societies as approved investment  
counterparties.

 

Alternative options

1. It is open to Council to determine alternative spending proposals or strategies; however, 
given the legal requirement to set a balanced budget, should additional expenditure be 
proposed compensatory savings proposals must also be identified. If it is proposed to 
spend less, the impact on service delivery of the proposed reduction should be 
considered.

2. Council can propose a council tax increase above the referendum principle levels. This is 
not recommended as doing so would require the increase to be subject to a local 
referendum, incurring additional costs to the council.

Key considerations

3. The medium term financial strategy (MTFS), attached at appendix 1, has been 
updated to reflect current spending and savings plans. It reflects the financial 
settlement announced on 29 January and the current understanding of future years 
funding and responsibilities.

4. The impact of continuing reductions in central government funding to councils means 
that Herefordshire Council is required to make further savings to balance its budget 
for 2019/20 and in future years. 

5. The council continues to direct its resources to deliver key services required by 
residents whilst delivering savings demonstrating efficiency and good use of 
resources. A balanced, deliverable 2019/20 budget is proposed which, subject to any 
approved amendments, is recommended for approval.

6. For 2019/20 it is assumed that council tax will increase by 4.9% in total, 2.9% general 
increase in council tax plus a ring-fenced increase of 2% in relation to the adult social 
care precept. This is the maximum increase permitted, a higher increase would 
require the support of a referendum.

244



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

7. The council tax base for 2019/20 has been calculated at 68,826.03 band D equivalent 
properties, this is 226.46 additional properties, a growth of 0.95%. This is higher than 
expected generating £343k of additional income. This has used to part fund the 
budget changes as detailed in appendix 7.

8. The financial settlement on 29 January confirmed no change to council tax thresholds. 
For rural councils like Herefordshire, the settlement confirmed an increase in the Rural 
Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) fund by £16m from £65m to £81m in total, £1.0m for 
Herefordshire. This additional budget will be used to support rural service delivery 
across the county as detailed in the budget change log attached at appendix 7.

9. There was no change in the New Homes Bonus national baseline from 0.4%, it was 
anticipated that this would increase which would decrease the grant allocated but the 
settlement confirmed that this wasn’t the case, the additional grant funding of £147k is 
allocated as detailed in the change log attached at appendix 7.
 

10. The settlement also confirmed funding from the business rate Levy Account surplus. 
£180m has been distributed pro rata to individual councils in line with their Settlement 
Funding Assessment, £0.5m for Herefordshire. This is to be received in 2018/19 and 
has been allocated as shown in the change log attached at appendix 7.

11. Consultation on the Fair Funding Review (FFR) proposals and the future system 
design of Business Rates Retention (BRR) are underway. The FFR seeks views on 
the approach to measuring the relative needs and resources of councils, which will 
determine new baseline funding allocations. The consultation proposes to simplify the 
assessment of relative needs and considers the type of adjustment that will be made 
to take account of the relative resources available. It also proposes a set of principles 
that will be used to design potential transitional arrangements. The BRR system 
design will cover the broad building blocks of the new base funding system. The 
deadline for submissions is 21 February. The outcome of these consultations is 
expected to be implemented, alongside 75% business rates retention, from 2020/21. 
Herefordshire will contribute to the working groups to ensure its thoughts are included 
in the responses. 

12. The financial settlement on 29 January 2019 confirmed the figures published under 
the provisional settlement in December 2018 with an announcement of an additional 
precept flexibility for Northamptonshire County Council and funding for EU exit 
preparations in 2018-19 and 2019-20 with Herefordshire receiving £105k per year with 
an additional £10m being retained to respond to specific local costs that may only 
become evident in the months after leaving the EU. The 2019/20 announcement is the 
final year of the Spending Review 2015, funding allocations beyond 2019-20 remain 
subject to the outcome of the Spending Review. 

13. In addition to the settlement, councils have been notified of additional special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) funding in response to the number of pupils 
with education, health and care plans increasing by 35% from 2013/14. An extra 
£350m, of which £100m will fund additional specialist places in schools, will be 
provided over 2 years, 2018/19 and 2019/20. This totals £380k for Herefordshire in 
2019/20 with the places funding distribution yet to be confirmed.  

14. Going forward a 4.5% annual council tax uplift has been assumed. Herefordshire 
accepted the four year funding settlement in 2016/17 and this forms the funding 
assumptions for 2019/20. The four year settlement included the following for 2019/20:

245



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Four year deal funding update 2019/20

£000

Revenue Support Grant 620

Rural Services Delivery Grant 4,093

Total 4,713

Additional Rural Services Delivery Grant announced in provisional 
settlement

1,008

Revised total 5,721

15. The council has delivered a balanced outturn in previous financial years by delivering 
savings as central government funding has been reduced. Since 2010 the council has 
delivered £90m of savings and its revenue support grant has decreased from £60.1m 
in 2011 to £0.6m in 2019/20.

16. The recent Local Government Association corporate peer challenge report noted:

“The Council has successfully delivered financial savings in recent years, while at the 
same time increasing general and earmarked reserves. As a result, the Council is in a 
relatively secure financial position over the medium term which provides a platform to 
realise the county’s ambitions”

17. The treasury management strategy, attached at appendix 4, details the management of 
the council’s investments and cash flows; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.

246



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

18. An investment was made on 17th October 2018 to a building society that is not on the 
Council’s approved Counter Party List. The investment is considered not a risk to the 
Council therefore the revised treasury management strategy includes the top five UK 
Building Society’s as approved counterparties. An internal audit has been completed to 
review the controls in place at the time and how these did not prevent this investment 
from being actioned. The review has ascertained where controls need to be enhanced to 
prevent a repeat of this type of investment from being actioned in future. All internal audit 
recommendations have been adopted.

19. The Herefordshire Council Corporate Plan 2016 – 2020 was adopted by Council in 
February 2016. This identified four priorities:

 Keep children and young people safe and give them a great start in life

 Support the growth of our economy;

 Enable residents to live safe, healthy and independent lives; and

 Secure better services, quality of life and value for money.

20. The vision adopted by Cabinet in September 2016 of: ‘People, organisations and 
businesses working together to bring sustainable prosperity and well-being for all, in the 
outstanding natural environment of Herefordshire.’ builds on the four corporate plan 
priorities and has helped to inform the development of our 2019/20 budget and medium 
term financial strategy.

Base budget proposed and savings plan 

21. A base budget exercise was completed ahead of proposing the budget below, this 
involved:-

a. Costing the service based on the current requirement of the service, not 
rolling over previous budgets. 

b. Income budgets to reflect income receivable. 
c. Pay budgets to reflect actual establishment, deleting vacant posts without 

budget or not planned to be filled. 
d. Performance in 2018/19.
e. Projected population pressures.
f. 2018/19 policy changes.

22. This has identified £20.0m of funded pressures over the draft MTFS period, £10.3m in 
2019/20.

2019/20 funded 
pressure

Adults and 
communities

Children 
and 

families

Economy 
and 

place

Corporate 
services

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Pay inflation 329 503 497 74 1,403
Contract inflation 774 118 892
Looked after 1,800 1,800

247



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

2019/20 funded 
pressure

Adults and 
communities

Children 
and 

families

Economy 
and 

place

Corporate 
services

Total

children
Demographic 
growth

945 945

Depravation Of 
Liberty Safeguards 
and restructure 
impact

609 609

Fee uplift 1,000 1,000
Delayed transfer of 
care & market 
support

2,385 2,385

Market forces 500 500
Allowances 338 338
Post Ofsted 
management 
capacity

100 100

Agency cover 186 186
Feasibility of 
capital investment 
budget requests

100 100

Support the autism 
strategy 

20 20

TOTAL 5,288 3,427 1,371 192 10,278

23. The current savings plans require £8.0m of savings over the MTFS period, £3.7m in 
2019/20. The saving requirement represents the funding gap arising from increased cost 
pressures and funding assumptions. In 2018/19 the service is spending significantly 
above budget, the base budget for 2019/20 has been uplifted to reflect the expectation 
that this level of spend will continue. Savings have been reviewed and only those that are 
determined to be deliverable, albeit with possible service delivery consequences, are 
included. A summary is provided below with the detail shown in appendix 2. 

2019/20 
savings 

requirement

Adults and 
communities

Children 
and 

families

Economy 
and 

place

Corporate 
services

Central Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Workforce & 
service delivery 
savings 

600 171 66 837

Maximise 
income 
generation 

100 100

Manage 200 200

248



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

2019/20 
savings 

requirement

Adults and 
communities

Children 
and 

families

Economy 
and 

place

Corporate 
services

Central Total

inflation and 
secure contract 
efficiencies
Efficiency 
savings

357 73 200 630

Reduced cost 
of Transport 

225 225

Phased 
removal of 
subsidies to 
parish councils

100 100

Waste & 
Sustainability

30 30

Accommodation 
Strategy

360 360

Procurement 
Savings

500 500

Public Realm 
savings

200 200

Base budget 
realignment

280 220 500

TOTAL 700 200 2,223 359    200 3,682

Base revenue budget 2019/20

24. The draft budget for 2019/20 is set out below. In addition to the budget presented will be 
the use of one off reserve funding (previously approved by Cabinet at £1.1m for children 
and families).  In addition if pressures in looked after children and special educational 
needs or legal services continue in 2019/20 then those costs will have first call on the 
centrally held contingency budget. This budget is held for in year unbudgeted costs 
arising.

25. The base budget below shows the net budget position; the gross budget will include the 
dedicated school grant (£124m), housing benefit subsidy (£40m), improved better care 
fund (£5.7m) and public health grant (£9.0m).

2018/19 
revised 

base

Funded 
pressures 

Savings Other 
Adjust

2019/20 
draft base 

budget

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Adults and communities 52,087 5,288 (700) 175 56,850

Children and families 23,958 3,427 (200) 500 27,685

249



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

2018/19 
revised 

base

Funded 
pressures 

Savings Other 
Adjust

2019/20 
draft base 

budget

Economy and place 29,149 1,371 (2,223) 297 28,594

Corporate services 14,321 192 (359) 932 15,086

Sub Total 119,515 10,278 (3,482) 1,904 128,215
Centrally held budgets 24,609 (200) (1,637) 22,772

EU exit preparations 
(one off)

105 105

Total 144,124 10,278 (3,682) 372 151,092

Financed by
Revenue support grant 5,370 624

Business rates 33,256 35,950

Council tax 98,445 104,251

New homes bonus 2,540 2,176

Rural sparsity delivery 
grant

4,093 5,101

Collection fund surplus 
(one off)

420 500

Adult social care grant 
(one off)

- 2,385

EU exit preparations - 105

Total 144,124 151,092

Financing

26. The 2019/20 net budget requirement is financed by retained funding from council tax 
(£104m) and business rates (£36m) as shown in the table above. Assumptions include a 
4.9% increase in council tax (2.9% general increase and 2% adult social care precept) 
and business rate reliefs being funded via a central government grant. Central 
government funding is included as announced in the settlement. The autumn budget 
announcement of additional social care grant funding is also included at £2.4m. 

Reserves

27. The council’s revenue reserves are split between general reserves and earmarked 
reserves that are held for certain purposes.

28. Part of the council’s general reserve is held as a strategic reserve to cover emergency 
events such as unforeseen financial liabilities or natural disasters. This reserve is 
maintained at a minimum level of between 3% and 5% of the council’s net revenue 

250



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

budget, currently £7.9m (5%).
29. The remainder of the council’s general reserve is held to support one-off and limited on-

going revenue spending and for smoothing the impact of the late delivery of savings 
plans.

30. The council’s earmarked reserves include school balances and are held to meet identified 
spending commitments.

31. The base budget excludes funding from reserves. Cabinet completed their annual review 
of earmarked reserves in June 2018. Reserves are expected to increase in 2018/19 from 
savings in minimum revenue provision costs and additional monies announced in the final 
2018/19 settlement.

32. The projected reserve balances are as follows:

Balance as 
at

Strategic 
Reserve

Financial 
Resilience 
Reserve

Collection 
Fund 

Reserve

School 
Balances

Earmarked 
Reserves

Total 
Reserves

 £m £m £m £m £m £m
31-Mar-18 7.9 5.1 1.5 8.1 43.1 65.7
31-Mar-19 7.9 11.2 1.5 7.9 35.6 64.1
31-Mar-20 7.9 16.3 1.5 7.7 32.7 66.1

33. The financial resilience reserve was previously entitle the minimum revenue provision 
reserve and will ensure that the council is able to respond to financial pressures that may 
arise from external pressures and challenges outside of the control of the council as well 
as funding spend to save projects to support the delivery of savings required.  

34. The proceeds from the sale of the smallholding estate is recorded in the capital receipts 
reserve and can only be used to fund capital expenditure. The time delay between the 
receipt and spend of funds is shown in the treasury management strategy as delaying the 
need to borrow. 

35. At the end of 2017/18 financial year there was a balance of £42.5m in the capital receipts 
reserve. There are a number of schemes within the capital programme to be funded by 
capital receipts, the balance will be retained to deliver enhanced investment on the use of 
these reserves, once business cases have been submitted for approval at Council.

Pension deficit

36. The proposed budget includes a pension deficit contribution as agreed at the last tri-
annual valuation dated 31 March 2016. In 2019/20 the council will pay £5m (excluding 
schools) towards the deficit as agreed with the pension fund actuaries.

37. The outcome of the next tri-annual valuation as at 31 March 2019 will be reflected in the 
proposed 2020/21 budget. Current pension fund performance indicates that the deficit 
cost may reduce therefore a savings target of £400k per annum from 2020/21 is included 
in appendix 2. 

251



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Capital Investment Budget 

38. The medium term financial strategy attached at appendix 1 and treasury management 
strategy attached at appendix 4 includes the impact of the proposed capital investment 
budget presented elsewhere on the Council agenda today.

Community impact

39. The MTFS and budget demonstrate how the council is using its financial resources to 
deliver the priorities within the agreed corporate plan.

40. The council is committed to delivering continued improvement, positive change and 
outcomes in delivering our key priorities. 

41. In accordance with the principles of the code of corporate governance, Herefordshire 
Council is committed to promoting a positive working culture that accepts, and 
encourages constructive challenge, and recognises that a culture and structure for 
scrutiny are key elements for accountable decision making, policy development, and 
review.

Equality duty
42. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set 

out as follows:
 A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to -
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it.
43. A service specific equality impact assessments for the service specific budget proposals 

will be completed as required to assess the impact on the protected characteristic as set 
out in the Equality Act 2010.

44. The duty means that the potential impact of a decision on people with different protected 
characteristics is always taken into account when these assessments have been 
completed then we will consider mitigating against any adverse impact identified.

45. Where additional governance is required to support possible service delivery changes the 
impact of a decision on people with different protected characteristics will be fully detailed 
and disclosed in that governance decision report.

252



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Resource implications

46. The financial implications are as set out in the report. The ongoing operational costs 
including, HR, IT and property resource requirements are included in the proposed budget 
and will be detailed in separate governance decision reports as appropriate.

Legal implications

47. When setting the budget it is important that councillors are aware of the legal 
requirements and obligations. Councillors are required to act prudently when setting the 
budget and council tax so that they act in a way that considers local taxpayers. This also 
covers the impact on future taxpayers.

48. The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires a council to set a balanced budget. To 
do this the council must prepare a budget that covers not only the expenditure but also 
the funding to meet the proposed budget. The budget has to be fully funded and the 
income from all sources must meet the expenditure. 

49. Best estimates have to be employed so that all anticipated expenditure and resources are 
identified. If the budget includes unallocated savings or unidentified income then these 
have to be carefully handled to demonstrate that these do not create a deficit budget. An 
intention to set a deficit budget is not permitted under local government legislation.

50. The council must decide every year how much they are going to raise from council tax. 
The decision is based on a budget that sets out estimates of what is planned to be spent 
on services. Because the level of council tax is set before the year begins and cannot be 
increased during the year, risks and uncertainties have to be considered, that might force 
higher spending more on the services than planned. Allowance is made for these risks 
by: making prudent allowance in the estimates for services; and ensuring that there are 
adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn out to be insufficient.

51. Local government legislation requires the council’s section 151 officer to make a report to 
the full council meeting when it is considering its budget and council tax. The report must 
deal with the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in 
the budget proposals (the statement is contained within the risk management section of 
this report). This is done so that members will have authoritative advice available to them 
when they make their decisions. As part of the Local Government Act 2003 members 
have a duty to determine whether they agree with the section151 statutory report.

52. The council’s budget and policy framework rules require that the chairmen of a scrutiny 
committee shall take steps to ensure that the relevant committee work programmes 
include any budget and policy framework plan or strategy, to enable scrutiny members to 
inform and support the process for making cabinet proposals to Council.

53. Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 precludes a councillor from 
voting on a calculation which might affect the calculation of the council’s budget, if he or 
she has an outstanding council tax debt of over two months. If a councillor is present at 
any meeting at which relevant matters are discussed, he or she must disclose that 
section 106 applies and may not vote. Failure to comply is a criminal offence.

253



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Risk management

54. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the section 151 officer to report to 
Council when it is setting the budget and precept (council tax). Council is required to 
take this report into account when making its budget and precept decision. The report 
must deal with the robustness of the estimates included in the budget and the adequacy 
of reserves. This report is attached at appendix 6.

55. The budget has been updated using the best available information; current spending, 
anticipated pressures and the four year grant settlement. 

56. The most substantial risks have been assessed as part of the budget process and 
reasonable mitigation has been made. Risks will be monitored through the year and 
reported to cabinet as part of the budget monitoring process.

57. There are additional risks to delivery of future budgets including the delivery of new 
homes, Brexit, government policy changes including changes to business rates and 
unplanned pressures. We are maintaining a general fund reserve balance above the 
minimum requirement and an annual contingency budget to manage these risks.

58. Demand management in social care continues to be a key issue, against a backdrop of a 
demographic of older people that is rising faster than the national average and some 
specific areas of inequalities amongst families and young people. Focusing public health 
commissioning and strategy on growth management through disease prevention and 
behaviour change in communities is critical for medium term change. In addition re- 
setting our relationship with communities focussing services on areas of greatest 
professional need will support the MTFS.

59. The risks and mitigating action is shown in Appendix M4 of the MTFS, copied below:-

Key Financial Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions

1 Unexpected events 
or emergencies
By its nature, the financial 
risk is uncertain

Low High  Council maintains a Strategic 
Reserve at a   level of between 
3% and 5% of its revenue 
budget for emergency purposes

 Level of reserve is currently 
£7.9m (5% of  budget)

2 Increasing demand for 
Adult Social Care
Demand for services continue 
to increase as the population 
gets older

High Medium  Demand led pressures 
provided for within our 
spending plans

 Activity indicators have been 
developed and will be reported 
quarterly alongside budget 
monitoring 

254



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Key Financial Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions

3 Potential Overspend and 
Council does not deliver 
required level of savings 
to balance spending plans 
Challenging savings have 
been identified within our 
spending plans.

Medium Medium  High risk budget areas have 
been identified and financial 
support is targeted towards 
these areas

 Regular progress reports on 
delivery of savings to 
Management Board and 
Cabinet

 Budget monitoring 
arrangements for 
forecasting year end 
position in place and 
forecast balanced

 Plan to review level of cover 
available from General 
reserves in place

4 Potential overspend on 
Special Education Needs the 
duty to secure provision 
identified in Education, Health 
and Care plans means an 
overspend may occur

Medium Medium  This is a national issue with 
lobbying to increase central 
government funding

 A review of the application of 
the matrix is underway 

5 Increase in Pension 
Liabilities Our contributions 
are influenced by market 
investment returns and 
increasing life expectancy.

Medium Low  Spending plans reflect the level 
of pension contribution required 
as identified by the Pension 
Fund’s Actuary in 2016 for the 
next three years

6 Failure to fund sufficient 
school places and 
sufficient support There is 
an increasing requirement to 
provide sufficient school 
places
There is a rising number of 
children requiring specific 
support

Medium High  Provision has been made in 
the capital programme to 
increase school places

 Directorate plans in place to 
manage and mitigate 
demand

 Ongoing reviews of children 
already under care of 
council

7 Volatility in future funding 
streams in Government 
funding streams and 
Business Rates Retention

High Medium  Prudent assumptions 
made in budget 

 Ongoing review of 
developing business 
rate changes

 Business case to support 
future investment decisions

255



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Key Financial Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions

8 Brexit
There may be an impact on 
the economic and social 
programmes of the Council 
and its partners, including: 
interest rates and exchange 
rates impacting on the 
affordability of the council's 
capital programme; and 
restriction on the free 
movement of people which 
could lead to skills gaps and 
adverse impact on the 
workforce.

Medium Medium  Continue to engage and 
participate on key legislation.

 Debt profile is monitored and 
managed to avoid exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations. 

 The Capital Programme will 
include a risk assessment of the 
cost of borrowing, and it will be 
reviewed constantly to ensure 
its continued affordability.

60. We retain the risk of on-going litigation claims which may result in one off costs falling 
due; a risk mitigation reserve of £3.6m has been set aside to fund this.

Consultees
61. The council’s 2019/20 budget consultation took place from 5 July 2018 until 21 

September 2018. A short survey was developed to seek views on a variety of proposals, 
including should the council increase its borrowing to enable more investment across the 
county and a 4.9% total increase in council tax. The consultation was open to all, 
including parish councils, health partners, the schools’ forum, business ratepayers, 
council taxpayers, the trade unions, political groups on the council and the scrutiny 
committees. Meetings were specifically held with businesses, parish councils and 
representatives from the voluntary sector to promote the consultation and information 
was also sent to partner bodies.

62. There were a total of 227 responses to the consultation; 225 responses to the standard 
questionnaire and 2 responses as emails. Although these respondents are not 
statistically representative of the general population, their views are an important 
element of the wider evidence base against which the budget proposals should be 
considered. The consultation report is attached at appendix 5. Key outcomes of the 
consultation include:-

a. 51% of respondents thought the council’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 
4.9% was about right or not enough;

b. 37% of respondents supported the council increasing its borrowing requirement 
by £22.3m to increase the level of investment in the county, and 15% supported 
borrowing more;

c. 78% of respondents agreed that funding should support employing more 
children’s social workers and to support more help for children, young people and 
families at an early stage;

d. 56% of respondents stated they did not agree with the allocation of Council Tax 
spend between services as set out in the consultation, however there was no 
consensus on alternative ways of allocating resources. 

e. 49% of respondents supported ‘keeping the maximum discount of 84%’ for the 
low income households Council Tax discount.

f. 44% supported to ‘continue to award the same level of business rate discount’
63. In response the proposed budget:-

a. Includes a 4.9% proposed council tax increase.
b. Council borrowing for capital investment will be maintained as proposed.

256



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

c. The council’s local council tax reduction scheme and business rate discounts will 
be maintained with the same parameters in 2019/20.

d. £1.6m will be used to employ more children’s social workers and to support more 
help for children, young people and families at an early stage. Cabinet 
proactively recognised the need to invest in this important area of the council’s 
business. When Ofsted inspected this service area in June 2018 they 
acknowledged this investment and highlighted the need to increase capacity of 
social workers and managers to cope with the need for services and the volume 
of social worker caseloads.

64. The proposals in this report have been reviewed by the three scrutiny committees 
(adults, children’s and general). Their recommendations and Cabinet’s agreed 
responses are shown in the table below:-

Scrutiny committee Recommendation Response
General scrutiny 
committee

The executive continues to 
work with other local 
authorities, especially the 
more rural authorities, to lobby 
government and local MPs, on 
business rates and fairer 
funding settlements and 
requests that the earliest 
notice possible be given of 
funding changes

The settlement included 
consulting on the future 
funding regime, officers will 
ensure the councils views 
are submitted in the 
responses

Adults and wellbeing 
scrutiny committee

Would like to see a strategy 
for investment in technology 
enabled care and a budget 
allocated to take this forward

Agreed, officers will develop 
spend to save proposals to 
be funded from the financial 
resilience reserve

Adults and wellbeing 
scrutiny committee

Would like to see a review of 
current commissioning of 
domiciliary care, especially in 
our more rural parts of the 
county

Agreed programmes, such 
as Home First, focus on 
keeping people in their 
homes, preventing 
admissions and facilitate 
transfer from hospital 
settings.

Adults and wellbeing 
scrutiny committee

Would like consideration given 
to a percentage of section 106 
contributions being allocated 
for adult social care

This is to be considered by 
the relevant officers as part 
of the planning application 
process

Adults and wellbeing 
scrutiny committee

Would like to see the spend to 
save business cases and the 
timing of when financial 
savings will be delivered

Agreed, these will be 
published alongside the 
decision report when 
prepared

Children and young 
people scrutiny 
committee

Supports investment in early 
help, edge of care and 
placement stability services 
and requests that business 
cases are shared with the 
scrutiny committee when 

Agreed, projects were being 
established to investigate 
alternative methods to meet 
needs more effectively 
earlier to lessen the need for 
placements

257



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Josie Rushgrove, Tel: 01432 261867, email: jrushgrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Scrutiny committee Recommendation Response
available

Children and young 
people scrutiny 
committee

Supports the separate 
monitoring and reporting of 
overspends on the LAC 
budget from the children and 
families budget

Agreed, this is in progress

65. The proposed budget, medium term financial strategy and treasury management strategy 
were presented to Cabinet on 31 January and all recommendations were supported. 
Changes since the Cabinet meeting are disclosed in appendix 7.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – medium term financial strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 – 2021/22
Appendix 2 – proposed savings detail
Appendix 3 – detail of proposed 2019/20 budget 
Appendix 4 – treasury management strategy
Appendix 5 – budget consultation outcome
Appendix 6 – section 25 report
Appendix 7 – change log

Background papers
None identified.

258



1

  

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

2019/20 – 2021/22

259



2

 Herefordshire Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Introduction

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) outlines the measures Herefordshire 
Council has taken since 2010 to deliver savings, and describes the 2019/20 budget 
proposal and financial forecasts up to 2021/22.

Rising to the financial challenge

Central government introduced measures in 2010 which has seen a reduction in the 
revenue support grant from £60.1m in 2011/12 to £5.3m in 2018/19 (reducing further to 
£0.6m in 2019/20). Over the same time period council services have seen increasing 
demand, particularly for adult social care and looked after children.

The council has risen to this financial challenge, by:-
 Delivering substantial savings of £90m
 Delivering services differently 
 Increasing its financial reserves 
 Consistently delivering balanced budgets

This has been achieved by the council:-
 Delivering organisational efficiencies including consolidating staff in fewer 

buildings, reducing the number of staff including agency staff, and introducing staff 
mandatory unpaid leave days

 Changing models of service delivery to focus on self-help, and early help and 
intervention to reduce the demand for higher cost interventions

 Reconfiguring household waste collection and grass cutting services
 Expanding the use of technology to enable people to contact the council through 

the website at a time that suits them, with a reduction in the need for face to face 
and phone contact to use resources for people who need them most 

 Supporting greater community involvement in services such as community 
libraries, litter picks, environmental and bio-diversity initiatives

 Maximising commercial opportunities ensuring where possible, fees are set at 
levels which secure full cost recovery, and exploring further income generation 
from fees and charges, for example car parking

 Reviewing the council’s smallholdings estate

At the same time the council has:-
 Significantly improved adult social care client satisfaction 
 Worked with external partners to produce a business case which secured £23m of 

government funding to establish a new university in Hereford
 Delivered a new livestock market and a privately funded retail and leisure 

development on the old livestock market site
 Progressed plans for a by-pass for Hereford city and delivered major infrastructure 

improvements to the city and county road network

260



3

 Opened the new Hereford City Link Road which provides development 
opportunities for business, residential and public sector organisations.

 Successfully delivered the Hereford Enterprise Zone, creating over 600 jobs
 In partnership with Worcestershire County Council opening a new energy from 

waste plant
 In partnership with Gloucestershire County Council implementing the ‘Fastershire’ 

programme delivering broadband to 80% of the county

2019/20 budget proposal

The MTFS proposes a balanced 2019/20 budget achieved by increasing council tax 
charges by 4.9%, inclusive of a 2% adult social care precept and committing to delivering 
savings of £3.7m.

2019/20 savings requirement Total

£’000

Workforce and service delivery savings 837

Maximise income generation 100

Manage inflation and secure contract efficiencies 200

Efficiency savings 630

Reduced cost of transport 225

Phased removal of subsidies to parish councils 100

Waste & Sustainability 30

Accommodation strategy savings 360

Procurement savings 500

Public realm savings 200

Base budget realignment 500

TOTAL 3,682

Going forward

The council is recognised as being in a relatively secure financial position over the medium 
term which provides a platform to realise the county’s ambitions. 

It has increased its revenue reserves in recognition of the challenges yet to come. There 
are changes anticipated to national funding of local government which we are continuing 
to assess the impact of. We have growing demographic pressures, particularly relating to 
adult social care and children with disabilities, and the council needs to address the 
barriers to growing our economy.

261



4

The latest external audit opinion concluded that the council is financially sustainable for 
the foreseeable future. This MTFS demonstrates how the council will continue to utilise its 
financial resources to support its corporate plan objectives and realise its ambitions.

262



5

1. Overview 

1.1. The council’s gross annual revenue expenditure is in the region of £340m, this is 
funded by a combination of council tax, business rates, specific grants, rents, third 
party contributions and income from sales, fees and charges. Approximately £80m is 
ring-fenced to schools. This leaves the council with around £260m to meet its wide 
range of statutory requirements and to meet the needs of our residents, businesses 
and communities.

1.2. The council’s capital expenditure on its physical assets is separate from revenue 
expenditure on day to day services and totals approximately £50m each year. This 
expenditure is funded from a combination of specific grants, third party contributions, 
capital receipts from sale of assets, contributions from the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and borrowing.  

2. Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2.1. This Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covers the financial years 2019/20 to 
2021/22 and demonstrates how the council will maintain financial stability, deliver 
efficiencies and support investment in priority services, whilst demonstrating value for 
money and maintaining service quality. 

2.2. 2020/21 onwards is currently an estimate as we are awaiting the outcome of the next 
Government comprehensive spending review.

2.3. Herefordshire’s key priority areas are:

 enable residents to live safe, healthy and independent lives 
 keep children and young people safe and give them a great start in life
 support the growth of our economy  
 secure better service, quality of life and value for money.

2.4. This MTFS contains progress on the financial challenges the council faces alongside 
the increasing demands for services. There are higher costs associated with the 
county’s rurality and demographics. The council aims to balance this challenge by 
supporting independent, safe and healthy lives.

2.5. The Council continues to provide value for money service delivery and aspires to bring 
sustainable prosperity and well-being for all.

2.6. During this MTFS period the funding of council services will change significantly. 
Central government is leading a fair funding review and local rate retention will become 
live as we await the next comprehensive spending settlement which is due in the spring 
of 2019. 

263



6

2.7. The council recognises the need to grow and has plans for new homes throughout the 
county, new employment opportunities, infrastructure and supporting the 
establishment of a new university.

3. Financial outlook 

3.1. The MTFS extends the time period under review to include 2021/22. This continues 
with the longer-term planning approach that is now well embedded in the Council’s 
strategic financial management arrangements. As core government funding 
disappears in 2020/21, the council will become increasingly self-reliant upon local 
resources, council tax and business rates. Although the latter is in itself an uncertain 
funding source at this time. 

3.2. By the end of 2018/19 the council will have made ongoing savings of circa £90m over 
the last ten years. This has involved taking some difficult decisions about the delivery 
of services; however the approach of long term planning supported by strong 
governance and a delivery focus across the whole council has meant that savings have 
been delivered on time or slightly ahead of time. This past strong performance in this 
area cannot be regarded as a guarantee for the delivery of savings in the future, and 
there is a need to avoid complacency. 

3.3. As well as meeting the councils legal responsibility to set a balanced budget, the 
benefits of long term financial planning are:

 Ensuring resources are allocated to the council’s priorities,
 Improving value for money,
 Maintaining financial stability
 Managing significant financial risks.

264



7

3.4. The medium term financial strategy is underpinned by the following key principles:

 Prudent assessment of future resources and unfunded cost pressures.
 Appropriate levels of income generated across all areas of the council, and 

prompt collection of all sums owed to the council. 
 Prudent assessment of provisions required to mitigate future liabilities. 
 Risk assessed level of reserves and balances held to mitigate potential 

financial liabilities and commitments.
 Prudent and planned use of reserves to fund expenditure 
 Maximisation of capital receipts from disposals. 
 Maximisation of external grant funding that meets our priorities. 
 Prudent and proportional use of the council’s borrowing powers to undertake 

capital investment that is not funded by capital receipts or contributions from 
third parties.

 Promotion of invest to save opportunities via detailed assessments of business 
cases. 

 Effective forecasting and management of the council’s cash flow requirements.  
 Effective management of treasury management risks, including smoothing out 

the debt maturity profile, borrowing only when necessary and taking advantage 
of opportunities arising because of disconnects in the market between long 
term and short term rates. 

 Full integration of revenue and capital financial decision processes, to ensure 
the revenue implications of capital projects are appropriately reflected in the 
medium term financial strategy. 

 Production of detailed implementation plans for all savings proposals.  
 Sign-off of all revenue budgets by the relevant senior managers including any 

savings plans before the commencement of the financial year. 
 Regular monitoring of budgets and robust management actions to address any 

unplanned variances that arise. 

3.5. Whilst the council’s finances have contracted, the demand for services has grown. The 
council faces a constant challenge to manage the increases in demand for adult social 
care and looked after children that are increasing significantly year on year. 

3.6. The council accepted a four-year Funding Settlement from the Government in 2016 
and 2019/20 is the fourth and final year of that settlement. The impact of this will see 
the reduction in Revenue Support Grant to £0.6m in 2019/20 compared to £60.1m of 
Revenue Support Grant in 2011. 

265



8

3.7. Over the life of the Funding Settlement the Government has introduced a range of 
temporary funding measures to assist with the increasing demands in adult social care 
but with little or no certainty beyond 2019/20. 

3.8. Government policy is likely to be influenced by a range of internal and external factors 
over the coming years; it is not possible to assess the impact of the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the EU in March 2019 at this point in time. The Government has 
indicated that that there will be a new comprehensive spending review in early 2019. 

3.9. The Government has also indicated that the Adult Social Care Green Paper will arrive 
shortly. There is likely to be an extensive national debate about how to find a 
sustainable solution to the funding of care for an ageing population. This is a complex 
problem and it is very hard to predict when a solution will be found or when and how 
the solution will be implemented. This creates significant challenges for the council in 
making medium term financial plans, as a number of the shorter term funding solutions 
for care costs from Government are scheduled to end during the life of the MTFS, 
before a sustainable funding solution is found. 

3.10. We are awaiting confirmation from Government of the implementation timetable for the 
move to business rates being retained by local government. The Government has 
indicated that it expects the move to be “fiscally neutral” and that councils should 
therefore pick up equivalent responsibilities commensurate with the additional funding.  
This raises a number of difficult challenges for the council given the makeup of the 
current business rates tax base within the county, with a large element reliant on retail 
businesses, as shown below.  

266



9

4. Funding assumptions

The council’s main income stream is Council Tax and this is set to continue. This is 
positive in that it is a locally controlled funding stream and is expected to grow. A 
summary of how the income streams compare to unitary and national councils is shown 
in the graphs below.

267



10

The assumption built into the MTFS is a 4.9% Council Tax increase in 2019/20 and an 
increase of 4.5% in future years. 

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 
£000 £000 £000

Revenue Support Grant               624
Business Rates          35,950          45,853          46,554 
Council tax        104,251       109,923     115,903 
New Homes Bonus          2,176 1,209 767
Rural Sparsity Delivery Grant            5,101
Collection Fund Surplus (one off)              500 
Adult social care grant (one off) 2,385
EU exit preparations (one off) 105

     151,092        156,985        163,224 

5. Savings by directorate

The council has delivered £77m of savings since 2010, with a further £13m expected 
to be delivered in the current (2018/19) year. Going forward further savings are 
required to ensure the council does not overspend. The savings requirement for the 
next three years is £8.0m, as set out below, giving a savings total of £98m between 

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Adults and communities          700                   600                500      1,800 
Children and families          200              300              650      1,150 
Economy and place           2,223              873               273      3,369 
Corporate services 359 77 77 513
Centrally held budgets              200              500              500      1,200 
TOTAL            3,682            2,350            2,000      8,032 

268



11

2010 and 2022.

6. Directorate base budget movements

Pressures in future years reflect the expected financial impact of inflation and 
demographic growth.

7. University

6.1 The New Model in Technology & Engineering (NMiTE), Hereford’s nascent 
engineering only university, has the potential to be one of the key catalysts that enables 
the transformation of the county’s economy. In a world driven by knowledge, economy, 
technology and urbanisation, the advent of the university from 2020 will, over the next 
15-20 years, not only increase the intellectual capital of Herefordshire but also has the 
potential to support steady population growth.  With 1,600 students recruited each year 
this will balance the annual out-migration of young people. In addition it is likely that at 
least ten per cent of graduates will remain in or near the county making Herefordshire 
an attractive inward investment location for employers needing hi-tech work-ready 
employees.

6.2 The direct impact on the economy, over the next 15 years, will come from a £550 
million capital investment to build 40,000 square metres of teaching space and 150,000 
square metres of student accommodation to house up to 5,000 students who will be 
resident for 46 weeks of the three years of each student’s study period. At this peak 
capacity, NMiTE will employ nearly 600 staff directly (many requiring homes) and will 
be supported by a range of local suppliers.  Based on data from other university cities, 
NMiTE is expected to add at least £120 million annually to the county’s GDP. Taken 
together, the various impacts of NMiTE will do much to help the long term sustainability 
of the county.

A&C C&F E&P Corporate Central Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2018/19 revised base budget 52,087 23,958 29,149 14,321 24,609 144,124
Pressures 5,288 3,427 1,371 192 10,278
Savings (700) (200) (2,223) (359) (200) (3,682)
Other movements 175 500 297 932 (1,532) 372
Removal of one off funding (2,885) (500) (1,000) (106) (4,491)
2019/20 base budget (excluding 
one offs) 53,965 27,185 27,594 15,086 22,771 146,601
Pressures 2,717 714 1,364 169 91 5,055
Savings (600) (300) (873) (77) (500) (2,350)
Public health new responsibility 7,500 7,500

Other corporate movements 250 (71) (71)
2020/21 base budget 63,582 27,599 28,335 15,178 22,291 156,985
Pressures 2,219 732 1,228 347 94 4,620
Savings (500) (650) (273) (77) (500) (2,000)
Other corporate movements 3,619 3,619
2021/22 base budget 65,301 27,681 29,290 15,428 25,504 163,224

269



12

6.3 New innovative higher education providers such as NMiTE will play an important part 
in educating the next generation of much-needed engineers, providing the skills and 
talent that employers need.  Hereford is a cold-spot for higher education provision, 
leading to a 'brain drain' of 18-24 year olds leaving the area to study.  The Higher 
Education reforms are about giving all young people access to university and an 
increasingly diverse market to choose from. This will ensure a steady stream of highly-
skilled graduates into the workplace locally, and regionally. NMiTE builds on plans set 
out in the Government’s modern Industrial Strategy, which aims to improve living 
standards and economic growth by increasing productivity and driving growth.

6.4 A fundamental role of the Marches LEP is to help develop a vibrant regional economy 
by removing barriers to growth. The creation of NMiTE will play a pivotal role in driving 
forward our economy through the development of a new and innovative Higher 
Education provision. This will help address the national shortage of graduate engineers 
by teaching students the keys skills which employers demand in the workplace. A key 
focus of the project will be to help retain a large proportion of the 18-24 population who 
leave the region to attend Universities across the country, implementing the knowledge 
and skills acquired to help improve the productivity of our valued businesses.

8. Better Care Fund

8.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a pooled budget which is nationally mandated to 
further the integration of health and social care. Herefordshire’s BCF has two 
partners, Herefordshire Council and Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG).

8.2 Funding is received by the council from the NHS, via Herefordshire CCG. The 
Department of Health and Social Care sets national minimum contributions to the 
pool for both revenue and capital and specifies that certain funding streams must be 
included within the mandatory minimum fund. Partners are permitted, and 
encouraged, to pool more than the minimum requirement. The BCF in Herefordshire 
has four components; mandatory capital and revenue contributions, additional 
voluntary revenue contributions from each partner, and the Improved Better Care 
Fund (IBCF). 

8.3 The MTFS assumes that the transfer of funds from the NHS to the council will occur 
throughout the MTFS period and that the annual value will continue to grow in line 
with inflationary uplifts for the NHS.

9. Improved Better Care Fund

9.1 The Government’s Spending Review in 2015 announced new money for social care 
and the 2017 Spring Budget subsequently increased this funding. The Government 
requires that this additional IBCF funding for adult social care in 2017-19 is pooled 
into the local BCF.

9.2 The funding is paid to Local Authorities for adult social care as a direct grant under 
Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. The funding may be used only for the 
purposes of meeting adult social care needs; reducing pressures on the NHS, 
including supporting more people to be discharged from hospital when they are 
ready; and ensuring that the local social care provider market is supported.   

270



13

9.3 A recipient local authority must:
   

a) pool the grant funding into the local BCF, unless an area has written 
Ministerial exemption;   

b) work with the relevant CCG and providers to meet the national BCF condition 
on managing transfers of care set out in the Integration and Better Care Fund 
Policy Framework and Planning Requirements 2017-19; and   

c) provide quarterly reports as required by the Secretary of State.

9.4 The MTFS assumes that the funding allocated in the 2015 spending review is 
recurrent and will be received throughout the MTFS period, albeit subject to any 
changes made by the forthcoming 2019 spending review; while the funding 
announced in the 2017 Spring Budget is assumed to be non-recurrent and will not 
be received after 2019/20.

10. Demographics

10.1 The latest population projections for Herefordshire are the 2016-based Subnational 
population projections (SNPPs), published 24 May 2018 by the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). Based on the ONS’ 2016 mid-year estimates, the future population is 
projected forward by ageing on the population and applying observed trends in relation 
to births, deaths and migration, year on year, up to 2041.

10.2 The current projections suggest slower growth than the previous (2014-based) 
projections. This is because of assumptions about lower future levels of fertility and 
international migration, and an assumption of a slower rate of increase in life 
expectancy.

10.3 The total population of Herefordshire is projected to increase from 189,500 people in 
2016 to 194,100 by 2021 (an increase of two per cent); and to 203,700 people by 2036 
(an increase of seven per cent), equivalent to an average annual growth of 0.35 per 
cent per year over this 20-year period. This is a lower projected annual rate of growth 
than England as a whole (0.5 per cent per year).

10.4 These projections serve as a baseline scenario; they do not attempt to predict the 
impact that future Government or local policies (such as on housing development), 
changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic 
behaviour.

Predicted population growth in Herefordshire:

 

271



14

11. Minimum Revenue Provision

10.1 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a technical accounting requirement, 
specific to local government, which is the method by which councils charge their 
revenue accounts over time with the cost of their capital expenditure that was originally 
funded by borrowing.

10.2 Local government accounting rules require the council to make revenue provision to 
support the costs of capital spend funded by borrowing regardless of whether that 
borrowing has actually been taken up; this is referred to as minimum revenue provision 
and is intended to provide a public demonstration of the costs of capital expenditure.

10.3 During 2017/18 Herefordshire revised its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, 
this changed the notional debt repayment calculation basis to an annuity loan 
repayment method. This matches the flow of benefits generated by the assets funded 
from borrowing to the annual MRP charge in the revenue budget. Linking MRP to the 
average useful life of an asset reflects the economic benefit the council receives from 
using the asset to deliver services over its useful life, representing a fairer cost charge 
to current and future council tax payers. Council tax payers are being charged each 
year in line with asset usage and this avoids current council tax payers meeting the 
cost of future usage or future council tax payers being burdened with charges relating 
to assets that are no longer in use.

10.4 The actual MRP charge is based on the following calculation:-

 Historic debt balances, previously being written down on a 4% reducing 
balance basis, being charged on an annuity loan repayment basis. This change 
ensures all historic notional debt is repaid by 2025/26 whereas under the 
previous method a balance of £14m would be remaining to be repaid. The 
annuity rate used is a consistent 2% calculated in line with the changes in 
revenue support grant which was deemed to include a funding element in 
relation to the repayment of supported historic debt.

272



15

 Supported borrowing, previously written down on a straight line basis over the 
asset life, moves to a 3% annuity also charged over the asset life under the 
revised method. The annuity rate has been applied to capital expenditure 
incurred since 1st April 2008, and spend prior to this continues to be written 
down on a straight line basis. The 3% represents an average of PWLB (Public 
Works Loan Board) loan comparator rates.

10.5 The MRP calculation will be reviewed again in 5 years’ time to ensure the revised 
method above is still appropriate.

12. Capital Programme

11.1 The current capital programme is summarised in the table below, along with the overall 
financing and detailed budgets by scheme in appendix 2. The capital programme 
approved by Council in July 2018 was approved at £297.3m; this becomes £325.4m 
with additional grants added to the capital programme. We know that previously a 
number of schemes would deliver later than planned as budgets are often estimated 
very optimistically across financial years, but in reality with the time it takes to plan and 
progress projects they deliver later than first estimated.  Work has been done to align 
these projects more realistically across the financial years and therefore the profile of 
budgets has moved between years to reflect this.

Approved Capital Programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Total Adults & Communities 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Total Children's & Families 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 0 37,198
Total Economy & Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025
Total Capital Programme 90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

Financed by
Capital Receipts 24,755
Grants & Funding 
Contributions 121,382
Prudential Borrowing 88,783
Funded in prior years 90,491
Total Funding 325,411

12.2 Additional capital funding requests will be submitted to Full Council when they are 
required. This means there will be increases to the capital programme for 2019/20 
onwards once approved by Council at any future meeting. These funding requests will 
be reviewed in line with Council plans and within the financing available of grants, 
capital receipts and increased borrowing of £6.7m annually but borrowing funded 
through revenue savings will be in addition to this limit. The capital receipts reserve 
balance at the end of 2017/18 was £42.5m and as we can see in the table above 
£24.8m of this has already been approved to fund current schemes but of course the 

273



16

reserve balance will increase by any future receipts from April 2018.

12.3 There are a number of large schemes of over £5m for replacement schools at Colwall, 
Marlbrook and Peterchurch, along with annual grants for the Local Transport Plan, 
Fastershire Broadband and Highways Asset Management. The Hereford Transport 
Package will also increase significantly once final plans and funding have been 
approved. However the three largest schemes are for the Hereford City Centre 
Transport Package for £40.6m, with only £8.3m budget remaining. The South Wye 
Transport Package for £35m with a £5m spend to date and plans being finalised for 
the project to be delivered. The Development Partnership Activities budget is for 
£40.6m with a £300k spend to date, although this is due to the partnership agreements 
only being signed in July 2018 and therefore these projects within the programme 
budget will begin to start to develop in the near future.

Development Partners

12.4 The Development and Regeneration Programme (DRP) has been established to 
provide development solutions that are reflective of the policies of Herefordshire 
Council and will be designed and developed in an inclusive way with the community. 
Consideration is given in all instances of providing developments that are considerate 
to the health and wellbeing of the residents, built to the latest environmental standards 
as set out in the building regulations (The National Standards). 

12.5 Development partners Keepmoat and Engie are committed to encompassing the use 
of local suppliers and contractors and to maximise the opportunities to employ local 
Herefordshire people. The KPIs have been set up to reflect this and all parties will take 
every action possible to ensure this is achieved.

12.6 The development partners are keen to achieve developments that reflect the highest 
standards and that the real impact is to viability, or the anticipated land receipt. The 
decision as to what standards are applied to a development lies with the council and 
will impact on development returns/outcomes on a case by case basis.

Keepmoat Homes Ltd 

12.7 Supporting the delivery of new homes that will help the council to achieve its strategic 
housing growth targets. Current projects include Bromyard Depot, Merton Meadow, 
Hildersley and Holme Lacy.

12.8 The first new homes are expected to commence building by late summer 2019.

ENGIE Regeneration Ltd

12.9 Supporting the delivery of regeneration construction projects, such as business units, 
student accommodation, commercial development and retirement housing.

12.10 The agreements will bring to life plans contained within the adopted Core Strategy (the 
document that sets out Herefordshire’s planning priorities until 2031). The plan outlines 
the development opportunities enabled by the Hereford City Centre Transport Package 
and Hereford Transport Package, as well other sites across the county such as the 
Ross Enterprise Park and Hillside. 

274



17

Capital receipts reserve

12.11 At the end of the 2017/18 financial year there was a balance of £42.5m in the capital 
receipts reserve. There are a number of schemes within the capital programme to be 
funded by capital receipts; the balance will be retained to deliver enhanced investment 
on the use of these reserves, once business cases have been submitted for approval 
at Council.

13. Revenue Budget / Till receipt

Shown below is an indicative illustrative typical month’s expenditure incurred by a band 
D property in Herefordshire from 1st April 2019, this is a draft that will be updated as 
the budget progresses into its final form.

275



18

276



19

14 PFI contracts

14.1 The council has two traditional PFI contracts; one in partnership with Worcestershire 
County Council for the provision of waste management services and the other for the 
provision of Whitecross High School. The council also has one contract that falls within 
the definition of a similar contract to a PFI, which is the Shaw Healthcare contract for 
the provision of residential care services. Under the Shaw Healthcare contract, the rent 
and service charges paid to Shaw by residents for the council’s extra care flats at 
Leadon Bank have been treated as a contribution to the revenue costs of the units.

Waste disposal

14.2 In 1998 Herefordshire Council, in partnership with Worcestershire County Council, 
entered into a 25 year contract with Mercia Waste Management Limited for the 
provision of an integrated waste management system using the Private Finance 
Initiative.

14.3 Under the contract the councils are required to ensure that all waste for disposal is 
delivered to the contractor, who will take responsibility for recycling or recovering 
energy from the waste stream. In total the estimated cost over the life of the contract 
is approximately £500m of which approximately 25% relates to Herefordshire Council. 
The original life of the contract was 25 years, until 2023, with the option to extend this 
by 5 years.

14.4 A variation to the contract was signed in May 2014 to design, build, finance and operate 
an Energy from Waste Plant. Construction was completed in 2017 with a funding 
requirement of £195m and an uplift to the annual unitary charge for both councils of 
£2.7m per annum.

14.5 Both councils provided circa 82% of the project finance requirement for the plant under 
a separate financing arrangement generating interest income for the councils. The 
remaining 18% was provided by the equity shareholders of Mercia Waste Management 
Limited. 

Whitecross High School

14.6 The Whitecross School PFI project delivered a fully equipped 900 place secondary 
school with full facilities management services. The contract with Stepnell Limited has 
an overall value of £74m and lasts for 25 years, until 2032. During the 2012/13 financial 
year the school transferred to Academy status but the obligations under the PFI 
contract remain with the council.

277



20

15 High Needs

 
There is a severe cost pressure on high needs spend; spend on pupils with higher 
support needs, with growth and projected growth shown in the table above. The council 
is reviewing its SEN funding matrix whilst ensuring a new approach continues to 
comply with the legal duty to secure the special educational provision identified in an 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan. This statutory duty means that, by meeting 
individual care plan needs, an overspend may occur. The council recognises its 
absolute duty to provide all special educational provision in children’s EHC plans and 
is committed to fulfilling that duty for every child with an EHC plan even if this leads to 
a deficit in the SEN budget.

16 Treasury Management Strategy

16.1 The council has reviewed and updated its treasury management strategy for the MTFS 
period. The intention is to continue to utilise short term borrowing if required due to the 
lower cost of carry, however interest rate forecasts will continue to be monitored and, 
if considered financially favourable, longer term fixed rated debt will be secured.

16.2 As at 30 September 2018 the council held investments of £36m attracting an average 
of 0.71% interest and outstanding long term debt of £240m at an average interest rate 
payable of 4.36%.

16.3 Savings achieved by a change in the minimum revenue provision calculation (the 
notional capital investment financed by debt annual revenue repayment cost) have 
been allocated to a financial resilience reserve that will fund invest to save proposals. 

278



21

17 Reserves

Definition of Earmarked reserves and provisions 

17.1 Provisions are required for any liabilities where the timing of payments or the amount 
of the liability is uncertain. Provisions are required to be recognised when:

 The council has a present obligation (legal or constrictive) as a result of a past 
event. 

 It is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the 
obligations and;

 A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation
 Amounts set aside outside for purposes falling outside the definition of 

provisions are consider to be reserves. 

17.2 Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for specific policy purposes or for general 
contingencies and cash flow management. For each reserve established, the purpose, 
usage and the basis of transactions needs to be clearly defined. 

Use of Reserves 

17.3 Reserves enable the council to do three things:

 Create a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and 
avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing. This forms part of the general 
reserves. 

 Create a contingency to cushion against the impact of unexpected events or 
emergencies. This also forms part of general reserves. 

 Creates a means of building up funds, often referred to as ear marked reserves, 
as defined above to meet known or predicted liabilities. 

17.4 There are other reserves that can only be used for specific statutory purposes. These 
include the usable capital receipts and pensions reserve. These are not considered as 
part of this policy. 

Establishing a new reserve

17.5 When establishing reserves the council needs to ensure that it is complying with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and in particular the need to distinguish 
between reserves and provisions.

17.6 New reserves may be created at any time, but must be approved by the Cabinet when 
a reserve is established. The Cabinet needs to approve the following:

 Purpose - the reason for creating the reserve should be clearly stated. 
 Usage - there should be a clear statement of how and when the reserve can be 

used. 
 Basis of transactions - delegated authority for approval of expenditure from the 

reserve. 

279



22

Reporting reserves 

17.7 The Chief Finance Officer has a fiduciary duty to local tax payers and must be satisfied 
that the decisions taken on balances and reserves represent proper stewardship of 
public funds.

 
17.8 The overall level of reserves balances will be reported to Cabinet at least annually or 

when new reserves are proposed, the last report to Cabinet was in June 2018 
(http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&
Ver=4 ).

17.9 The annual budget report to Council will include:

 A statement of movements in reserves for the year ahead and the following two 
years;

 A statement of the adequacy of general reserves and provisions in the 
forthcoming year and in the Medium Term Financial Strategy; and 

 A statement on the annual review of reserves.  

17.10 The level of reserves for the next three years will be reviewed at least annually as part 
of the Annual budget setting cycle. The Chief Finance Officer will review the Councils 
earmarked reserves for relevance of propose and adequacy. 

17.11 Any amendments to earmarked reserves will be reported to the Cabinet for approval. 

17.12 Once a reserve has fulfilled the purpose for which it was established, any remaining 
balance should be reallocated to another similar purpose earmarked reserve or 
surrendered to General Reserves. 

18 Conclusion

This medium term financial strategy proposes delivering a balanced budget with tough 
savings required but a clear focus on continuing to improve outcomes. Herefordshire 
has an excellent track record of transforming services in difficult financial times and 
continuing to meet the needs of our customers.

19 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Net Revenue budget

Appendix 2 - Approved Capital Investment Programme

Appendix 3 - Reserves Policy

Appendix 4 - Risk Assessment

280

http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&Ver=4
http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&Ver=4


23

Appendix 1

Net Revenue budget and Directorate Spending Limits 2019/20

2018/19 
revised 

base

Funded 
pressures 

Savings Other 
adjust

2019/20 
draft base 

budget
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Adults and communities 52,087 5,288 (700) 175 56,850
Children’s and families 23,958 3,427 (200) 500 27,685
Economy and place 29,149 1,371 (2,223) 297 28,594
Corporate services 14,321 192 (359) 932 15,086
Sub Total 119,515 10,278 (3,482) 1,904 128,215
Centrally held budgets 24,609 - (200) (1,637) 22,772
EU exit preparations (one 
off)

- - - 105 105

Total 144,124 10,278 (3,682) 372 151,092

Financed by
Revenue support grant 5,370 624
Business rates 33,256 35,950
Council tax 98,445 104,251
New homes bonus 2,540 2,176
Rural sparsity delivery 
grant

4,093 5,101

Collection fund surplus 
(one off)

420 500

Adult social care grant 
(one off)

2,385

Brexit preparations (one 
off)

105

Total 144,124 151,092

281



24

Appendix 2

Approved capital programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Adults and Wellbeing
Disabled facilities grant - 1,853 1,853 1,853 1,853 7,412
Hillside - 250 1,250 - - 1,500
Single Capital Pot 19 523 73 - - 615
Private sector housing 
improvements 14 242 - - - 256
Total Adults & Wellbeing 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Children's Wellbeing
Colwall Primary School 6,430 320 - - - 6,750
Schools Capital Maintenance 
Grant 797 1,217 1,700 1,200 1,200 6,114
Peterchurch Primary School 7 - 493 5,000 - 5,500
Expansion for Marlbrook school 153 450 5,538 - - 6,141
SEN & DDA school improvements - - 710 - - 710
Brookfield School Improvements 6 - 1,298 - - 1,304
CYPD's S106 313 392 605 - - 1,310
Special Provision Capital Fund - - 333 167 - 500
Healthy Pupils - - 99 - - 99
Individual Pupil Needs - 151 120 - - 271
Short Breaks Capital - - 118 - - 118
Blackmarston SEN 30 55 - - - 85
Replacement Leominster Primary 3 39 - - - 42
Basic Needs Funding - - 2,058 6,833 - 8,891
2 Year Old Capital Funding 4 101 - - - 105
Preliminary works to inform key 
investment - 200 1,815 - - 2,015
Temporary school accommodation 
replacement - 450 - - - 450
Total Children's Wellbeing 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Corporate
Fastershire Broadband 16,855 5,000 11,420 2,463 - 35,738
IT Network Upgrade 209 291 - - - 500
PC Replacement 70 290 - - - 360
Data Centre Consolidation 124 106 - - - 230
Children Centre Changes - 370 - - - 370
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 - 37,198
Economy, Communities and 
Corporate

282



25

Hereford City Centre Transport 
Package 32,321 1,342 1,550 5,438 - 40,651
Local Transport Plan (LTP) - 13,539 12,272 12,272 - 38,083
Hereford Enterprise Zone 8,318 4,758 2,924 - - 16,000
Leisure Centres 9,639 413 - - - 10,052
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 503 120 1,511 - - 2,134
Corporate Accommodation 2,362 509 - - - 2,871
ECC's S106 - 756 - - - 756
South Wye Transport Package 4,978 4,508 17,067 8,250 197 35,000
Marches business improvement 
grants 415 1,297 788 - 2,500
SEPUBU Grant - 381 354 - 735
Property Estate Enhancement 
Works 826 1,414 500 - - 2,740
LED street lighting 5,478 177 - - - 5,655
Herefordshire Enterprise Zone 
Shell Store - 1,500 5,816 - - 7,316
Cyber Security Centre Project - 3,500  - - 3,500
Development Partnership activties 300 5,300 35,000 - - 40,600
Highway asset management - 9,790 3,108 - - 12,898
Hereford Transport Package - 2,960 - - - 2,960
Ross Enterprise Park (Model 
Farm) - 800 6,270 - - 7,070
Three Elms Trading Estate (8) 125 358 - - 475
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill 93 2 - - - 95
Customer Services and Library 10 123 - - - 133
Energy Efficiency  - 35 65 - - 100
Warm Homes Fund 1 - 397 397 165 960
Strangford closed landfill site 20 11 - - - 31
Gypsy & Traveller Pitch 
development 29 331 - - - 360
Leominster cemetery extension 21 172 - - - 193
Tarsmill Court, Rotherwas - 400 - - - 400
Car Parking Strategy 58 188 - - - 246
Car Park Re-Surfacing - 116 - - - 116
Office and Car Park Lighting 
Replacement - 135 165 - - 300
Affordable Housing Grant - 800 800 800 - 2,400
Community Housing Fund - 150 - - - 150
Revolving Loans 99 101 - - - 200
Hereford Library (6) 351 - - - 345
Total Economy and Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025

Total  90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

283



26

Appendix 3

Reserves 

1. Review of Reserves

1.1. The overall reserves of the council will be subject to detailed review at the end of each 
financial year as part of the preparation for the production of the council’s statement 
of accounts, and as part of the council’s annual budget setting process to ensure 
reserves are  

1.1.1. Relevant,
1.1.2. Appropriate, and 
1.1.3. Prudent.

1.2. The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the council has in place well established 
robust and regular budget monitoring processes. These take account of the current 
level of reserves, the latest budget requirements calling on reserves to meet current 
commitments and to make contributions to reserves to meet future commitments.
 

1.3. The Chief Finance Officer must consider strategic, operational and financial risks in 
assessing the adequacy of the council’s reserves position.  

2. Use of Reserves

2.1. Approval to use or make contributions to reserves is provided by the Chief Finance 
Officer, as part of the regular budgetary process, in discussion with the Chief 
Executive and Leader of the Cabinet

2.2. Movements in reserve will be reported to Council as part of the financial Outturn at 
the end of the financial year.

3. Conclusion 

3.1. The Chief Finance Officer is satisfied that the Council’s ongoing approach to its 
reserves and provisions is robust.  The council’s strategic reserve is maintained 
between 3% - 5% of the net budget requirement, at the end of March 2018 the balance 
was £7.9m (5% of net budget). 

3.2. This is sufficient to ensure that the council has adequate resources to fund unforeseen 
financial liabilities, and that the council’s approach to general balances is deemed 
appropriate. The level of reserves and expected movement in reserves are set out in 
the MTFS as part of the annual budget setting process.

284



27

Appendix 4

Key Risk Assessment

Key Financial Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions
1 Unexpected events or 

emergencies
By its nature, the financial risk is 
uncertain

Low High  Council maintains a Strategic Reserve 
at a    level of between 3% and 5% of its 
revenue budget for emergency 
purposes

 Level of reserve is currently £7.9m (5% 
of  budget)

2 Increasing demand for Adult 
Social Care
Demand for services continue to 
increase as the population gets older

High Medium  Demand led pressures provided for 
within our spending plans

 Activity indicators have been 
developed and will be reported 
quarterly alongside budget monitoring 

3 Potential Overspend and 
Council does not deliver 
required level of savings to 
balance spending plans 
Challenging savings have been 
identified within our spending 
plans.

Medium Medium  High risk budget areas have been 
identified and financial support is 
targeted towards these areas

 Regular progress reports on 
delivery of savings to 
Management Board and Cabinet

 Budget monitoring 
arrangements for forecasting 
year end position in place and 
forecast balanced

 Plan to review level of cover 
available from General reserves in 
place

4 Potential overspend on Special 
Education Needs 
The duty to secure provision identified 
in Education, Health and Care plans 
means an overspend may occur

Medium Medium  This is a national issue with 
lobbying to increase central 
government funding 

 A review of the application of the 
matrix is underway

5 Increase in Pension Liabilities 
Our contributions are influenced by 
market investment returns and 
increasing life expectancy.

Medium Low  Spending plans reflect the level of 
pension contribution required as 
identified by the Pension Fund’s 
Actuary in 2016 for the next three years

6 Failure to fund sufficient school 
places and sufficient support 
There is an increasing requirement 
to provide sufficient school places
There is a rising number of children 
requiring specific support

Medium High  Provision has been made in the 
capital programme to increase 
school places

 Directorate plans in place to 
manage and mitigate demand

 Ongoing reviews of children 
already under care of council

7 Volatility in future funding streams 
in Government funding streams 
and Business Rates Retention

High Medium  Prudent assumptions 
made in budget 

 Ongoing review of 
developing business rate 
changes

 Business case to support future 
investment decisions

8 Brexit
Impact of EU exit may lead to 
increased volatility in economic 
stability and reduced access to funds

Medium Medium  Reduced reliance on grant 
funding in all directorates

 Increased local economic 
and social investment to 
increase core income

285





Appendix 2

Savings Proposals 2019/20 to 2021/22

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000

Total   

£000

Adults and communities         700           600           500 1,800        

Children and families         200           300           650 1,150        

Economy and place      2,223           873           273 3,369        

Corporate services         359             77             77 513           

Centrally held budgets         200           500           500 1,200        

Total      3,682        2,350        2,000          8,032 

287



Savings Proposals 

Adults and Communities Directorate

Savings Proposal Impact 2019-20   £000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000 Total £000

Workforce and service delivery savings No direct impact on service users. This saving will be achieved through increased 

productivity as a result of partnership working, mobile working, use of 

technology and capitalisation of staff costs.

600 0 0 600

Reducing the need for formal care services by utilising strengths based 

practices and application of the wider culture change programme.

Managing demand via front door re-design, hospital liaison, Homefirst,  short 

term care pathway and trusted reviewer programme of work.

To include a focused approach in respect of areas of practice where 

development needs have been identified.  This will ensure that customers 

receive appropriate and proportionate support and care relevant to meet 

their eligible and wider well-being needs in the most cost effective way 

possible.   

This proposal also addresses the application of CHC process and practice 

reviews as well as the review of the AWB transport policy.

Reduction in demand for formal care services and support in line with 

demographic pressures.

The support and care offer from Adult Social Care will be enhanced as a result of 

the application of a strengths based model.

Access to support for those with eligible needs will be improved by ensuring that 

eligible and wider wellbeing needs are met as part of the AWB offer, with a 

particular focus on developing and connecting community social support.

The equalities impact of this proposal on service users will be negligible as they 

will be assessed correctly and against the criteria of new services available which 

meet required eligible and wider wellbeing needs.

0 600 500 1,100

Maximise income generation through increased client contributions for care 

services.

The impact of the changes will be affordable as all services will only be charged 

for following individual financial assessments in accordance  with Care Act 

(2014).

100 0 0 100

Total 700               600             500             1,800          

Savings

288



Savings Proposals 

Savings Proposal Impact

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000

Total 

£000

 Manage inflation and secure contract efficiencies The equalities impact of this proposal will be low/negligible. Integral 

to their contract with the Authority, each contractor has a scheduled 

expectation to meet the Equalities Act 2010 criteria and is part of the 

contract monitoring arrangements to ensure that any impact is 

understood and addressed.              200              300             450 950

 Organisational restructure to reflect the service requirements  Ensuring families benefit from a consistent and established service 

through a stable and capable workforce.                  -                   -               200 200

Total 200 300 650 1,150

Children and families directorate

Savings

289



Savings Proposals 

Savings Proposal Impact

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000 Total £000

Efficiency savings

Initiatives include: Management 

savings, staff restructures, saving on 

printing cost, reduction in storage costs 

at the Modern Records Unit.

No impact - efficiency savings

357 273 273 903

Back Office Services and Corporate 

Accommodation efficiencies

No impact - efficiency saving

0 150 0 150

Reduced cost of Public and School / 

College Transport and moving public 

transport information to online only

Reduction in public transport services, increased income from parental contributions and post 16 SEN 

transport users. Further savings from contract efficiencies.

A transport funding review is underway which will explore a range of opportunities to reduce costs across all 

local passenger transport services and alternative sources of funding to support such service. Savings are likely 

to be achievable through the integration of passenger transport contracts, service efficiencies, moving more 

users onto commercial and supported bus services and review of eligibility for services. If this approach does 

not achieve the full savings target, it may be necessary to further reduce public transport subsidy.

Decisions have already been taken to withdraw transport services and these were subject to a full 

consultation and EIA . As future proposals are developed consultation and EIA will be undertaken and will 

form elements of future reporting and consideration by members.
150 0 0 150

Phased removal of subsidy for 

Community Transport organisations

The phased reduction in the support to Community Transport (CT) providers commenced in 2015/16 and the 

exploration of alternative funding sources to support such services. To continue this to full reduction by 

2019/20 will have provided a five year transition period for providers to seek opportunities to increase their 

independent financial viability. Support has been made available for providers to take on more contracted 

work and also to assist them to increase their capacity. Grants have been available for new fleet and could be 

made available in future subject to funding being available.

CT reductions were considered within the consultation for the transport and travel review 2014 but at that 

stage there was no proposal to completely withdraw direct council support. If the council wishes to progress 

full withdrawal of support from 2018/19 then a further consultation and EIA would be required before 

confirming this decision. Whilst CT provides services for people who are 'disadvantaged' it is noted that this is 

not in itself a specifically defined protected characteristic within the EIA duty we are aware that the majority 

of CT users are elderly and/or have a disability which reduces transport options.

Consultation in relation to public transport savings will be used to inform this proposal.

75 0 0 75

Economy and Place

Saving

290



Savings Proposals 

Savings Proposal Impact

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000 Total £000

Economy and Place

Saving

Phased removal of subsidies to parish 

councils for the Lengthsman and 

Parish Paths .

Decision taken to phase funding out over the MTFS period.

The condition of minor roads in Parish areas will be dependent upon whether Parish Councils choose to 

replace the subsidy with their own resources.

Those communities that do not contribute to the funding or provide support to the scheme will see a 

reduction in the level of service for lower level activities currently carried out on the network by Parish and 

town councils.

With P3 schemes , users of the ROW network could be affected by the reduced level of maintenance if 

parishes are unable/ unwilling to increase the level of activity from volunteers. 100 0 0 100

Increased income and efficiency within 

Public Realm Services

Public Realm contract efficiencies, including an increase in income from increased enforcement in relation to 

works carried out by utility companies on the highway (NRSWA) - reduction in highway defects.

Investment in fleet and plant to reduce ongoing revenue cost and maintenance. No adverse impact upon 

service.

Environmental service redesign

Review of service to streamline and reduce cost of cleansing and monitoring of waste/litter related issues.  

Improved environment through better coordination.

200 0 0 200

Waste & Sustainability

Increased income from commercial 

waste collections.

No further impact. Service changes relating to commercial waste collections and waste treatment savings do 

not impact on residents but on organisations.

30 200 0 230

Savings in Museums and Archives Income generation through charging at the Old House from April 2017, remodel of the learning offer to 

schools, volunteers to support the opening of the Museum at Broad Street in Hereford.

Limited impact on protected characteristics.  Though charging may have an impact across all ages, special free 

open days will take place to support local people able to visit the Old House without cost.  Education events to 

take place at the Old House as part of a schools programme. 0 250 0 250

Accommodation Strategy Efficiency savings through moving out of buildings 360 0 0 360

Procurement Savings Including savings to our waste contract. 500 0 0 500

 Organisational redesign savings Base budget realignment 280 0 0 280

Workforce and service delivery savings 171 0 0 171

Sub Total 2,223 873 273 3,369

291



Savings Proposals 

Savings Proposal Impact

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000 Total £000

Efficiency savings

Initiatives include: Management savings, staff restructures, saving on 

printing cost, 

No impact - efficiency savings

73 77 77 227

 Organisational redesign savings Workforce and service delivery savings 66 0 0 66

Base budget realignment 220 0 0 220

Sub Total 359 77 77 513

Corporate Services

Saving

292



Savings Proposals 

Savings Proposal Impact

2019-20   

£000

2020-21    

£000

2021-22    

£000 Total £000

Organisational redesign savings Efficiency savings 200                  -                    -   200

Revisions to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme - discount 

awarded proposed to align to universal credit income 

bandings

This will be subject to a separate decision process 

that will include a detailed public consultation and 

equalities impact assessment

                 -                 100                  -   100

Pension deficit - centralised cost reduction No public impact - tri-annual valuation expected 

to reduce deficit contribution requirement

              400 400

Treasury management - in house cashflow management No public impact - Development partnership 

return to minimise treasury management costs

              500 500

Total 200 500 500 1,200          

Centrally held budget savings
Saving

293





PROPOSED REVENUE BUDGET 2019/20

2018/19 

revised base
Pressures Savings Other adjust

2019/20 base 

budget

2019/20 gross 

budget

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Adults and communities 52,087 5,288 (700) 175 56,850 92,936

Children and families 23,958 3,427 (200) 500 27,685 158,286

Economy and place 29,149 1,371 (2,223) 297 28,594 49,503

Corporate services 14,321 192 (359) 932 15,086 19,171

Sub Total 119,515 10,278 (3,482) 1,904 128,215 319,896

Centrally held budgets 24,609 (200) (1,637) 22,772 62,772

EU exit preparations (one 

off)
105 105 105

Total 144,124 10,278 (3,682) 372 151,092 382,773

295



Adults & Communities

£000 £000

Learning Disabilities 23,947 20,307

Memory & Cognition 3,317 2,467

Mental Health 4,322 3,593

Physical Disabilities 32,331 23,722

Sensory Support 530 432

Client Subtotal 64,447 50,521

Care Operations and Commissioning 8,700 8,681

Commissioned Services 4,045 2,998

Transformation and Improvement 889 889

Prevention and Wellbeing 3,990 3,075

Director and Management 1,831 (9,314)

Public Health 9,034 0

Non Client Subtotal 28,489 6,329

Adults and Wellbeing 92,936 56,850

Net  BudgetGross Budget

296



Children & families

£000 £000

Directorate (87) (87)

Directorate (87) (87)

Additional Needs 2,607 2,261

Children’s Commissioning 852 615

Commissioning Management 3,173 472

Development and Sufficiency 1,780 1,444

Early Years 1,200 442

Education Improvement 236 86

Education & Commissioning 9,848 5,320

Safeguarding and Review 942 691

Children in Need 2,929 2,829

Looked After Children 19,321 17,211

Safeguarding Development 351 321

Safeguarding & Early Help Management 1,400 1,400

Safeguarding & Family Support 24,943 22,452

Children and families 34,704 27,685

The dedicated school grant of £123,582k in 2019/20 is in addition to the above

Net  

Budget
Gross Budget

297



Economy and Place

£000 £000

Management

Management 171                   171

Total Management 171 171

Regulatory Environment & Waste

Environment and Waste 15,744              13,864

Regulatory and Development Management Services 4,626                870

Total Regulatory Environment & Waste 20,370 14,734

Highways & Transport

Directorate Services 365                   365

Highways and Community Services 901                   901

Public Realm Annual Plan 6,389                6,389

Transport and Access Services 10,061              7,633

Total Highways & Transport 17,716 15,288

Technical Services

Technical and Parking Services 2,074                (5,921)

Asset Management and Property Services 4,969                1,125

Total Technical Services 7,043 (4,796)

Growth, Culture, Museums, Libaries, Archives

Community Regeneration 213                   213

Neighbourhood Planning 263                   101

Growth 32                     54

Regeneration 337                   146

Strategic Planning 259                   259

Customer and Library Services 2,186                1,588

Total Growth, Culture, Museums, Libaries, Archives 3,290 2,361

Economic Growth

Economic Development 913                   836

Total Economic Growth 913 836

Total Economy & Place 49,503 28,594

Gross Budget Net  Budget

298



Corporate

£000 £000

Corporate

Corporate Support Services 8,677                5,538

Finance, Legal & Governance 8,568                7,683

People & Performance 1,926                1,865

Total Corporate 19,171 15,086

Gross Budget Net  Budget

299





Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Herefordshire Council

Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Summary of Strategy for 2019/20

3. Economic Background and Interest Rate Forecast

4. Capital Financing Requirement

5. Borrowing Strategy

6. Investment Strategy

7. Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20  

Annex

a.       Existing Borrowing and Investments

b. Borrowing Maturity Profile

c. Prudential Indicators

d. Outlook for Interest Rates

e. Treasury Management Policy Statement

301



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

1. Introduction

1.1 Treasury management is the pursuit of optimum performance in the management of 
cash flows consistent with managing the associated risks. The council borrows and 
invests substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  
The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to an 
effective treasury management strategy.

1.2 This strategy has been prepared in accordance with the revised reporting due to 
revisions of the MHCLG Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code.  The primary reporting changes include the introduction of a 
capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater 
reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the 
Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is being reported separately.

1.3 The purpose of this Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) is to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20
 Borrowing – Section 5
 Investments – Section 6
 Minimum Revenue Payment (MRP) Statement – Section 7
 Prudential Indicators – Annex C

2. Summary of Strategy for 2019/20

Borrowing

2.1 Borrowing is driven by the requirements of the approved capital investment budget. 
The forecast capital investment budget for 2019/20 indicates £69.3m of capital spend 
requiring financing from prudential borrowing. As long term borrowing rates are 
expected to be higher than investment rates, actual borrowings will be deferred by 
utilising cash balances and short term borrowing if required. Long term interest rate 
forecasts will be constantly monitored to ensure debt need is secured at the best 
opportunity. If less capital spend is incurred than forecast then the need to borrow will 
be reduced.

2.2 Using current forecasts during 2019/20 the councils underlying need to borrow is 
expected to increase by £72.2m, as shown in the table below.

£m 
excluding 

PFIs

Estimated council borrowing as at 31st March 2019 165.3

302



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Capital spend financed by prudential borrowing 69.3

Net change in internal borrowing 9.9

Less minimum revenue provision (7.0)

Estimated council borrowing as at 31st March 2020 237.5

Increase in estimated council borrowing 72.2

2.3 Short-term borrowing rates are currently, at 1.15%, significantly lower than longer-
term borrowing rates (Annex D) and using the long-term analysis, comparing short-
term finance with a long-term loan, utilising short term borrowing is shown to be the 
most cost effective approach. Savings in the early years are currently outweighing 
additional amounts payable that may fall due in later years. Therefore the council is 
proposing to continue with its current policy of using short term borrowing to finance 
the 2019/20 borrowing requirement.

2.4 The borrowing budget for 2019/20 includes provision to pay short-term interest costs 
of up to £0.6m. The budget also includes the interest cost on existing fixed long term 
borrowing at £5.4m. 

2.5 This strategy approves a total variable loan stock holding of up to 50% of total loans. 
By restricting variable loan stock to a total of 50% of loans held this minimises the 
cost risk of interest rate increases, fixed rate loans can be secured quickly if interest 
rates appear to be increasing.    

2.6 The council’s exposure to variable rate debt has been discussed with the council’s 
treasury adviser, Link Asset Services, who agree with the council’s borrowing policy 
and the consideration of our interest rate forecasting.

Investments

2.7 As a result of current banking regulations which, in the absence of government 
support, put the council’s deposits at risk when banks get into difficulty, the council 
will:

o Maintain lower investment balances during the year;

o Keep low but liquid cash balances and invest these mainly in Money Market 
Funds (CNAV (Constant Net Asset Value), LVNAV (Low Volatility Net Asset Value), 
or VNAV (Variable Net Asset Value));

o Maintain counterparty limits with the banks and building societies at prudent 
levels;

o Consider other creditworthy investments to increase diversification.

303



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

2.8 Where non treasury investments are considered, a separate report will be presented 
for approval with any changes that may be required to Prudential Indicators 
incorporated with an updated TMS if necessary.

3. Economic Background and Interest Rate Forecast

Economic background

3.1 UK the Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), unanimously (9-0) voted to increase the 
Bank Rate on 2nd August from 0.5% to 0.75%.  Although growth looks as if it will only 
be modest overall at around 1.5% in 2018, the Bank of England’s August Quarterly 
Inflation Report forecast that growth will pick up to 1.8% in 2019, albeit there were 
several caveats – mainly related to whether or not the UK achieves an orderly 
withdrawal from the European Union in March 2019.

3.2 The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation was 2.4% in September and is 
expected to fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two years.  The MPC has 
indicated that the Bank Rate would need to be in the region of 1.5% by March 2021 
for inflation to stay on track.  Financial markets are currently pricing in the next 
increase in the Bank Rate for the second half of 2019.  

3.3 Unemployment has continued at a 43 year low of 4% on the Independent Labour 
Organisation measure.  Wage inflation picked up to 3.1% (3 month average regular 
pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms (i.e. wage rates higher than 
CPI inflation), earnings grew by about 0.4%.  

3.4 Euro Zone.  Quarterly GDP growth in the euro area averaged 0.4% during the first 
half of 2018. That was lower than anticipated and lower than in 2017, when growth 
averaged 0.7%. That slowdown probably partly reflected temporary factors, including 
adverse weather in some northern European countries in Q1, particularly Germany 
and France.

3.5 Underlying demand growth in the Euro area appears to have remained relatively 
robust. Quarterly consumption growth was 0.5% in Q1, a little stronger than 2017 
rates, while both consumer and business confidence remained strong. 

3.6 The unemployment rate, at 8.3% in June, is above its estimated equilibrium rate — 
the rate consistent with stable wage pressures.  

3.7 The European Central Bank (ECB) made no changes to its policy rates in June or 
July, and provided guidance in June that rates were expected to remain at present 
levels at least through the summer of 2019. The ECB also announced an extension 
to its asset purchase programme to December 2018, at a slower rate of €15 billion 
per month, reduced from €30 billion currently, and anticipated an end to net 
purchases after that date, subject to incoming data. 

304



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

3.8 USA activity in the US — the UK’s second largest trading partner — rebounded 
strongly from a dip in growth in Q1, expanding by 1% in Q2. GDP growth is expected 
to fall back in Q3, but to remain robust at around 0.75%. Activity will be supported 
thereafter by fiscal policy, following the personal and corporate tax cuts announced in 
December 2017, as well as the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, which lifted 
discretionary spending caps by around US$300 billion over 2018 and 2019, 
equivalent to around 1.5% of GDP. 

3.9 The economy in the US is growing at approximately three times the rate of that in the 
UK. It currently has the lowest unemployment rates in almost 50 years.  

3.10 There are risks coming through though including higher tariffs that have been 
implemented or proposed on US trading partners and associated reciprocal 
measures. 

3.11 The Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) has continued to tighten policy, raising 
the target range for the federal funds rate to between 1.75% and 2% in June. The 
median projection of FOMC members for the federal funds rate at end 2018 also rose 
from 2.1% to 2.4%, implying two further 25 basis point increases in 2018, with a 
further three projected in 2019. 

Interest rate forecast

3.12 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a gently rising 
trend over the next few years based on an assumption of an agreement being reached on 
Brexit between the UK and the EU.  

3.13 Borrowing interest rates are slowly increasing, most recently as a result of the August 
MPC meeting where the Bank Rate was increased by 0.25% to 0.75%.  The policy of 
avoiding new borrowing by minimising investment cash balances has proved efficient and 
will continue to be carefully reviewed to minimise the risk of incurring higher borrowing 
costs in the future.

3.14 There will remain a cost of carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary 
increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost – being 
the difference between higher borrowing costs and lower investment returns. 

3.15 A more detailed interest rate forecast provided by the Link Asset Services is attached 
at Annex D.

4. Capital Financing Requirement

4.1 Capital expenditure can be financed in a number of ways including the application of 
usable capital receipts, a direct charge to revenue, capital grant or by securing an up-
front contribution towards the cost of a project.

305



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

4.2 Capital expenditure not financed by one of the above methods will increase the 
capital financing requirement (CFR) of the council.

4.3 The CFR reflects the council’s underlying need to finance capital expenditure by 
borrowing or by other long-term liability arrangements, for example public finance 
initiatives.

4.4 The use of the term “borrowing” in this context does not necessarily imply external 
debt since, in accordance with best practice, the council has an integrated treasury 
management strategy.  Borrowing is not associated with specific capital expenditure.  
The council will, at any point in time, have a number of cash flows both positive and 
negative and will be managing its position in terms of its borrowings and investments 
in accordance with its treasury management strategy.

4.5 The forecast movement in the CFR over future years is one of the Prudential 
Indicators which can be found in Annex C. The movement in actual external debt and 
usable reserves (which have a direct bearing on requiring to borrow) combine to 
identify the council’s borrowing requirement and potential investment strategy in the 
current and future years.  The table below summarises the current forecast:-

31.03.19
Estimate

£000

31.03.20
Estimate

£000

31.03.21
Estimate

£000

31.03.22
Estimate

£000
Forecast Capital 
Finance 
Requirement 
(CFR)

317,813 378,018 388,889 382,734

Less: Expected 
Useable Capital 
Receipts Reserve

(35,200) (23,300) (23,300) (23,300)

CFR post capital 
receipts

282,613 354,718 365,589 359,434

Less: PFI and other 
long term 
commitments

(53,226) (51,097) (49,053) (47,091)

CFR excluding 
other long-term 
liabilities (PFIs)

229,387 303,621 316,536 312,343

Less: Existing fixed 
long term borrowing 
(a) 

(137,517) (130,282) (126,798) (124,427)

Maximum new  
borrowing 
requirement

91,870 173,339 189,738 187,916

Less: Internal 
borrowing from 
reserves

(64,100) (66,100) (62,700) (62,700)

306



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

4.6 The above table shows the council’s borrowing requirement due to capital 
expenditure and the refinancing of principal repaid on existing long-term debt.

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 At 30 September 2018 the council held £140.3m of long-term fixed rate loans as 
shown in Annex A. Current capital expenditure forecasts suggest that this will 
increase before the end of the financial year, if spend slips then the need to borrow 
will be deferred.

Objective 

5.2 The council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low 
risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over 
the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

Strategy

5.3 Given the significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local government 
funding, the council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of 
affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With 
short-term interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is more cost 
effective in the short-term to use internal resources and borrow using short-term 
loans.  

5.4 This enables the council to reduce net borrowing costs and reduce its overall credit 
risk by tailoring the timing of borrowing to minimise cash balances held.  The benefits 
of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring 
additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing 
rates are forecast to rise.  The councils treasury advisors will assist the council with 
‘cost of carry’ and breakeven analysis. Its output will determine whether the council 
borrows additional sums at long-term fixed rates in 2019/20 with a view to keeping 
future interest costs low, even if this causes additional cost in the short-term.  

5.5 Short-term loans leave the council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises; they are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable interest 
rates in the treasury management indicators below.

Sources

5.6 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

Net new borrowing 
requirement (b)

27,770 107,239 127,038 125,216

Total Council 
Borrowing (a plus 
b)

165,287 237,521 253,836 249,643

307



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

• Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds 
• capital market bond investors
• Local Capital Finance Company and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local authority bond issues.

5.7 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback arrangements

LOBO loans

5.8 The council has two LOBO loans (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) of £6m each 
on which the council pays interest at 4.5%.  Every six months, when the interest 
charges become due, the lenders have the option to increase the interest rate being 
charged at which point the council can accept the revised terms or reject them and 
repay the loan. LOBO loans present a potential refinancing risk to the council since 
the decision to amend the terms is entirely at the lender’s discretion. 

Debt rescheduling

5.9 The PWLB allows the repayment of loans before maturity by either paying a premium 
or receiving a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates.  
Due to the prevailing low interest rate regime, opportunities for debt rescheduling are 
likely to be very limited.  However, this option will be kept under review and will be 
considered where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk.

6. Investment Strategy

6.1 The council needs to hold adequate funds to meet day to day liquidity needs, for 
example salary and creditor payments. The council maintains a cash flow balance of 
around £15m to cover all contingencies.  A cash flow forecast is maintained that 
includes all known receipts and payments so that the council can take action to 
ensure that it can meet all its liabilities when they fall due.

Objective

6.2 Both the CIPFA Code and the MHCLG Guidance require the Authority to invest its 
funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 

308



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and receiving unsuitably low 
investment income.

Following the introduction of MIFID II (The Markets in Financial Instruments 
Directive), in January 2018, being the framework of European Union legislation for:
• Investment intermediaries that provide services to clients around shares, bonds, 
units in collective investment schemes and derivatives (collectively known as 
‘financial instruments’), and 
• The organised trading of financial instruments

Herefordshire Council has opted up to “professional status”. There are several 
criteria that must be met to be able to opt up from retail to professional status, with 
the key one being to have a total investment portfolio of over £10m. Opting up 
permits uninterrupted advice on as wide a range of investment / debt products that 
may be considered as part of our Treasury Management process. Our status has 
been confirmed with all counterparties where this applies. These arrangements will 
be regularly reviewed as appropriate.

Strategy

6.3 Given the increasing risk and continued low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
deposits, the council will aim to keep its invested funds as low as possible and 
reduce the amounts invested with banks and building societies. For 2019/20 the 
council will continue to rely on Money Market Funds which are highly diversified and 
carry reduced credit risk.

Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

6.4 The council applies the credit worthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. 
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from 
three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s). This 
modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system to which Link Asset Services allocate a series of colour 
coded bands with suggested maximum durations for investments (as shown in table 
2 below).

6.5 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the council use will be short term rating 
(Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a long term rating of A-. There may be occasions 
when the counterparty ratings from one agency are marginally lower than these 
ratings but still may be used. In these instances consideration will be given to the 
whole range of ratings available, or other topical market information, to support their 
use.

6.6 The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- (Fitch or equivalents). 
Currently these countries are:

309



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

AAA

 Australia 
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland 

AA+

 Finland 
 U.S.A.

AA

 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 France 
 Hong Kong 
 UK 

AA-

 Belgium 
 Qatar 

Approved Counterparties 

6.7 The council will invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 2 
below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time limits shown.

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties and Limits

Colour coding 
or long term 

rating
£ limit Time limit

Banks and Building 
Societies

Term deposits, 
CDs or 
corporate bonds

Yellow
Purple
Orange
Blue
Red
Green

5m
5m
5m
5m
5m
5m

5 years
2 years
1 year
1 year
6 months
100 days

310



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

No colour nil Not to be used

Council’s Banker 
(NatWest) 5m Liquid

DMADF DMADF account AAA Unlimited 6 months

UK Government UK Gilts UK sovereign 
rating Unlimited 1 year

UK Government Treasury Bills UK sovereign 
rating Unlimited 1 year

Multilateral development 
banks Bonds AAA 5m 6 months

Local Authorities Term deposits 5m 1 year

Money Market Funds MMFs AAA 5m Liquid

Other investments:
Top five UK Building Society £5m per fund (up 

to six months’ 
duration)

Pooled funds £5m per fund
Mercia Waste Management (providing finance 
for Energy from Waste Plant)

£40m over the 
course of the 
contract

Specified Investments

 6.8 The MHCLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:

• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:

o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

6.9 The Authority defines “high credit quality” organisations and securities as those 
having a credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country 
with a sovereign rating of AA- or higher. 

Non-specified Investments

6.10 Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified investment is classed as 
non-specified.  The Authority does not intend to make any investments denominated 
in foreign currencies, nor any that are defined as capital expenditure by legislation, 
such as company shares.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to long-
term investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date 
of arrangement, and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition 

311



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

on high credit quality.  Limits on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 
below.

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits Cash limit

Total long-term investments £5.0m
Total investments with unrecognised credit ratings £5.0m

Total non-specified investments £10.0m

7. Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2019/20 

7.1 Where the council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources 
to repay that debt in later years. The amount charged to the revenue budget for the 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Local 
Government Act 2003 requires the council to have regard to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government’s Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 
(the MHCLG Guidance) most recently issued in 2018. The broad aim of the Guidance 
is to ensure that debt is repaid over a period that is reasonably commensurate with 
that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits. In line with the Guidance, 
the policy for the 2019/20 calculation of MRP is as follows:

Indicative 2019/20 
MRP charge £000

Supported borrowing 1,316

Prudential borrowing 6,160

Overprovision adjustment (477)

Finance leases and private finance initiatives 2,129

TOTAL 9,128

MRP on supported borrowing is written down on an annuity basis with an annuity rate 
of 2%.

MRP on unsupported borrowing incurred before 1 April 2008 will be written down on 
a straight line basis over the asset life.

MRP on unsupported borrowing from 1 April 2008 onwards is written down on an 
annuity basis with an annuity rate of 3%.

MRP on assets acquired through finance leases and Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
will be equal to the cash payments that reduce the outstanding liability each year.

312



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Annex A
EXISTING BORROWING AND INVESTMENTS

The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2018 and for the position as at 30 
September 2018 are shown below for both borrowing and investments.

TREASURY PORTFOLO
actual actual As at As at

Treasury Investments 31.3.18 31.3.18 30.09.18 30.09.18
£000 % £000 %

Banks - rated 4,740 34% 5,000 14%
building societies - rated 0 0% 0 0%
local authorities 5,000 35% 20,000 56%
DMADF (H.M. Treasury) 0 0% 0 0%
money market funds 4,380 31% 10,850 30%
certificates of deposit 0 0% 0 0%
Total managed in house 14,120 100% 35,850 100%
bond funds 0 0% 0 0%
property funds 0 0% 0 0%
Total managed externally 0 0% 0 0%
Total treasury investments 14,120 100% 35,850 100%

Treasury external borrowing
local authorities 5,000 3% 0 0%
PWLB 131,054 89% 128,266 91%
LOBOs 12,000 8% 12,000 9%
Total external borrowing 148,054 100% 140,266 100%

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) (133,934) 0 (104,416) 0

313



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Annex B 
BORROWING MATURITY PROFILE 

PWLB Borrowing        LOBO Borrowing

314



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Annex C
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

1. Background

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to 
have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code) when determining how much money it can afford to borrow. The 
objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that the capital investment plans of 
local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury 
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Authority has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets 
out the following indicators that must be set and monitored each year for the next 
three years.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and, in particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax 
levels.  

Capital Programme 2018/19
£000

2019/20 
Estimate

£000

2020/21
Estimate

£000

2021/22
Estimate

£000

Total   
£000

Existing approvals 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 234,920

Expected additional 
schemes - 11,697 10,106 8,106 29,909

Total expenditure 68,404 130,125 54,779 11,521 264,829

Funding

Capital receipts 14,091 11,944 - - 26,035

Grants & contributions 41,171 48,848 32,960 5,613 128,592

Prudential borrowing 13,142 69,333 21,819 5,908 110,202

Total 68,404 130,125 54,779 11,521 264,829

315



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

3. Capital Financing Requirement

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the council’s underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts 
held in the Balance Sheet relating to capital expenditure and financing. The table 
below includes PFI contracts:

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

4.1 In order to ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, 
the local authority should ensure that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed 
the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates 
of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years. 

4.2 The Section 151 Officer reports that the council currently has no difficulty meeting 
this requirement nor are there any difficulties envisaged for future years. This view 
takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the 
approved budget.

5. Operational Boundary for External Debt

5.1 The operational boundary is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but 
may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund 
under-borrowing by other cash resources.

Operational Boundary 2019/20
Estimate

£000

2020/21
Estimate

£000

2021/22
Estimate

£000
Operational Boundary for Borrowing 330,000 340,000 340,000

Operational Boundary for other Long-
Term Liabilities 60,000 60,000 60,000

Operational Boundary for External Debt 390,000 400,000 400,000

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

2019/20 
Estimate

£000

2020/21 
Estimate

£000

2021/22
Estimate

£000

Total forecast CFR 378,018 388,889 382,734

316



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

6. Authorised Limit for External Debt

6.1 The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with 
the Local Government Act 2003.  It is the maximum amount of debt that the Authority 
can legally owe. The authorised limit provides headroom over and above the 
operational boundary for unusual cash movements.

Authorised Limit 2019/20
Estimate

£000

2020/21
Estimate

£000

2021/22
Estimate

£000
Authorised Limit for Borrowing 350,000 350,000 350,000

Authorised Limit for other Long-Term 
Liabilities 70,000 70,000 70,000

Authorised Limit for External Debt 420,000 420,000 420,000

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget 
required to meet financing costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the 
Prudential Code and includes both interest payable and provision for repayment of 
loan principal.

7.2 The ratio is based on costs net of investment income. 

Ratio of Financing Costs to 
Net Revenue Stream

2019/20 
Estimate

£’000

2020/21 
Estimate

£’000

2021/22 
Estimate

£’000

Net Revenue Stream 150,987 156,985 163,224

Financing Costs 12,999 14,872 16,177

Percentage 8.6% 9.5% 9.9%

7.3 The above table shows budgeted financing costs within the council’s medium term 
financial strategy and reflects the revised MRP policy approved by Council in October 
2017.

8 Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code

8.1 This indicator demonstrates that the council has adopted the principles of best 
practice.

317



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

8.2 The council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice 
into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.  The council’s Treasury 
Management Policy Statement is attached at Annex E.

9. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure

9.1  These indicators allow the council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to 
changes in interest rates.  

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

Upper Limit for Fixed 
Interest Rate Exposure 100% 100% 100%

Upper Limit for 
Variable Interest  Rate 
Exposure

50% 50% 50%

10. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing

10.1 The council will also limit and monitor large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing 
to be replaced. Limits in the following table are intended to control excessive 
exposures to volatility in interest rates when refinancing maturing debt.

10.2 The maturity of borrowing (as shown in Annex B) is determined by reference to the 
date on which the loans could be repaid.  The council’s two LOBO loans could 
become repayable within 12 months although, if the lenders do not increase the 
interest rates being charged, which is the current assumption, then the loans could 
remain outstanding until 2054. 

Maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing

Estimated level 
at 31/03/19

Lower Limit
for 2019/20

Upper Limit
for 2019/20

Under 12 months 5% 0% 35%

12 months and within 24 months 3% 0% 30%

24 months and within 5 years 9% 0% 25%

5 years and within 10 years 18% 0% 25%

10 years and within 20 years 20% 0% 40%

20 years and within 30 years 15% 0% 40%

318



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

30 years and within 40 years 23% 0% 40%

40 years and within 50 years 7% 0% 40%

Total 100%

11. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

11.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise 
as a result of the council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested.

Upper Limit for 
total principal 
sums invested 
over 364 days

2019/20 
Estimate

£m

2020/21 
Estimate

£m

2021/22 
Estimate

£m

Authorised 
counterparties 5 5 5

319



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Annex D
OUTLOOK FOR INTEREST RATES
(FORECAST & ECONOMIC COMMENT PROVIDED BY TREASURY ADVISORS)

Mar- 
19

Jun
-19

Sep
-19

Dec
-19

Mar
-20

Jun
-20

Sep
-20

Dec
-20

Mar
-21

Jun
-21

Sep
-21

Dec
-21

Mar
-22

Bank 
Base 
Rate 
(%)

0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.75 1.75 2.00

PWLB Rates (%):

5 
years

2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80

10 
years

2.50 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20

25 
years

3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.70

50 
years

2.80 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.40 3.50

The above PWLB rates are noted by Link Asset Services as being their “central” or most 
likely forecast, however, they also note that there are upside and downside risks to their 
forecast.

Forecast: 

• The council’s treasury advisors forecast the bank base rate to stay on hold until June 
2019 at which point small stepped increases are anticipated. Capital Economics 
forecast that interest rates will increase more rapidly.

Council budget:

 As can be seen from the table above, the council’s treasury advisors central forecast is 
for the Bank Base Rate to remain at 0.75% for the first quarter of 2019/20 possibly 
increasing to 1.00% for the remainder of the financial year.  The council’s short-term 
borrowing budget has been based on a rate of up to 1.5% which should incorporate 
sufficient headroom to accommodate any unexpected changes in the Base Rate.

320



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

 The investment budget is based on the majority of funds being held in instant access 
accounts generating low returns, currently budgeted at 0.5%.

 Should the Bank Base Rate increase sooner or more rapidly than forecast the increased 
yield on investments will partly offset any increase in short-term variable borrowing 
rates.

321



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

Annex E

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT

1. Statement of Purpose

1.1 Herefordshire Council adopts the recommendations made in CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice, which was revised in 2017.  In 
particular, the council adopts the following key principles and clauses.

2. Key Principles

2.1 Herefordshire Council adopts the following three key principles (identified in Section 
4 of the Code): 

 The council will put in place formal and comprehensive objectives, policies and 
practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for the effective management 
and control of its treasury management activities.

 The council will ensure that its policies and practices make clear that the effective 
management and control of risk are prime objectives of its treasury management 
activities and that responsibility for these lies clearly with the council. In addition, 
the council’s appetite for risk will form part of its annual strategy and will ensure 
that priority is given to security and liquidity when investing funds.

 The council acknowledges that the pursuit of best value in treasury management, 
and the use of suitable performance measures, are valid and important tools to 
employ in support of business and service objectives, whilst recognising that in 
balancing risk against return, the council is more concerned to avoid risks than to 
maximise returns.

3. Adopted Clauses 

3.1 Herefordshire Council formally adopts the following clauses (identified in Section 5 of 
the code):

 The council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management:

 A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities;

 Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in 
which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and 
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 
contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where 
necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of the council.  Such 
amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 
Code’s key principles. 

 Full council will receive reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the 

322



Appendix 6

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20

year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close.

 The responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of treasury 
management policies and practices is delegated to Cabinet and for the execution 
and administration of treasury management decisions to the Chief Officer-
Finance and Commercial, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s 
policy statement and TMPs and, if he or she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s 
Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

4. Definition of Treasury Management

4.1 Herefordshire Council defines its treasury management activities as: -

 ‘The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks.’

5. Policy Objectives

5.1 Herefordshire Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the council, and any 
financial instruments entered into to manage these risks.

5.2 Herefordshire Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement 
techniques, within the context of effective risk management.

6. Non-treasury investments 

6.1 Herefordshire Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property 
primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires 
careful investment management. Such activity includes loans supporting service 
outcomes, investments in subsidiaries and investment property portfolios.

6.2 Herefordshire Council will ensure that all investments in the capital programme will set 
out, where relevant, the risk appetite and policy and arrangement for non-treasury 
investments. The risk appetite for these activities may differ from that of treasury 
management.

6.3 Herefordshire Council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing 
material investments, subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial 
guarantees and the organisations risk exposure within its annual statement of 
accounts.

323





 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 1 07/11/2018 

 

Budget consultation 2019/20 
Outcome report 
 
Version V1.0 
Herefordshire Council Intelligence Unit 
 

November 2018 
 

325



 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 2 07/11/2018 
Revision number 1 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Contents 
 
Key findings: ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 4 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................. 4 

Results .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Respondent profile .................................................................................................................. 13 

Appendix A: Nonstandard/other responses ................................................................................. 14 

Appendix B: Map of respondents to consultation ......................................................................... 14 

Appendix C: List of comments ..................................................................................................... 14 

Appendix D: The questionnaire ................................................................................................... 14 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If you need help to understand this document please call the Research Team on  
01432 261944 or e-mail researchteam@herefordshire.gov.uk  

 
 

326



 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 3 07/11/2018 
Revision number 1 

 

Key findings: 

 

 39 per cent of respondents thought the council’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 4.9% is 

about right, while 49 per cent thought it is too much and 12 per cent thought it is too little. 

 

 While 25 per cent of respondents agreed with the allocation of Council tax spend as set out 

in the budget till receipt, 56 per cent did not. There was a broad range of views about 

alternative ways of allocating resources.  

 

 37 per cent of respondents supported the council increasing its borrowing requirement by 

£22.3m to increase the level of investment in the county, 15 per cent supported borrowing 

more, and 48 per cent supported borrowing less. 

 

 49 per cent of respondents supported ‘keeping the maximum discount of 84%’ for the low 

income households Council Tax discount, 12 per cent supported increasing the discount and 

39 per cent supported reducing the level of discount. 

 

 With regard to the council’s award of business rate discounts to small businesses, 44 per 

cent supported to ‘continue to award the same level of business rate discount’, compared to 

32 per cent supported ‘increasing the availability of business rates discount’ and 24 per cent 

supported ‘reducing the level of discount’.  

 

 78 per cent of respondents agreed with the proposal to use £1.6m to employ more children’s 

social workers and to support more help for children, young people and families at an early 

stage. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

327



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 4 07/11/2018 

 

 
 
 

Introduction 
 
The consultation on Herefordshire Council’s budget for 2019/20 ran Thursday 5 July 2018 to Friday 

21 September 2018.  This report presents the key points from the analysis of standard responses 

received to the consultation questionnaire.   

 
 
 
 

Methodology 
 
The budget consultation questionnaire was designed and quality assured by a project team. The 

questionnaire was published on the Herefordshire Council website and residents were invited to 

complete it online. A printable version was made available on the website for residents who 

preferred to download, print and complete the questionnaire. The consultation was promoted on the 

council’s social media sites (Twitter and Facebook). And was also promoted to a wide range of key 

stakeholders and groups.  

 

This report presents the results of the combined online and paper responses to the questionnaire. 

The sample base is the number of respondents to the question and is the base from which 

percentages are calculated.  The sample base used is specified for each question.  Percentages 

are presented rounded to the nearest whole number in the tables; however, the charts are based on 

unrounded percentages.  

 

Note that if respondents could select more than one answer to a particular question, the 

percentages may add up to more than 100 per cent.   

 

Where comments have been provided these are listed in full in appendix C but have been 

anonymised and corrected for spelling where appropriate. 

 
There were a total of 225 responses to the questionnaire, of which 219 were submitted online and 

six were completed paper copies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

328



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 5 07/11/2018 

 

 

Results 

 
The following analysis represents 225 responses received to the consultation questionnaire.  

Appendix A contains the responses received e-mails to the consultation. The analysis of free text 

comments and suggestions to the questionnaire are included in this report. The full list of comments 

and suggestions can be found in appendix C. 

 

Q1. What do you think about our proposal to increase Council Tax by 4.9% in 2019/20? 

 

39 per cent of respondents thought the council’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 4.9% is about 

right, while 49 per cent thought it is too much and 12 per cent thought it is too little. 

 

Table 1: Respondents to Q1 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage of 
respondents 

About right 88 39% 

Too much 109 49% 

Too little 27 12% 

Total answered 224 100% 

Not answered 1 
  

 
Figure 1: Percentage of respondents to Q1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

About 
right, 39% 

Too 
much, 
49% 

Too little, 
12% 

329



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 6 07/11/2018 

 

 
 
Q2. Do you agree with the allocation of Council Tax spend as set out in the budget till 

receipt? This includes a 4.9% increase for 2019/20. 

 

While 25 per cent of respondents agreed with the allocation of Council tax spend as set out in the 

budget till receipt, 56 per cent of respondents did not. 19 per cent of respondents said they ‘don’t 

know’. 

 

Table 2: Respondents to Q2 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage of 
respondents 

Yes 55 25% 

No 125 56% 

Don't know 43 19% 

Total answered 223 100% 

Not answered 2 
  

 
Chart 1: Percentage of respondents to Q2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If not, please explain why: 
 
Respondents were asked to explain why they do not agree with the Council Tax allocation for 

2019/20. There were 112 comments provided, the broad themes emerged from these comments as 

follows: 

 

330



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 7 07/11/2018 

 

 
 
Chart 1a: Proportion of broad themes emerged from comments to Q2a 

 
 
The comments of those respondents who indicated they felt the allocation of resources is wrong 

were analysed further to see which areas they felt should have more or less spent on them. The 

results were as follows: 

 

Chart 1b: suggestions for resource reallocation 

 
 
Please see appendix C for the full list of comments. 
 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

too high no solutions suggested/CT unfair

allocation of resources is  wrong

too much money wasted/costs or interest too
high/too much spend on salaries

financial mismanagement/incompetence

more revenue needed/generate income from
other sources

Number of comments Note: one comment can be classified into more than one theme 

331



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 8 07/11/2018 

 

 
 

The council intends to invest over £48m in capital projects, such as improving 

Herefordshire’s roads and transport network, developing facilities for business to establish 

and grow in Hereford and Ross-on-Wye, improving schools and supporting delivery of 

housing.  

 

Q3. To support this investment we intend to borrow £22.3m, with repayment costs 

incorporated into household Council Tax. Do you: 

 

37 per cent of respondents supported the council increasing its borrowing requirement by £22.3m to 

increase the level of investment in the county, and 15 per cent supported borrowing more. 48 per 

cent supported borrowing less. 

 

Table 3: Respondents to Q3 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage of 
respondents 

Support the council increasing its borrowing requirement by 
£22.3m as proposed?  

82 37% 

Think that the council should borrow more than proposed to 
increase the level of investment in the county?  

33 15% 

Think that the council should borrow less, and reduce its 
investment in the county? 

105 48% 

Total answered 220 100% 

Not answered 5 
 

 
Chart 2: Percentage of respondents to Q3 
 

 
 
 

Yes, 25% 

No, 56% 

Don't 
know, 
19% 

332



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 9 07/11/2018 

 

 

 

If borrow more, what should the extra borrowed money be spent on? 

 

Of the respondents who provided a meaningful suggestion, two fifths would support investing on 

‘infrastructure’, a fifth would support investing on ‘public transport’, a sixth for 

‘library/museums/tourism’ or ‘children’s services’. There were also suggestions for investing in 

‘affordable housing, ‘new university’ and ‘health improvement services’. 

 

If borrow less, what investment should be cut? 

 

 A third of respondents who provided a comment suggesting a ‘cut’ to investment have suggested 

that council should cut down investment on ‘proposed bypass and/or on new roads and transport 

network’, a fifth suggested reducing expenditure, a sixth suggested reducing investment in 

‘housing’. Cutting down investment on ‘economy and businesses’, ‘schools’ and overall investment 

in ‘Hereford’ were also suggested. 

 

Please see appendix C for the full list of comments. 
 
 
  

333



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 10 07/11/2018 

 

 
Q4. The Council Tax Reduction scheme currently allows for households on low income to 

have their Council Tax discounted by a maximum of 84% of the amount payable. Would you 

support: 

 

‘Keeping the maximum discount at 84%’ is supported by 49 per cent of respondents, while 12 per 

cent would support ‘increasing the level of discount’ and 39 per cent would support ‘reducing the 

level of discount’. 

 

Table 4: Respondents to Q4 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage of 
respondents 

Keeping the maximum discount at 84% 111 49% 

Increasing the level of the discount (to more than 84%) 26 12% 

Reducing the level of the discount (to less than 84%) 88 39% 

Total answered 225 100% 

 
 
Figure 2: Percentage of respondents to Q4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49% 

12% 

39% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Keeping the maximum discount at
84%

Increasing the level of the discount
(to more than 84%)

Reducing the level of the discount
(to less than 84%)

% of respondents 

Support for Council Tax discounts 

334



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 11 07/11/2018 

 

44% 

32% 

24% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Continuing to award this level of
business rates discount

Increasing the availability of
business rates discounts

Reducing the level of business rates
discounts available

% of respondents 

Support for business rate discounts 

 

Q5. The council awards approximately £18.7m of business rates discounts in a year, 

including £8.4m awarded to small businesses. Would you support: 

 

44 per cent of respondents supported to continue to award the same level of business rates, while 

32 per cent supported increasing the availability of business rates, and 24 per cent supported a 

reduction in the level of available business rates discounts. 

 
Table 5: respondents to Q5 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage 
of 

respondents 

Continuing to award this level of business rates discount 99 44% 

Increasing the availability of business rates discounts 72 32% 

Reducing the level of business rates discounts available 53 24% 

Total answered 224 100% 

Not answered 1 
 

 
Figure 3: percentage of respondents to Q5 
 

                                    
 
  

335



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 12 07/11/2018 

 

Yes 
78% 

No 
22% 

Do you agree that funding should 
be used to support this work? 

 
 
The caseloads of social workers who work with children, young people and their families to 

keep them safe are of concern to us. In order to reduce these workloads and the chance of 

children and young people being at risk because of them, we are proposing to use £1.6m to 

employ more children’s social workers and to support more help for children, young people 

and families at an early stage. 

 

Q6. Do you agree that funding should be used to support this work? 

78 per cent of respondents supported the proposal to use £1.6m to employ more children’s social 

workers and to support more help for children, young people and families at an early stage – table 6 

 

Table 6: respondents to Q6 

 

Number of 
respondents 

Percentage 
of 
respondents 

Yes 175 78% 

No 50 22% 

Total answered 225 100% 

 
 
Figure 4: percentage of respondents to Q6 

 

   

336



 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 13 07/11/2018 

 

 
Respondent profile 
 

 Two per cent of respondents represented an organisation or a group while 98 per cent were 

individuals. Three organisations identified themselves as:;   

     Kingstone Academy Trust 

     Bosbury and Coddington Parish Council 

Hereford and South Herefordshire Green Party 

 

 181 respondents provided their full postcode - please see map (appendix B- map of 

respondents to consultation) 

 53 per cent of respondents to the survey were males, 40 per cent were females, and 7 per cent 

preferred not to say. 

(Herefordshire population profile: 50 percent to 50 percent)1 

 25 per cent were aged 65 years or over, 45 per cent were aged 45-64 years, 28 per cent were 

aged 25-44 years and two per cent were 24 years or younger. People aged 24-64 years were 

largely over represented in the consultation.  

 

Chart 4: Age distribution of survey respondents and Herefordshire population 

 

 

 

                                            
1
 The Population of Herefordshire 2018 (https://factsandfigures.herefordshire.gov.uk/media/60636/population-

of-herefordshire-2018-v10.pdf) 

2% 

28% 

45% 

17% 

8% 
10% 

27% 

52% 

16% 
13% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

16-24 years 25-44 years 45-64 years 65-74 years 75+ years

%
 o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

d
e
n

ts
/p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 16+ respondents to the

question=211

16+ population in
Herefordshire=159,100

337

https://factsandfigures.herefordshire.gov.uk/media/60636/population-of-herefordshire-2018-v10.pdf
https://factsandfigures.herefordshire.gov.uk/media/60636/population-of-herefordshire-2018-v10.pdf


 
 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 14 07/11/2018 

 

 

 13 per cent of respondents’ day-to-day activities were limited a little or limited a lot because of a 

health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months. 

 94 per cent of respondents identified themselves as English, Scottish, Welsh or British; five per 

cent identified themselves as another national identity. 

 Of the respondents who answered the question about their ethnicity, 96 per cent identified 

themselves as ‘white’ and three percent as ‘other white’. This composition is slightly different to 

the adult population ethnicity profile of the county, where five per cent were ‘other white’ and two 

per cent were ‘non-white’ (2011 Census). 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A: Nonstandard/other responses 

Appendix B: Map of respondents to consultation 

Appendix C: List of comments 

Appendix D: The questionnaire 

338



 

Email responses from residents 
 

Email 1: 
 
Companies such as Balfour Beatty  to make a profit for their shareholders, not to enhance 

the lives of residents. In this rural county their lack of expertise in tree work and general care 

for the rural environment is all too obvious.  

If the council ran its own in house workforce it would provide local jobs and that element of 

profit margin would be saved.  

Distance travelled is a big factor in this county; employ local people in the market towns to 

care for the environment and facilities such as toilets.  

We are a tourist destination for people keen to escape urban areas and experience old world 

charm so spend more on Tourist Information to promote what we have  

Instead of intricate paving schemes in the heart of Hereford, spend more on plain tarmac so 

that our charming lanes and few main roads can be driven along smoothly and people do not 

trip over numerous potholes. Does the County Hospital send you details of the number of 

casualties they treat? Broken hips are the beginning of the end for many elderly people – 

this county has more than most authorities. 

 

<name removed> 

  

339



 

Email 2: 
 
1. I refer to the consultation "till receipt" included in the consultation. 

 

In the list of items 'Other income to supplement council tax' I would expect to see some 

income from Business Rates, Revenue Support Grant and possibly from the Energy from 

Waste scheme? 

(In the presentation you show an expected income of £36m from business rates - a third of 

the income from Council Tax. Admittedly RSG is tiny.) 

 

2. Can you explain why in the presentation of the budget for 2018/19, it showed that the 

savings expected from EC&C in 2019/20 were £1.060m, and in the presentation of the 

2019/20 budget this time, the same directorate is expected to make savings of £2.017m. 

For example, are you proposing to make additional cuts (£225m) to Public and Community 

Transport that were not originally projected for 2019/20? 

And why the savings from Corporate in 2018/19 budget presentation were £1.2m and are 

now £0.5m? 

 

3. The Corporate Plan for 2016-2020, shows a base budget of £141m for 2019/20. This 

consultation has a figure of £145.4m. Why has the budget increased? 

 

4. The MTFS Capital Programme shows a spend of £10.341m on the Local Transport Plan 

in both 2018/19 and 2019/20. What is this expenditure for? 

 

5. The MTFS Capital programme for 2019/20 shows zero spend on other schemes less than 

£500k. Is this realistic? 

 

 

Thank you 

<name removed> 

 

340



341



 

Intelligence Unit Page 1 07/11/2018 

 

Appendix C: List of comments 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
This report shows the comments made by residents to budget consultation 2018 questionnaire. 
Some of the comments have been edited to preserve anonymity, where this has been done the 
changes are marked within < >. Any remarks added by data entry personnel are shown in 
parenthesis, for example [comment illegible]. 
Note: Some of the comments refer to the statement number in the questionnaire. Where 
necessary, please refer to the consultation questionnaire. 
 

342



 

 

Intelligence Unit Page 2 07/11/2018 
Revision number 1 

 

 

Q2. Do you agree with the allocation of Council Tax spend as set out in the budget till receipt? This includes a 4.9% 
increase for 2019/20. If not, please explain why: 
 

Comments: 

Not enough is spent on fixing the county's roads nor on the library and museum's service 

Need more road maintenance, hence answer to question1 

Not enough is spent on providing affordable housing for local residents. In particular in rural villages where young families are being pushed out by 
market forces and buyers that come to the county from afar. It is an absolute disgrace that Herefordshire does not help its own young working 
families to get on the housing ladder. If private enterprise is not willing to provide affordable housing due to profit margins, perhaps the council should 
consider building its own housing to provide for its residents. 

You waste too much money on non-essentials 

Money not being put into early intervention and charities offer services for much lower rates why is this? 

Your questionnaire assumes I agree with the method of collecting tax i.e. Council Tax. It is unfair regressive and there are not enough bands so that 
wealthy householders pay more 

Economic growth is a priority for the council yet there seems to be a lack of investment; shouldn't investment in this area be presented as providing 
for our children's future? On the subject of protecting our children - when are the council going to get to grips with their finances. They have a 
research team that forecasts need, a finance team which allocates budget, and a management team that seem to overspend in this area. One of 
them must be wrong in what they do!! 

Childrens Services require more spending helping young people in the care system and those that support them. The budget is stretched far too 
thinly and I would like to see the budget doubled 

Too high 

Start saving before spending and pay cuts up the top would help 

The continuous cuts to services and rewritings regulatory criteria to reduce expenditure is not the best approach. The undefined level of savings and 
the means of achieving them is just wishful thinking. 

I'd like to see far more spent on broadband rollout, and roads (repairs, snow clearance etc.); and much less on lifestyle services, schools and buses. 

You need to lower your running costs and spend less on vanity projects and more on economic development 

343



 

Intelligence Unit Page 3 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

Make cuts to staffing and executive pay 

Some of your costs are simply too high. Why do we insist on having libraries, when most people read / buy books online now (if you do keep them, 
they should be part of other buildings / community hubs). Why are we paying towards planning when it's a chargeable service? Why do we pay so 
much for council office / administration / IT costs, these should be a lot lower and would be if you ran yourselves like a proper business. 

Herefordshire residents are already paying the highest Council Tax I the UK, and have consistently and persistently shouldered the burden. 

No faith in HC councillors or staff to properly consider such matters. 

Too little spent on housing 

Insufficient funding for child protection, e.g. early intervention, buses and community transport for isolated and deprived rural areas, roads, health in 
terms of preventative measures, support for elderly in their own homes and local government running costs appear high 

Too greater spend on social care 

Paying Hoople too much... Capital finance ill thought through... Should not have wasted do much on Blue school house... Broadband is private 
enterprise, not a utility. Why spend public money on it? 

Far too much spent on local government running costs as a percentage of the whole, with too much time, effort and money being spent on vanity 
projects e.g. the bypass, a proposed university, etc. 

Cost of local government running costs is too high, e.g. council overspend on Blue school House and not taking responsibility. Council is not fit to 
manage a budget 

Children with disabilities’ education are at crisis point.  Families and/or carers are at crisis point.  The number of profoundly disabled children is 
increasing.  Special schools are bursting at the seams. 

Where's the public transport support? I want to use a bus instead of my car all the time! What about community transport? Help that, too! 

You do not spend the money wisely 

Why is so much going on interest and debt repayments and so little on investment in economic growth? 

Council control libraries and they are the future for our children. Increase share of funding 

No arts provision. Nothing much for libraries. Herefordshire is a cultural desert - risks become very small minded, etc. 

Too much for schools 

More income could be achieved from car parking and investment property. Election, governance & legal costs could be reduced. 

Running costs to high and low value from Roads & Bridges charges 

344



 

Intelligence Unit Page 4 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

Suggest reduce lifestyle services (paying for people to do something they could do for themselves). Spend something on Tourist Information 
services. 

Too much on substance abuse, sexual health and other Nanning services 

I feel the council rewards its 'top' staff with large salaries when we have a history of failing the county with services that continually dwindle. Not to 
mention the underquote on the new building on Blue school Street! The amount of money that had been spent on the council offices and continual 
refurbishment is also disgraceful frankly. No accountability springs to mind. 

More should go to the police. 

"Roads, bridges and care of...", "Housing", and "Child protection" should be invested in more. 

If you didn’t  waste money and overspent on things  that would help  with  ensuring  better management of tax payers money 

more funding for sustainable transport solutions including buses and park and ride for the city 

Nearly 40% of the allocation is 'looking after adults' - we should expect families to do more to support their loved ones, not the state. Also, the 
allocation against IT, Transactions & Billing seems high compared to Staff & Administration costs 

Too little money is spent on maintaining public rights of way.  In particular it is very short-sighted and counter-productive to close the P3 scheme, as 
using local contractors is far more cost-effective than using BBLP 

Too much spent on capital finance 

Child protection is totally out of control a complete shambles that needs scrapping. 

Too much spending on adult social care and elderly.   More should be done for the social responsibility of the families of these people to pay 

I think more should be spent on affordable housing and less on bin collection. More emphasis should be made of community spirit, people do not 
have disposable income as they used to fund things like the new roads that do not provide that much function. 

Too much being spent on financing. Cut costs rather than borrow each year! (yes that includes those individual bottles of water at each meeting and 
the taxis) 

More funds need to be allocated to children with disabilities and additional needs given the rising costs. 

We pay too much to Herefordshire Council for a bad service now 

More should be spent on Broadband and less on economic regeneration. 

This is not clear. More focus on prevention e.g... lifestyle 

Annual inflation is not 4.9% 

Social care should be paid for by the people who use it, it is expected for us to fund our own social are, I cannot afford to pay for other people's s well 

345



 

Intelligence Unit Page 5 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

Because it is not affordable to me. Why does bin collection and environment cost so much, is this due to lack of efficient commissioning of service? 
It’s not fit for purpose.  Why is so much allocated to schools when parents are still asked to contribute so much financially additionally.  Too much 
funding is allocated to preventative measures for smoking and has been the case for several years, what about other preventative measures and 
dropping the smoking.  There is no rural transport and as they are run by private companies, why is this subsidised through the Council Tax.  Too 
much money is allocated to people with disability which if invested in the community and voluntary sector organisations directly could lead to a 
reduction in this extortionate allocation.  Why is more money not allocated to Looked after children, they are the real in need and poorly served. 

Please invest more in health improvement and lifestyle services - this will reduce our costs and improve our wellbeing and health for the future 

Borrowing so much is not prudent.  The interest payments just mean that we have to pay higher Council Tax 

I don't see why drug addiction & sexual health should have twice the allocation of resources as libraries and records. That seems very unbalanced. 

Too much spent on substance abuse and sexual health 

More money should be allocated to rural transport, housing, economic development and libraries, records and customer services and less should be 
spent on lifestyles services and I.T. 

Salaries are too high for Directors in Council. Do not spend on stopping smoking campaign. Care for older people - families need to contribute more. 

too much waste in council spending 

Apart from the budget till receipt trivialising important decisions, it does not provide enough information. The expenditure on Hoople appears 
excessive, economic development and regeneration is not broken down. Why is "environment" lumped in with bin collections - what on earth does 
that mean? Why are elections, governance and legal services lumped together? Capital finance and interest payments are excessive and given the 
low level or reserves, the Council should not take on any further capital expenditure commitments.  Much greater transparency and consultation is 
needed. 

Year on year we are asked to pay way over the rate of Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation; my pension is not keeping up with these rises and it is 
not fair. 

I think it is too little.  Everything requires more funding. 

Unless incomes go up by 5% how can people afford a 5%Council Tax increase? 

More should be spent on funding public services such as museums, galleries, records and libraries as well as open spaces. 

346



 

Intelligence Unit Page 6 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

Why Election and Governance costs are over four times staff costs? Why is so many locum staff employed at extortionately high agency rates? Why 
do the Council find it so hard to recruit and retain good experienced staff in social care teams across Adults and Childrens Services? 

It is too big an increase for the services we get and too costly for struggling households 

This is way above inflation 

Insufficient information. Headings too broad 

Stop the unnecessary by-pass and you can spread the saving without such an increase or so much borrowing - it is criminal to suggest borrowing 
more when you're wasting what you have 

I think there should be more funding available for the public realm, open spaces, roads etc. 

More needs to be spent on maintaining our roads as they are now in a shocking state.  A quick repair job is not the answer or do we all have to buy 
rough terrain vehicles. 

Libraries are the future for children, underfunded. Something only the council can do. 

The spend on schooling looks high, until you see the central government income also.  The net spend is comparably small.  More needs to be spent 
on schooling - this is the future.  There is both income and expenditure from capital financing interest.  Assuming that the interest income is at a lower 
% than the interest expenditure, this appears wasteful. 

How have you come to a figure of a 4.9% increase? Our family’s wages have only increased 1% per year for the last decade with a pay freeze the 
year before that and we are a band D. 4.9% increase in a year is ridiculous. 

I absolutely reject the need for the by-pass and am therefore totally against the Council borrowing millions of pounds to pay for it.  I do not live in any 
of the residential areas affected by it, but I do travel into Hereford every day.  The bypass is NOT needed, what is needed is a better internal traffic 
infrastructure for getting children to school - during school holidays there is hardly any problem at all.  Plainly not all the traffic during the holidays will 
be using the by-pass, which shows how little actually would. 

Car parking? 

10% of Council Tax spent on disabled. Who probably make up 1% or less of population 

Would like to see a bit more spent on buses, community transport, libraries and customer services and a bit less on running costs (admin, property 
maintenance) 

It is difficult to come to a conclusion without comparisons to previous years or against other similar authorities. It seems that caring for disable adults 
costs twice as much as residential care for old people. Is this reasonable? Probably it is but without further breakdown of how the money is spent, I 
can't come to any conclusion. 

Unfair that houses in higher Council Tax bands should pay 2or 3 times more than lower tax band households 

Burdensome to already cash strapped residents whilst we are paying too much for IT (Hoople) 

347



 

Intelligence Unit Page 7 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

More needs to be allocated to children's and adult social care services. Less money should be spent on commercial ventures 

4.9% increase it far too much 

We already pay enough for too little! 

It is too big an increase for the services we get and too costly for struggling households 

I disagree with the amounts being borrowed for new road schemes including the Hereford bypass. Like Nottingham council you could tax work place 
car parks to invest in safe Active travel especially safe routes to school, bus subsidies & comprehensive segregated cycle network across Hereford. 
Best use of public health grants. 

It is more than twice the rate of inflation. Pensioners will not be able to afford to stay in their own homes they have worked all their lives for. 

as the amount of money spent is too high and results are to small no increase if needed if procurement is done correctly 

More needs to be spent on preventative services-which can only happen if there is an increase above 4.9% 

Too much spent on disabled, debt repayment, and buses 

Too much being spent on children in care. Too many in care given population 

I think it would be possible to further reduce/sell off the council's buildings estate.  It is difficult to assess whether the proportionate spend is 
appropriate without more detail. You do appear to be spending a colossal amount on debt interest payments - is this normal or a symptom of previous 
financial mismanagement? 

I have had enough of my bill going up as I cannot afford it and have no access to council run services so do not benefit from any of it. 

Too much 

families are already struggling 

I am on slightly above average wages that have been frozen for 2 years then a 1% pay raise for the past 3 years, the majority of people cannot afford 
their bills as they are with food and housing inflation continuing to rise from 2.3-5.6% over the past few years.  We have already had a rise this past 
year of 4.9% which is frankly crippling most people on top of inflated costs and this would finish our family off without exaggeration. 

Too much on children in care - this is not good for the children whose life chances are low 

Too much is being spend on debt repayment and interest. Scale back capital investment to reduce these charges. Increase the allocation of funding 
to Children's Services and to Buses and Community Transport 

you waste money and overspend on project  , no accountability on  over spending on projects like blue school street 

Local salaries are not increasing at this rate 

348



 

Intelligence Unit Page 8 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

No one’s wages has gone up by that amount. 

I don’t agree with increase as a whole. There is an increase every year, yet the levels of services decrease every year. 

Too many cuts in essential services and too much money spent and planned on vanity projects and expensive private consultants like wasp and 
Balfour Beatty. This stuff should be done in house and people's needs prioritised over and above expensive privatisation. Follow Liverpool and take 
the running of services in house with proper expert’s whi have our real needs at heart, not profit for multinationals. 

No money should be spent on building new roads and more spent on improving public transport and encouraging cycling/walking in safe spaces. 

I do not agree with the increase. How on Earth can a Conservative administration justify tax increases? 

Not enough for children's services 

I am on a fixed pension income from 34 years of full-time work, and have truly grafted to pay off my mortgage; hence I am fundamentally opposed to 
the continuing drawdown on Council Tax-paying householders to pay for adult social care costs ad infinitum. If your view of the welfare state is take 
care of all, forever, costs irrespective, -then pay for it from Council borrowings with interest rates so low. For so long. 

Debt repayment and interest payments should be reduced, by reducing capital spend on road building. More money should go to Buses and 
Community Transport and Looking after Children. Further comments / observations. 1. No income is shown on the Till Receipt from Business Rates 
and Revenue Support Grant     2. Can you explain why in the presentation of the budget for 2018/19, it showed that the savings expected from EC&C 
in 2019/20 were £1.060m, and in the presentation of the 2019/20 budget this time; the same directorate is expected to make savings of £2.017m.  
For example, are you proposing to make additional cuts (£225m) to Public and Community Transport that were not originally projected for 2019/20?     
And why the savings from Corporate in 2018/19 budget presentation were £1.2m and are now £0.5m?  3. The Corporate Plan for 2016-2020, shows 
a base budget of £141m for 2019/20. This consultation has a figure of £145.4m. Why has the budget increased?     4. The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) Capital Programme shows a spend of £10.341m on the Local Transport Plan in both 2018/19 and 2019/20. What is this expenditure 
for?     5. The MTFS Capital programme for 2019/20 shows zero spend on ‘other schemes less than £500k’. Is this realistic? 

Less should be spend on governance. Additionally, the council should not give in to pressures around road maintenance, verges etc. Providing 
education, care and services to our children, vulnerable people and older people should take priority. We should absolutely focus on infrastructure 
which brings revenue into Herefordshire and focus funding on prevention to reduce future demand. Pot holes can wait! 

More on roads resurfacing, more on libraries, more on public transport, Less on economic development and regeneration. 

349



 

Intelligence Unit Page 9 07/11/2018 

 

Comments: 

Not enough on roads, repairs & need for Leominster bypass, Excessive pollution unacceptable. Not enough on Libraries/Museum/archives 

 
 
Q3a. To support this investment we intend to borrow £22.3m, with repayment costs incorporated into household Council 
Tax. If borrow more, what should the extra borrowed money be spent on? 
 

Comments 
Bus services, library and museums 

bus services 

Social housing and infrastructure 

A detailed plan for transport especially in Hereford, which doesn't rely on a bus based system. The condition of the existing network is very poor and needs a 
dramatic new approach to restoring its condition. 

Infrastructure 

Public transport - buses to rural communities 

To make sure that the above is actually completed. 

Cultural provision, support for craft workers, investment in people and place - and much, much less spent on senior and middle management pay - cut the 
top not the bottom. 

More radical thinking in our transport infrastructure at county and city level which would encourage more businesses to relocate. e.g. properly upgraded, 
fast, trunk roads to Hereford from M50 and Worcester; segregated cycle paths from outlying villages into Hereford city, free/cheap shuttle buses within the 
city to reduce car movements. 

Improving the public right of way network to make it more accessible and to repair numerous bridges which are in poor repair.  If these problems are not 
addressed the Council's fixed assets will further deteriorate 

Road network needs a massive amount spent on it. 

Roads, children, hospital 

Projects like the university and further investment in roads like the proposed bypass 

350



 

Intelligence Unit Page 10 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 
museums & libraries, public transport 

Better support for Third Sector projects, schools and staff 

Resurfacing roads 

investment in resources for the new influx of residents and students to the County - Museums and libraries and similar tourism / enrichment activities 

child health, adult mental health services, care agencies 

Developing more facilities in Ledbury to allow existing businesses to expand and new businesses to be attracted to Ledbury. 
PS: The arithmetic on page 8-savings required is not correct. The total savings should read £6,267,000 not the figure of £5,267,000 shown. A considerable 
difference.  

Infrastructure expenditure is declining significantly from 2018-2020.  The base is hardly one of over-investment.  I support more investment in infrastructure, 
schools and roads - but not council offices. 

Borrowing is cheap at the moment. Do it now while rates are low. Don't forget North Herefordshire.... 

Herefordshire university & Healthy Lifestyles 

More infrastructure. More housing. 

Education, new council housing 

 
 

 
Q3b. To support this investment we intend to borrow £22.3m, with repayment costs incorporated into household Council 
Tax. If borrow less, what investment should be cut? 
 

Comments 
fire most of them at Plough lane 

Economic development and IT, transactions and billing 

I do not believe taxpayers' money should be used to promote private enterprise in the county. It is not for local government to intervene and subsidise private 
firms or entice them with business rate cuts. 

351



 

Intelligence Unit Page 11 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 

all non-essential spend such as social care which should come out of central gov. funds 

I think that you need to be more specific about what these projects are. Then I can make a real decision. Borrowing is something we should look to reduce, 
not increase and expect us to pay for mismanaged money 

Supporting delivery of, presumably private, housing shouldn't be something that my tax money is going on. I don't see how taking out loans is sustainable 
funding for the council. 

They shouldn't sold everything as they would have funds if they waited and save the borrowing just going to get more and more as they haven't got as much 
income coming in 

Stupid kerbs in hi town, stop moving offices every 2 minutes, stop wasting money paying 10 men to do a job when only 2 work. 

Borrowing is simply disguising the Council spending beyond its means. Cut schools and housing delivery but maintain investment in roads. 

New university 

To date there are no projects run competitively all go to Balfour Beatty Living Places (BBLP) why are tax cows being used to fill there trough 

I don't think you should cut investment into the county, as this is highly needed, however I don't see why households should pay for it. Shouldn't the 
repayment costs be covered by the investment you bring into the county instead? 

Stop all the ridiculous vanity projects. Reduce the number of councillors and staff. No more new housing. Let market town councils do their own funding 

schools 

The proposed bypass scheme 

Investment too Hereford and Ross focussed 

New Road allocation and the building of executive homes 

Anything that is not a legal requirement should not be funded 

Salaries for managers in the Council should be frozen and when officers are replaced, get rid of the six-figure salaries. Stop building of new roads, repair 
those we have and invest in park and ride, cycling and pedestrian infrastructures instead. 

352



 

Intelligence Unit Page 12 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 

I don't think the council is capable of managing a decent sized capital project and should refrain from wasting any more public money. 

Borrowing will simply add to the cost of debt, which is already at 7.5% of your "budget till receipt", you are simply pushing the financial problems of the 
Council forward to the next generation. 

Facilities for business, a general heading which could be anything. Hereford Councils recent big projects appear to be reckless and beyond comprehension 

Investing in  pointless roads that serve only to increase congestion 

The western bypass. For heaven's sake, it's a rubbish idea. Invest in public transport, turning space above shops into flats, reduce waste in the city and 
towns 

Stop spending most of the money in the mid to south part of county. There is a large part of Herefordshire North of Dinmore 

None. Make savings elsewhere. Investment shouldn't be the first thing to be cut. 

Concentrate on maintaining existing services rather than having these capital projects. 

Stop building bypass road 

Get better value for investment 

Over staffing and overpaying council officers who care nothing for the county unless it lines their pockets. I.E. allowing Herefordshire to disappear under 
acres of plastic sheeting 

From all plans. 

No. Comment on this 

Why invest in Ross as you are not investing in the other Market Towns?  Would excluding Ross mean you borrow less? 

land, whilst only supporting public housing 

Developing facilities for business 

The so called by pass. 

All should be cut equally 

I do not agree the Council's spend on its proposed SLR or by-pass roads.  Instead it should invest convincingly in modal shift to low carbon and active 
transport 

Make wiser decisions. Spend less on silly little things like cycle path signs, stop executive expense waste don't spend millions on office upgrades. Need I 
continue? 

If you haven’t got it don’t spend it on projects, people should always come first 

353



 

Intelligence Unit Page 13 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 
New Roads/bypass 

central government should be funding care of elderly, not local councils 

Make sure that capital spend is necessary, will the by Really reduce city traffic? 

Improving schools and delivery of housing.  Schools are allowed to close when they have been in existence for 5 years with little support.  There is no point 
in investing in housing when you are not investing in the infrastructure which needs to accompany it.  Investment into business is only aimed at private 
businesses and not enough for the smaller businesses.  Seeing as the new bypass will take years to build why the increase now? 

That's your job, not mine.  But I'm not at all convinced that the famous link road is money well spent. 

Consultations. These are very expensive and every week there seems to be a new one for something. I have also noticed that if a consultation produces a 
result the council doesn't like another one is set up. 

Concentrate on Hereford. Ross on Wye is just a small town - no investment needed. Make sure the bypass around Hereford actually happens! 

spend more wisely, stop waste 

I assume the investment includes expenditure on the bypass - perhaps the bypass should be re-visited 

Plans for new roads, opening up the areas for new housing development with no corresponding provision of services - in particular health, hospitals, 
education and public transport.  Absolutely no further borrowing. 

Delivery of excessive amounts of housing that are swamping small villages and where there is no work for those who can afford to buy those new houses. 

None.  This money should be collected by increasing Council Tax. 

I think that we should not borrow the capital because it will cost us more in the longer term in interest repayments. In my opinion, we should save until we 
can afford this investment. 

I disagree that borrowing less necessitates a reduction in investment in our county, and strongly object to the leading wording of this question.  I believe in 
raising sufficient funds from Council Tax revenues to finance public services and capital projects. 

That is for councillors to decide 

Focus business in Hereford rather than Ross on Wye 

The council should prioritise its investment and reduce its borrowing to avoid problems in the future. 

This  bypass waste of money 

354



 

Intelligence Unit Page 14 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 

This is a slanted question with misleading optional answers, i.e. investment in the county is not only borrowing especially when that includes the bypass. 

The proposed bypass is a waste of money, more needs to be done to support sustainable transport 

How dare you borrow more and charge us more for something we neither want nor need. In school holidays we can sail through town without the hold ups, 
which proves it is not the through traffic causing the problem.  If you must borrow then improve the infrastructure not waste it on a white elephant and one or 
two Councillors personal ambition & pride! 

Reduce the spend on business facilities 

Focus on schools and housing 

Councillors pay at the top. Stop proposed road across Kings Acre and reroute it somewhere off Roman Road/Stretton Sugwas road to make better use of 
that investment. 

Bypass 

Businesses can find other ways to gain investment. 

The loan for building the by-pass should be cut.  The consultation was a farce - the man in charge said it didn't matter what the outcome was; the by-pass 
will go ahead anyway (nowhere near his house of course!). I live further away from the city than he does but travel in every day - during the busy times.  
Borrowing millions to pay for what I think is his personal ambition is abhorrent - I wish I had never voted for him and certainly won't again! 

Less money on roads and transport and supporting business 

Supporting delivery of housing - developers make enough money on new homes and shouldn't require the help of the council 

Roads and schools 

My concern is not with the amount of money to be borrowed but where it is to be spent. From what I have been able to determine, plans involve mainly 
Hereford with some investment in Ross and Leominster. It is unclear how the market towns and rural areas will benefit yet their residents will be expected to 
pay for the borrowing. I would like to see increased investment in the county not just in the county town. 

Herefordshire’s roads and transport network 

commercial ventures; consultants fees; factor in savings on interest on borrowing 

Make savings elsewhere 

The authority keeps on borrowing and hiking up the Council Tax so that we end up paying for the investment. A more community and holistic approach is 
needed to find out exactly where residents think their money should be spent. 

Doesn't need to borrow less if more thought was considered from public before decisions were taken. Not a good question for public to answer. 

355



 

Intelligence Unit Page 15 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 

The council should prioritise its investment and reduce its borrowing to avoid problems in the future. 

Investment in the Hereford bypass which has no business case & makes congestion worse. Will worsen the average spend in the city centre decreasing the 
vibrancy of the Commercial sector. Cycling cities have a higher local spend per head of population so investment in a cycling network would support the city 
& tourism businesses. 

New road building 

The council has a huge income from Council Tax; I think it should be spent more wisely. Why new council offices, again? Works on Commercial Road when 
it has so recently been paved... 

to date Hereford transport policy is a joke until this is sorted no further money should be borrowed 

The endless cycle of more housing, more roads, more demand for services, more need to invest, more debt has to end eventually and the longer it takes the 
more painful it will be - if you haven't got the money don't buy it. 

Get central government to distribute tax more fairly throughout the UK. Londoners have a far better standard of living subsidised by Europe and central 
government. 

Houses 

Reduce building of houses from 2020 when funding removed. Herefordshire's roads and transport network needs improving first, spend money on 
maintaining current infrastructure 

The council should reduce its role in economic development & leave this to the private sector 

Building the Hereford Bypass and the Southern Link Road 

Salaries for Directors in Council e.g. <name removed> should be reduced significantly. Stop lining the pockets of council employees and look after the 
residents better 

Concentrate on roads, and housing, then you're income will rise because you will be able to collect more Council Tax due to move housing. 

There is a great deal of wastage by the council services.  Services should be brought back in house as other Counties are finding out.  Balfour Beatty are 
taking us all for fools as did Jarvis and Amey.  Learn from your mistakes.  Don't borrow more as that just leads to more being paid out in extortionate interest 
charges 

These are unaffordable vanity projects. Investment is needed now in safe active and public transport. This would reduce congestion, improve our health, 
reduce crime and mental health and improve economics and social mobility. Affordable homes are needed now and city regeneration should be worked on 
with owners of derelict buildings and brownfield sites required to redevelop or sell up for this purpose of affordable homes. 

Business development and growth. New road building. You cannot have infinite growth on a finite planet. More roads = more traffic. This has been proven 
time and time again. 

356



 

Intelligence Unit Page 16 07/11/2018 

 

Comments 
The taxpayer should not be expected to subsidise private enterprise. 

Social care. Housing delivery - developers should slim their profits to pay a % more for essential associated infrastructure, or there should be less housing -
period. 

Investment in road building (Hereford Bypass specifically) should be cut. 

land and property 

Disagree with this. If it is not viable for the private sector it is inappropriate for local government. 

 

 

357



                        

Budget consultation 2019/20

The questionnaire

Our budget proposals for 2019/20 have been prepared against the backdrop of the government's 
continuing austerity programme. Grants from central government have been drastically cut in recent 
years and will be almost eliminated by 2020. Council Tax and business rates currently meet around 
40% of the council’s annual costs and fund many services across the county, from waste collection 
and road maintenance to looking after vulnerable children and adults. Therefore, Council Tax would 
need to be raised by 4.9% to balance the budget for 2019/20. This includes a 2.9% increase in the 
core Council Tax and the 2% adult social care precept. The impact of this increase on a Band D 
property is £5.90 per month.

Your Council Tax funds many services across the county, from waste collection and road 
maintenance, to looking after vulnerable children and adults. Each year we set a budget to decide 
how much we’re able to spend on services for Herefordshire residents and businesses for the next 
financial year.

Q1 What do you think about our proposal to increase Council Tax by 4.9% in 2019/20?

About right

Too much

Too little

Q2 Do you agree with the allocation of Council Tax spend as set out in the budget till receipt at 
the end of this document? This includes a 4.9% increase for 2019/20.

Yes

No

Don't know

If not, please explain why:

358



The capital programme - the money the council expects to spend on key infrastructure projects over 
the coming year - supports delivery of the council’s priorities. The current 2019/20 capital programme 
is over £48m. This money can also be used to invest in and maintain roads, land and property. The 
council can use its powers to borrow funds to fund significant capital investment. 

Q3 The council intends to invest over £48m in capital projects, such as improving 
Herefordshire’s roads and transport network, developing facilities for business to establish 
and grow in Hereford and Ross-on-Wye, improving schools and supporting delivery of 
housing. To support this investment we intend to borrow £22.3m, with repayment costs 
incorporated into household Council Tax. Do you:

Support the council increasing its borrowing requirement by £22.3m as proposed? 

Think that the council should borrow more than proposed to increase the level of investment in 
the county? 

Think that the council should borrow less, and reduce its investment in the county?

If borrow more, what should the extra borrowed money be spent on?

If borrow less, what investment should be cut? 

The council awards approximately £24.8m of Council Tax discounts in certain circumstances, such 
as a disabled person or carer discount. We also have the power to offer a Council Tax Reduction 
scheme to those on low incomes and in 2017/18 we awarded these households a discount of around 
£10.7m.

Q4 The Council Tax Reduction scheme currently allows for households on low income to have 
their Council Tax discounted by a maximum of 84% of the amount payable. Would you 
support:

Keeping the maximum discount at 84%?

Increasing the level of the discount (to more than 84%)? 

Reducing the level of the discount (to less than 84%)?

The council has the power to award business rates discounts, such as to small businesses, charities 
and businesses in rural locations. 

Q5 The council awards approximately £18.7m of business rates discounts in a year, including 
£8.4m awarded to small businesses. Would you support:

Continuing to award this level of business rates discount?

Increasing the availability of business rates discounts?

Reducing the level of business rates discounts available? 
359



The caseloads of social workers who work with children, young people and their families to keep 
them safe are of concern to us. In order to reduce these workloads and the chance of children and 
young people being at risk because of them, we are proposing to use £1.6m to employ more 
children’s social workers and to support more help for children, young people and families at an early 
stage.

Q6 Do you agree that funding should be used to support this work?

Yes No

About you

Are you responding on behalf of an organisation or group, or as an individual?

Organisation or group Individual

If you are responding on behalf of an organisation or group please tell us the name of the 
organisation/group:

If you are responding as an individual please answer the following questions about yourself. This 
information helps us to understand the profile of respondents and whether views vary amongst 
different groups of people across the county. It will only be used for the purpose of statistical 
monitoring, treated as confidential and not used to identify you. 

What is your full postcode?

At birth, were you described as….?

Male

Female

Intersex

Prefer not to say

What is your age band?

0-15 years

16-24 years

25-44 years

45-64 years

65-74 years

75+ years

Do you have a disability, long-term illness or health problem (12 months or more) which 
limits daily activities or the work you can do? 

Yes No Prefer not to say

How would you describe your national identity? (Please tick all that apply)

English Scottish Welsh

Northern Irish British Irish

Other

360



How would you describe your ethnic group?

White British/English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish

Other White (please specify below)

Any other ethnic group (please specify below)

Thank you

You can complete this questionnaire online at: www.herefordshire.gov.uk/budgetconsultation 
but completed hard copies can be sent to:
Herefordshire Council Research Team, Freepost SWC4816, PO Box 4, Hereford, HR4 0BR 

Any information you provide will be held and used in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. 
The information you provide will not be shared with any third parties, but where appropriate, it will be 
used to support the planning of services and the continuous improvement of various functions. For 
further information, please visit Herefordshire Council website.

361



362



Appendix 6

Section 25 statement

1. Introduction

1.1. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer (section 151 
officer) to report on the adequacy of reserves and provisions, and the robustness of 
budget estimates, as part of the annual budget setting process.

1.2. Best  practice  guidance  does  not  advise  on  the  actual  level  of  unallocated 
general reserves, but on the processes that should be in  place. There is a broad 
range within which a council might reasonably operate, depending on its particular 
circumstances and each council should make its own judgement, based on the 
advice of its Chief Finance Officer. In making this decision the Chief Finance Officer 
takes account of strategic, operational and financial risks. The financial risks are 
assessed in the context of the council’s overall approach to risk management.

1.3. CIPFA best practice guidance suggests that a Council should hold a strategic reserve 
to mitigate the financial impact of major events of between 3% and 5% of its net 
budget.  This guidance has been adopted by the Chief finance Officer for the period 
of the proposed medium term financial strategy.

2. Adequacy of Proposed Financial Reserves and Robustness of Estimates

2.1. The Chief Finance Officer must ensure that the budget setting process, and the 
information provided is sufficient, to allow council to come to an informed view 
regarding the 2019/20 council tax requirement, revenue budget, capital investment 
budget and Treasury Management Strategy.

2.2. While the council continues to operate within the financial constraints arising from 
increasing financial pressures and reductions in central government financial 
settlements, robust budget monitoring and a thorough financial planning process 
should determine the required level of reserves. The overall level of reserves will be 
reviewed at least annually to ensure they are relevant, appropriate and prudent. 

2.3. Financial and operational risks need to be considered within the context of the 
Council’s overall approach to risk management and account taken of key budget 
assumptions and existing financial management arrangements.

2.4. The council’s financial planning process should be sufficient to identify issues with a 
significant financial impact in order for these to be highlighted to senior officers in a 
timely manner.  

2.5. The Council makes appropriate financial provisions for known future liabilities or 
losses of uncertain timings or amount. These are detailed in the annual Statement 
of Accounts. 

2.6. The council continues to work with the chartered institute of public finance and 
accountancy (Cipfa) and its external auditors, Grant Thornton, in assessing the 
financial resilience index indicators ahead of the adoption of the Financial 
Management Code. 

363



3. Conclusion 

3.1. The Chief Finance Officer is satisfied that the Council’s ongoing approach to its 
reserves and provisions is robust.  The council’s strategic reserve is maintained 
between 3% - 5% of the net budget requirement, at the end of March 2018 the 
balance was £7.9m (5% of net budget). In addition the council holds specific 
earmarked reserves sufficient to ensure the council is able to respond to financial 
pressures that may arise.

3.2. This is sufficient to ensure that the council has adequate resources to fund 
unforeseen financial liabilities, and that the council’s approach to general balances 
for 2019/20 is deemed appropriate. The level of reserves and expected movement 
in reserves are set out as part of the annual budget setting process.

364



Appendix 7

Change log – budget proposal changes post Cabinet 31st January

As reported verbally to Cabinet on 31st January, the government’s funding settlement has 
been confirmed. The budget agreed by Cabinet anticipated such sums might become 
available and Cabinet agreed to add to its published budget proposals a budget line to 
make use of the anticipated funds to address issues and opportunities in the coming 
years. As the main element was anticipated to be relating to the rural sparsity delivery 
grant, the intention was for expenditure to relate predominately to provision affecting the 
rural areas of the county. The medium term financial strategy (MTFS) covers the 
beginning of a period where council funding is very uncertain. Changes to business rates 
retention, the absence of rural sparsity delivery and revenue support grant funding, 
changes in the public health grant and the social care precept and the better care fund 
leading to many uncertainties.  A number of the proposed changes relate to ensuring that 
savings required in the period of the MTFS can be better achieved by improving their risk 
rating through early preparation and managed change.

In response to requests at Cabinet for greater clarity of how the additional funding has 
been allocated and having considered further the options available to it for allocating the 
additional funding is provided as detailed below and which are reflected in the papers.

Summary of changes

£’000
Additional directorate budget
Museum and libraries saving deferral 250
Community Transport vehicle grant 500
Parish lengthsman grant 250
Early help programme 500
Expansion of the talk community hub model 500
Totals 2,000

Additional 2019/20 funding source
Rural services delivery grant 1,008
Business rate levy account surplus 493
Revenue Support Grant 4
Adult social care grant 5
New homes bonus grant 147
Additional council tax income due to council tax base increase 343
Totals 2,000

Detail behind changes made

Economy and Place

1. To reverse the savings proposal of £250k for museums and archives. The tendering 
for a potential alternative supplier will continue, it is recognised that any decision that 
may be made will need further consultation and will require a period of due 
consideration. It is appreciated that the benefits to be delivered by a successful 
tender will need some significant due diligence and any decision will not be made in 
haste. The opportunity is therefore being taken to delay the saving required by one 
year at a cost of £250k and will reduce the stress on the museum, archive and library 
budget and the related staff and volunteers during the coming year.

365



2. Subsidy for Community Transport organisations providing service in Herefordshire. 
The phased reduction of this subsidy has been planned and consulted upon 
however the effect on the viability of community transport organisation budgets is of 
concern. We appreciate that such organisations have plans in place and are taking 
steps to operate within a tighter fiscal envelope. We are aware that such 
organisations provide an important support in the rural areas for our more vulnerable 
members of society and enable them to attend both health and wellbeing related 
appointments and activities. We are cognisant that the purchase and replacement 
cost of vehicles and the maintenance and repair costs remain a significant element 
of operational overhead for such organisations and therefore have resolved to 
provide a grant to provide for new vehicles.  These vehicles would have the latest 
mobility modifications to meet the needs of users and would enable the seven 
existing community transport schemes within the county to replace older vehicles 
which are both more costly to maintain, and have less flexibility. Such grants would 
also be available to enable the provision of vehicles for new or expanded transport 
services where this can better meet community needs.  This should reduce the 
stress on organisational budgets and enable those organisations to allocate funds 
that they raise to other revenue uses. The sum of £500k is allocated to this purpose, 
with an appropriate methodology for grant application and approval to be delegated 
to officers.

3. Subsidies to parish councils. The phased reduction of the lengthsman and parish 
path scheme has been planned and consulted upon, and those parishes that have 
found these schemes beneficial for their local inhabitants have raised their precept, 
or identified other resources, in order to replace the council subsidy and continue 
the works which principally benefit their parishioners, the administration has listened 
to the consultation which has developed during the Parish Summit meetings. The 
administration have reviewed the scope of the local nature of works in the public 
realm which have a knock on benefit both locally and for the county as a whole. The 
issue of surface water on rural roads, the damage that it can cause and the dangers 
that it represents during inclement weather carry a high priority within the work on 
the public realm. Although many lengthsman already deal with a number of highway 
ditch issues within their work, and landowners are being increasingly engaged in 
appreciating their riparian responsibilities, there remain local works which would be 
of benefit where responsibility is less clear, or that of the highway authority, such as 
the cleansing and restoration of roadside ditches, which can include significant pipe 
and drainage works for legacy systems. It is therefore proposed to make a grant 
available for the restoration and improvement of drainage on unmetalled public 
rights of way routes, U and C roads where works can be carried out locally by the 
lengthsman. Such grants will only be available to those parish councils who have 
retained and self-funded the lengthsman scheme and will be delivered through a 
similar process as the previous lengthsman grant. The maximum grant payable 
during a scheme year will be £20k and the amount to be made available is £250k. 
Any unspent grant will be carried forward, with the scheme to be reviewed at the end 
of the first year of operation. 

Children and families
 
4. Over three quarters of people that responded to the council’s 2019/20 budget 

consultation agreed that funding should support more help for children, young 
people and families at an early stage. The council will seek to further strengthen its 
offer of preventative support for children in their early years and those that may need 
some ‘Early Help’ to achieve positive outcomes and avoid problems or difficulties 
escalating to more significant levels. It is proposed that investment is made into:

366



a. Additional support from children’s centre services for community-based 
parent and toddler groups focussing on reaching further into areas of 
deprivation to engage with more disadvantaged families. Support will focus 
on enabling and supporting parents and carers with positive attachments, 
healthy eating, good dental care, being ready to enter school, promoting their 
take-up of nursery education funding and wider family issues including 
employment and housing. The investment will be made across 
Herefordshire’s nine children centre service areas and through a grant 
scheme that will be made available for groups to apply for funding that will 
help parents to support their children and each other. 

b. Herefordshire’s Early Help approach was established in 2016 and has 
successfully grown to provide over 1,000 assessments. However, the success 
of the approach has led to additional demand for early help support and longer 
waiting times for assessment than is desirable. Additional funding would 
support meeting this additional demand and enable more proactive work with 
communities and with other services that work alongside the council to help 
ensure that families can receive the right help at the right stage. 

5. These actions underline the commitment of the council to delivering the best that we 
can afford for our future generations. The cost of this decision will be £500k over 
2019/20 and 2020/21.

Adults and communities

6. Following feedback from the recent Parish Council Summit, which was very 
supportive of the expansion of the Talk Community Hub model developed by 
Herefordshire Council’s Adults Communities Teams, we will develop and expand 
the talk community model to establish wider county coverage. The project will work 
with community leaders so that they can lead talk community sessions supported by 
an expanded community broker function.

7. Building on the success of the Herefordshire model for social care delivery, the 
project aims to prevent or delay ill health or disability; promotes/improves quality of 
life, independence and inclusion in social and community life; and creates healthy 
and supportive environments that minimise the need for formal care. 

8. Communities require development and residents benefit from being able to connect 
effectively to their communities.

9. Additional funding of £500k will meets the requirements to extend the hub coverage 
from 7 to 50, including enhanced support for new hub operators to provide 
community hubs within more remote rural areas. The funding is broken down to 
provide £340k in salaries for two years, comprising a programme lead and a project 
team of 4 FTE community brokers and community leads. In addition £5k in training 
costs for staff, £50k in equipment and materials and £105k of seed funding for 
community innovation.  

367





Alternative
Budget

2019/20 – 2021/22

369



370



Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 1

ALTERNATIVE BUDGET PROPOSAL 2019-20
1. OVERVIEW

Themes: Prosperity – Wellbeing - Sustainability
1.1. This alternative budget is produced by It’s Our County using the following 

framework of principles and priorities:

 Herefordshire is different and special. It is the only truly rural county in 
England. We need to apply a sympathetic and sensitive approach to the 
county’s stewardship.

 Community is key. Providing the support and funding to help people to help 
themselves keeps communities strong and builds resilience.

 The council must recognise and provide leadership in its response to global 
and local trends in environmental and demographic pressures 

 This council represents the whole of Herefordshire. Our city and market town 
councils, and the parishes within each of their localities and the rural areas 
beyond, are an important network of partners for maintaining and growing a 
strong and sustainable Herefordshire.

1.2. As regards the Revenue Budget:
 For financial year 2019-20 we shall work within the funding envelope of the 

Administration’s draft budget to deliver a prudent but re-prioritised work 
programme.

 This budget has been developed in conjunction with other opposition and 
outside stakeholder groups who have worked co-operatively with It’s Our 
County.

 We support those aspects of the Administration’s budget which work with 
and build upon the strengths of Herefordshire.

 We also support those aspects which follow best practice guidance and are 
underpinned by sound evidence.

 Given the constraints on us as regards to time and access to resource during 
this budgeting process, we have not made amendments to the base 
budgets as proposed for each Directorate by the Administration.

1.3. As regards the Capital Programme:

 For financial year 2019-20 we shall work within the funding envelope of the 
Administration’s draft budget to deliver a prudent but re-prioritised work 
programme.

1.4. We wish to signal our preference for a number of material changes in policy 
direction and priority which we would wish to implement with effect from May 2019.

1.5. We also wish to make clear to the people of Herefordshire that we believe this 
alternative budget represents a more sustainable and sympathetic balance of plans 
and policies for Herefordshire and the people who live here and the budget 
proposed by the Administration.

1.6. Council Tax for 2019/20 – We support the Administration’s proposal to increase 

371



Page 2 Budget Proposal 2019-20

council tax charges by 4.9%, inclusive of a 2% adult social care precept and the 
commitment to deliver savings of £3.9m.

1.7. However, we are disappointed that, once again, the public consultation feedback 
received regarding budget priorities has not been fully taken into account.

2. INCOME SOURCES
2.1. The scope to produce a detailed alternative budget while in opposition is limited by 

our own ability, as councillors, to access and interpret detailed information within 
the timescales required by the budgeting process and the scrutiny requirements as 
determined by the Council’s Constitution.

2.2. Consequently, we have proposed investments in improving the resilience and 
sustainability of communities and council services, and changes in spending priority 
in 2019/20 whilst retaining the base budgets of the Directorates at the levels 
already proposed by the Administration.

2.3. Our investments are funded by monies from the following sources:

Additional Income 2019-20 £000
RSD Grant 1,008
Business Rates 493
Council Tax Base 343
New Homes Bonus 147
RSG 4
ASC Grant 5
Total 2,000

3. ECONOMY AND PLACE DIRECTORATE
Planning

3.1. Core Strategy: Over the last 12 years of this Administration, the council has failed 
to deliver on its targets for growth in house building. As a consequence, the county 
is unable to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply and communities across 
Herefordshire are being subjected to applications for unplanned housing from 
developers.

3.2. We propose to invest £250k in strategic planning resource to bring forward the 
revision of the council’s Core Strategy/Local Plan to start immediately after the local 
government elections in May 2019. 

3.3. This revision will include:

 Achieving a more equitable balance of investment in community infrastructure 
between the city, market towns and growth villages.

 Ensuring that suitably sized employment sites are both deliverable and 
delivered in each of the market towns.

 Reducing the 2011-2031 housing target for Herefordshire to align with the 
growth target which was assessed by government in 2015 – or with the 
imminent new target expected to be still lower - as delivering appropriately 

372



Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 3

proportionate growth for the county.
3.4. Additionally, we are keen that this Council begins to work in genuine partnership 

with Hereford City Council on the city’s transport and planning issues. To this end 
this alternative budget proposes to invest £100k in 2019 to commence the work 
needed to identify and save a land corridor to retain the option for an eastern 
city river crossing to be built in the future.

3.5. We will increase and accelerate the delivery of affordable and social housing 
in Herefordshire. To do this we shall use the Keepmoat strategic development 
partnership to implement an approach to housebuilding which echoes, but also 
takes the lessons learned from, the approach taken since 2011 by the Sheffield 
Housing Company – a partnership between Sheffield City Council and Keepmoat 
which builds high build quality, sustainable, spacious, energy-efficient, accessible 
social/affordable housing 
[www.sheffieldhousingcompany.co.uk/home/quality_assured] 

3.6. Housing built through this partnership on publicly owned land will deliver a 
significantly greater percentage of affordable/social housing than is given as the 
target in the Place Shaping Policies of the Core Strategy relevant to each 
development.

3.7. We propose that this affordable/social housing will be retained in public ownership 
by the Council, utilising the most appropriate and robust business and financial 
mechanisms and taking learning from other councils. We propose that the 
management of this housing stock would be contracted out to existing social 
housing landlords. 

3.8. This will begin to address the significant shortage of affordable housing available to 
local people in Herefordshire. It will also generate a sustained income stream for 
the Council and will build the Council’s capital asset base whilst creating assets 
against which the Council will be able to borrow, if necessary, in the future. These 
developments are already planned to be funded by borrowing and a portion of the 
income generated will be used to service this debt.
Transport

3.9. City Packages: We will prioritise the delivery of all the sustainable and active 
travel measures in the Hereford Transport Package which can be implemented 
independent of any road-building, as already identified by the Council’s consultants. 
This approach aligns with Department for Transport guidance and with the 
implementation hierarchy in the council’s own adopted Local Transport Plan.

3.10. Implementing these measures, alongside improvements we propose in the 
commissioning of better public transport at peak travel times and piloting ‘lights out’ 
schemes at key pinch points within the city (see Traffic & Travel Measures below), 
will, it is confidently anticipated, deliver immediate improvements in city travel 
conditions.

3.11. Following the implementation of these schemes, city traffic conditions will be 
evaluated to inform the need and business case for any further road infrastructure 
improvements around the city. 

3.12. This re-ordering the delivery of these projects within the existing transport packages 
will be ‘budget-neutral’ and would be notified and agreed with all relevant funding 
bodies.

373

http://www.sheffieldhousingcompany.co.uk/home/quality_assured


Page 4 Budget Proposal 2019-20

3.13. Traffic and Travel Measures: We wish to achieve a better balance between 
investment in city travel and traffic measures and investments addressing issues 
elsewhere in the county.

3.14. As regards measures within the city, Highways England has previously offered to 
fund ‘lights out’ and other alternative traffic management trials within the city 
at some of the peak travel time traffic pinch-points. 

3.15. We will invest £50k in traffic planning resource to explore the scope and 
opportunities to revisit the subject of these trials in the city.

3.16. A proportion of the vehicle traffic entering the city from the north on the A49 is 
understood to be through traffic heading for South Wales or the motorway network 
via the M50. 

3.17. We will invest £100k to engage with Highways England and adjacent local 
Highways Authorities to improve signage informing A49 traffic of route options 
via the A417 from Leominster to the M50 at Ledbury and M5 at Worcester. 

3.18. These stretches of A-road have benefitted from considerable investment during 
2018 and will be able to deliver traffic efficiently to the motorway network thereby 
removing unnecessary through-traffic from the city and the A49 south of the city.

3.19. The NMiTE University project has become central to the Administration’s plans for 
the county’s economic growth and regeneration/investment in the city. The 
university proposes that its students will travel within the city by active and 
sustainable means and will not use their own vehicles. 

3.20. We will re-prioritise existing highway engineering consultancy resource to provide 
advice on additional sustainable transport solutions, including light rail and 
tram systems for the city, which are aligned with current and emerging best 
practice and which support the emerging requirements of the new university. This 
re-direction of resource will be ‘fiscally-neutral’.

3.21. NMiTE have indicated that the university would be keen to provide research 
support to the council’s exploration of future engineering solutions to people transit 
systems in the city. 

3.22. School and Public Transport: It is well recognised that the county’s road system 
is very much less congested during the school holidays. We will invest in measures 
which to reduce the excessive numbers of school travel journeys taken in private 
vehicles.

3.23. The Sustainable Schools National Framework states Government’s target for every 
school to be sustainable by 2020. In this framework a travel and transport target is 
set for “all schools to be models of sustainable travel where vehicles are used only 
when absolutely necessary and facilities for healthier, less polluting or less 
dangerous modes of transport are exemplary.”

3.24. The council is required by law to produce a Sustainable Modes of Travel to School 
Strategy (SMOTS) for school transport. Herefordshire has only recently complied 
with this statutory requirement 
(www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200136/travel_and_transport/220/local_transport_pl
an/3). 

3.25. However, the Council’s 2018 strategy was not informed by up-to-date school travel 
plans from across the county because these plans either do not all exist or have not 

374

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200136/travel_and_transport/220/local_transport_plan/3
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200136/travel_and_transport/220/local_transport_plan/3


Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 5

been produced in a consistent manner. Consequently, the existing SMOTS is not 
shaped by a comprehensive view of the specific local issues which inhibit 
accessibility, influence travel behaviour and should inform the delivery and location 
of council transport services. 

3.26. We will invest in additional school travel planning resource £100k to develop an 
integrated and consistent approach to the creation/update of school travel plans 
for all schools in the county during 2019. These new plans will inform the update of 
the SMOTS in 2020 and this will, in turn, inform the update of the Core Strategy.

3.27. The Administration already plans to invest in procuring bus route modelling 
software to assist in the re-procurement of services. The coherent approach to 
school travel planning will also be able to inform the extension of option modelling 
for school transport/public transport services. 

3.28. We will invest £100k to fund this extended school transport/public transport 
modelling, with the aim of extending access to bus and other sustainable modes of 
travel at peak travel times, thereby significantly reducing the amount of private 
vehicle journeys during the school year on the county’s roads.

3.29. Rail: Herefordshire is served by three rail franchises Transport for Wales (TfW), 
West Midlands Rail and Great Western Railways, being managed by WMR & TfW. 
All the county’s rail network lies on the extreme edge of these franchisee networks. 
In Shropshire TfW operates request stops north of Shrewsbury which enable rural 
communities to benefit from rail connectivity otherwise not available to them.

3.30. Hereford Civic Society and local transport user groups have suggested that the 
county is not making best use of the opportunities for the reinstatement of similar 
halts to serve growth villages along existing rail routes.

3.31. We will invest £50k to engage with rail operators to explore the opportunities for 
rail request stops and associated mini-parkway pick-up points to enable 
commuters and businesses to access our rail network. This work will also support 
and inform the revision of the Core Strategy.

3.32. Car Parking: The Council’s car parking service delivers annually a significant net 
income. The Government does not allow councils to make a profit from the 
operations of their services. It is a legal requirement that this net income is spent 
supporting services directly related to transport and people movement.

3.33. We propose, as a change of approach, that the Council engage directly with the city 
and market town councils to agree priorities for the way in which the net revenue 
delivered by the county-owned car parks located in urban areas is spent on local 
services. This will not involve any increase in parking charges.

3.34. We propose that information about the agreed mix of services supported by car 
park revenue in each population centre will be publicised on signage in each car 
park when the signage is next updated. 

3.35. This improved consultative and partnering approach with the county’s urban parish 
councils will not have a financial impact on the budget 

3.36. We also propose that city and market town councils are given the opportunity 
to share in the future net income from their local car parks. This will assist 
these councils to take on additional service provision themselves which falls within 
the statutory spending remit of this funding source.

375



Page 6 Budget Proposal 2019-20

Sustainability
3.37. One of the special things about this county is its wonderful natural environment. 

Due to our sparse and evenly distributed population, and the small scale and mixed 
nature of our traditional agricultural base, Herefordshire is the only county in 
England to meet the European definition of ‘Rural’. 

3.38. We have two designated Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty in the county – Wye 
Valley and Malvern Hills, and our landscape feeds two major rivers– the Lugg and 
the Wye.

3.39. We make a number of proposals which aim to address issues of the county’s 
rurality and the opportunities offered by our natural and environmental resources.

3.40. We propose to signal our intention for this Council to place the strategic priority 
of ‘sustainability’ on a par with its existing priorities of Prosperity and 
Wellbeing; and for Sustainability to be a ‘lens’ through which all the Council’s 
service delivery, and its own operation, are viewed and reviewed. Consequently, 
we propose the following investments:

 £25k in additional resource to explore options for investment in solar and 
water power projects in partnership with social housing landlords, 
development partners, third sector specialists, community land trusts and WM 
Energy.

 £25k in additional resource to explore options for coordinated woodland 
management, and coordinated biomass waste stream management; 
alongside the business case for a Herefordshire based wood pellet production 
plant and the feasibility of generating energy/district heating from biomass 
waste.

 £15k additional funding to cover the small additional cost of purchasing all 
council and school energy entirely from renewable sources with effect 
from 2019-20.

 To use existing resource in partnership with third sector, charity and partner 
organisations to promote the waste hierarchy of: 1: Reduce, 2: Reuse, 3: 
Recycle, and to generate additional income for local charities and community 
groups through ‘reuse’ initiatives.

 To use existing resource to work with partners to increase the Council’s 
recycling performance from the current 40% to national average of 50% by 
2020 and 65% by 2025.

 £35k to prepare for the implementation of an urban area pilot of commercial 
curb-side green waste collection.

3.41. Waste Management and Energy Generation: The county’s natural assets support 
and drive a strong tourist economy. However, we believe that there is much more 
that could be done to work in sympathy with these assets to benefit local 
communities, to increase the county’s resilience to economic and environmental 
pressures and to generate new income streams for the Council: 

 Studies contained in the Core Strategy evidence base indicate that the county 
has a significant and currently under-utilised capacity to generate biomass as 
an energy source for individual and district heating systems. 

376



Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 7

 The county’s water resources offer the potential for hydro and heat pump 
energy projects. 

 The significant affordable/social housing planned for development on the 
county’s strategic housing sites offers scope for using roofs for the creation of 
large-scale distributed solar arrays. 

 Intensive poultry production, and local food and drink industries all create 
significant levels of biomass waste, not all of which is currently being 
processed local to its source, or in a coordinated or low-impact manner.

 The Council is an owning partner in West Midlands Energy, a company 
already specialising in the energy sector. 

 The Council has also recently entered into a strategic development 
partnership with Keepmoat and its project partner Engie, both of which have 
track record in delivering energy and heating projects alongside housing and 
other types of development.

3.42. Climate Emergency: We support the initiative already shown by councils, including 
Bristol, London, Forest of Dean, Brighton, Frome, Isle of Wight, Bradford, Kirklees, 
in recognising our global climate emergency. 

3.43. The Council has been committed for some time to a carbon reduction target of 80% 
by 2050. The improvements delivered to-date by the Council itself and through 
partners, business and individuals’ own actions has broadly kept pace with the 
trajectory needed to meet the original target. 

3.44. However, we believe that in the face of more up-to-date assessments of the rate 
and current/likely future effects of climate change, this target is now too relaxed and 
needs to be revised as a matter of urgency. 

3.45. We will challenge the Council to identify the measures and actions which it can 
deliver, working with partners and local stakeholders across all sectors to achieve 
an 80% reduction in 1990 carbon emission figures for Herefordshire by 2035. We 
propose to use existing resources to input to an update of the Teeconomy Reports 
produced for Herefordshire in 2013 (https://hgnetwork.org/mdocuments-library).
Economic Development

3.46. Given this Council’s inability to grow income from business rates and Council tax at 
the rate necessary to offset the loss in revenue support grant from Government, it is 
essential that further efficiencies and new and sustainable income sources are 
identified to continue to control and support the Council’s service provision in this 
very difficult financial context. 

3.47. It is also important that the council uses its community leadership role and its 
buying power to increase the pace at which improvements in prosperity, wellbeing 
and sustainability are achieved throughout the county.

3.48. Progressive Procurement: Significant progress has been made by some local 
authorities (Manchester & Preston City Councils) in developing what has been 
termed ‘Progressive Procurement’ practices which involve local authorities making 
a policy decision to circulate public money tightly within the local economy by 
procuring services and supplies locally. 

3.49. These authorities also encourage and enable their partners to do likewise. In 
Preston and Manchester these progressive procurement partners include: 

377

https://hgnetwork.org/mdocuments-library


Page 8 Budget Proposal 2019-20

District/Borough/Parish Councils, Healthcare Providers, Police, Colleges, Schools, 
Universities, Housing Associations, Third Sector.

3.50. This positive choice to spend locally has had a rapid and significant effect on the 
local economy, leading to business growth, increased export of services, additional 
employment, new business start-ups. Councils also adopting variants of this 
approach already include Birmingham, Oldham, Salford, Kirklees, Islington, Enfield, 
Southampton, Wakefield and Bristol

3.51. We propose that this Council commits in 2019 to implement its own progressive 
procurement policy, taking into account learning and best practice developed by 
pioneering councils elsewhere. We also propose that the Council encourages 
business and community partners to make similar commitments to progressive 
procurement practices.

3.52. This is a change to the approach to procurement and is anticipated to be fiscally-
neutral in 2019-20.

[cles.org.uk/press-releases/manchesters-progressive-
procurement-enables-growth-and-tackles-poverty/
https://www.preston.gov.uk/thecouncil/the-preston-model/preston-
model/ ]

3.53. We propose to review service income targets in all Directorates early in 2019/20 
and to direct all additional income to general reserves in-year.

3.54. Working with Parish Councils: We welcome the Council’s embryonic efforts to 
implement our longstanding requests for better communication and improved 
partnership working with parish councils across the county. We support the 
continuation of Parish Council Summits and propose to increase the number and 
effectiveness of these events in future years. 

3.55. Related to this, we will initiate bespoke sessions to engage with the city and market 
town councils to facilitate closer working, improve communication, initiate deeper 
dialogue on local service priorities and to explore options for mutual support, and 
shared future service delivery.

3.56. We propose to allocate £50k to fund improvements in these important working 
relationships.

4. CHILDREN AND FAMILIES’ WELLBEING DIRECTORATE
4.1. Looked-After Children – This is an area of significant concern. Despite the 

implementation of a number of action plans to bring this budget under control; since 
2011/12 expenditure in Children’s Wellbeing has exceeded budget by more than 
£10m over the period. The majority of this overspend has repeatedly been in the 
Looked-After Children area.

4.2. Herefordshire continues to exceed national averages in the areas of children at risk 
of physical/emotional abuse and neglect. The county also has higher than average 
incidences of domestic violence, drug and alcohol abuse amongst adults which 
combine to cause and exacerbate to the risks to children exposed to these 
behaviours and their consequences.

378

https://cles.org.uk/press-releases/manchesters-progressive-procurement-enables-growth-and-tackles-poverty/
https://cles.org.uk/press-releases/manchesters-progressive-procurement-enables-growth-and-tackles-poverty/
https://www.preston.gov.uk/thecouncil/the-preston-model/preston-model/
https://www.preston.gov.uk/thecouncil/the-preston-model/preston-model/


Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 9

4.3. The Council has a high level of case referrals from partner organisations and yet, 
following investigation, a large proportion of these are considered not to require any 
action. Even so, Herefordshire has more children under social worker supervision 
and in care than our population indicates would be expected.

4.4. We recognise that there is much good work going on in this area and many very 
dedicated and committed staff working in the directorate. However, the Council 
continues to have difficulty recruiting and retaining social workers. Aspects of our 
Children’s Services have been too often judged ‘inadequate’; and in 2018 the 
Council was subject to three seriously critical High Court judgements on the 
treatment of young people in our care. 

4.5. The recent move to accentuate this directorate’s responsibility for ‘families’ provides 
an opportunity to implement award-winning improvements to family services proven 
in other authorities.

4.6. A family-centred approach to supporting vulnerable children and their families, 
developed in Hertfordshire, has subsequently been rolled out in Luton, 
Peterborough, Bracknell and West Berkshire. 

4.7. The outcomes achieved in Hertfordshire were very positive and were experienced 
across the whole care service spectrum:

 49% reduction in children on protection plans,

 66% reduction of domestic abuse call outs by the police,

 53% reduction in adult A&E admissions and 

 36% improvement in school attendance.
4.8. We will invest £150k in 2019/20 to secure access to the resources and consultancy 

necessary to produce a business case and implementation plan for transitioning 
Herefordshire to the Hertfordshire family-centred support model. Additional 
funding options to support the transition will also be identified.

4.9. Preventative Measures for Family Wellbeing: While preparing to implement the 
Hertfordshire model, there are investments which can be made sooner to 
strengthen preventative support services and thereby reduce future costs.

4.10. We propose the following investments:

 An additional £70k to support Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAHMS) particularly aimed at support in schools.

 £270k for social services support to a pilot group of schools in areas of 
identified need. The intention here is to capture, build on and extend best 
practice already developed in Herefordshire schools which delivers non-
threatening edge of care interventions and family support by non-social 
workers at the school environment. Such early interventions and support to 
families with ‘stress indicators’ picked up by schools will reduce the number of 
referrals or more serious interventions in future.

 £50k to provide local government funding contributions to support 
arts/creative projects for disadvantaged and vulnerable young people to 
be led and delivered by arts organisations within Herefordshire’s broad 
creative/cultural sector. 

379



Page 10 Budget Proposal 2019-20

4.11. Teenager Respite: Whilst we support the recent initiative taken by the 
Administration to make a market-shaping intervention in the adult care sector with a 
capital investment for a high dependency facility at the council-owned Hillside 
Centre. However, there has been a 100% increase in the forecast cost of delivering 
the facility since it was originally proposed for approval as a new capital project in 
July 2018.

4.12. We believe that it is potentially discriminatory to make this intervention to provide 
specialist facilities which the market is failing to deliver, when the Council has failed 
to provide a similar investment to respite facilities for high dependency and special 
needs young people, following the closure of the NHS-owned facility at No.1 
Ledbury Road.

4.13. We will invest £50k to fund discussions with adjacent authorities, and with local 
families, to scope the current and likely future need for such provision; and to 
develop a business case, with most appropriate partner counties, for the 
development of a high support teenage respite facility at a location suitable for 
the proposed catchment area.

5. ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE
5.1. Adult social care is the second area of major statutory spending by Herefordshire 

Council. As a percentage of the population, the number of older people living in 
Herefordshire is considerably greater than the national average and is disparity is 
increasing. Government policy, funding pressures and changes in professional 
practice are putting greater emphasis on care in the home and in giving service 
users choices in personal care.

5.2. Wellbeing Hubs: We support the Administration’s efforts to pilot Community 
Wellbeing Hubs in Kington and Leominster over the last three years. We consider 
their extension throughout the county is important, to strengthen community 
resilience and to grow community capability.

5.3. We will invest £70k to support the accelerated roll-out of the Wellbeing Hub 
initiative to other market towns and parishes/wider areas, as is considered most 
appropriate for the local context.

5.4. Creative and Cultural projects: Herefordshire has a strong creative and cultural 
sector. It is recognised that engagement in cultural and creative activities has a 
hugely positive effect, particularly for disabled, disadvantaged and vulnerable 
people. The Courtyard is already recognised internationally for its exceptional and 
pioneering work in this sector, but it has had its revenue support from the Council 
completely cut. 

5.5. The cultural and creative sector regularly achieves more than a x10 gearing from 
other funding sources for every £1 from a local authority. But even a modest 
Council investment can be vital to the sector as a pre-condition for access to other 
funding sources.  

5.6. Working alongside organisations who are developing a Cultural Strategy for 
Herefordshire we will invest £150k to provide local government funding 
contributions to support arts/creative projects for disadvantaged and vulnerable 
older people to be led and delivered by arts organisations within Herefordshire’s 

380



Budget Proposal 2019-20 Page 11

broad creative/cultural sector.
5.7. Community Transport: The Administration has been signalling for some time that 

it will be withdrawing funding from Community Transport providers in 2019/20. 
However, it remains the case that with the contraction of rural public transport 
services elderly people, particularly in the county’s most rural areas, have very 
limited options to assist them in travelling to access essential services.

5.8. We remain concerned that without affordable Community Transport, vulnerable 
adults and older people - particularly in rural areas – will suffer increasingly from 
isolation and loneliness which is known to exacerbate or increase the likelihood of 
mental and physical health problems. 

5.9. We will invest £250k to support the provision of targeted Community Transport 
options to enable people living to access wellbeing hubs, creative projects, local 
initiatives and social activities intended to combat isolation and loneliness.

5.10. Digital Strategy: There is rapid progress being made in the consumer electronics 
and technology markets to produce a range of internet enabled household and 
wearable devices. These have the potential to provide significant changes to the 
way that consensual health monitoring and care is delivered in the home and other 
more high-dependency environments.

5.11. The Council needs a plan for the adoption and future use of this ubiquitous 
technology, which offers potential to transform the delivery of care services and to 
support the Council’s statutory public health and safeguarding responsibilities.

5.12. We propose to invest £40k to develop an Adult Social Care Services Digital 
Strategy and to integrate this with transformation plans for service delivery and the 
Council’s overarching Digital Strategy.

5.13. Sustainable Rural Housing for Older People: Increasing numbers of older 
people living in rural communities are finding it necessary to move into towns as it 
becomes impossible for them to remain in the housing available to them in their 
communities.

5.14. The county has more Neighbourhood Plans in development than any other 
authority in England and has already identified growth villages in its adopted Core 
Strategy which are believed to possess the service infrastructure to represent 
sustainable communities.

5.15. We propose that the Neighbourhood Plan process and the update of the Core 
Strategy are used to challenge rural communities and designated growth villages to 
identify sites suitable for the development of purpose-built clusters of older 
persons’ housing. These developments would be required to be built to high 
standards of energy efficiency and fitted with health monitoring and IT facilities 
aligned to the Council’s adopted Digital Strategy. Making them affordable to live in 
as well as to buy.

5.16. Community Land Trusts, Parish Councils and Community-Owned Housing 
Associations will be encouraged to invest in the development of these residential 
clusters to enable people to remain living in and cared for by their communities. 
Ideally these developments would be managed by Community Trusts with 
properties leased or sold under buy-back agreements to retain ownership in the 
local community.

381



Page 12 Budget Proposal 2019-20

6. SUMMARY
6.1. The investments outlined in this document result in the following proposed changes 

to the Directorate budgets which balance at council level:
Adults & 

Communities 
Children & 

Families 
Economy & 

Place Central
Total 

Revenue 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Additional Income 2019-20 56,675 27,185 42,201 22,926 148,987
Rural Services Dev't Grant 1,008
Business Rates 493
Council Tax Base 343
New Homes Bonus 147
Revenue Support Grant 4
Adult Social Care Grant 5
Total 150,987

Paragraph
Core Strategy Update 3.02 250 250
Eastern city river crossing 3.04 100 100
Traffic planning resource 3.15 50 50
Improved A49 signage 3.16 100 100
Travel planning resource 3.26 100 100
Extend school transport modelling 3.28 100 100
Rail operators options 3.31 50 50
Solar & waste power 3.40 25 25
Biomass waste management 3.40 25 25
Buy 100% Renewable Energy 3.40 15 15
Green waste collection pilot 3.40 35 35
Parish council joint working 3.56 50 50
Hertfordshire 'Families' model 4.08 150 150
Extra CAHMS support 4.10 70 70
School gate family support pilot 4.10 270 270
Arts/creative projects 4.10 & 5.06 150 50 200
Teenager Respite Care options 4.13 50 50
Wellbeing Hubs roll-out 5.03 70 70
Community Transport Services 5.09 250 250
Digital Strategy for Telecare 5.12 40 40
Total additional spend 510 590 900 - 2,000
Shadow Budget 57,185 27,775 43,101 22,926 150,987

6.2. Any further investment which needs to be made as a consequence of the pilots, 
investigations and option studies invested in during 2019/20 will come forward for 
consideration in the context of the Council’s policy and priorities in future years of 
the plan.

6.3. We believe our proposals outlined in this document and accompanying MTFS will 
deliver improvements in the county’s health, wealth, resilience and sustainability. 

Appendix: Medium Term Financial Strategy – with proposed amendments

382



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 1

  

Alternative

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

2019/20 – 2021/22

383



Page 2 Medium Term Financial Strategy

Alternative - Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Introduction

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) outlines the measures Herefordshire 
Council has taken since 2010 to deliver savings, and describes the 2019/20 budget 
proposal and financial forecasts up to 2021/22.

Alternative
This alternative medium term financial strategy (MTFS) outlines the measures 
Herefordshire Council has taken since 2010 to deliver savings, and describes 
the 2019/20 budget proposal and financial forecasts up to 2021/22 with It’s Our 
County and other political and interest groups would take forward following the 
May 2019 local government elections.

Themes: Prosperity – Wellbeing - Sustainability

This alternative budget is produced using the following framework of principles and 
priorities:

 Herefordshire is different and special. It is the only truly rural county in England 
and it needs a sympathetic and sensitive approach to its stewardship.

 Community is key. Providing the support and funding to help people to help 
themselves keeps communities strong and builds resilience.

 The council must recognise and provide leadership in its response to global and 
local trends in environmental and demographic pressures 

 This council represents the whole of Herefordshire. Our city and market town 
parish councils, and the parishes within the localities, are important partners in 
maintaining and growing a strong and sustainable Herefordshire.

As regards the budget itself:

 For financial year 2019-20 we shall work within the funding envelope of the 
Administration’s draft budget to deliver a prudent but reprioritised work 
programme.

 This budget has been developed in conjunction with other opposition and outside 
stakeholder groups who have worked cooperatively with It’s Our County.

 We support aspects of the Administration’s budget which work with and build 
upon the strengths of Herefordshire.

 We support aspects of the Administration’s budget which follow best practice 
guidance and are underpinned by sound evidence.

We wish to signal a number of material changes in policy direction and priority which we 
will implement if we are in a position to do so following the May 2019 elections.

We also wish to make it clear to the people of Herefordshire that It’s Our County, in 
cooperation with other groups currently in opposition on Herefordshire council, are an 
administration in waiting and have a shadow team ready and able to take these more 
sustainable and sympathetic plans and policies forward to the betterment of 
Herefordshire and the people who live here.

384



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 3

Rising to the financial challenge

Central government introduced measures in 2010 which has seen a reduction in the 
revenue support grant from £60.1m in 2011/12 to £5.3m in 2018/19 (reducing further to 
£0.6m in 2019/20). Over the same time period council services have seen increasing 
demand, particularly for adult social care and looked after children.

The council has risen to this financial challenge, by:-
 Delivering substantial savings of £90m
 Delivering services differently 
 Increasing its financial reserves 
 Consistently delivering balanced budgets

This has been achieved by the council:-
 Delivering organisational efficiencies including consolidating staff in fewer 

buildings, reducing the number of staff including agency staff, and introducing staff 
mandatory unpaid leave days

 Changing models of service delivery to focus on self-help, and early help and 
intervention to reduce the demand for higher cost interventions

 Reconfiguring household waste collection and grass cutting services
 Expanding the use of technology to enable people to contact the council through 

the website at a time that suits them, with a reduction in the need for face to face 
and phone contact to use resources for people who need them most 

 Supporting greater community involvement in services such as community 
libraries, litter picks, environmental and bio-diversity initiatives

 Maximising commercial opportunities ensuring where possible, fees are set at 
levels which secure full cost recovery, and exploring further income generation 
from fees and charges, for example car parking

 Reviewing the council’s smallholdings estate

At the same time the council has:-
 Significantly improved adult social care client satisfaction 
 Worked with external partners to produce a business case which secured £23m of 

government funding to establish a new university in Hereford
 Delivered a new livestock market and a privately funded retail and leisure 

development on the old livestock market site
 Progressed plans for a by-pass for Hereford city and delivered major infrastructure 

improvements to the city and county road network
 Opened the new Hereford City Link Road which provides development 

opportunities for business, residential and public sector organisations.
 Successfully delivered the Hereford Enterprise Zone, creating over 600 jobs
 In partnership with Worcestershire County Council opening a new energy from 

waste plant
 In partnership with Gloucestershire County Council implementing the ‘Fastershire’ 

programme delivering broadband to 80% of the county

385



Page 4 Medium Term Financial Strategy

2019/20 budget proposal

The MTFS proposes a balanced 2019/20 budget achieved by increasing council tax 
charges by 4.9%, inclusive of a 2% adult social care precept and committing to delivering 
savings of £3.9m.

2019/20 savings requirement Total

£’000

Workforce and service delivery savings 837

Maximise income generation 100

Manage inflation and secure contract efficiencies 200

Efficiency savings 630

Reduced cost of transport 225

Phased removal of subsidies to parish councils 100

Waste & Sustainability 30

Savings in museums and archives 250

Accommodation strategy savings 360

Procurement savings 500

Public realm savings 200

Base budget realignment 500

TOTAL 3,932

Going forward

The council is recognised as being in a relatively secure financial position over the medium 
term which provides a platform to realise the county’s ambitions. 

Alternative
Our alternative MTFS proposes a balanced budget for 2019-20 which will be delivered 
within the financial envelope already proposed for the administration’s budget.

Alternative
Our MTFS demonstrates how this Council could better utilise its financial resources to 
address the risks and challenges facing people and businesses by working in a manner 
which is more in sympathy with the strengths of the county. 

This alternative view delivers a more sustainable approach to the operation of the 
council, while reinstating preventative services and creating new income streams through 
the resilient use of publicly owned assets.

386



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 5

It has increased its revenue reserves in recognition of the challenges yet to come. There 
are changes anticipated to national funding of local government which we are continuing 
to assess the impact of. We have growing demographic pressures, particularly relating to 
adult social care and children with disabilities, and the council needs to address the 
barriers to growing our economy.

The latest external audit opinion concluded that the council is financially sustainable for 
the foreseeable future. This MTFS demonstrates how the council will continue to utilise its 
financial resources to support its corporate plan objectives and realise its ambitions.

387



Page 6 Medium Term Financial Strategy

1. Overview 

1.1. The council’s gross annual revenue expenditure is in the region of £340m, this is 
funded by a combination of council tax, business rates, specific grants, rents, third 
party contributions and income from sales, fees and charges. Approximately £80m is 
ring-fenced to schools. This leaves the council with around £260m to meet its wide 
range of statutory requirements and to meet the needs of our residents, businesses 
and communities.

1.2. The council’s capital expenditure on its physical assets is separate from revenue 
expenditure on day to day services and totals approximately £50m each year. This 
expenditure is funded from a combination of specific grants, third party contributions, 
capital receipts from sale of assets, contributions from the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and borrowing.  

2. Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2.1. This Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covers the financial years 2019/20 to 
2021/22 and demonstrates how the council will maintain financial stability, deliver 
efficiencies and support investment in priority services, whilst demonstrating value for 
money and maintaining service quality. 

2.2. 2020/21 onwards is currently an estimate as we are awaiting the outcome of the next 
Government comprehensive spending review.

2.3. Herefordshire’s key priority areas are:
 enable residents to live safe, healthy and independent lives 
 keep children and young people safe and give them a great start in life
 support the growth of our economy  
 secure better service, quality of life and value for money.

Alternative
In balancing the challenge of the council’s rurality and particular demographics, we 
propose that the Council does more to support communities and individuals to live 
independent, safe and healthy lives.

We recognise the need for our urban areas, villages and rural communities to develop in 
ways which are in sympathy with their local circumstances and ambitions. The Council 
has made too many cuts to preventative services and has under-delivered on its inflated 
plans for income growth from council tax and business rates. The whole county is now 
facing increasing pressures dealing with the consequences of these decisions.

We propose to focus investment in sustainable and resilient local infrastructure by 
applying current and emerging best practice in planning, design and engineering. We 
also propose to use public property and public money to increase, rather than to deplete, 
the council’s asset base.

388



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 7

2.4. This MTFS contains progress on the financial challenges the council faces alongside 
the increasing demands for services. There are higher costs associated with the 
county’s rurality and demographics. The council aims to balance this challenge by 
supporting independent, safe and healthy lives.

2.5. The Council continues to provide value for money service delivery and aspires to bring 
sustainable prosperity and well-being for all.

2.6. During this MTFS period the funding of council services will change significantly. 
Central government is leading a fair funding review and local rate retention will become 
live as we await the next comprehensive spending settlement which is due in the spring 
of 2019. 

2.7. The council recognises the need to grow and has plans for new homes throughout the 
county, new employment opportunities, infrastructure and supporting the 
establishment of a new university.

3. Financial outlook 

3.1. The MTFS extends the time period under review to include 2021/22. This continues 
with the longer-term planning approach that is now well embedded in the Council’s 
strategic financial management arrangements. As core government funding 
disappears in 2020/21, the council will become increasingly self-reliant upon local 
resources, council tax and business rates. Although the latter is in itself an uncertain 
funding source at this time. 

3.2. By the end of 2018/19 the council will have made ongoing savings of circa £90m over 
the last ten years. This has involved taking some difficult decisions about the delivery 
of services; however the approach of long term planning supported by strong 
governance and a delivery focus across the whole council has meant that savings have 

Alternative
This Council still does not have all of its accounts signed off by the external auditors and 
the reasons for this have not been disclosed. We will seek to address this matter as soon 
as we are able.

Areas of poor professional and management practice and governance failures have been 
revealed through high court judgements against the council and publicity over huge 
budget overspends. 

We propose to increase knowledge about the extent of the assistance available to the 
bedrock of our local economy – small, medium and micro-business enterprises. 

We shall also consult on what support is wanted in the city and market towns to maintain 
and enhance the economic health and resilience of their designated primary/secondary 
retail cores, and their employment areas.

389



Page 8 Medium Term Financial Strategy

been delivered on time or slightly ahead of time. This past strong performance in this 
area cannot be regarded as a guarantee for the delivery of savings in the future, and 
there is a need to avoid complacency. 

3.3. As well as meeting the councils legal responsibility to set a balanced budget, the 
benefits of long term financial planning are:

 Ensuring resources are allocated to the council’s priorities,
 Improving value for money,
 Maintaining financial stability
 Managing significant financial risks.

3.4. The medium term financial strategy is underpinned by the following key principles:

 Prudent assessment of future resources and unfunded cost pressures.
 Appropriate levels of income generated across all areas of the council, and 

prompt collection of all sums owed to the council. 
 Prudent assessment of provisions required to mitigate future liabilities. 
 Risk assessed level of reserves and balances held to mitigate potential 

financial liabilities and commitments.
 Prudent and planned use of reserves to fund expenditure 
 Maximisation of capital receipts from disposals. 
 Maximisation of external grant funding that meets our priorities. 
 Prudent and proportional use of the council’s borrowing powers to undertake 

capital investment that is not funded by capital receipts or contributions from 
third parties.

 Promotion of invest to save opportunities via detailed assessments of business 
cases. 

 Effective forecasting and management of the council’s cash flow requirements.  
 Effective management of treasury management risks, including smoothing out 

the debt maturity profile, borrowing only when necessary and taking advantage 

390



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 9

of opportunities arising because of disconnects in the market between long 
term and short term rates. 

 Full integration of revenue and capital financial decision processes, to ensure 
the revenue implications of capital projects are appropriately reflected in the 
medium term financial strategy. 

 Production of detailed implementation plans for all savings proposals.  
 Sign-off of all revenue budgets by the relevant senior managers including any 

savings plans before the commencement of the financial year. 
 Regular monitoring of budgets and robust management actions to address any 

unplanned variances that arise. 

3.5. Whilst the council’s finances have contracted, the demand for services has grown. The 
council faces a constant challenge to manage the increases in demand for adult social 
care and looked after children that are increasing significantly year on year. 

3.6. The council accepted a four-year Funding Settlement from the Government in 2016 
and 2019/20 is the fourth and final year of that settlement. The impact of this will see 
the reduction in Revenue Support Grant to £0.6m in 2019/20 compared to £60.1m of 
Revenue Support Grant in 2011. 

3.7. Over the life of the Funding Settlement the Government has introduced a range of 
temporary funding measures to assist with the increasing demands in adult social care 
but with little or no certainty beyond 2019/20. 

3.8. Government policy is likely to be influenced by a range of internal and external factors 
over the coming years; it is not possible to assess the impact of the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the EU in March 2019 at this point in time. The Government has 
indicated that that there will be a new comprehensive spending review in early 2019. 

3.9. The Government has also indicated that the Adult Social Care Green Paper will arrive 
shortly. There is likely to be an extensive national debate about how to find a 

391



Page 10 Medium Term Financial Strategy

sustainable solution to the funding of care for an ageing population. This is a complex 
problem and it is very hard to predict when a solution will be found or when and how 
the solution will be implemented. This creates significant challenges for the council in 
making medium term financial plans, as a number of the shorter term funding solutions 
for care costs from Government are scheduled to end during the life of the MTFS, 
before a sustainable funding solution is found. 

3.10. We are awaiting confirmation from Government of the implementation timetable for the 
move to business rates being retained by local government. The Government has 
indicated that it expects the move to be “fiscally neutral” and that councils should 
therefore pick up equivalent responsibilities commensurate with the additional funding.  
This raises a number of difficult challenges for the council given the makeup of the 
current business rates tax base within the county, with a large element reliant on retail 
businesses, as shown below.  

4. Funding assumptions

The Council also doesn’t deliver the proportion of its income from fees and charges that 
is achieved from similar authorities elsewhere. We propose to generate realistic levels of 
income from Council services and will seek new, resilient and sustainable sources of 
income.

We will borrow prudently, through local government access to long-term low interest 
loans, in order to secure future income and growth in publicly owned assets. We will 
ensure that the Council has access to the right advice and skills to deliver growth projects 
rather than allow private sector interests to profit disproportionately from public property.

Alternative
The Council has not delivered on the rate of planning permissions and house building 
necessary to meet its predictions in the Core Strategy. This has resulted in communities 
being subject to unplanned development as a consequence of the Council’s failure to 
evidence a 5-year housing land supply. The necessary growth in Council Tax and 
Business Rates income needed to offset the reductions Herefordshire has experienced in 
Government grant funding has therefore also not been achieved.

We shall address these issues by bringing forward the update of the Core Strategy and 
by addressing policies within the current document which are creating problems for 
communities and difficulties for planners.

392



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 11

The council’s main income stream is Council Tax and this is set to continue. This is 
positive in that it is a locally controlled funding stream and is expected to grow. A 
summary of how the income streams compare to unitary and national councils is shown 
in the graphs below.

The assumption built into the MTFS is a 4.9% Council Tax increase in 2019/20 and an 
increase of 4.5% in future years. 

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 
£000 £000 £000

Revenue Support Grant               624
Business Rates          35,950          45,853          46,554 
Council tax        104,251       109,923     115,903 
New Homes Bonus          2,176 1,209 767
Rural Sparsity Delivery Grant            5,101
Collection Fund Surplus (one off)              500 
Adult social care grant (one off) 2,385

     150,987        156,985        163,224 

393



Page 12 Medium Term Financial Strategy

5. Savings by directorate

The council has delivered £77m of savings since 2010, with a further £13m expected to be 
delivered in the current (2018/19) year. Going forward further savings are required to ensure 
the council does not overspend. The savings requirement for the next three years is £8.0m, 
as set out below, giving a savings total of £98m between 2010 and 2022.

  2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Adults and communities          700                   600                500      1,800 
Children and families          200              300              650      1,150 
Economy and place           2,473              623               273      3,369 
Corporate services 359 77 77 513
Centrally held budgets              200              500              500      1,200 
TOTAL            3,932            2,100            2,000      8,032 

Alternative
We believe that the Council has made too many cuts to preventative services. These are 
now causing unsustainable pressures in follow-on service areas. We propose to make 
investments across all Directorates in a range of service areas to begin to rebalance this 
damaging position. 

These investments are detailed in the summary document accompanying this MTFS and 
the financial impacts at Directorate level are summarised in Section 6.

394



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 13

6. Directorate base budget movements

A&C C&F E&P Corporate Central Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2018/19 revised base budget 52,087 23,958 29,169 14,301 24,609 144,124
Pressures 5,288 3,427 1,371 192 10,278
Savings (700) (200) (2,473) (359) (200) (3,932)
Other movements (325) (453) 932 (1,138) (984)
Removal of one-off funding (2,385) (500) (2,885)
Insertion of Alternative Investment 510 590 900 2,000
2019/20 base budget (ex one-offs) 54,475 27,775 28,514 15,066 22,771 148,601

Pressures 2,717 714 1,364 169 91 5,055
Savings (600) (300) (623) (77) (500) (2,100)
Public health new responsibility 7,500 7,500
Other corporate movements (71) (71)
2020/21 base budget 63,582 27,599 28,355 15,158 22,291 156,985

Pressures 2,219 732 1,228 347 94 4,620
Savings (500) (650) (273) (77) (500) (2,000)
Other corporate movements 3,619 3,619
2021/22 base budget 65,301 27,681 29,310 15,428 25,504 163,224

Alternative
We believe that the Council has made too many cuts to preventative services. These are 
now causing unsustainable pressures in follow-on service areas. We propose to make 
investments across all Directorates in a range of service areas to begin to rebalance this 
damaging position.

The requirement for sustained investment to support our policy priorities in 20/21 and 
21/22 will depend on the scoping and study work being proposed in 2019/20 budget. It is 
hoped that some of the sustained investment in preventative services will be able to be 
funded from the cost of delivering the current level of knock-on services.

We are concerned that the pressures for 20/21 and 21/22 in C&F listed in the table below 
are unrealistic, given past record in this Directorate. However, we do not have access to 
the level of detailed information to be able to challenge these figures with evidence. We 
believe this presents a risk to the delivery of the services in this Directorate in future 
years.

395



Page 14 Medium Term Financial Strategy

7. University

The New Model in Technology & Engineering (NMiTE), Hereford’s nascent engineering only 
university, has the potential to be one of the key catalysts that enables the 
transformation of the county’s economy. In a world driven by knowledge, economy, 
technology and urbanisation, the advent of the university from 2020 will, over the next 
15-20 years, not only increase the intellectual capital of Herefordshire but also has the 
potential to support steady population growth.  With 1,600 students recruited each year 
this will balance the annual out-migration of young people. In addition it is likely that at 
least ten per cent of graduates will remain in or near the county making Herefordshire 
an attractive inward investment location for employers needing hi-tech work-ready 
employees.

6.2 The direct impact on the economy, over the next 15 years, will come from a £550 
million capital investment to build 40,000 square metres of teaching space and 150,000 
square metres of student accommodation to house up to 5,000 students who will be 
resident for 46 weeks of the three years of each student’s study period. At this peak 
capacity, NMiTE will employ nearly 600 staff directly (many requiring homes) and will 
be supported by a range of local suppliers.  Based on data from other university cities, 
NMiTE is expected to add at least £120 million annually to the county’s GDP. Taken 
together, the various impacts of NMiTE will do much to help the long term sustainability 
of the county.

6.3 New innovative higher education providers such as NMiTE will play an important part 
in educating the next generation of much-needed engineers, providing the skills and 
talent that employers need.  Hereford is a cold-spot for higher education provision, 
leading to a 'brain drain' of 18-24 year olds leaving the area to study.  The Higher 
Education reforms are about giving all young people access to university and an 
increasingly diverse market to choose from. This will ensure a steady stream of highly-
skilled graduates into the workplace locally, and regionally. NMiTE builds on plans set 
out in the Government’s modern Industrial Strategy, which aims to improve living 
standards and economic growth by increasing productivity and driving growth.

6.4 A fundamental role of the Marches LEP is to help develop a vibrant regional economy 
by removing barriers to growth. The creation of NMiTE will play a pivotal role in driving 
forward our economy through the development of a new and innovative Higher 

Alternative
The New Model in Technology & Engineering (NMiTE) has secured a significant level of 
Government funding. It offers the potential to have a radical effect on the future model for 
universities and the project is being watched with interest by international stakeholders 
and subject matter experts.

It is important for the Council to both plan for the success of this initiative and also to 
make every effort to minimise any possible damaging effects that may be consequent on 
both the hoped-for success and the possible failure of the project.

The impact of the university project on the city housing, transport, healthcare, business 
and service sectors needs to be closely considered and timely investments made to 
maximise the benefits and minimise the risks.

We propose reprioritising a number of currently planned capital investments and 
infrastructure projects to ensure that the university project’s risks are managed and its 
benefits to the whole community are realised.

396



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 15

Education provision. This will help address the national shortage of graduate engineers 
by teaching students the keys skills which employers demand in the workplace. A key 
focus of the project will be to help retain a large proportion of the 18-24 population who 
leave the region to attend Universities across the country, implementing the knowledge 
and skills acquired to help improve the productivity of our valued businesses.

8. Better Care Fund

8.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a pooled budget which is nationally mandated to 
further the integration of health and social care. Herefordshire’s BCF has two 
partners, Herefordshire Council and Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG).

8.2 Funding is received by the council from the NHS, via Herefordshire CCG. The 
Department of Health and Social Care sets national minimum contributions to the 
pool for both revenue and capital and specifies that certain funding streams must be 
included within the mandatory minimum fund. Partners are permitted, and 
encouraged, to pool more than the minimum requirement. The BCF in Herefordshire 
has four components; mandatory capital and revenue contributions, additional 
voluntary revenue contributions from each partner, and the Improved Better Care 
Fund (IBCF). 

8.3 The MTFS assumes that the transfer of funds from the NHS to the council will occur 
throughout the MTFS period and that the annual value will continue to grow in line 
with inflationary uplifts for the NHS.

9. Improved Better Care Fund
9.1 The Government’s Spending Review in 2015 announced new money for social care 

and the 2017 Spring Budget subsequently increased this funding. The Government 
requires that this additional IBCF funding for adult social care in 2017-19 is pooled 
into the local BCF.

9.2 The funding is paid to Local Authorities for adult social care as a direct grant under 
Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. The funding may be used only for the 
purposes of meeting adult social care needs; reducing pressures on the NHS, 

Alternative
We support the extension and deepening of joint working between Social Care Service 
and Healthcare Services. This joint and collaborative working is facilitated by money 
movements between service providers and by Government grants all managed through 
the mechanisms of the Better Care and Improved Better Care Funds.

Over the period of the plan, and within existing funding, we would encourage changes to 
working arrangements, colocation of service providers, joint service delivery and other 
mechanisms which improve effective working and increase positive outcomes for local 
residents.

Following the successful roll-out of our proposed investment in a network of locality 
wellbeing hubs we also propose to work more closely with community and third sector 
organisations over the period of the MTFS to enable these organisations to plan with 
confidence to provide an appropriate mix of local support services.

397



Page 16 Medium Term Financial Strategy

including supporting more people to be discharged from hospital when they are 
ready; and ensuring that the local social care provider market is supported.   

9.3 A recipient local authority must:
a) pool the grant funding into the local BCF, unless an area has written 

Ministerial exemption;   
b) work with the relevant CCG and providers to meet the national BCF condition 

on managing transfers of care set out in the Integration and Better Care Fund 
Policy Framework and Planning Requirements 2017-19; and   

c) provide quarterly reports as required by the Secretary of State.

9.4 The MTFS assumes that the funding allocated in the 2015 spending review is 
recurrent and will be received throughout the MTFS period, albeit subject to any 
changes made by the forthcoming 2019 spending review; while the funding 
announced in the 2017 Spring Budget is assumed to be non-recurrent and will not 
be received after 2019/20.

10. Demographics

Alternative
We recognise the pressures placed upon the Council as a consequence of the particular 
demographics of the county’s population and predicted future trends in these 
demographics.

We consider the following chart to provide a more understandable explanation of 
demographic trends than the one showing in the administration’s MTFS.

398



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 17

10.1 The latest population projections for Herefordshire are the 2016-based Subnational 
population projections (SNPPs), published 24 May 2018 by the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). Based on the ONS’ 2016 mid-year estimates, the future population is 
projected forward by ageing on the population and applying observed trends in relation 
to births, deaths and migration, year on year, up to 2041.

10.2 The current projections suggest slower growth than the previous (2014-based) 
projections. This is because of assumptions about lower future levels of fertility and 
international migration, and an assumption of a slower rate of increase in life 
expectancy.

10.3 The total population of Herefordshire is projected to increase from 189,500 people in 
2016 to 194,100 by 2021 (an increase of two per cent); and to 203,700 people by 2036 
(an increase of seven per cent), equivalent to an average annual growth of 0.35 per 
cent per year over this 20-year period. This is a lower projected annual rate of growth 
than England as a whole (0.5 per cent per year).

10.4 These projections serve as a baseline scenario; they do not attempt to predict the 
impact that future Government or local policies (such as on housing development), 
changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic 
behaviour.

Based on 2016 data, the working age population of the county is predicted to drop by 
5,000 by 2035, while the retired population of the county is predicted to rise by 20,000 
over the same period. A quarter of those additional retired residents are expected to be 
over 85 yrs.

The county has higher rates of employment and economic activity (80%) than for the 
West Midlands region or National rates, but also the lowest average wages of any 
authority in the West Midlands (£23,400), which are at least £5,600 p.a. less than the 
National average. At the same time the county has some of the highest house prices in 
the region as a proportion of household income. The county has higher rates of 
employment and economic activity (80%) than for the West Midlands region or National 
rates, but also the lowest average wages of any authority in the West Midlands 
(£23,400), which are at least £5,600 p.a. less than the National average. At the same 
time the county has some of the highest house prices in the region as a proportion of 
household income. 

As a consequence of these circumstances national definitions of ‘affordable housing’ are 
irrelevant here in Herefordshire; income from business rates has not been grown by the 
council at the rate required to offset reductions in government grants; average wage 
levels are yet to show any significant narrowing of regional and national gaps; pressure 
on social care and health facilities caring for older people are high and continue to grow.

We propose to increase the number of affordable homes built within the county for local 
people to rent. We plan to achieve this through the partnership the Council has already 
committed to with Keepmoat to develop publicly owned land. We would deliver a 
significantly greater proportion of affordable homes on these development sites than the 
targets presently set by place shaping policies in the Core Strategy.

We would also increase the delivery of dedicated housing for older people, particularly in 
growth villages, to enable people living in rural areas to access homes suitable to their 
needs while remaining located within their communities.

399



Page 18 Medium Term Financial Strategy

Predicted population growth in Herefordshire:

11. Minimum Revenue Provision
10.1 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a technical accounting requirement, 

specific to local government, which is the method by which councils charge their 
revenue accounts over time with the cost of their capital expenditure that was originally 
funded by borrowing.

10.2 Local government accounting rules require the council to make revenue provision to 
support the costs of capital spend funded by borrowing regardless of whether that 
borrowing has actually been taken up; this is referred to as minimum revenue provision 
and is intended to provide a public demonstration of the costs of capital expenditure.

10.3 During 2017/18 Herefordshire revised its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, 
this changed the notional debt repayment calculation basis to an annuity loan 
repayment method. This matches the flow of benefits generated by the assets funded 
from borrowing to the annual MRP charge in the revenue budget. Linking MRP to the 
average useful life of an asset reflects the economic benefit the council receives from 
using the asset to deliver services over its useful life, representing a fairer cost charge 
to current and future council tax payers. Council tax payers are being charged each 
year in line with asset usage and this avoids current council tax payers meeting the 
cost of future usage or future council tax payers being burdened with charges relating 
to assets that are no longer in use.

10.4 The actual MRP charge is based on the following calculation:-
 Historic debt balances, previously being written down on a 4% reducing 

balance basis, being charged on an annuity loan repayment basis. This change 
ensures all historic notional debt is repaid by 2025/26 whereas under the 
previous method a balance of £14m would be remaining to be repaid. The 
annuity rate used is a consistent 2% calculated in line with the changes in 
revenue support grant which was deemed to include a funding element in 
relation to the repayment of supported historic debt.

 Supported borrowing, previously written down on a straight line basis over the 

400



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 19

asset life, moves to a 3% annuity also charged over the asset life under the 
revised method. The annuity rate has been applied to capital expenditure 
incurred since 1st April 2008, and spend prior to this continues to be written 
down on a straight line basis. The 3% represents an average of PWLB (Public 
Works Loan Board) loan comparator rates.

10.5 The MRP calculation will be reviewed again in 5 years’ time to ensure the revised 
method above is still appropriate.

12. Capital Programme

11.1 The current capital programme is summarised in the table below, along with the overall 
financing and detailed budgets by scheme in appendix 2. The capital programme 
approved by Council in July 2018 was approved at £297.3m; this becomes £325.4m 
with additional grants added to the capital programme. We know that previously a 
number of schemes would deliver later than planned as budgets are often estimated 
very optimistically across financial years, but in reality with the time it takes to plan and 
progress projects they deliver later than first estimated.  Work has been done to align 
these projects more realistically across the financial years and therefore the profile of 
budgets has moved between years to reflect this.

Alternative
We propose to reprioritise the way in which some of the funds identified in the 
Administration’s Capital Programme are to be spent, specifically those relating to 
development partners Keepmoat and Engie and projects relating to transport packages 
for Hereford.

We propose that the development partnership is used to increase the delivery of 
affordable homes and for these homes to be retained in council ownership to grow the 
Council’s capital asset holdings for income generation and to support the capacity for the 
Council to borrow in the future.

We propose that all planned projects within existing transport packages which deliver 
active modes of travel improvements are prioritised for implementation ahead of any 
further funds being spent in progressing the road-building projects within these packages. 
This is both to maximise the improvements which can be delivered quickly to address city 
traffic issues and to support the needs of the new university which is requiring that its 
students do not travel by car.

We also propose some scoping studies in the 2019/20 revenue programme relating to 
future income generating developments which may lead to new capital investment 
programmes being proposed during the timeframe of this MTFS.

The detail of all these changes is given in the summary report accompanying this MTFS.

401



Page 20 Medium Term Financial Strategy

Approved Capital Programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Total Adults & Communities 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Total Children's & Families 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 0 37,198
Total Economy & Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025
Total Capital Programme 90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

Financed by
Capital Receipts 24,755
Grants & Funding 
Contributions 121,382
Prudential Borrowing 88,783
Funded in prior years 90,491
Total Funding 325,411

11.2 Applications for grant funding towards the Hereford Transport Package will be 
submitted. The capital programme will be increased as these are secured. Additional 
corporate capital funding requests will be submitted to Full Council when they are 
required. This means there will be increases to the capital programme for 2019/20 
onwards once approved by Council at any future meeting. These funding requests will 
be reviewed in line with Council plans and within the financing available of grants, 
capital receipts and increased borrowing of £6.7m annually but borrowing funded 
through revenue savings will be in addition to this limit. The capital receipts reserve 
balance at the end of 2017/18 was £42.5m and as we can see in the table above 
£24.8m of this has already been approved to fund current schemes but of course the 
reserve balance will increase by any future receipts from April 2018.

11.3 There are a number of large schemes of over £5m for replacement schools at Colwall, 
Marlbrook and Peterchurch, along with annual grants for the Local Transport Plan, 
Fastershire Broadband and Highways Asset Management. The Hereford Transport 
Package will also increase significantly once final plans and funding have been 
approved. However the three largest schemes are for the Hereford City Centre 
Transport Package for £40.6m, with only £8.3m budget remaining. The South Wye 
Transport Package for £35m with a £5m spend to date and plans being finalised for 
the project to be delivered. The Development Partnership Activities budget is for 
£40.6m with a £300k spend to date, although this is due to the partnership agreements 
only being signed in July 2018 and therefore these projects within the programme 
budget will begin to start to develop in the near future.

Development Partners
12.4 The Development and Regeneration Programme (DRP) has been established to 

provide development solutions that are reflective of the policies of Herefordshire 
Council and will be designed and developed in an inclusive way with the community. 
Consideration is given in all instances of providing developments that are considerate 
to the health and wellbeing of the residents, built to the latest environmental standards 
as set out in the building regulations (The National Standards). 

402



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 21

12.5 Development partners Keepmoat and Engie are committed to encompassing the use 
of local suppliers and contractors and to maximise the opportunities to employ local 
Herefordshire people. The KPIs have been set up to reflect this and all parties will take 
every action possible to ensure this is achieved.

12.6 The development partners are keen to achieve developments that reflect the highest 
standards and that the real impact is to viability, or the anticipated land receipt. The 
decision as to what standards are applied to a development lies with the council and 
will impact on development returns/outcomes on a case by case basis.
Keepmoat Homes Ltd 

12.7 Supporting the delivery of new homes that will help the council to achieve its strategic 
housing growth targets. Current projects include Bromyard Depot, Merton Meadow, 
Hildersley and Holme Lacy.

12.8 The first new homes are expected to commence building by late summer 2019.

ENGIE Regeneration Ltd

12.9 Supporting the delivery of regeneration construction projects, such as business units, 
student accommodation, commercial development and retirement housing.

12.10 The agreements will bring to life plans contained within the adopted Core Strategy (the 
document that sets out Herefordshire’s planning priorities until 2031). The plan outlines 
the development opportunities enabled by the Hereford City Centre Transport Package 
and Hereford Transport Package, as well other sites across the county such as the 
Ross Enterprise Park and Hillside. 

Capital receipts reserve

12.11 At the end of the 2017/18 financial year there was a balance of £42.5m in the capital 
receipts reserve. There are a number of schemes within the capital programme to be 
funded by capital receipts; the balance will be retained to deliver enhanced investment 
on the use of these reserves, once business cases have been submitted for approval 
at Council.

403



Page 22 Medium Term Financial Strategy

13. Revenue Budget / Till receipt
Shown below is an indicative illustrative typical month’s expenditure incurred by a band 
D property in Herefordshire from 1st April 2019, this is a draft that will be updated as 
the budget progresses into its final form.

404



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 23

14 PFI contracts

14.1 The council has two traditional PFI contracts; one in partnership with Worcestershire 
County Council for the provision of waste management services and the other for the 
provision of Whitecross High School. The council also has one contract that falls within 
the definition of a similar contract to a PFI, which is the Shaw Healthcare contract for 
the provision of residential care services. Under the Shaw Healthcare contract, the rent 
and service charges paid to Shaw by residents for the council’s extra care flats at 
Leadon Bank have been treated as a contribution to the revenue costs of the units.

Waste disposal

14.2 In 1998 Herefordshire Council, in partnership with Worcestershire County Council, 
entered into a 25 year contract with Mercia Waste Management Limited for the 
provision of an integrated waste management system using the Private Finance 
Initiative.

14.3 Under the contract the councils are required to ensure that all waste for disposal is 
delivered to the contractor, who will take responsibility for recycling or recovering 
energy from the waste stream. In total the estimated cost over the life of the contract 
is approximately £500m of which approximately 25% relates to Herefordshire Council. 
The original life of the contract was 25 years, until 2023, with the option to extend this 
by 5 years.

14.4 A variation to the contract was signed in May 2014 to design, build, finance and operate 
an Energy from Waste Plant. Construction was completed in 2017 with a funding 
requirement of £195m and an uplift to the annual unitary charge for both councils of 
£2.7m per annum.

14.5 Both councils provided circa 82% of the project finance requirement for the plant under 
a separate financing arrangement generating interest income for the councils. The 
remaining 18% was provided by the equity shareholders of Mercia Waste Management 
Limited. 

Whitecross High School
14.6 The Whitecross School PFI project delivered a fully equipped 900 place secondary 

school with full facilities management services. The contract with Stepnell Limited has 
an overall value of £74m and lasts for 25 years, until 2032. During the 2012/13 financial 

Alternative
We do not support the principle of PFI and will not normally consider this approach to 
bringing forward future projects.

Alternative
We continue to have concerns regarding the investment which the Council has been 
made in this waste processing facility – particularly as the end of the contract approaches 
and the assessed ‘value’ and options for future operation of the facility remain to be 
confirmed.  This is the largest single investment this Council has made since its creation 
as a unitary authority. 

We consider the lack of clarity as regards the future for the operation of the site and next 
generation waste management contract present a significant risk which we will wish to 
investigate closely and understand, using existing resource, during 2019/20.

405



Page 24 Medium Term Financial Strategy

year the school transferred to Academy status but the obligations under the PFI 
contract remain with the council.

15 High Needs

 
15.1 There is a severe cost pressure on high needs spend; spend on pupils with higher 

support needs, with growth and projected growth shown in the table above. The council 
is reviewing its SEN funding matrix whilst ensuring a new approach continues to 
comply with the legal duty to secure the special educational provision identified in an 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan. This statutory duty means that, by meeting 
individual care plan needs, an overspend may occur. The council recognises its 
absolute duty to provide all special educational provision in children’s EHC plans and 
is committed to fulfilling that duty for every child with an EHC plan even if this leads to 
a deficit in the SEN budget.

16 Treasury Management Strategy

16.1 The council has reviewed and updated its treasury management strategy for the MTFS 
period. The intention is to continue to utilise short term borrowing if required due to the 
lower cost of carry, however interest rate forecasts will continue to be monitored and, 
if considered financially favourable, longer term fixed rated debt will be secured.

16.2 As at 30 September 2018 the council held investments of £36m attracting an average 
of 0.71% interest and outstanding long term debt of £240m at an average interest rate 
payable of 4.36%.

16.3 Savings achieved by a change in the minimum revenue provision calculation (the 
notional capital investment financed by debt annual revenue repayment cost) have 
been allocated to a financial resilience reserve that will fund invest to save proposals. 

17 Reserves

Alternative
We recognise the Council’s track record in Treasury Management and also welcome the 
update of the strategy. We propose to ensure that the council’s short, medium and longer 
term investments are made in future in sustainable and ethically based funds.

Alternative
We propose to direct to Council Reserves all funds realised in 2019/20 as a 
consequence of additional income targets placed on services.

406



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 25

Definition of Earmarked reserves and provisions 
17.1 Provisions are required for any liabilities where the timing of payments or the amount 

of the liability is uncertain. Provisions are required to be recognised when:
 The council has a present obligation (legal or constrictive) as a result of a past 

event. 
 It is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the 

obligations and;
 A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation
 Amounts set aside outside for purposes falling outside the definition of 

provisions are consider to be reserves. 

17.2 Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for specific policy purposes or for general 
contingencies and cash flow management. For each reserve established, the purpose, 
usage and the basis of transactions needs to be clearly defined. 

Use of Reserves 
17.3 Reserves enable the council to do three things:

 Create a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and 
avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing. This forms part of the general 
reserves. 

 Create a contingency to cushion against the impact of unexpected events or 
emergencies. This also forms part of general reserves. 

 Creates a means of building up funds, often referred to as ear marked reserves, 
as defined above to meet known or predicted liabilities. 

17.4 There are other reserves that can only be used for specific statutory purposes. These 
include the usable capital receipts and pensions reserve. These are not considered as 
part of this policy. 

Establishing a new reserve
17.5 When establishing reserves the council needs to ensure that it is complying with the 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and in particular the need to distinguish 
between reserves and provisions.

17.6 New reserves may be created at any time, but must be approved by the Cabinet when 
a reserve is established. The Cabinet needs to approve the following:
 Purpose - the reason for creating the reserve should be clearly stated. 
 Usage - there should be a clear statement of how and when the reserve can be 

used. 
 Basis of transactions - delegated authority for approval of expenditure from the 

reserve. 

Reporting reserves 
17.7 The Chief Finance Officer has a fiduciary duty to local tax payers and must be satisfied 

that the decisions taken on balances and reserves represent proper stewardship of 
public funds.

 
17.8 The overall level of reserves balances will be reported to Cabinet at least annually or 

when new reserves are proposed, the last report to Cabinet was in June 2018 
(http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&
Ver=4 ).

17.9 The annual budget report to Council will include:

407

http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&Ver=4
http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=251&MId=6584&Ver=4


Page 26 Medium Term Financial Strategy

 A statement of movements in reserves for the year ahead and the following two 
years;

 A statement of the adequacy of general reserves and provisions in the 
forthcoming year and in the Medium Term Financial Strategy; and 

 A statement on the annual review of reserves.  

17.10 The level of reserves for the next three years will be reviewed at least annually as part 
of the Annual budget setting cycle. The Chief Finance Officer will review the Councils 
earmarked reserves for relevance of propose and adequacy. 

17.11 Any amendments to earmarked reserves will be reported to the Cabinet for approval. 

17.12 Once a reserve has fulfilled the purpose for which it was established, any remaining 
balance should be reallocated to another similar purpose earmarked reserve or 
surrendered to General Reserves. 

18 Conclusion

This medium term financial strategy proposes delivering a balanced budget with tough 
savings required but a clear focus on continuing to improve outcomes. Herefordshire 
has an excellent track record of transforming services in difficult financial times and 
continuing to meet the needs of our customers.

19 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Net Revenue budget

Appendix 2 - Approved Capital Investment Programme

Appendix 3 - Reserves Policy

Appendix 4 - Risk Assessment

Alternative
We propose amendments to capital spending priorities and new investment in key 
services which will improve resilience, sustainability, and community cohesion in 
Herefordshire.

408



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 27

Appendix 1

Net Revenue budget and Directorate Spending Limits 2019/20

2018/19 
revised 

base

Funded 
pressures 

Savings Other 
adjust

2019/20 
draft base 

budget
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Adults and communities 52,087 5,288 (700) (325) + 510 56,860
Children’s and families 23,958 3,427 (200) 590 27,775
Economy and place 29,169 1,371 (2,473) (453) + 900 28,514
Corporate services 14,301 192 (359) 932 15,066
Sub Total 119,515 10,278 (3,732) 2,154 128,215
Centrally held budgets 24,609 - (200) (1,637) 22,772
Provisional settlement 
(one off) to spend on 
rural matters

- - -

Total 144,124 10,278 (3,932) 517 150,987

Financed by
Revenue support grant 5,370 624
Business rates 33,256 35,950
Council tax 98,445 104,251
New homes bonus 2,540 2,176
Rural sparsity delivery 
grant

4,093 5,101

Collection fund surplus 
(one off)

420 500

Adult social care grant 
(one off)

2,385

Total 144,124 150,987

Alternative Budget amendments are highlighted

409



Page 28 Medium Term Financial Strategy

Appendix 2

Approved capital programme

 

Prior 
Years 
£000s

2018/19 
£000s

2019/20 
£000s

2020/21 
£000s

2021/22 
£000s

Total 
Capital 

Programme 
Budgets        

£000s
Adults and Wellbeing
Disabled facilities grant - 1,853 1,853 1,853 1,853 7,412
Hillside - 250 1,250 - - 1,500
Single Capital Pot 19 523 73 - - 615
Private sector housing 
improvements 14 242 - - - 256
Total Adults & Wellbeing 33 2,868 3,176 1,853 1,853 9,783
Children's Wellbeing
Colwall Primary School 6,430 320 - - - 6,750
Schools Capital Maintenance 
Grant 797 1,217 1,700 1,200 1,200 6,114
Peterchurch Primary School 7 - 493 5,000 - 5,500
Expansion for Marlbrook school 153 450 5,538 - - 6,141
SEN & DDA school improvements - - 710 - - 710
Brookfield School Improvements 6 - 1,298 - - 1,304
CYPD's S106 313 392 605 - - 1,310
Special Provision Capital Fund - - 333 167 - 500
Healthy Pupils - - 99 - - 99
Individual Pupil Needs - 151 120 - - 271
Short Breaks Capital - - 118 - - 118
Blackmarston SEN 30 55 - - - 85
Replacement Leominster Primary 3 39 - - - 42
Basic Needs Funding - - 2,058 6,833 - 8,891
2 Year Old Capital Funding 4 101 - - - 105
Preliminary works to inform key 
investment - 200 1,815 - - 2,015
Temporary school accommodation 
replacement - 450 - - - 450
Total Children's Wellbeing 7,743 3,375 14,887 13,200 1,200 40,405
Corporate
Fastershire Broadband 16,855 5,000 11,420 2,463 - 35,738
IT Network Upgrade 209 291 - - - 500
PC Replacement 70 290 - - - 360
Data Centre Consolidation 124 106 - - - 230
Children Centre Changes - 370 - - - 370
Total Corporate 17,258 6,057 11,420 2,463 - 37,198

410



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 29

Economy, Communities and 
Corporate
Hereford City Centre Transport 
Package 32,321 1,342 1,550 5,438 - 40,651
Local Transport Plan (LTP) - 13,539 12,272 12,272 - 38,083
Hereford Enterprise Zone 8,318 4,758 2,924 - - 16,000
Leisure Centres 9,639 413 - - - 10,052
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 503 120 1,511 - - 2,134
Corporate Accommodation 2,362 509 - - - 2,871
ECC's S106 - 756 - - - 756
South Wye Transport Package 4,978 4,508 17,067 8,250 197 35,000
Marches business improvement 
grants 415 1,297 788 - 2,500
SEPUBU Grant - 381 354 - 735
Property Estate Enhancement 
Works 826 1,414 500 - - 2,740
LED street lighting 5,478 177 - - - 5,655
Herefordshire Enterprise Zone 
Shell Store - 1,500 5,816 - - 7,316
Cyber Security Centre Project - 3,500  - - 3,500
Development Partnership activties 300 5,300 35,000 - - 40,600
Highway asset management - 9,790 3,108 - - 12,898
Hereford Transport Package - 2,960 - - - 2,960
Ross Enterprise Park (Model 
Farm) - 800 6,270 - - 7,070
Three Elms Trading Estate (8) 125 358 - - 475
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill 93 2 - - - 95
Customer Services and Library 10 123 - - - 133
Energy Efficiency  - 35 65 - - 100
Warm Homes Fund 1 - 397 397 165 960
Strangford closed landfill site 20 11 - - - 31
Gypsy & Traveller Pitch 
development 29 331 - - - 360
Leominster cemetery extension 21 172 - - - 193
Tarsmill Court, Rotherwas - 400 - - - 400
Car Parking Strategy 58 188 - - - 246
Car Park Re-Surfacing - 116 - - - 116
Office and Car Park Lighting 
Replacement - 135 165 - - 300
Affordable Housing Grant - 800 800 800 - 2,400
Community Housing Fund - 150 - - - 150
Revolving Loans 99 101 - - - 200
Hereford Library (6) 351 - - - 345
Total Economy and Place 65,457 56,104 88,945 27,157 362 238,025

Total  90,491 68,404 118,428 44,673 3,415 325,411

411



Page 30 Medium Term Financial Strategy

Appendix 3

Reserves 

1. Review of Reserves

1.1. The overall reserves of the council will be subject to detailed review at the end of each 
financial year as part of the preparation for the production of the council’s statement 
of accounts, and as part of the council’s annual budget setting process to ensure 
reserves are  

1.1.1. Relevant,
1.1.2. Appropriate, and 
1.1.3. Prudent.

1.2. The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the council has in place well established 
robust and regular budget monitoring processes. These take account of the current 
level of reserves, the latest budget requirements calling on reserves to meet current 
commitments and to make contributions to reserves to meet future commitments.
 

1.3. The Chief Finance Officer must consider strategic, operational and financial risks in 
assessing the adequacy of the council’s reserves position.  

2. Use of Reserves

2.1. Approval to use or make contributions to reserves is provided by the Chief Finance 
Officer, as part of the regular budgetary process, in discussion with the Chief 
Executive and Leader of the Cabinet

2.2. Movements in reserve will be reported to Council as part of the financial Outturn at 
the end of the financial year.

3. Conclusion 

3.1. The Chief Finance Officer is satisfied that the Council’s ongoing approach to its 
reserves and provisions is robust.  The council’s strategic reserve is maintained 
between 3% - 5% of the net budget requirement, at the end of March 2018 the balance 
was £7.9m (5% of net budget). 

3.2. This is sufficient to ensure that the council has adequate resources to fund unforeseen 
financial liabilities, and that the council’s approach to general balances is deemed 
appropriate. The level of reserves and expected movement in reserves are set out in 
the MTFS as part of the annual budget setting process.

412



Medium Term Financial Strategy Page 31

Appendix 4

Key Risk Assessment

Key Financial Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions
1 Unexpected events or 

emergencies
By its nature, the financial risk is 
uncertain

Low High  Council maintains a Strategic Reserve 
at a    level of between 3% and 5% of its 
revenue budget for emergency 
purposes

 Level of reserve is currently £7.9m (5% 
of  budget)

2 Increasing demand for Adult 
Social Care
Demand for services continue to 
increase as the population gets older

High Medium  Demand led pressures provided for 
within our spending plans

 Activity indicators have been 
developed and will be reported 
quarterly alongside budget monitoring 

3 Potential Overspend and 
Council does not deliver 
required level of savings to 
balance spending plans 
Challenging savings have been 
identified within our spending 
plans.

Medium Medium  High risk budget areas have been 
identified and financial support is 
targeted towards these areas

 Regular progress reports on 
delivery of savings to 
Management Board and Cabinet

 Budget monitoring 
arrangements for forecasting 
year end position in place and 
forecast balanced

 Plan to review level of cover 
available from General reserves in 
place

4 Potential overspend on Special 
Education Needs 
The duty to secure provision identified 
in Education, Health and Care plans 
means an overspend may occur

Medium Medium  This is a national issue with 
lobbying to increase central 
government funding 

 A review of the application of the 
matrix is underway

5 Increase in Pension Liabilities 
Our contributions are influenced by 
market investment returns and 
increasing life expectancy.

Medium Low  Spending plans reflect the level of 
pension contribution required as 
identified by the Pension Fund’s 
Actuary in 2016 for the next three years

6 Failure to fund sufficient school 
places and sufficient support 
There is an increasing requirement 
to provide sufficient school places
There is a rising number of children 
requiring specific support

Medium High  Provision has been made in the 
capital programme to increase 
school places

 Directorate plans in place to 
manage and mitigate demand

 Ongoing reviews of children 
already under care of council

7 Volatility in future funding streams 
in Government funding streams 
and Business Rates Retention

High Medium  Prudent assumptions 
made in budget 

 Ongoing review of 
developing business rate 
changes

 Business case to support future 
investment decisions

8 Brexit
Impact of EU exit may lead to 
increased volatility in economic 
stability and reduced access to funds

Medium Medium  Reduced reliance on grant 
funding in all directorates

 Increased local economic 
and social investment to 
increase core income

413





Recommendations from the scrutiny committees concerning the It’s Our County alternative 
budget proposals

Recommendations from Adults and Wellbeing Scrutiny: 

1. The committee recommended an amendment to section 5.3 (p.16) of the alternative budget 
to include ‘wider areas, including parishes’ after the reference to market towns.

2. With reference to the alternative budget proposals for the council to own its own housing 
stock the committee recommended that this be removed.  Due to legislation permitting right 
to buy after three years of ownership this proposal would be unsustainable. 

3. The committee has welcomed the emphasis on prevention for adults and the wider 
additional detail offered by ‘It’s Our County’. The committee recommends that ‘It’s Our 
County’ updates the alternative budget to present this additional evidence. 

4. The committee notes the lack of funding identified for beyond 2019/20 in the alternative 
budget.  The committee, therefore, recommends that this short term funding arrangement 
creates significant difficulties in determining the outcomes that can be delivered. 

Recommendations from Children’s and Young People Scrutiny Committee

1. The committee notes the cabinet members welcoming of the ideas coming forward in the 
alternative budget and the commitment to exploring these ideas further with officers.

2. The committee welcomes the emphasis on the family centred approach to supporting 
vulnerable children and families.  The committee recommends that the ‘It’s Our County’ 
group updates the alternative budget to present additional evidence relating to the family 
centred approach.

3. However, the committee has some concern over the short term nature of the funding, which 
does not extend beyond 2019/20.

Recommendation from General Scrutiny:

1. This committee notes the recommendations from the Children’s and Adults scrutiny 
committees.

2. The committee welcomes the progressive procurement proposals set out in the alternative 
budget noted in the alternative budget.

3. The committee notes the proposals in 4.13 and recommends that additional neighbouring 
local authorities are considered, namely Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin.

4. The committee would welcome added clarity from ‘It’s Our County’ in connection to the 
alternative budget by naming the existing council plans that it is aligned to.  Namely, the- 
local transport plans, the carbon reduction plan, SMOTs and local flood management.

5. The committee would welcome added clarity from ‘It’s Our County’ in defining the activities 
associated with some of the investment proposals, where they are able to do so, to provide 
confidence that they represent value for money.

415



6. The committee recommends that IOC welcomes the suggestion to invite parish councils to 
engage in a debate around how local priorities and spend are set.  And, that ‘It’s Our County’ 
note the offer to utilise the parish summits as a mechanism for doing this.

7. The committee shares the concerns of the other scrutiny committees over the short term 
nature of the funding which does not extend beyond 2019/20.  This presents difficulties in 
determining, with certainty, the outcomes that can be delivered.

416



Response

Scrutiny Comments

4-5 February 2019

417



COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Scrutiny meetings were held in 4-5 February 2019 to consider the alternative budget and MTFS 
proposals submitted by It’s Our County. These comments are given below with responses provided 
by It’s Our County in RED.

ADULTS AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY 

1. The committee recommended an amendment to section 5.3 of the alternative budget to 
include “wider areas, including parishes” after the reference to market towns.
ACCEPTED:  the amended wording proposed will be incorporated at para 5.3.

2. With reference to the alternative budget proposals for the council to own its own housing 
stock the committee recommended that this be removed. Due to legislation permitting right 
to buy after 3 years of ownership this proposal would be unsustainable.
PARTIALLY ACCEPTED:  The proposal will not be deleted as recommended by the 
committee, but instead will be amended to clarify the position for councillors at para 3.7. 

CLARIFICATION FOR SCRUTINY: As the consequence of recent legislation government has 
given tenants a new ‘Right to Acquire’ under certain circumstances if you are a housing 
association or council tenant. The scheme to deliver central government financial 
compensation to landlords to reflect the government-imposed housing price discounts for 
tenants taking up this new ‘right’ has not been worked out yet. 

To inform the final approach to this scheme a “Right to Acquire” pilot, funded by £200m of 
government money, is underway in the social housing sector across the East & West 
Midlands. This includes Herefordshire housing associations. 
(https://www.housing.org.uk/resource-library/browse/midlands-voluntary-right-to-buy-
pilot-guidance-published/).

However, councils are able to set up wholly-owned, arms-length companies to own their 
new-build council-owned housing. Consequently, such housing is not subject to the 
government’s ‘Right to Acquire’ legislation, meaning that councils are able to retain this 
housing in public ownership. 

This approach has been adopted by a number of metropolitan local authorities (e.g. Tower 
Hamlets) and as recently as Sept 2018 Bristol City Council took the decision to set up such a 
company (https://news.bristol.gov.uk/news/new-council-owned-housing-company-could-
be-foundation-of-house-building-success). 

Feedback we have obtained from the Sheffield City Council indicates that they now wish that 
they had employed a similar approach to secure the long-term public ownership of the 
housing they have been developing through their partnership with Keepmoat.

418

https://www.housing.org.uk/resource-library/browse/midlands-voluntary-right-to-buy-pilot-guidance-published/
https://www.housing.org.uk/resource-library/browse/midlands-voluntary-right-to-buy-pilot-guidance-published/
https://news.bristol.gov.uk/news/new-council-owned-housing-company-could-be-foundation-of-house-building-success
https://news.bristol.gov.uk/news/new-council-owned-housing-company-could-be-foundation-of-house-building-success


3. The committee has welcomed the emphasis on prevention for adults and the wider 
additional detail offered by IOC. The committee recommends that IOC updates the proposal 
to present this additional evidence.
ACCEPTED: We are grateful that the committee is interested to know more about the well-
recognised potential that digital technologies offer to transform the provision of health and 
social care. However, the budget documents are not the place for such additional detail to 
be provided. We therefore include information for the committee and councillors here.

CLARIFICATION FOR SCRUTINY: The committee may be interested to consider a policy-
shaping piece of work in its future programme. To inform the committee and councillors as 
to the evidence already available on this matter we provide the following links:

 https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/life-sciences-
health-care/deloitte-uk-connected-health.pdf

 https://mhealthintelligence.com/news/uk-goes-all-in-on-remote-patient-monitoring
 https://www.digihealthcare.scot/home/strategy/
 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Hampshire%20County%20

Council%20LIP%20Case%20Study.pdf

4. The committee notes the lack of funding identified beyond 2019/20 in the alternative 
budget. The committee therefore recommends that this short-term funding arrangement 
creates significant difficulties in determining the outcomes that can be delivered.

NOT ACCEPTED: There is no scope within the Council’s Constitution for us to be able to 
commit funding for future years. Therefore, in line with the Constitution, and as with the 
administration’s budget, this alternative budget is solely for the financial year2019-20. 

Our proposals for 2019-20 relating to the remit of the committee are for discrete pieces of 
work to be undertaken within the financial year. We would expect officers to monitor 
progress and outcomes as part of normal in-year service delivery. Recommendations on 
continuing or revised levels of funding for any investments with the potential to continue 
would be made in the normal way to inform budgeting for 2020-21. 

Our intentions as regards sustained investment in future years are indicated in the MTFS 
document. We believe the existing wording at Section 6 adequately covers this matter.

We note that the committee has not raised similar concerns regarding the budget provided 
by the administration, despite this also providing no assurances as regards future years 
funding and value for money outcomes.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SCRUTINY 

1. The committee notes the cabinet member’s welcoming of the ideas coming forward in 
the alternative budget and the commitment to exploring these ideas further with 
officers.
NO ACTION REQUIRED

419

https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/deloitte-uk-connected-health.pdf
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/deloitte-uk-connected-health.pdf
https://mhealthintelligence.com/news/uk-goes-all-in-on-remote-patient-monitoring
https://www.digihealthcare.scot/home/strategy/
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Hampshire%20County%20Council%20LIP%20Case%20Study.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Hampshire%20County%20Council%20LIP%20Case%20Study.pdf


2. The committee welcomes the emphasis on the family-centred approach to supporting 
vulnerable children and families.
NO ACTION REQUIRED

3. The committee recommends that the IOC group updates the alternative budget to 
present additional evidence relating to the family-centred approach.
ACCEPTED: We are grateful that the committee is interested to know more about the 
well-recognised potential that digital technologies offer to transform the provision of 
health and social care. However, the budget documents are not the place for such 
additional detail to be provided. We therefore include information for the committee 
and councillors here.

CLARIFICATION FOR SCRUTINY: Hertfordshire County Council’s new approach to family 
safeguarding is changing the way looked-after children and families are supported by 
safeguarding teams and has led to significant cost savings. 

Following the independent evaluation of the project which was carried out by CASCADE: 
Children’s Social Research and Development Centre, University of Cardiff, estimated cost 
savings to Hertfordshire’s children’s services from reduced care and child protection 
allocations in the first year alone were £2.6m. 

Since then, more investments have been made by the Innovation Programme so that the 
model will be scaled to an additional four adopter sites.

The whole system reform aims to better address the needs and risks facing parents and 
children in order to increase the safety of children within the birth family. At the core of 
the intervention model are co-located, multi-disciplinary Family Safeguarding Teams, 
comprising children’s social workers and adult workers with expertise in domestic abuse, 
parental substance misuse and adult mental health.

Impact: There are multiple benefits of a Family Safeguarding Hertfordshire approach 
(including fewer A&E admissions and police incidents), however, the most relevant 
outcomes for the council are:

 Children and young people spend fewer days as looked after children; 
 Fewer new cases are allocated as Child in Need (CIN); 
 Fewer cases are allocated a child protection (CP) plan; and
 Improvement in family and child wellbeing.

Evidence from the evaluation is that the intervention:
 Child in Need cases reduced by 9%
 Child Protection Plan cases reduced by 29%
 Days spent in care reduced by 39%

420



Even just delivering a fraction of these improvements here in Herefordshire would have 
a transformational effect on the outcomes for families and the sustainability of the 
council’s own support services.

Please find below the Department for Education evaluation report on the new model.

Family_Safeguardin
g_Hertfordshire.pdf

4. However, the committee has some concern over the short-term nature of the funding 
which does not extend beyond 2019/20.

NOT ACCEPTED: There is no scope within the Council’s Constitution for us to be able to 
commit funding for future years. Therefore, in line with the Constitution, and as with the 
administration’s budget, this alternative budget is solely for the financial year2019-20. 

Our proposals for 2019-20 relating to the remit of the committee are for discrete pieces 
of work to be undertaken within the financial year. We would expect officers to monitor 
progress and outcomes as part of normal in-year service delivery. Recommendations on 
continuing or revised levels of funding for any investments with the potential to 
continue would be made in the normal way to inform budgeting for 2020-21. 

Our intentions as regards sustained investment in future years are indicated in the MTFS 
document. We believe the existing wording at Section 6 adequately covers this matter.

We note that the committee has not raised similar concerns regarding the budget 
provided by the administration, despite this also providing no assurances as regards 
future years funding and value for money outcomes.

GENERAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

1. This committee notes the recommendations from the Children’s and Adults scrutiny 
committees.

NO ACTION REQUIRED

2. The committee welcomes the progressive procurement proposals set out in the 
alternative budget noted in the alternative budget.

NO ACTION REQUIRED

3. The committee notes the proposals in 4.13 and recommends that additional 
neighbouring local authorities are considered, namely Shropshire and Telford and 
Wrekin.

421



PARTIALLY ACCEPTED:  The alternative budget proposal names Gloucestershire and 
Worcestershire. These are neighbouring authorities with the largest population 
catchments with excellent transport connectivity to Herefordshire.

Consideration could also be given to exploring the nature and scale of the need for 
this type of specialised respite facility with other adjacent authorities (Shropshire, 
Powys, Monmouthshire). However, we would propose that the bulk of the funding 
allocated should be used to progress discussions with the one or two authorities 
which provide the most robust partnership prospect.

Telford and Wrekin is not a neighbouring local authority.

We have amended the text of para 4.13 to provide clarification.

4. The committee would welcome added clarity from ‘It’s Our County’ in connection to 
the alternative budget by naming the existing council plans that it is aligned to.  
Namely, the local transport plans, the carbon reduction plan, SMOTs and local flood 
management.
PARTIALLY ACCEPTED:  The alternative budget proposal assumes that councillors 
have a working knowledge of all Herefordshire Council’s relevant adopted policies. 
These include, but are not limited to:

 Local Plan Core Strategy and its evidence base
 Local Transport Plan
 Sustainable Modes of Travel to School Strategy
 Carbon Reduction Plan
 Corporate Plan
 Economic Development Strategy
 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

Links to all the relevant policy documents are available on the council’s website.    

5. The committee would welcome added clarity from ‘It’s Our County’ in defining the 
activities associated with some of the investment proposals, where they are able to 
do so, to provide confidence that they represent value for money.
NOT ACCEPTED: the recommendation does not make clear the investment proposals 
to which it refers. Directors have each already been consulted on the alternative 
budget proposals and have identified appropriate levels of investment for 2019-20. 
The implementation of proposals would be subject to value-for-money monitoring. 

We note that no such similar requirement was placed by scrutiny on the 
administration’s budget proposals.

6. The committee recommends that IOC welcomes the suggestion to invite parish 
councils to engage in a debate around how local priorities and spend are set.  And, 
that ‘It’s Our County’ note the offer to utilise the parish summits as a mechanism for 
doing this.

422



PARTIALLY ACCEPTED: We already note that the nascent ‘summits’ provide a 
mechanism to undertake some of this engagement in our budget report at para 
3.54. We are unable to identify any reference to the continuation of parish council 
summits in the administrations approved budget.

However, we intend that our proposed funding supports additional engagements to 
those which may already been budgeted for by the administration. 

Focussed discussions with parish councils and other stakeholders in specific and 
particular localities is required to ensure that the nature of varying local 
requirements and opportunities can be appropriately explored.

7. The committee shares the concerns of the other scrutiny committees over the short 
term nature of the funding which does not extend beyond 2019/20.  This presents 
difficulties in determining, with certainty, the outcomes that can be delivered. 

NOT ACCEPTED: There is no scope within the Council’s Constitution for us to be able 
to commit funding for future years. Therefore, in line with the Constitution, and as 
with the administration’s budget, this alternative budget is solely for the financial 
year2019-20. 

Our proposals for 2019-20 relating to the remit of the committee are for discrete 
pieces of work to be undertaken within the financial year. We would expect officers 
to monitor progress and outcomes as part of normal in-year service delivery. 
Recommendations on continuing or revised levels of funding for any investments 
with the potential to continue would be made in the normal way to inform 
budgeting for 2020-21. 

Our intentions as regards sustained investment in future years are indicated in the 
MTFS document. We believe the existing wording at Section 6 adequately covers 
this matter.

We note that the committee has not raised similar concerns regarding the budget 
provided by the administration, despite this also providing no assurances as regards 
future years funding and value for money outcomes.

It’s Our County – 6 February 2019

423





ROBUSTNESS OF THE ALTERNATIVE BUDGET STRATEGY PROPOSED BY THE MAIN OPPOSITION 
GROUP FOR 2019/20. 

The Council is required to set a balanced budget and under section 25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003, the Council’s Chief Financial Officer, S151 officer, is required to give a 
view on the robustness of the Council’s financial strategy including the use of balances and of 
the financial planning process. 

The alternative budget put forward by It’s Our County Group is presented for consideration 
by full Council and it is therefore appropriate that a view on the robustness of the alternative 
budget proposals is provided. 

The proposals put forward by It’s Our Country Group are substantially similar as those put 
forward by the Administration including the same assumptions on:- 

Income generated from council tax, including council tax increases, and from implementing 
the social care precept. Investments, pressures and the delivery of the 2019/20 savings are 
generally the same as the Administration’s.

The main area of difference is the treatment of the additional one off revenue funding 
allocated to Herefordshire Council via the draft settlement announcement made in 
December 18. Along with the additional recurring Council Tax revenue arising from the 
slightly larger than expected growth in the Council Tax base. 

The Alternative budget seeks to increase some service income targets. The proposal makes it 
clear that this is an increase in targets, and to mitigate any delivery risks, the proposal does 
not seek to commit these increases to fund expenditure, by stating all additional income is 
added to reserves. 

Chief Finance Officer’s statement

As Chief Finance Officer, I consider the budget strategy adopted by the Administration to be 
sound and entirely reasonable. Clearly, there are risks in delivering services in a demand 
driven environment, especially as many of these demands are outside of the council’s direct 
control. There are ongoing financial risks in managing many aspects of the Council’s Budget. 
The issue is to ensure on-going effective management of these risks across the organisation 
and the record of accomplishment of the Council to date of robust financial management, in 
an extremely volatile period of major reductions in Government funding, is very strong. 
Despite very significant financial challenges the Administration have consistently delivered 
financial outturn within the overall budget for many consecutive years and the Council’s 
accounts continue to receive an unqualified external audit opinions as well as unqualified 
value for money opinions. All reports considered by Cabinet include details of financial 
implications and major projects are effectively managed – including the management of risks. 

There is considerable uncertainty around longer term funding streams from Government and 
both the Administration and the Alternative budget’s make prudent and reasonable 

425



assumptions in respect of funding streams from Government. The main difference between 
the Administration and Alternative budget is the deployment of the one off additional sums 
of money allocated as part of the draft settlement in December 2018. A number of the 
proposals in the Alternative budget are to fund pilots or investigations into business cases, 
further decisions would be required in due course to respond to the outcomes of the pilots 
and investigations, however the alternative budget strategy is clear that the budget 
allocations are not made on the assumption that the funding will be recurring. 

Turning to the capital budget the Administration’s capital budget is aligned to previous 
medium term financial strategies and they include reasonable assumptions about the 
activities of the Council’s two development partners.  The Alternative budget does not seek 
to amend the overall capital program proposed by the Administration therefore this does not 
impact on the costs of servicing the capital budget included in the revenue budget. The 
Alternative budget seeks to change the priorities of individual elements within the 
Administrations capital program and therefore does not require an amendment to the capital 
program.  

I am content that the Alternative Budget proposals for 2019/20 are very likely to balance and 
can therefore be considered as robust. 

Andrew Lovegrove, 
Chief Finance Officer.

426



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Tracey Sampson, head of HR and OD Tel: 01432 383715, email: Tracey.Sampson@herefordshire.go.uk

Meeting: Council

Meeting date: Friday 15 February 2019

Title of report: Pay Policy Statement

Report by: Chair of Employment Panel

Classification

Open

Decision type

This is not an executive decision

Wards affected

(All Wards);

Purpose and summary

To approve the 2019 pay policy statement for publication. 

It is a statutory requirement for Council to approve an annual pay policy statement. Key changes 
from the 2018 statement are to update the statement to include the pay enhancements 
introduced in 2018 to address hard to recruit to posts, to set out the impact on the council’s pay 
scale of the national joint council’s pay agreement for green book staff in 2019 and some 
rewording to improve clarity.

Recommendation(s)

That:

(a) the pay policy statement at appendix A is approved.

(b) Council approves in year recruitment, should the need arise, to any posts listed with 
salaries over £100,000 

Alternative options

1. There are no alternative options to the recommendation to approve a statement; the 
annual approval by Council of the pay policy statement is a statutory requirement arising 

427

AGENDA ITEM 10



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Tracey Sampson, head of HR and OD Tel: 01432 383715, email: Tracey.Sampson@herefordshire.go.uk

from the Localism Act 2011 to provide transparency with regard to the council’s approach 
to setting the pay of its employees. The statement does not of itself make any policy 
changes, but provides a summary of those policies already in place.

2. It is open to Council to determine any changes it wishes to make to the statement to 
improve transparency, having regard to the statutory guidance issued by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government.

3. Council may decide not to approve in year recruitment as necessary to posts identified 
within the statement with salary packages of £100k or more. This is not recommended 
because it may result in delays to appointment if any individual post salary is to be 
approved by Council at the point of recruitment. All relevant posts identified have been 
evaluated in accordance with council policies and there are no changes proposed to the 
salary levels.

Key considerations

4. The Localism Act places a requirement on the council to produce an annual pay policy 
statement for each financial year and for this statement to be approved by full Council 
before the start of the financial year to which it relates.

5. The statement must set out the council’s policies relating to: 

a) The remuneration of its chief officers 
b) The remuneration of its lowest paid employees; and 
c) The relationship between the remuneration of its chief officers and the remuneration 

of its employees who are not chief officers.
6. The statement must include the council’s definition of ‘lowest paid employees’ and the 

reasons for adopting that definition.

7. The statement must include policies relating to:

a) The level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer
b) Remuneration of chief officers on recruitment
c) Increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer
d) The use of performance related pay for chief officers
e) The use of bonuses for chief officers
f) The approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing to hold office 

under, or to be employed by the authority; and
g) The publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of chief 

officers

8. The statement draws together factual material and provides a summary of the current pay 
policies of the council.  

9. All posts, whether chief officer or not, have their level of remuneration established through 
assessment by a nationally recognised and independent job evaluation scheme. Council 
must approve any new salary packages, or severance payments, exceeding £100,000.

428



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Tracey Sampson, head of HR and OD Tel: 01432 383715, email: Tracey.Sampson@herefordshire.go.uk

10. In approving its statement, Council must have regard to any guidance issued by the 
secretary of state. This has been taken into consideration in the development of the 
statement.

Community impact

11. By complying with the legal requirement the council continues to ensure that the 
resources available are used in the most effective way and there is transparency in how 
public money is used. This contributes to the corporate plan priority to secure better 
services, quality of life and value for money.

12. By publishing the statement the council is demonstrating the code of corporate 
governance principles of implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and 
audit to deliver effective accountability, and behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law.

Equality duty

13. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set 
out as follows:

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to -

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.

14. The pay policy statement makes clear that the council’s employment policies, and the 
processes by which pay levels for a post are set, have full regard to equality legislation.

Resource implications

15. There are no financial implications relating to the pay policy statement arising from the 
report; the statement simply summarises current policies and pay levels.

Legal implications

16. Sections 38 – 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require that the council prepare a pay policy 
statement for each financial year. It must be prepared and approved before 31 March and 
once approved published.  This policy statement meets the requirements of the Localism 
Act and also meets the requirements of the guidance issued by the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government to which the council is required to have regard under 
Section 40 of that Act.

Risk management

17. Failure to approve and publish a statement would result in non-compliance with a 
statutory requirement. Arrangements are in place to ensure publication of the statement 
following approval by Council.

429



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Tracey Sampson, head of HR and OD Tel: 01432 383715, email: Tracey.Sampson@herefordshire.go.uk

Consultees

18. The trade unions and employment panel were consulted in July 2018 on the proposals to 
introduce pay supplements to some posts which are hard to recruit to. All consultees were 
supportive of the proposals. 

19. Employment panel have been consulted on the pay policy statement and were supportive 
of the statement being recommended to council.

Appendices

Appendix A – draft pay policy statement

Background papers

None identified.

430



 

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019

Introduction

1. This document meets section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011 that requires councils to 
produce an annual pay policy statement that articulates the council’s own policies towards 
a range of issues relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly its senior staff and lowest 
paid employees. The majority of terms and conditions are universal and apply to all 
employees, unless otherwise specified. 

2. The council’s pay policy statement does not apply to schools, other than reference to pay 
for bargaining for support staff in locally maintained schools.

3. Herefordshire Council’s rules with regard to employment of staff are set out within the 
employment rules contained within Part 4, section 9 of the constitution.

4. The statement is subject to annual review. Council has delegated authority to the 
monitoring officer to make in year amendments to reflect changes to post holder details or 
changes to local or national pay policy.

Pay structure / national frameworks

5. Herefordshire Council is committed to fair pay and grading determined by a robust and 
objective job evaluation process. The National Joint Council’s (NJC) job evaluation scheme 
is used for identifying the pay grade for all posts up to HC7 and the Hay job evaluation 
scheme for all posts above this level. 

6. The council’s pay structure is based on the National Joint Council for local authorities pay 
spine as the basis for its local grading structure up to HC11. Pay rates above this are locally 
determined. The pay structure is at appendix 1. The council adheres to the national pay 
bargaining for local government employees, including any negotiated annual cost of living 
increases. This also applies to support staff in local authority maintained schools.

7. This statement takes in to account the changes introduced in the NJC pay agreement for 
2018-20 which introduces a new pay spine on 1 April 2019 that is based on the following: 

1. A bottom rate of £9.00 per hour (£17,364) on new Spinal Column Point (SCP)1.
2. ‘Pairing off’ old SCPs 6-17 incl. to create new SCPs 1-6 inclusive
3. Equal steps of 2.0% between each new SCPs 1 to 22 inclusive.
4. Introducing 5 new SCPs (10, 13, 16, 18 and 21) to which no old SCPs will assimilate. 
5. On new SCPs 23 and above 2.0% increase on 2018 rate.

The NJC has issued assimilation guidance which the council will follow in moving staff 
across to the new pay spine. 

431



8. All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated 
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining 
machinery and/or as determined by council policy. 

9. The terms and conditions of employment for the majority of council employees are 
determined by the National Joint Council for local authorities. Statutory chief officers and 
employees on director grade and above are aligned to the Joint Negotiating Committee for 
Chief Officers of Local Authorities (or Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of 
Local Authorities). These may be amended, supplemented or superseded by decisions on 
conditions of service made by the council from time to time and contained within the 
council's employment policies and procedures.

10. Nationally or locally determined rates and terms and conditions apply for other employee 
groups including:
 Employees whose pay and conditions are determined by the Soulbury Committee;
 Centrally employed teachers whose pay and conditions are determined nationally;
 Employees who have transferred from the NHS to the council and retain their former 

terms and conditions of employment;
 Employees who have retained terms and conditions of employment from other 

employers following a TUPE transfer to the council.

Level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer

11. For the purpose of this statement ‘senior management’ means ‘chief officers’ as defined 
within section 43 of the Localism Act. The posts falling within this definition are listed below, 
with details of their grade.

Post Title Salary grade Notes
CEO Herefordshire Council (head of paid service) CX
Solicitor to the council (0.3fte) 
(monitoring officer – 0.7fte))

HC13
HoS2

1

Statutory chief officers
Director of children and families DIR1
Director for adults and communities DIR1
Chief finance officer (section 151 officer) DIR2
Director of public health (0.6fte) HOS1 2

Non statutory chief officers
Director for economy and place (acting) DIR1

Deputy chief officers
Assistant director, safeguarding and family support HOS1 3
Assistant director, education, development and skills HOS1
Assistant director, corporate support HOS1
Assistant director, people and performance HOS1
Assistant director for highways and transport (acting) HOS2
Assistant director for technical services (acting) HOS2
Assistant director for regulatory, environment and waste 
services (acting)

HOS2

Head of economic development HOS2
Programme director – housing and growth HOS2
Head of infrastructure delivery HC13
Head of corporate finance (deputy S151 officer) (0.81fte) HC13

432



Post Title Salary grade Notes
Head of management accounting (deputy S151 officer) HC13
Consultant in public health (0.5 fte) HOS2 4
Consultant in public health (0.5 fte) HOS2
Head of transformation and delivery HOS2
Assistant director for commissioning HOS1

 Assistant director for communities and partnerships HOS1

1. Reflects percentage split for substantive role and monitoring officer responsibilities 
2. Plus market forces supplement of £12,000
3. Plus market forces supplement of £3,000
4. Plus market forces supplement of £3,000

Remuneration of lowest paid employees

12. ‘Lowest paid employees’ is defined as those paid on full time equivalent salaries on scp10 
(SCP01 from 1 April 2019), which is the minimum spinal column point currently in use within 
the council’s grading structure. The council engages some apprentices on learning 
agreements rather than employment contracts and this group is not included within the 
definition of ‘lowest paid employees’. 

Relationship between remuneration of chief officers and remuneration of employees 
who are not chief officers 

13. The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and chief officers is determined 
by the job evaluation process used for establishing the grading of posts and grade/role 
profiles as set out earlier in this policy statement. The salary ratio between the council’s 
lowest paid staff and the chief executive’s salary is 1:8.68.

Remuneration on recruitment

14. New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant grade, although 
this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate or if an internal candidate 
is appointed on promotion so that a pay rise ensues. The chief executive and directors are 
on a spot salary being mindful that the right of approval to offer new appointments a pay 
package in excess of £100k or to approve a severance packages in excess of £100k is 
reserved to Council

Increases and additions to remuneration

15. Employees, within a salary pay band, receive annual increments until the top of their salary 
grade has been reached. The first increment is paid when the employee has been in post 
for 12 months or six months after appointment, whichever is the later. This does not apply 
to the chief executive or directors. In exceptional circumstances increments may be 
accelerated within the grade on grounds of special merit or ability subject to the maximum 
of the level not being exceeded.

16. The chief executive is the returning officer for Herefordshire. No additional payment is made 
for fulfilling this duty for local elections as this is built into the overall salary. Employees who 
undertake election duties are paid a fee that is set by the returning officer depending on the 
duties undertaken.

17. From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay market in order 
to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills and capacity. Where this 
is necessary the council may apply pay supplements to posts which are determined to be 
‘hard to fill’. At all times the council will ensure the requirement for such supplements is 

433



objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market 
conditions. These supplements are regularly reviewed and from 2019 reported to 
employment panel on an annual basis. 

18. Honoraria payments are made to recognise either a special contribution an employee has 
made that is over and above general performance in a role, or where they have temporarily 
undertaken additional responsibility at a higher grade.

Use of performance related pay, bonuses or pension enhancements

19. The council does not apply any bonuses or performance related pay to employees.

20. Pension enhancements are made in line with the council’s LGPS discretions policy.

Benefits in kind

21. Employees currently have access to salary sacrifice schemes for bicycles. The council also 
operates a childcare voucher scheme to those employees already in the scheme at 1 April 
2018 and subject to prevailing legislation. In 2019 the council will introduce a further 
package of high street discounts and benefits which staff can access. This is being 
introduced to reflect the benefits available to staff in neighboring authorities so that the 
council is able to be competitive in recruitment markets.

22. Reasonable relocation expenses may be paid for new employees or workplace relocation. 
Employees are reimbursed for reasonable travel and subsistence expenditure incurred in 
the course of their work. Subsistence is only paid when travelling outside of the county. 

23. Worcestershire County Council administers the local government pension scheme on 
behalf of the council. 

Approach to payment on ceasing to hold office under or to be employed by the authority

24. The council’s policy on termination of employment of employees prior to reaching normal 
retirement age is to base redundancy payments on the statutory calculation multiplied by 
1.5.  

25. The council operates a mutual early resignation scheme (MERS) under which an individual 
employee, in agreement with the council, chooses to leave employment in return for a 
severance payment or, if in the Local Government Pension Scheme and aged over 55, a 
pension that is not actuarially reduced. It is not a redundancy or a voluntary redundancy. 

Accountability and decision making

26. In accordance with the council’s constitution, the employment panel (in respect of the chief 
executive, monitoring officer, Section 151 officer and directors) or the chief executive (in 
respect of all other employees) is responsible for decision making in relation to the 
recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to 
employees of the council.

27. For those pay accountability matters identified within the Localism Act as being reserved 
to Council, the employment panel will be the body accountable for formulating 
recommendations to council including the undertaking of an annual review of this statement 
before recommending its approval to council as one of the suite of documents council 
approves as part of its medium term financial strategy. The pay policy statement therefore 
forms part of the budget and policy framework of the council.

434



28. In addition to approval of this statement, the right of approval of new salary packages for 
additional posts not listed in this statement over £100,000 is reserved to Council. In such 
circumstances the employment panel will be the body accountable for developing 
recommendations to Council.

Publication of and access to information 

29. After approval by Council, this statement will be published on the council’s website.  In 
addition, statutory employees’ (chief executive, directors, including the chief finance 
officer, and monitoring officer) details are disclosed in the council’s annual statement of 
accounts setting out the total amount of:

 Salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the current 
and previous year.

 Any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and previous 
year.

 Any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable to UK 
income tax.

 Any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments connected 
with termination. 

 Any benefits received that do not fall within the above.

435



Pay Structure 2019

New 
SCP

New 
Annual 
Rate

New 
Hourly 
rate

Grade    
HC01 1 17,364 9
HC02 1 17,364 9
HC02 2 17,711 9.18
HC02 3 18,065 9.36
HC03 3 18,065 9.36
HC03 4 18,426 9.55
HC04 4 18,426 9.55
HC04 5 18,795 9.74
HC04 6 19,171 9.94
HC05 6 19,171 9.94
HC05 7 19,554 10.14
HC05 8 19,945 10.34
HC05 9 20,344 10.54
HC05 10 20,751 10.76
HC05 11 21,166 10.97
HC06 11 21,166 10.97
HC06 12 21,589 11.19
HC06 13 22,021 11.41
HC06 14 22,462 11.64
HC06 15 22,911 11.88
HC06 16 23,369 12.11
HC06 17 23,837 12.35
HC06 18 24,313 12.6
HC06 19 24,800 12.85
HC07 19 24,800 12.85
HC07 20 25,296 13.11
HC07 21 25,801 13.37
HC07 22 26,317 13.64
HC07 23 26,999 13.99
HC07 24 27,906 14.46
HC07 25 28,786 14.92
HC08 25 28,786 14.92
HC08 26 29,636 15.36
HC08 27 30,508 15.81

HC08 28 31,371 16.26
HC08 29 32,029 16.6
HC08 30 32,878 17.04
HC09 30 32,878 17.04
HC09 31 33,798 17.52
HC09 32 34,788 18.03
HC09 33 35,933 18.63
HC09 34 36,876 19.11
HC10 35 37,849 19.62
HC10 36 38,813 20.12
HC10 37 39,782 20.62
HC10 38 40,760 21.13
HC10 39 41,675 21.6
HC11 40 42,682 22.12
HC11 41 43,662 22.63
HC11 42 44,632 23.13
HC11 43 45,591 23.63
HC11 44L 46,829 24.27
HC12 45L 48,099 24.93
HC12 46L 49,407 25.61
HC12 47L 50,752 26.31
HC12 48L 52,128 27.02
HC12 49L 53,544 27.75
HC13 50L 55,001 28.51
HC13 51L 56,496 29.29
HC13 52L 58,032 30.08
HC13 53L 59,609 30.9
HOS02 75,016 38.88
HOS02 77,042 39.93
HOS02

 

79,120 41.01
HOS01 81,257 42.12
HOS01 83,451 43.25
HOS01

 

85,701 44.42
Dir 2  101,969 52.84
Dir 1  124,860 64.72
CX  150,873 78.20

436



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Andrew Lovegrove, Tel number 01432 383519, email: andrew.lovegrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Meeting: Council

Meeting date: Friday 15 February 2019

Title of report: Recruitment of independent persons

Report by: Chairperson of audit and governance committee

Classification

Open

Decision type

This is not an executive decision

Wards affected

(All Wards);

Purpose and summary

To approve the appointment of additional independent persons for standards. 

As part of its arrangements under which allegations that elected members may have breached 
the code of conduct, the council must appoint at least one independent person. Herefordshire 
Council currently has one independent person, but this does not provide sufficient cover to 
address potential conflicts of interest or enable the support of the independent person to be 
offered to subject members. Audit and Governance Committee, which Council has delegated to 
oversee the process of recruitment of independent persons, has undertaken a thorough 
recruitment and selection process and is recommending the appointment of a further eight 
independent persons serving a term of office of four years. 

Recommendation(s)

That:

(a) the following candidates be approved for appointment for a term of office of four 
years from the date of appointment:

 Sheila Archer
 Jake Bharier
 Bryn Caless

437

AGENDA ITEM 11



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Andrew Lovegrove, Tel number 01432 383519, email: andrew.lovegrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

 Malcolm Foorde JP
 Gelard Hodson
 Claire Jenkins
 Stephen Willmot
 Roger Yates

Alternative options

1. Not to recommend the appointment of additional independent persons for standards.  This 
is not recommended as Herefordshire currently only has one independent person.  In 
order to avoid any potential conflicts of interest in dealing with complaints, allow flexibility 
during periods of holiday and sickness, to ensure good governance of the standards 
process and to provide the existing independent person with sufficient regular support, 
advice to members subject to complaints, and as a member of the standards panel, it is 
recommended that more independent persons are appointed. The interview and selection 
process was carried out by the panel in accordance with the council’s processes for 
recruitment of employees, to ensure that a fair and robust process had been followed.

Key considerations

2. Under Section 28 (7) of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) the council must appoint at least 
one independent person as part of the arrangements under which allegations about a 
failure to comply with the code of conduct can be investigated and decisions on allegations 
made. There is no maximum number of persons that may be appointed.

3. A person may not be recommended for appointment under the Act unless (i) the vacancy 
has been advertised in such manner as the authority considers is likely to bring it to the 
attention of the public and (ii) the person has submitted an application to fill the vacancy.

4. The audit and governance committee at its meeting on 23 January 2019 approved the 
recommendation to Council to appoint additional independent persons for standards.   

5. It is a function of the audit and governance committee to oversee the process for the 
recruitment of the Independent Persons and to make recommendations to Council for 
their appointment.

6. At the meeting of the committee held on 28 November, and following an extensive 
advertising campaign, a panel was established to interview the nine candidates who had 
applied, all of whom had confirmed their eligibility for appointment. 

7. The interviews were held on 12 and 14 December 2018, and the interview panel consisted 
of: 

Councillor ACR Chappell
Councillor EJP Harvey 
Councillor PD Newman, OBE 
The chief finance officer (substituting for the monitoring officer)

8. The interview panel unanimously recommended that eight candidates be appointed as 
independent persons for standards.  A brief biography of the candidates are contained 
within appendix 1.   

438



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Andrew Lovegrove, Tel number 01432 383519, email: andrew.lovegrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

Community impact

9. In accordance with the code of corporate governance Herefordshire Council is committed 
to behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law. It is essential that, as a whole, we can demonstrate the 
appropriateness of all our actions across all our activities and have mechanisms in place 
to encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and respect the rule of law.   

10. Ensuring that there are sufficient numbers of Independent Persons to facilitate an effective 
and robust standards process, and that the appointment of those Independent Persons 
has been carried out in an objective, transparent and lawful way assists us in upholding 
the principles of the code of corporate governance and the council’s values

Equality duty

11. Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set 
out as follows

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to -

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.

12. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 
positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate 
that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the 
delivery of services. The council’s recruitment process ensure compliance with equality 
legislation.

Resource implications

13. The cost of advertising the post in the local press was £1,043 (inclusive of VAT) and was 
met from existing budgets within Democratic Services 

14. There is currently no budgetary provision made for allowances to be paid to any 
appointed independent persons. It is also not possible at this point to assess the average 
time commitment expected if a larger group of Independent Persons were available. If 
the committee is minded to consider recommending to Council the payment of an 
allowance it may be appropriate to do so after the wider pool has been operating for a 
period of time to inform any assessment of appropriate remuneration. It may also wish to 
consider seeking the views of the council’s Independent Remuneration Panel.

Legal implications

15. The Localism Act 2011 created the role of ‘independent persons’. The Act requires all 
councils to adopt a code of conduct for elected members and to appoint at least one 
independent person to assist the council in dealing with complaints that the code of 
conduct may have been breached

439



Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Andrew Lovegrove, Tel number 01432 383519, email: andrew.lovegrove@herefordshire.gov.uk

16. Section 28(7) of the Act provides that a person is not independent if he is :-

a) a member, co-opted member or officer of the council
b) a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the council is a 

principal authority
c) a relative, or close friend, of a person within a or b above.

17. Further a person may not be appointed if any time during the 5 years ending with the 
appointment the person was:-

(i) a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority, or
(ii) a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the authority is 

the principal authority;

18. A person may not be appointed unless:-

(i) the vacancy for an independent person has been advertised in such a manner as the 
council considers is likely to bring to the attention of the public

(ii) the person has submitted an application to fill the vacancy to the authority, and
(iii) the person’s appointment has been approved by a majority of the members of the 

authority;

19. An independent person does not cease to be independent as a result of being paid any 
amounts by way of allowances or expenses in connection with performing the duties of 
the appointment.

20. The council has complied with the legal requirements regarding appointment of 
independent persons

Risk management

21. There is a reputational risk to the council if it is unable to manage effectively its standards 
complaints process.  There is also a risk to councillors in Herefordshire if there are no 
independent mechanisms in place to support them in their responsibilities towards good 
governance and adhering to the members’ code of conduct. 

Consultees

22. None

Appendices

Appendix 1 – brief biography of candidates recommended for appointment.

Background papers

None identified.   

440



Appendix 1

Brief Biography of candidates for independent person for standards

Shelia Archer

Shelia Archer is an Appropriate Adult acting “In loco parentis” for Young People in custody, 
ensuring that their needs are met and due process is followed. Shelia was an Independent 
Custody Visitor for 6 years prior to becoming an Appropriate Adult. For 4 years she was a 
Lay Chair of the Appointments Panel at Wye Valley NHS Trust, overseeing the interviewing 
of Consultants at the Hospital.  Shelia was a Board member of Healthwatch Herefordshire, 
acting as a champion for local people to ensure that health provision met their needs.  She 
believes that high standards in public life are essential to maintain public confidence in the 
democratic process which sometimes seems to be under threat.

Jake Bharier

Jake Bharier spent 20 years working for a multinational chemicals company at corporate 
level, in the area of health, safety and environment. Then he spent another 20 years working 
for Skillshare International, an international volunteering charity. He has substantial 
experience of governance: internationally as chair of an international committee reviewing 
standards of accountability for development effectiveness for a global process under the 
aegis of OECD and the UN; in the UK as a Trustee of a charity working with partners in the 
Horn of Africa, and as an independent Trustee of Mountain Rescue England and Wales; and 
locally as chair of the Patient Participation Group at Much Birch surgery.  

Jake lives on Dinedor Hill.

Bryn Caless

Bryn Caless moved to Hereford three years ago from Kent, where he lectured in Terrorism 
and Political Violence in the School of Law at Canterbury Christ Church University, and 
where he is still a Visiting Senior Research Fellow.  Before this he was Director of Learning 
and Human Resources for Kent Police, preceded by a career in the military where he 
specialised in counter-insurgency.  He is the author of a number of books on policing and 
leadership and is currently working on his third novel.  He is married with four children and a 
large garden.

Malcolm Foord, JP

Malcolm Foord, JP is a retired electrical engineer who lived for 21 years with his wife and 
family in Broomy Hill, Hereford.  He now lives in Cradley, Herefordshire, having moved 4 
years ago.  His main interests are house renovation and DIY, charitable work, music, 
gardening, walking, historic properties and the Arts Society.

He has held various technical and managerial positions, including Senior Development 
Engineer (BOC), Chief Electrical Engineer (GKN), and Managing Director of his own 
company.  Specialising in the design, supply and marketing of all types of electrical power 
equipment for the defence industry, he went on to set up a new defence company, holding a 
further 4 Directorships, plus being Head of Sales & Marketing and Deputy General Manager 
of Hunting Engineering Ltd., a major UK and international Defence and Aerospace company.  
From 2002 to 2016 he worked as an Independent Design, Sales & Marketing consultant in 
the Defence industry, finally retiring in 2016.

He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in in 2002, was a Youth and Adult Court 

441



Chairman and served as the Chairman of the Youth Panel, followed by becoming Deputy 
Chairman of the Herefordshire Bench until his retirement from the Bench in September 2018 
at the age of 70.  He wishes to continue to serve the local community by becoming an 
Independent Person.  He has a keen interest in the standards in public life, and in the 
upholding of democracy and justice, which he considers to be essential to the overall 
character and wellbeing of the City, the County, and Society in general.

Gerald Hodson

Gerald (known as Gerry) Hodson has lived in Broxwood with my wife for eleven years; 
moving from Hampshire where he continued to work until retirement three years ago.  Most 
of Gerry’s career was spent in financial services (although he did spend a year in Greece 
teaching English). Gerry has worked for a Life and Pensions firm where he was responsible 
for policy administration, claims and complaints. Gerry has experience of the commercial 
and service delivery aspects of outsourcing contracts.  

Gerry and his wife love the Herefordshire countryside and feel privileged to live here. Gerald 
is a keen sports watcher but played cricket and rugby in the past.  Gerald and his wife enjoy 
their garden and try to keep themselves self-sufficient in vegetables for half of the year. 
Subject to his appointment being approved by the Council, Gerald is very much looking 
forward to supporting the democratic services in Herefordshire.

Claire Jenkins

Claire Jenkins is a retired psychiatrist and psychotherapist with about thirty years of 
experience working in the NHS.  Claire and her husband moved to Hereford in 2015 to build 
the Passivhaus in which they now live; sustainability in building is one of her particular 
interests, as is addressing the issues of climate change and pollution. Claire is a member of 
the steering group of the Herefordshire Women’s equality group and started attending 
Council meetings as part of their group’s work to encourage greater representation of 
women and attention to the issues which most affect them. It is this which has brought home 
to her the importance of the Council and its work and has led to this application to support it.

 Stephen Willmot

Stephen Willmot was employed as a Solicitor and Legal Team Manager at Herefordshire 
Magistrates Court for over 45 years  where he was involved in giving lay Magistrates advice 
on law, practice and procedure.  He is very experienced in dealing with all sorts of criminal 
and road traffic matters plus disciplinary issues.  Stephen is now a trainer delivering Drink 
Drive Rehabilitation courses throughout the Midlands area.

Stephen is the Chairman of the Herefordshire Football Association where amongst many 
duties I sit as Chairman of Disciplinary commissions.

Stephen takes a very keen interest in local and political affairs and also sits on school 
appeals, mock school interviews and presiding officer in elections.  

Roger Yates 

Roger Yates spent his career working for various public sector organisations including 
Worcestershire County Council, Hereford and Worcester County Council, as Secretary to the 
Hereford and Worcester Probation and After Care Committee and as clerk and legal adviser 
to West Mercia Police Authority.  Mr Yates retired in 1998 following the formation of 
Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire County Council.   Since retirement, Mr Yates has 

442



maintained an interest in public life and has previously been a co-opted Malvern Town 
Councillor.   Mr Yates supports a number of cultural charities and is a reading volunteer for 
the Malvern Talking Newspaper. 

443




	Agenda
	 
	3 MINUTES
	Minutes of Ordinary Meeting of Council - 12 October 2018 - Appendix 1
	Minutes of Ordinary Meeting of Council - 12 October 2018 - Appendix 2
	Minutes of Extraordinary Meeting of Council - 18 January 2019
	Minutes of Extraordinary Meeting of Council - 18 January - Appendix 1
	Minutes of Extraordinary Meeting of Council - 18 January - Appendix 2

	4 CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
	15.02.19 Chief Executive's Announcements for Council

	7 2019/20 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME
	2019-20 - Council Tax Reduction Scheme Report -  Appendix 1 - Equalities Impact Assessment
	2019-20 - Council Tax Reduction Scheme Report - Appendix 2 - Council Tax Reduction Scheme

	8 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 ONWARDS AND CAPITAL STRATEGY
	Appendix 1 - Proposed capital investment additions from 2019-20
	Appendix 2 - Current status of approved capital programme
	Appendix 3 - Total proposed capital programme
	Appendix 4 - Proposed capital strategy

	9 SETTING THE 2019/20 BUDGET AND UPDATING THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
	Appendix 1 draft MTFS 2019/20 - 2021/22
	Appendix 2 savings
	Appendix 3 detailed 1920 budget
	Appendix 4 TMS
	Appendix 5 consultation
	Budget consultation 2019-20 for printing - V1.2.pdf
	Budget consultation 2019-20 for printing - Questionnaire 05.07.2018  10.50am


	Appendix 6 section 25 report
	Appendix 7 change log

	 ALTERNATIVE BUDGET
	ALTERNATIVE BUDGET - Its Our County - Medium Term Financial Strategy
	ALTERNATIVE BUDGET - Recommendations from the scrutiny committees
	ALTERNATIVE BUDGET - Its Our County - Response to Scrutiny Recommendations
	ALTERNATIVE BUDGET - Robustness Statement - Chief Finance Officer

	10 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019
	Appendix 1 for Pay Policy Statement

	11 RECRUITMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS
	Appendix 1 - Biographies of candidates for independent persons


